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I. INTRODUCTION 

The Division of Enforcement (“Division”) moves, pursuant to Rule 250(a) of the 

Commission’s Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.250(a), for summary disposition in this 

proceeding brought pursuant to Rule 258 of Regulation A against DF Growth REIT II, LLC (the 

“Respondent” or “REIT II”).   

 Regulation A is an exemption to the longstanding requirement under Section 5 of the 

Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) that a company must have a registration statement 

in effect as to a security before it can sell the security.  However, in order to avail itself of the 

benefit of offering its securities to the public without having to file a registration statement, an 

issuer must satisfy numerous requirements set forth under Regulation A.  The central purpose of 

these requirements is to protect investors, as they do not have access to a comprehensive 

registration statement which would provide investors with detailed disclosures about the issuer’s 

business, financial statements, and other material information.   

REIT II sought to utilize Regulation A’s privileges.  However, it violated multiple of the 

requirements that were put in place for investor protection.  Not only did it violate Regulation 

A’s requirements, but it also used offering and solicitation materials that contained numerous 

untrue or misleading statements of facts that investors deemed so material they sought to 

withdraw their investments when they learned of the misstatements. 

The material facts are not in dispute.  REIT II failed to comply with the terms, conditions 

and requirements of Regulation A by (1) engaging in an improper delayed offering, in violation 

of Rule 251(d) and (2) raising its maximum offering amount from $50 million to $75 million 

through the filing of an offering circular supplement rather than through a new offering statement 

or amendment, in violation of Rule 253(b).  REIT II’s offering statements and solicitation 

materials contained untrue or misleading statements of material facts relating to (1) the 
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separation of REIT II from REIT I, DiversyFund’s other real estate investment fund, (2) the 

minimum cash amount needed for its business and the significant risk of loss to REIT II 

investors if REIT II was unable to raise sufficient capital in its Regulation A offering, and (3) the 

fees that its investors would be charged.  Some of these misrepresentations were ongoing until 

REIT II’s temporary suspension of its Regulation A offering earlier this year. 

Rule 258 of Regulation A authorizes this Court to permanently suspend an issuer’s 

Regulation A exemption if, inter alia, “any of the terms, conditions or requirements of 

Regulation A have not been complied with” or the “offering statement, any sales or solicitation 

of interest material, or any report  . . . contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to 

state a material fact” necessary to make statements made not misleading.  The magnitude of 

REIT II’s violations, the sheer number of those violations, the egregious material 

misrepresentations included in its offering and solicitation materials, the ongoing nature of those 

misrepresentations and the continuing risk of harm to investors, and the plain language of the 

rules compel this Court to permanently suspend REIT II’s use of the Regulation A exemption. 

II. FACTS 

A. The Respondent 

REIT II is a Delaware limited liability company with its principal place of business in 

San Diego, California, with the stated objective of investing in real estate projects and assets 

across the United States.  Declaration of Stephen Kam (“Kam Decl.”), Ex. 8 at pp. 8, 16.  REIT 

II is managed by DF Manager, LLC (“DF Manager”), a Delaware limited liability company, and 

is sponsored by DiversyFund, Inc. (“DiversyFund”), a Delaware corporation and a real estate 

sponsor and manager.  Id. at p. 16.  DiversyFund, Inc. was incorporated in August 2016 and co-

founded by Craig Cecilio (“Cecilio”), its Chief Executive Officer, and Alan Lewis (“Lewis”), its 
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Chief Investment Officer.  Id. Ex. 21 at p. 29:2-24; Ex. 22 at p. 49:6-9.  DF Manager is owned 

100% by DiversyFund, Inc., and Cecilio and Lewis own more than 80% of DiversyFund, Inc.  

Id. Ex. 8 at p. 41.  

REIT II’s securities were sold directly through www.DiversyFund.com, which 

Respondent used to solicit potential investors.  Id. Ex. 8 at p. 8.  As a United States corporation, 

REIT II was an eligible issuer, and its Class A Investor Shares are eligible securities under 

Regulation A.  See 17 C.F.R. § 201.250(b)(1) and 261(c). 

B. Background of Regulation A 

Section 5(a) of the Securities Act prohibits the sale of securities through interstate 

commerce unless a registration statement has been filed and is in effect, while Section 5(c) 

prohibits the offer to sell securities through interstate commerce unless a registration statement 

has been filed.  15 U.S.C. § 77e.  A party offering and selling securities in an unregistered 

offering is not liable under Sections 5(a) and (c) if it can establish an exemption or safe harbor 

from registration was available.  One such exemption arises from Section 3(b) of the Securities 

Act, 15 U.S.C. 77c(b), which “allows the Commission, through rulemaking, to exempt from 

federal-registration requirements certain small-dollar offerings.”  Lindeen v. SEC, 825 F.3d 646, 

649 (D.C. Cir. 2016).  Pursuant to this authority, the Commission adopted Regulation A to allow 

issuers to make smaller public offerings through a process that is less comprehensive and 

expensive than the full registration process under Section 5.  Id. 

Prior to the Jumpstart Our Business Startups (“JOBS”) Act, Regulation A provided an 

exemption for public offerings of securities up to $5 million annually.  Pursuant to the JOBS Act, 

passed in 2012, the Commission was mandated by Congress to update and expand Regulation A 

of the General Rules and Regulations (the “Rules”) under the Securities Act (to allow offerings 

of up to $50 million of securities within a 12-month period, to require companies to file annual 
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audited financial statements with the Commission, and to adopt additional requirements and 

conditions that the Commission determines necessary.1  The goal of the JOBS Act was to 

increase American job creation and economic growth by improving access to the public capital 

markets for emerging growth companies.2  On March 25, 2015, the Commission adopted the 

Rules, collectively (and hereinafter) referred to as Regulation A, mandated by the JOBS Act. The 

Rules were designed to provide a “workable path to raising capital that also provides strong 

investor protections.”3   

Regulation A created two tiers of offerings: Tier 1 consists of securities offerings up to 

$20 million in a twelve month period (with not more than $6 million in offers by selling security-

holders that are affiliates); Tier 2 consists of offerings up to $75 million in a twelve-month 

period (with not more than $22.5 million in offers by selling security-holders that are affiliates).4  

17 C.F.R. § 230.251(a).   

To rely on Regulation A, issuers must satisfy numerous conditions, including disclosure 

of material information in an offering statement filed with the Commission and an offering 

circular distributed to investors.  17 C.F.R. 230.252–253.  No sale of a security may be made 

under Tier 1 or Tier 2 until an offering statement on Form 1-A has been qualified.  17 C.F.R. § 

230.251(d)(2).   

 

                                                 

1 Regulation A Rules, as amended, are found at 17 C.F.R. § 260.251 through 17 C.F.R. § 260.263. 
2 JOBS Act preamble, Pub. L. No. 112-106, H.R. 3606, 112th Congress (2012). 
3 SEC Adopts Rules to Facilitate Smaller Companies' Access to Capital, SEC Press 

Release 2015-49, dated March 25, 2015. 
4 Effective March 15, 2021, the Commission increased the maximum offering amount under Tier 2 of Regulation A 
from $50 million to $75 million in a twelve-month period.  See Facilitating Capital Formation and Expanding 
Investment Opportunities by Improving Access to Capital in Private Markets, Release Nos. 33-10884; 34-90300; 
IC-34082 (Nov. 2, 2020). 
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C. REIT II's Regulation A Continuous Offering was Qualified on January 29, 
2021 but REIT II Did Not Commence Its Offering Until Months Later 

 
On January 29, 2021, the Commission staff, pursuant to delegated authority from the 

Commission, issued a Notice of Qualification of REIT II’s continuous offering to raise up to $50 

million pursuant to Regulation A.  Kam Decl. Ex. 1 at p. 1.  On September 29, 2021, REIT II 

filed a Form 1-SA Semi-Annual Report, stating that “[t]he Company was formed on August 6, 

2020 and qualified by the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 29, 2021.  As of June 

30, 2021, the Company has not yet commenced its operations but plans to begin raising money 

and making investments starting in the second half of the year.”  Id. Ex. 2 at p. 2 (emphasis 

added).  

DiversyFund’s CEO Craig Cecilio testified that REIT II did not begin soliciting investors 

until August or September 2021.  Id. Ex 21 at pp. 75:18-76:10.  Cecilio admitted that the reason 

for the delay was that DiversyFund needed to gather the relevant documents, meet internally 

with its tech team, and prepare a business plan on how to market REIT II’s securities.  Id. Ex 21 

at pp. 76:19-77:5.  Similarly, according to DiversyFund’s CFO, REIT II had not purchased any 

properties or sold any securities by June 30, 2021.  Ex. at 106:6-10.  REIT II also did not have a 

signed escrow agreement in place to process securities sales to investors until August 2021, over 

six months after the offering was qualified.  Id. Ex. 29. 

D. On August 26, 2021, REIT II Raised the Maximum Offering Amount from 
$50 Million to $75 Million By Filing an Offering Circular Supplement  

 
 REIT II was qualified by the Commission to raise up to $50 million in connection with its 

Regulation A offering.  Id. Ex. 1; Ex. 8 at pg. 73.  On August 26, 2021, REIT II increased its 

offering amount from $50 million to $75 million by filing an offering circular supplement.  Id. 

Ex. 3 at p. 1.  On February 23, 2022, after selling securities for six months, REIT II filed another 
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offering circular supplement stating that “[t]he amount the Company is seeking to raise in the 

Offering has been decreased from $75,000,000 to $50,000,000.”  Id. Ex. 4.   

E. REIT II Made Conflicting and Incomplete Statements Relating to its 
Independence from REIT I, its Minimum Cash Requirements, and the Risk 
Investors Faced if the Regulation A Offering Was Disrupted or Otherwise 
Not Fully Consummated 

 
DF Growth REIT, LLC (“REIT I”) is a real estate investment vehicle managed by DF 

Manager and sponsored by DiversyFund which was previously qualified on November 13, 2018 

to offer and sell up to $50 million in Class A Investor Shares pursuant to the Regulation A 

exemption.  Id. Ex. 6 at p. 5.  REIT I ceased its offering on November 13, 2021.  Id.  The fund 

raised $65,128,397.  Id.  REIT I had approximately 25,828 investors.  Id. Ex. 7 at p. 35. 

REIT II is also managed by DF Manager and sponsored by DiversyFund.  REIT II was 

qualified on January 29, 2021 to offer and sell up to $50 million Class A Investor Shares 

pursuant to the Regulation A exemption.  Id. Ex. 8 at p. 73.  As of April 29, 2022, REIT II raised 

approximately $10,737,607.  Id. Ex. 9 at p. 19.  REIT II had approximately 3,712 investors.  Id. 

Ex. 7 at p. 35. 

REIT I and REIT II were advertised as being completely separate investment funds.  In 

November 2021, www.DiversyFund.com advertised to investors that REIT I and REIT II 

“operate as separate investment vehicles” and that “REIT I will not be impacted by REIT II in 

any way.”   Id. Ex 11 at p. 2.  In REIT II’s offering statements, it also represented to investors 

that it had no minimum amount it needed to raise in its Regulation A offering.  For example, in 

REIT II January 21, 2021 offering circular, it represented that its Regulation A offering “has no 

minimum amount,” and as such, “we will begin to deploy (spend) the money we raise right 

away, no matter how much or how little we raise.”  Id. Ex. 8 at p. 8.  Under its Plan of Operation 

section, REIT II stated it “does not currently have any capital commitments” and “[w]hether we 

OS Received 06/03/2022



7 

 

raise $50,000,000 in the Offering or something less, we believe the proceeds of the Offering will 

satisfy our cash requirements.  If we raise less than $50,000,000, we will simply make fewer 

investments.”  Id. at 73.  

Respondent has admitted that these representations in its solicitation materials were false 

and incomplete.  On page twelve of its Motion to Stay filed in the Ninth Circuit, REIT II 

admitted that the loss of its ability to raise funds pursuant to Regulation A “will quickly force the 

closure of their business and losses to 30,000 investors.”  Id. Ex. 7 at p. 12.  This number 

combined the total number of REIT I and REIT II investors at the time, as REIT I had 

approximately 25,858 investors and REIT II had approximately 3,712 investors.  Moreover, this 

admission demonstrates that the amount REIT II had raised thus far – $10,737,607 – was 

insufficient to meet its cash requirements and contradicts its representations to investors that its 

offering had “no minimum amount.”   In addition, nowhere in the REIT II offering materials – in 

its risk factors or otherwise – did REIT II disclose the known harm that would befall REIT II and 

its investors (closure of the business and loss to all investors) if it were unable to raise funds in 

reliance on Regulation A.   

DiversyFund’s CEO testified that REIT I and REIT II were dependent upon each other 

and admitted that DiversyFund was reliant on how much money REIT II raised.  Id. Ex 21 at pp. 

137:3-139:15.  He admitted that REIT II did in fact have a minimum amount of $75 million.  Id. 

at p. 146:8-11.  Moreover, he admitted that REIT II’s representation to investors that it did not 

have a minimum amount it needed to raise was inaccurate.  Id. at pp. 154:24-158:2. 

DiversyFund improperly co-mingled REIT I and REIT II funds.  One investor in REIT I 

found that DiversyFund had transferred his investments from REIT I to REIT II without his 

knowledge or consent.  Id. Ex. 25 at par. 2.  The investor also found that DiversyFund had posted 
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a backdated Advisory Services Agreement authorizing DiversyFund to act as his investment 

advisor and to “withdraw funds . . . in order to purchase securities directly into a DA Services-

affiliated issuer.”  Id. Ex. 25 at par. 4; Ex. 14.  Despite his electronic signature appearing on the 

agreement, he never signed the document nor provided DiversyFund consent to sign the 

document on his behalf.  Id.  Ex. 25 at par. 3.  This investor grew so frustrated at DiversyFund’s 

conduct that he attempted to withdraw his investment, but DiversyFund denied his request.  Id. at 

par. 6; Ex. 13. 

Other investors similarly observed that DiversyFund posted to their accounts Advisory 

Services Agreements authorizing DiversyFund to act as their investment adviser without their 

consent or knowledge.  Id. Ex. 27 at par. 6; Ex. 24; Ex. 26 at par. 4; Ex. 20.  In one instance, 

DiversyFund fraudulently affixed the investor’s signature to the agreement.  Id. Ex. 27 at par. 6; 

Ex. 24.  These investors also observed that DiversyFund’s website did not distinguish between 

REIT I and REIT II investment properties.  Id. Ex. 27 at par. 3.  These investors also grew so 

frustrated with DiversyFund that they attempted to withdraw their investments.  Id. Ex. 27 at par. 

7; Ex. 23; Ex. 26 at par. 6; Ex. 19. 

F. REIT II Made Conflicting Statements Relating to its Fees  

In its January 19, 2021 Offering Circular, REIT II represented that DiversyFund would 

charge a number of fees, including a “sponsor fee,”  “property disposition fee,” a “construction 

management fee,” a “Guaranty fee,” and “other fees.”  Id. Ex. 8 at pp. 43-45.  In its August 26, 

2021 Offering Circular Supplement, REIT II revised its fee structure and stated that “the Sponsor 

will charge the Company an annual asset management fee equal to 2% of the capital raised from 

the sale of Class A Investor Shares” but did not reference a “sponsor fee.” Id. Ex. 3 at p. 2. 
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However, on the DiversyFund website where REIT II solicited investors and offered its 

securities, it described its fee structure completely differently.  In September 2021, the 

DiversyFund website represented to investors that REIT II required a “minimum investment of 

only $500 and no management fees.” Id. Ex. 12. (emphasis added).  Only two months later in 

November, REIT II provided a completely different fee structure to investors, then charging (1) 

asset management fees which included platform fees equal to 2% of equity dollars per year,  (2) 

acquisition fees, (3) finance fees, and (4) marketing fees.  Id. Ex. 11 at p. 4. 

DiversyFund’s CEO admitted that the company’s representations on its website were 

ever-changing and dynamic.  Id. Ex 21 at p. 99:11-18.  Similarly, the CFO testified that “no 

management fee” was accurate as to REIT I but not REIT II, which did charge a 2% 

management fee, and offered no explanation for why DiversyFund’s website did not disclose the 

fee.  Id. Ex. 22 at pp. 174:8-175:12.  And investors were misled by the inconsistent and ever-

changing representations.  For example, despite the representations on DiversyFund’s website, 

DiversyFund represented to investors in email communications that they provided “a no-fee 

platform.”  Id. Ex. 27 at par. 8.  Investors also understood at the time of their investment that 

they would not be charged any fees but then observed that the representations on Respondent’s 

website relating to its fees changed over time without explanation.  Id. Ex. 26 at par. 5; Ex. 27 at 

par. 4.   

III. ARGUMENT 

A. Summary Disposition Standard 

Rule 250(a) of the Commission's Rules of Practice provides that after documents have 

been made available to a respondent for inspection and copying, a party may move for summary 

OS Received 06/03/2022



10 

 

disposition of any or all allegations of the order instituting proceedings.5  “[S]ummary 

disposition may be appropriate in non-follow-on proceedings.”  In re Sands Bros. Asset Mgmt. 

LLC et al., 2015 SEC LEXIS 3556, at *4 (Order on Motions for Summary Disposition Aug. 31, 

2015) (citations omitted), pet. for review denied, Rel. No. 76119 (Oct. 8, 2015).  In its order 

issued on May 26, 2022, the Court adopted the parties’ proposed schedule setting the deadline to 

file motions for summary dispositions on June 3, 2022.  

Under Rule 250(b), a hearing officer may grant the motion for summary disposition if 

there is no genuine issue with regard to any material fact and the party making the motion is 

entitled to a summary disposition as a matter of law.  17 C.F.R. § 201.250(b).  This case presents 

no questions of material fact.  The material facts set forth in this motion are subject to official 

notice or derive from sources that REIT II cannot dispute, specifically, from REIT II’s own 

filings with the Commission on EDGAR and in connection with its petition and waiver request, 

the DiversyFund website and documents posted on the website, and its briefing filed with the 

Ninth Circuit.  Under Rule 323 [17 C.F.R. § 201.323], “official notice may be taken of any 

material fact which might be judicially noticed by a district court of the United States, any matter 

in the public official records of the Commission, or any matter which is peculiarly within the 

knowledge of the Commission as an expert body.”  Thus, all of the facts described above are 

beyond dispute.   

B. Applicable Regulation A Legal Requirements 

Regulation A sets forth a number of requirements that issuers must follow, codified in §§ 

230.251 - 230.300-230.263 of Title 17 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  An offering of 

                                                 

5 In compliance with Commission Rule of Practice 230, 17 C.F.R. § 201.230 and this Court’s Pre-hearing 
Scheduling Order, the Division produced the investigative file in this matter to Respondent on April 22, 2022.    
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securities pursuant to Regulation A is not a registered offering, as required under Section 5 of the 

Securities Act.  Instead, as stated above, Regulation A is an exemption to Section 5’s 

requirement that an issuer file a registration statement prior to the sale of securities to the public.   

The purpose of Regulation A is to allow companies to expeditiously raise capital, while still 

providing investor protections in the form of mandated disclosures.6 

1. Rule 251(d) – Regulation A Issuer Must Commence Continuous Offering 
Within Two Days of Qualification 
 

Regulation A permits an issuer to engage in continuous offerings.  Specifically, Rule 

251(d)(3)(i) permits an issuer to engage in offerings on a continuous basis if the offering “will be 

commenced within two calendar days after qualification of the offering statement, may continue 

for a period in excess of 30 calendar days from the date of initial qualification, and will be 

offered in an amount that, at the time the offering statement is qualified, is reasonably expected 

to be offered and sold within two years from the initial qualification date.”  17 C.F.R. § 

201.251(d)(3)(i)(F).  (Emphasis added). 

The language of the Rule 251(d)(3)(i)(F) continuous offering provision is modeled after 

the general requirements set forth for a continuous offering and sale of securities in connection 

with a registered offering in Rule 415(a)(1)(ix), which requires that a continuous offering “will 

be commenced promptly, will be made on a continuous basis and may continue for a period in 

excess of 30 days from the date of initial effectiveness.”  17 C.F.R. § 230.415; see also 

Amendments for Small and Additional Issues Exemptions under the Securities Act (Regulation 

A), Securities Act Release No 33-9741, at 134-5 (March 25, 2015), available at 

                                                 

6 SEC Adopts Rules to Facilitate Smaller Companies' Access to Capital, SEC Press 

Release 2015-49, dated March 25, 2015. 
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https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2015/33-9741.pdf.  The Commission has consistently explained 

that in order to commence a continuous offering, the issuer “must be ready and willing to sell the 

securities at all times.”  Securities Offering Reform for Closed-End Investment Companies. 

Securities Act Release No. 10619. Exchange Act Release No. 85382; Investment Company Act 

Release No. 33427.  March 20, 2019, n. 17; see also Continuous or Delayed Offerings by Certain 

Closed-End Management Investment Companies, Investment Company Act Release No. 19391 

(Apr. 7, 1993) [58 FR 19361, 19362 (Apr. 14, 1993).   

In connection with registered offerings, an offering that is not continuous in nature may 

only be made on a delayed, or “shelf,” basis if it fits within one of the narrow sets of permissible 

delayed offerings set forth in Rule 415(a).  This includes Rule 415(a)(1)(x), which permits an 

issuer that is eligible to register securities offerings on Form S-3 to conduct a primary offering 

“off the shelf,” wherein a seasoned issuer can register an unallocated dollar amount of securities 

for sale at a later time and then later take down securities “off the shelf” for sale in a public 

offering as market conditions warrant.  See Securities Offering Reform for Closed-End 

Investment Companies. Securities Act Release No. 10619. Exchange Act Release No. 85382. 

Investment Company Act Release No. 33427. March 20, 2019. 

However, the Commission did not include in Rule 251(d)(3) of Regulation A any 

provision analogous to Rule 415(a)(1)(x), and therefore this type of delayed offering – i.e., shelf 

offering –  is not permitted under Regulation A.  As a result, for an issuer seeking to conduct a 

continuous offering under Rule 251(d)(3), that issuer must be ready and willing to sell its 

securities within two calendar days of qualification.   

In addition, consistent with the broad Securities Act definition and historical Commission 

interpretation of the term “offer,” Regulation A offers are made at the time the offering statement 
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is filed with the Commission.  See, e.g., Rule 152(c)(3).  That does not mean, however, that an 

offering has “commenced” for purposes of Rule 251(d)(3)(i)(F).  If it did, that would render Rule 

251(d) superfluous, as any qualified offering would have already had an offering statement filed 

with the Commission, and there would never be an offering that did not “commence” within two 

days of qualification.  See Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 174 (2001) (holding that it is “a 

cardinal principle of statutory construction” that “a statute ought, upon the whole, to be so 

construed that, if it can be prevented, no clause, sentence, or word shall be superfluous, void, or 

insignificant); United States v. Menasche, 348 U.S. 528, 538–539 (1955) (“It is our duty ‘to give 

effect, if possible, to every clause and word of a statute”) (internal quotations omitted); 

Montclair v. Ramsdell, 107 U.S. 147, 152 (1883) (“[W]ere we to adopt [Andrews'] construction 

of the statute, the express exception would be rendered insignificant, if not wholly superfluous.”) 

(internal quotations omitted).   

As explained above, the requirement that the offering must commence within two 

calendar days of qualification is a safeguard to prevent the issuer from conducting a delayed 

“shelf” offering, which is not permitted under Regulation A, as opposed to a continuous offering, 

under which the issuer must stand ready and willing to sell the securities within two days of 

qualification.  Therefore, any failure by an issuer to be “ready and willing” to offer and sell its 

securities within two calendar days of qualification under Rule 251(d)(3)(i)(F) results in the use 

of Regulation A for an impermissible shelf offering.7   

                                                 

7 In adopting Regulation A, the Commission recognized the possibility of inadvertent failures in complying with the 
regulation’s requirements.  For the sole purpose of assessing whether a failure to comply with the results in the loss 
of the exemption for an offer or sale to a particular individual or entity (in the private litigation context), the 
Commission indicated that issuers could establish some failures as insignificant.  17 C.F.R. § 230.260(a).  However, 
that rule also states that “this provision provides no relief or protection from a proceeding under Rule 258.”  Rule 
260(c).  Therefore, the Commission has explicitly and unequivocally indicated in Rule 260 that this distinction 
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2. Rule 253(b) – Amendment Required to Increase Volume of Securities 

Regulation A permits issuers to file offering circulars to update information in their Form 

1-A.  See 17 C.F.R. § 201.253.  Rule 253 dictates that offering circulars may be used to 

supplement certain categories of designated information, including the offering price, the 

underwriting syndicate, and underwriting discounts or commissions.  Id.  However, the Advisory 

Note to Rule 253(b) specifically states that “an offering circular supplement may not be used to 

increase the volume of securities being offered.  Additional securities may only be offered 

pursuant to a new offering statement or post-qualification amendment qualified by the 

Commission.”  Advisory Note to 17 C.F.R. § 230.253 (emphasis added).   

Rule 253(b) prohibits increasing amount of securities being offered through the use of an 

offering circular supplement.  Therefore, a violation of Rule 253(b) occurs the moment the issuer 

files the offering circular supplement seeking to increase the volume of securities being offered, 

even if the issuer does not actually sell up to the increased amount.  In addition, given that a 

violation of Rule 253(b) occurs the moment the issuer files the offering circular supplement, any 

                                                 

between significant and insignificant deviations provides no relief or protection to a respondent from a proceeding 
under Rule 258, and per Rule 258(a)(1), any violation by an issuer of Regulation A can form the basis of a 
suspension.   
 
Even if Rule 260 did apply to a Rule 258 suspension proceeding, Rule 260 of Regulation A provides that “any 
failure” to comply with certain requirements of Rule 251 – including Rule 251(d)(3) – “shall be deemed to be 
significant to the offering as a whole.”   Rule 260(a)(2).  (Emphasis added.).  The Commission also stated in the 
Regulation A adopting release that the final Rules:   
 

explicitly classify as significant those deviations that are related to issuer eligibility, aggregate offering price, 
offers and continuous or delayed offerings.  This provision benefits investors by providing certainty about 
the provisions from which the issuer may not deviate without losing the exemption.  At the same time, it 
enables issuers to continue to rely on the exemption and obtain its capital formation benefits even if they 
have an “insignificant deviation” from the final rules.  

SEC Amendments for Small and Additional Issues Exemptions under the Jobs Act, Release No. 33-9741, at 310-11 
(June 19, 2015), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2015/33-9741.pdf (Emphasis added.)   
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subsequent attempt to remedy the improper increase is irrelevant and does not change the fact 

that a violation of Rule 253(b) occurred.  

3.  Rule 258 – Suspension Proceedings 

In a proceeding initiated pursuant to Rule 258, the Commission may enter an order 

temporarily suspending a Regulation A exemption if it has reason to believe, inter alia, that (1) 

any of the terms, conditions or requirements of Regulation A have not been complied with or (2) 

the offering statement, any sales or solicitation of interest material, or any report contains any 

untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact.  See 17 C.F.R. § 201.258(a).  

Once the Commission enters a temporary suspension order, it must promptly give notice to the 

issuer that it may, in writing and within 30 days of the entry of the order, request a hearing.  17 

C.F.R. § 201.258(b)(2). 

“Where a hearing is requested or is ordered by the Commission, the Commission will, 

after notice of and opportunity for such hearing, either vacate the order or enter an order 

permanently suspending the exemption.”  17 C.F.R. § 201.258(c). (emphasis added.)  

Furthermore, after notice and opportunity for hearing, the Commission may “enter an order 

permanently suspending the exemption for any reason upon which it could have entered a 

temporary suspension order under paragraph (a) of this section.” 17 C.F.R. § 201.258(d).  

(emphasis added.) 

C. There is no Genuine Issue of Material Fact that REIT II Failed to Comply 
with the Requirements of Regulation A or that its Offering Statements and 
Solicitation Materials Contained Untrue Statements of Material Facts or 
Material Omissions that Rendered Statements Made Misleading 

 There is no question that REIT II failed to comply with the terms, conditions and 

requirements of Regulation A, a basis for its suspension under Rule 258(a)(1).  The record also 

clearly establishes that REIT II’s offering statement and solicitation of interest material 
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contained materially false or misleading statements or omissions that rendered statements made 

misleading, which provides a separate basis for its suspension under Rule 258(a)(2).   

 Both REIT II’s noncompliance with “any of the terms” of Regulation A and use of 

materially false or misleading offering materials support imposition of a permanent Regulation A 

suspension.  See 17 C.F.R. § 201.258(d) (permanent suspensions may be imposed for any reason 

upon which a temporary suspension could have been imposed under Rule 258(a)).  

1. REIT II’s Failure to Comply with the Requirements of Regulation A 
Supports Imposition of a Permanent Suspension 

 REIT II failed to comply with the terms, conditions, and requirements of Regulation A by 

(1) failing to commence its continuous offering within two days of qualification, in violation of 

Rule 251(d)(3)(i)(F), and (2) raising its maximum offering amount from $50 million to $75 

million through the filing of its August 26, 2021 offering circular supplement instead of through 

a new offering statement or amendment, in violation of Rule 253(b).   

 First, the Commission staff qualified REIT II to commence its continuous offering on 

January 29, 2021.  Kam Decl. Ex. 1.  REIT II was therefore required to commence its continuous 

offering within two calendar days of being qualified.  See Rule 251(d)(3)(i)(F).  It failed to do so, 

as it was not “ready and willing” to sell its securities by February 2, 2021.  See Continuous or 

Delayed Offerings by Certain Closed-End Management Investment Companies, Investment 

Company Act Release No. 19391 (Apr. 7, 1993) [58 FR 19361, 19362 (Apr. 14, 1993).  

Specifically, it is undisputed that on September 29, 2021, REIT II filed a Form 1-SA admitting 

that as of June 30, 2021, it had “not begun raising money or making investments, but would 

begin in the second half of the year.”  Kam Decl. Ex. 2 at 2.  REIT II also did not have a signed 

escrow agreement in place until August 2021, and therefore had no practical ability to process 

any attempt by investors to purchase securities from REIT II.  Id. Ex 29.  In his testimony, 
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DiversyFund’s CEO admitted that the reason for the delay was that DiversyFund needed 

additional time to gather the relevant documents, meet internally with its tech team, and prepare 

a business plan on how to market REIT II’s securities.  Id. Ex 21 at pp. 76:19-77:5.   It is 

therefore undisputed that REIT II did not commence its continuous offering within two calendar 

days of qualification as required under Rule 251(d)(3)(i)(F).8   

 Second, on August 26, 2021, it is undisputed that REIT II issued an offering circular 

supplement raising its offering amount from $50 million to $75 million.  Id. Ex. 3 at p. 1.  Then 

on February 23, 2022, after having raised funds for six months using offering materials 

representing such increased offering size, REIT II filed another offering circular supplement 

lowering its offering amount from $75 million back to the proper $50 million.  Id. Ex. 4.   

 REIT II’s actions violated Rule 253(b), which states that “an offering circular supplement 

may not be used to increase the volume of securities being offered.  Additional securities may 

only be offered pursuant to a new offering statement or post-qualification amendment qualified 

by the Commission.”  Advisory Note to 17 C.F.R. § 230.253 (emphasis added).  By not filing a 

new offering statement or a post-qualification amendment as required – either of which would 

have needed to be qualified – REIT II avoided review by Division of Corporation Finance staff 

and offered and sold securities pursuant to offering materials that were not qualified.  See 17 

C.F.R. § 201.251(d)(2).  Moreover, the fact that REIT II subsequently filed an offering circular 

                                                 

8 As stated above, Rule 260 of Regulation A provides that “any failure” to comply with certain requirements of Rule 
251 “shall be deemed to be significant to the offering as a whole.”  Rule 260(a)(2).  (Emphasis added.).  The 
Commission has specifically stated that the designation of these types of provisions as significant “provid[es] 
certainty about the provisions from which the issuer may not deviate without losing the exemption.”  SEC 
Amendments for Small and Additional Issues Exemptions under the Jobs Act, Release No. 33-9741, at 310-11 (June 
19, 2015), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2015/33-9741.pdf  (Emphasis added.)   
 
Thus, a failure to impose a permanent suspension would ignore the explicit language—as well as the clear intent—
of the Regulation A Rules adopted by the Commission: that significant deviations from the rules, which 
unequivocally occurred here, will result in the issuer losing the exemption.    
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supplement seeking to decrease the offering amount back to $50 million is irrelevant, as the 

violation of Rule 251(d) occurred the moment that REIT II filed the offering circular supplement 

increasing the amount of the offering.  The undisputed record therefore clearly establishes REIT 

II’s violation of Rule 253(b). 

2. REIT II’s Offering Statements and Solicitation Materials Contained 
Untrue Statements of Facts or Omissions  

 There is no dispute that REIT II’s offering statement and solicitation of interest materials 

contained materially false or misleading statements relating to (1) the separation of REIT I and 

REIT II, (2) the minimum amount it needed to raise in its Regulation A offering and the risk of 

loss to REIT II and investors if the Regulation A offering was not fully consummated, and (3) 

the fees that its investors would be charged.   

 DiversyFund’s website, where REIT II’s securities were offered, represented to investors 

that REIT I and REIT II “operate as separate investment vehicles” and that “REIT I will not be 

impacted by REIT II in any way.”  Kam Decl. Ex. 11 at p. 2.  In REIT II’s January 21, 2021 

offering circular, it represented that the fund “has no minimum amount, we will begin to deploy 

the money we raise right away” and further represented that “[w]hether we raise $50 million in 

offering or something less, proceeds of the Offering will satisfy our cash requirements.  If we 

raise less than $50 million, we will simply make fewer investments.”  Id. Ex. 8 at pp. 8, 73.  As 

of February 3, 2022, REIT II had raised $10,737,607 from approximately 3,712 investors 

pursuant to Regulation A.  Id. Ex. 9 at p. 19; Ex. 7 at p. 35.  

But contrary to these public statements, Respondent was co-mingling the funds it 

received from REIT I and REIT II, and it did in fact have a minimum amount it needed to raise 

in its Regulation A offering.  For example, REIT II admitted – on page twelve of Respondent’s 

February 28, 2022 emergency motion to stay its temporary suspension filed in the Ninth Circuit 
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and elsewhere – that a failure to continue to be able to sell in reliance on Regulation A “will 

quickly force the closure of their business and losses to 30,000 investors.”  Id. Ex. 7 at p. 12.   

This number of investors that REIT II identified as being harmed if REIT II was unable 

to continue selling in Reliance on Regulation A combined REIT I’s total pool of 25,828 investors 

and REIT II’s total pool of 3,712 investors, demonstrating that REIT II’s representations to its 

investors regarding the separateness of the two entities were false.  In addition, REIT II’s 

statement further proves that REIT II did in fact have a minimum amount it sought to raise, as 

clearly the $10,737,607 it had raised up to that point was insufficient for its cash requirements, 

contrary to the representations REIT II made in its January 21, 2021 offering circular that 

“[w]hether we raise $50 million in offering or something less, proceeds of the Offering will 

satisfy our cash requirements.”  Moreover, nowhere in its offering materials are REIT II 

investors informed of the massive negative impact of the closure of its business if the Regulation 

A offering was delayed or otherwise not fully successful.  To the contrary, investors were 

assured that if the full amount initially sought in the Regulation A offering ($50 million) were 

not raised, REIT II “will simply make fewer investments.” 

DiversyFund’s CEO confirmed that REIT I and REIT II were dependent upon each other 

and admitted DiversyFund’s overall business was reliant on how much money REIT II raised.  

Id. Ex. 21 at pp. 137:3-139:15.  He testified that REIT II did in fact have a minimum amount that 

it needed to raise, that REIT II needed to raise $75 million, and that REIT II’s representation that 

it did not have a minimum amount it needed to raise was inaccurate.  Id. at p. 146:8-11; 154:24-

158:2.  There is therefore no genuine issue of material fact that Respondent misrepresented to 

investors the co-dependent nature of REIT I and REIT II or failed to accurately or fully disclose 
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the harm that would befall REIT II and its investors in the event that REIT II was unable to raise 

the funds sought in its Regulation A offering. 

 REIT II also made misrepresentations regarding the fees DiversyFund was charging its 

investors.  In REIT II’s January 19, 2021 offering circular, it stated that DiversyFund would 

charge a “sponsor fee” and may charge a “property disposition fee,” a “construction management 

fee,” a “Guaranty fee,” and “other fees.”  Id. Ex. 8 at pp. 43-45.  In its August 26, 2021 offering 

circular supplement, REIT II revised its fee structure and stated that DiversyFund “will charge 

the Company an annual asset management fee equal to 2% of the capital raised from the sale of 

Class A Investor Shares” and also referenced a “property disposition fee,” “construction 

management fee,” a “guaranty fee” and “other fees.”  Id. Ex. 3 at p. 2.   

 However, during that same period, Respondent made completely different representations 

in its solicitation materials regarding the fees that it intended to charge new investors.  For 

example, in September 2021 the DiversyFund website represented that REIT II would require a 

“minimum investment of only $500 and no management fees.”  Id. Ex. 12. (emphasis added).  

Then in November 2021, the DiversyFund website changed its fee structure for REIT II once 

again, referencing an “Asset Management fee,” a “platform fee equal to 2% of equity dollars per 

year,” “Notes Offering and Organization Expense Reimbursement fees,” “marketing fees,” 

“fintech platform fees,” and “Real Estate Fees” which included “Acquisition Fees” and “Finance 

Fees.”  Id. Ex. 11 at p. 4.   

 There is therefore no question that REIT II’s offering statements and solicitation 

materials contained untrue statements or omissions that rendered statements made misleading 

relating to REIT II’s separation from REIT I, the minimum amount it needed to raise in its 
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Regulation A offering and the risk of loss to REIT II and investors if the Regulation A offering 

was not fully consummated, and the fees charged in association with investing in REIT II. 

3. REIT II’s Misstatements and Omissions Were Material 

 There is also no question that those untrue statements and omissions were material.  A 

material fact is one in which there is “a substantial likelihood that a reasonable investor would 

attach importance in determining whether to purchase the security registered.”  17 C.F.R. § 

230.405; see also Basic v. Levinson, 485 U.S. 224, 231-232 (1988); TSC Indus., Inc. v. 

Northway, Inc., 426 U.S. 438, 449 (1976).  Respondent’s false and misleading representations 

were material because a reasonable REIT II investor would consider it important to know if their 

investment’s success or failure was reliant upon REIT I and its success and contingent upon not 

just how much money REIT II raised in its REIT II offering, but that a delay in the ability to rely 

on Regulation A would “quickly force the closure” of REIT II and result in investor losses.  SEC 

v. Murphy, 626 F.2d 633, 653 (9th Cir.1980) (holding that the “materiality of information 

relating to financial condition, solvency, and profitability is not subject to serious challenge.”)  It 

is also well established that Respondent’s misrepresentations regarding the fees investors might 

be charged are material, as a reasonable investor would find it important to know what fees they 

would be charged by the sponsor.  See SEC v. All. Leasing Corp., 28 Fed.Appx. 648, 652 (9th 

Cir. 2002) (defendant’s failure to disclose a commission was material to the investor’s 

assessment of the strength of the potential investment because “reasonable minds cannot differ 

on the question of materiality”); United States v. Laurienti, 611 F.3d 530, 541 (9th Cir. 2010) 

(noting “[i]n deciding whether to buy a given stock, a reasonable investor would consider it 

important that, in contrast to the purchase of most stocks, the broker would receive a 5% 

commission from the purchase of this particular (house) stock,” and therefore “reject[ing] 

Defendants’ argument that the bonus commissions are immaterial as a matter of law”); Schaffer 
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Family Inv’rs LLC v. Sonnier, 2016 WL 6917269, at *6 (C.D. Cal. July 5, 2016) (finding 

defendant’s misrepresentation that he did not have any financial benefit in connection with 

investments were material misrepresentations as a matter of law where defendant admitted “he 

did in fact receive ‘finder’s fees’ and commissions ... in connection with the investments”). 

 And REIT II cannot genuinely dispute that these misrepresentations were material, as 

multiple investors contacted DiversyFund to withdraw their investments when they discovered 

these misrepresentations.  For example, at least three investors sought to remove their 

investments from DiversyFund after finding its disclosures relating to the separateness of REIT I 

and REIT II to be confusing and untrue.  Kam Decl. Ex. 25 at par. 6; Ex. 26 at par. 6; Ex. 27 at 

par. 7.  These investors discovered that DiversyFund had posted an Advisory Services 

Agreement to their accounts, which authorized DiversyFund to act as their investment adviser.  

Id. Ex. 25 at par. 4; Ex. 26 at par. 4; Ex. 27 at par. 6.  These agreements fraudulently affixed the 

investors’ electronic signatures to the agreements without their consent or knowledge.   Id. Ex. 

25 at par. 4; Ex. 27 at par. 6.  In at least one instance, DiversyFund then funneled the investor’s 

funds from REIT I into REIT II without that investor’s knowledge or consent.  Id. Ex. 25 at par. 

2.   

 Investors similarly found misleading DiversyFund’s representations relating to the fees 

that they were being charged.  At least two investors initially invested with the understanding 

that they would not be charged fees, but then observed that DiversyFund changed its 

representations relating to its fees after they had already invested in the company.  Id. Ex. 26 at 

par. 5; Ex. 27 at par. 4.  DiversyFund also represented to some investors in email 

communications that they provided “a no-fee platform.”  Id. Ex 27 at par. 8.  DiversyFund never 

provided investors with any financial statements or documents reflecting the fees that they were 
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being charged for their investments.   Id. Ex. 25 at par. 4; Ex. 26 at par. 5; Ex. 27 at par. 4.  As 

discussed above, the investors found these misrepresentations and omissions so egregious that 

they sought to remove their investments from DiversyFund.  Id. Ex. 25 at par. 6; Ex. 26 at par. 6; 

Ex. 27 at par. 7.   There can therefore be no dispute that REIT II’s misrepresentations and 

omissions were material.   

D. This Court Should Permanently Suspend REIT II’s Use of Regulation A 

There is no question that REIT II violated the terms, conditions and requirements of 

Regulation A by failing to commence its offering within two days, by improperly increasing its 

offering amount without filing an amendment, and for having untrue statements or omissions of 

material fact in its offering documents or solicitation materials.   

There is also no question that this Court should permanently suspend REIT II’s continued 

use of Regulation A.  Regulation A is an exemption to the traditional requirement under Section 

5 of the Securities Act that a company must have a registration statement in effect as to a security 

before it can sell the security.  15 U.S.C. § 77e.  By using this exemption, which allowed REIT II 

the benefit of offering its securities to the public without the burden of registration, REIT II was 

required to follow the detailed requirements set forth under Regulation A.  These requirements 

were in place for the protection of investors, and a violation of these requirements should 

necessarily result in REIT II’s suspension.   

REIT II violated requirements that were central to the Regulation A offering as a whole.  

The sheer number of violations compel this Court to permanently suspend REIT II’s use of 

Regulation A.  These violations were also coupled with REIT II’s use of offering and solicitation 

materials that contained numerous untrue or misleading statements of facts that investors deemed 

so material that they sought to withdraw their investments when they learned of the 
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misstatements. 

Finally, these violations are ongoing.  Investors in both REIT I and REIT II are 

continuing to discover that their signatures are being affixed to electronic agreements without 

their knowledge, authorizing DiversyFund to act as their investment adviser without their 

consent.  In addition, DiversyFund continues to commingle REIT I and REIT II investor funds 

and investors are continuing to discover that their recurring investments are being transferred 

without their approval between REIT I and REIT II.   

IV. CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, the Division respectfully requests that the Court grant this 

Motion for Summary Disposition and permanently suspend REIT II from its continued use of 

Regulation A. 
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I, Stephen Kam, declare pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746 as follows: 

1. This declaration is submitted in support of the Division of Enforcement’s 

(“Division’s”) Motion for Summary Disposition.  

2. I am an attorney in the Los Angeles Regional Office of the Securities and 

Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  Unless specifically stated, I have personal knowledge of 

the matters set forth below. 

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 1 is a true and correct copy of a document titled SEC 

Notice of Qualification REIT II, uploaded to EDGAR on January 29, 2021. 

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit 2 is a true and correct copy of a document titled REIT 

II Form 1-SA, uploaded to EDGAR on September 29, 2021. 

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit 3 is a true and correct copy of a document titled REIT 

II Supplement No. 1 to the Offering Circular, uploaded to EDGAR on August 26, 2021. 

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 4 is a true and correct copy of a document titled REIT 

II Offering Circular, uploaded to EDGAR on February 23, 2021. 

7. Attached hereto as Exhibit 5 is a true and correct copy of a document titled Form 

1-SA of REIT I, uploaded to EDGAR on September 28, 2021. 

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit 6 is a true and correct copy of a document titled REIT 

I Annual Report Form 1-K, uploaded to EDGAR on May 3, 2022. 

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit 7 is a true and correct copy of document titled 

DiversyFund, Inc. Motion to Stay filed in the Ninth Circuit on February 28, 2022.  

10. Attached hereto as Exhibit 8 is a true and correct copy of a document titled Form 

1-A for REIT II, uploaded to EDGAR on January 21, 2021. 

11. Attached hereto as Exhibit 9 is a true and correct copy of a document titled REIT 

II Annual Report Form 1-K, uploaded to EDGAR on May 3, 2022. 

12. Attached hereto as Exhibit 10 is intentionally left blank. 

OS Received 06/03/2022



3 

 

13. Attached hereto as Exhibit 11 is a true and correct copy of a website capture of 

DiversyFund.com as of November 22, 2021, bates-stamped SEC-SEC-E-0000200, SEC-SEC-E-

0000408, SEC-SEC-E-0000416, and SEC-SEC-E-0000407.   

14. Attached hereto as Exhibit 12 is a true and correct copy of a website capture of 

DiversyFund.com as of September 17, 2021, bates-stamped SEC-SEC-E-0000001 and SEC-

SEC-E-0000005. 

15. Attached hereto as Exhibit 13 is a true and correct copy of an email exchange 

between Investor John Travis and DiversyFund dated December 18, 2021 bates-stamped SEC-

TravisJ-E-0000001-03. 

16. Attached hereto as Exhibit 14 is a true and correct copy of a document titled DF 

Growth REIT II, LLC Investment Agreement dated October 5, 2021 bates-stamped SEC-

TravisJ-E-0000019-29. 

17. Attached hereto as Exhibit 15 is a true and correct copy of a document titled 

Diversy Advisory Services, LLC Client Agreement bates-stamped SEC-TravisJ-E-0000005-18. 

18. Attached hereto as Exhibit 16 is a true and correct copy of an email between 

Ankit Shah and DiversyFund dated May 3, 2022 bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-0000182-88. 

19. Attached hereto as Exhibit 17 is a true and correct copy of an email between 

Ankit Shah and DiversyFund dated May 3, 2022 bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-0000226-37. 

20. Attached hereto as Exhibit 18 is a true and correct copy of an email between 

Ankit Shah and DiversyFund dated May 3, 2022 bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-0000189-203. 

21. Attached hereto as Exhibit 19 is a true and correct copy of an email between 

Ankit Shah and DiversyFund dated May 3, 2022 bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-0000177-81. 

22. Attached hereto as Exhibit 20 is a true and correct copy of an undated document 

titled Diversy Advisory Services, LLC Client Agreement bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-

0000117-37. 

23. Attached here to as Exhibit 21 is a true and correct copy of a transcript of the 

investigative testimony of Craig Cecilio dated March 15, 2022. 
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24. Attached here to as Exhibit 22 is a true and correct copy of a transcript of the 

investigative testimony of Alan Lewis dated April 21, 2022. 

25. Attached hereto as Exhibit 23 is a true and correct copy of an email exchange 

between Paul Calo and DiversyFund dated May 11, 2022 bates-stamped SEC-CaloP-E-0000422 

and SEC-CaloP-E-0000431 

26. Attached hereto as Exhibit 24 is a true and correct copy a document titled Diversy 

Advisory Services, LLC Client Agreement bates-stamped SEC-CaloP-E-0000001-14. 

27. Attached hereto as Exhibit 25 is a true and correct copy of John Travis’s Signed 

Declaration, dated May 31, 2022. 

28. Attached hereto as Exhibit 26 is a true and correct copy of Ankit Shah’s 

Declaration, dated May 25, 2022. 

29. Attached hereto as Exhibit 27 is a true and correct copy of Paul Calo’s 

Declaration, dated May 27, 2022. 

30. Attached hereto as Exhibit 28 is a true and correct copy of an email exchange 

between Paul Calo and DiversyFund dated May 21, 2021 bates-stamped SEC-CaloP-E-0000133-

40. 

31. Attached hereto as Exhibit 29 is a true and correct copy of an Escrow Services 

Agreement entered into between Prime Trust and REIT II dated August 19, 2021, bates-stamped 

DF-001268-74. 

 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.  Executed on 

June 3, 2022. 

 
 _______________________________ 

Stephen Kam 
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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA                                                            

Before the 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDING 
File No. 3-20801 
 
 
In the Matter of 
 
            DF GROWTH II LLC, 
 
Respondent. 
 
 

 
 

 
  

DIVISION OF ENFORCEMENT’S INDEX OF EXHIBITS 

Attachment Description 
1 SEC Notice of Qualification of REIT II (uploaded to EDGAR) 
2 REIT II Form 1-SA (uploaded to EDGAR) 
3 REIT II Supplement No. 1 to the Offering Circular (uploaded to 

EDGAR) 
4 REIT II Offering Circular (uploaded to EDGAR) 
5 Form 1-SA of REIT I (uploaded to EDGAR) 

 
6 REIT I Annual Report Form 1-K (uploaded to EDGAR) 
7 DiversyFund, Inc. Motion to Stay filed in Ninth Circuit (dated 

February 28, 2022) 
8 REIT II Form 1-A (uploaded to EDGAR) 
9 REIT II Annual Report Form 1-K (uploaded to EDGAR) 
10 Intentionally Left Blank  
11 DiversyFund.com website (Nov 2021) 
12 DiversyFund.com website (Sept 2021) 
13 Email exchange between Investor John Travis and DiversyFund 

dated December 18, 2021 bates-stamped SEC-TravisJ-E-0000001-
03 

14 DF Growth REIT II, LLC Investment Agreement dated October 5, 
2021 bates-stamped SEC-TravisJ-E-0000019-29 

15 Diversy Advisory Services, LLC Client Agreement bates-stamped 
SEC-TravisJ-E-0000005-18 
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16 Email exchange between Ankit Shah and DiversyFund dated May 
3, 2022 bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-0000182-88 

17 Email exchange between Ankit Shah and DiversyFund dated May 
3, 2022 bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-0000226-37 

18 Email exchange between Ankit Shah and DiversyFund dated May 3, 
2022 bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-0000189-203 

19 Email exchange between Ankit Shah and DiversyFund dated May 3, 
2022 bates-stamped SEC-ShahA-E-0000177-81 

20 Diversy Advisory Services, LLC Client Agreement bates-stamped 
SEC-ShahA-E-0000117-37 

21 Transcript of the investigative testimony of Craig Cecilio dated 
March 15, 2022 

22 Transcript of the investigative testimony of Alan Lewis dated April 
21, 2022. 

23 Email exchange between Paul Calo and DiversyFund dated May 11, 
2022 bates-stamped SEC-CaloP-E-0000422 and SEC-CaloP-E-
0000431 

24 Diversy Advisory Services, LLC Client Agreement bates-stamped 
SEC-CaloP-E-0000001-14. 

25 John Travis’s Signed Declaration, dated May 31, 2022 
26 Ankit Shah’s Declaration, dated May 25, 2022 
27 Paul Calo’s Declaration, dated May 27, 2022 
28 Email exchange between Paul Calo and DiversyFund dated May 21, 

2021 bates-stamped SEC-CaloP-E-0000133-40 

29 Escrow Services Agreement entered into between Prime Trust and 
REIT II dated August 19, 2021, bates-stamped DF-001268-74. 
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1 UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

2
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1                  P R O C E E D I N G S

2           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 10:39 a.m. on March

3 15th, 2022.  Mr. Cecilio, do you consent to taking an oath

4 to tell the truth remotely via WebEx rather than in

5 person?

6           THE WITNESS:  Yes, I do.

7           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.  And please raise your right hand.

8           Do you swear to tell the truth, the whole

9 truth and nothing but the truth?

10           THE WITNESS:  Yes, I do.

11 Whereupon,

12              CRAIG XANDER CECILIO

13 was called as a witness and, having been first duly sworn,

14 was examined and testified as follows:

15                 EXAMINATION

16           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

17      Q    Please state and spell your full name for

18 the record.

19      A    Craig Xander Cecilio.

20      Q    Can you spell your name?

21      A    C-R-A-I-G, X-A-N-D-E-R, C-E-C-I-L-I-O.

22           MR. BHANDARI:  You can lower your hand, Craig.

23           THE WITNESS:  Thanks.

24           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

25      Q    My name is William

Page 6

1 Rosenthal.  I'm an attorney in the office of
2 enforcement, Los Angeles Regional Office of the
3 United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
4           With me today is assistant regional
5 director Victoria Levin.  We're officers of the
6 commission for the purposes of this proceeding.
7           Also present today are Attorney Lynn Dean
8 and accountant Pasha Salimi.
9           This is an investigation by the United

10 States Securities and Exchange Commission in the
11 matter of DiversyFund, Inc. LA-5266, to determine
12 whether there have been violations of certain
13 provisions of the federal securities law.
14           However, the facts developed in this
15 investigation might constitute violations of other
16 federal or state, civil or criminal laws.
17           Mr. Cecilio, prior to the opening the
18 record, you were provided with a copy of the formal
19 order of investigation in this matter.  It will be
20 available for your examination during the course of
21 the proceeding.
22           Have you had an opportunity to review the
23 formal order?
24      A    Yes, we have.
25                     (SEC Exhibit No. 1 was introduced.)

Page 7

1      Q    And prior to the opening of the record, you
2 were also provided with a copy of Commission
3 Supplemental Investigation, Form 1662, which has been
4 marked as Exhibit Number 1.
5           Have you had an opportunity to read Exhibit
6 Number 1?
7      A    I've had an opportunity, yes, I have.
8      Q    Okay.  And this is Exhibit 1 on the screen.
9           Do you have any questions about this

10 exhibit, Mr. Cecilio?
11      A    No, I don't.
12      Q    Okay.  Are you represented by counsel?
13      A    Yes, I am.
14           MR. ROSENTHAL:  And would counsel please
15 identify themselves for the record and confirm that
16 they're representing Mr. Cecilio.
17           MR. BHANDARI:  Yes.  Mr. Cecilio is
18 represented by Buchalter Professional Corporation and
19 from Buchalter, present today are Sanjay Bhandari,
20 me, and my colleague Ryan Stasell.
21      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, can you
22 please confirm that they're representing you?
23      A    Yes, they are representing me.
24           MR. ROSENTHAL:  And Mr. Cecilio and
25 Counsel, can you please confirm for the record that
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1 no one else is in the room with you?
2           MR. BHANDARI:  Confirmed.
3           THE WITNESS:  Confirmed.
4           MR. STASELL:  Confirmed.
5      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Everything we say today
6 is recorded by the court reporter and will return in
7 the form of a transcript.  To help make our reporter
8 an accurate transcript, I'm going to go over some
9 guidelines.

10           First, please provide complete verbal
11 responses to our questions.  The reporter is unable
12 to record an answer if you shake your head or make
13 other movements.
14           Do you understand that?
15      A    Yes, I do.
16      Q    And the reporter can't record all of us
17 speaking at the same time.  So please let us finish
18 our questions before you answer, and we'll try to do
19 the same and let you finish your responses.
20           Do you understand?
21      A    Yes, I do.
22      Q    If you do not understand a question, please
23 tell us and we will try to rephrase it.
24           I will control the record and when the
25 reporter is on the record or off the record.  If you
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1 wish to go off the record at any time to take a break
2 or consult with your attorney, please indicate this
3 to me and we'll ask the reporter to go off the record
4 when it's an appropriate time to do so.
5           Even though we're taking your testimony via
6 WebEx, you should consider yourself testifying in a
7 court.  The oath you took to tell the truth is the
8 same as the one used in court and the Commission may
9 submit today testimony as to evidence to a court in a

10 later proceeding.  For this reason, you should make
11 every effort to give the best, most complete and
12 honest answers to our questions.
13           Do you understand?
14      A    Yes, I do.
15      Q    A transcript of your testimony via WebEx
16 may be used for all the routine use as set forth in
17 SEC Form 1662 marked as Exhibit Number 1.
18           Since you're testifying today via WebEx,
19 there are some additional procedures that apply.
20 Prior to the opening of the record, you were provided
21 with a copy of Securities & Exchange Commission
22 Procedures for Testimony by audio-visual means, which
23 has been marked as Exhibit Number 2.
24           I'll show that on -- Exhibit Number 2 on
25 the screen now.
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1                     (SEC Exhibit No. 2 was introduced.)
2           Mr. Cecilio, do you understand and agree to
3 abide by the procedures as set forth in Exhibit
4 Number 2?
5      A    Yes, I do.
6           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Counsel, do you understand
7 and agree to abide by the procedures in Exhibit
8 Number 2?
9           MR. BHANDARI:  Yes.

10           MR. STASELL:  Yes.
11      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, is there
12 any reason you would be unable to give your best
13 testimony here today?
14      A    No reason.
15           MR. BHANDARI:  Are you asking, Will, if
16 he's under any medication or any such thing?  I mean,
17 because obviously he has no idea what you're going to
18 ask about.  No exhibits have been shared.  So those
19 are obviously reasons why he could give as complete
20 testimony.  But he's of sound mind, if that's what
21 you mean.
22           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes, I'm just asking to
23 confirm that he's not under any medication and
24 there's no other reason he has that he wouldn't be
25 able to give his best testimony, his best
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1 understanding of the facts.
2           MR. BHANDARI:  Okay.  I think he's
3 confirmed that.
4           MS. LEVIN:  Actually, Counsel, I think you
5 confirmed it.  If we could just get Mr. Cecilio to
6 say -- to respond to the question, that would be
7 great.
8           MR. BHANDARI:  Craig, you're of sound mind,
9 there's no medical reason why you can't give complete

10 and accurate testimony?
11           THE WITNESS:  I'm of sound mind and body to
12 give accurate information.
13      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) And there's no other
14 reason you'll be unable to give your best testimony
15 here today?
16      A    Correct.
17           MR. BHANDARI:  Other than the reasons I
18 noted.
19                     (SEC Exhibit No. 3 was introduced.)
20      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) I'll now show you what
21 has been marked as Exhibit Number 3.  This is a
22 multiple-page document consisting of a letter
23 addressed to Craig Cecilio, dated January 26, 2022,
24 with accompanying subpoena and attachment to
25 subpoena.

Page 12

1           To clarify for the record, when we show you
2 exhibits during your testimony via WebEx today, we
3 are showing you exhibits -- copies -- electronic
4 copies of the exhibits on the WebEx screen.
5           Please take whatever time you need to
6 review these exhibits.  I can scroll through it for
7 you.
8           Mr. Cecilio, do you recognize Exhibit
9 Number 3?

10           MR. BHANDARI:  Can I pause you for a sec,
11 Will.  Could you go back to the document request?
12 When you scrolled past that, I --
13           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sure.
14           MR. BHANDARI:  -- I just wasn't sure if it
15 was the right one.
16           Okay.  And just go down a little bit.  To
17 the next page.
18           Yes, thank you.
19           It looks accurate to me.
20      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, do you
21 recognize Exhibit Number 3?
22      A    Yes, I do.
23      Q    Is the subpoena in Exhibit Number 3 a copy
24 of the subpoena you're appearing pursuant to here
25 today?
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1      A    Is that a question for me?  Yes.
2      Q    So you understand that you're appearing
3 here today pursuant to the subpoena?
4      A    Correct.
5      Q    And the subpoena here calls for the
6 production of certain documents.
7           Have you tendered to the staff all
8 documents called for by the subpoena?
9           MR. BHANDARI:  I'm going to -- I'm going to

10 object here.  We've been -- counsel has been working
11 to produce these documents.  We have had a number of
12 discussions with him.  We've made representations to
13 the staff.  And, ultimately, if there are -- if there
14 needs to be a certificate of completion, he'll do it,
15 but I'm not sure where we are.
16           I need to check with Ryan and see whether
17 we feel that we have completed this.  So I don't know
18 if he knows that information.
19           He's relying on us to have produced
20 documents over a period of time in consultation with
21 the staff about what some of these things mean.  So I
22 just don't know if he's able to answer that question
23 yet.
24           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.
25      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, have you
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1 tendered to the staff all documents called for by the
2 subpoena?
3           MR. BHANDARI:  If you can answer that
4 question, great.
5      A    Yeah, I can't answer the question.
6 Anything that my counsel has asked for us, we have
7 provided.
8      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  Can you -- can
9 you describe the search that was conducted for the

10 subpoenaed documents and state who conducted that
11 search?
12      A    The search for the documents?
13      Q    Yes.
14      A    You mean the -- okay.  Those -- anything
15 that was requested by our counsel was done by my
16 cofounder and our staff to get the documents.  And I
17 believe we provided much of the documents, but I do
18 not know if a hundred percent has been supplied.
19      Q    Okay.  And have you searched for documents?
20      A    Personally, anything that I was asked to
21 get -- all -- most of the documents, I would say,
22 are -- clarify that question.  Because I don't really
23 understand that.
24      Q    The subpoena calls for documents to be
25 produced.  I'm asking have you searched for documents
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1 that are responsive to the subpoena?
2      A    Myself, personally, I have not -- I have
3 not supplied documents.  The documents have been
4 provided by my staff.  Anything that related to
5 DiversyFund was provided by my staff with my
6 permission to access any of those documents that was
7 requested.
8      Q    Did you ask your staff to provide those
9 documents?

10      A    I am working with my cofounder, who is
11 doing the majority of the work himself to provide the
12 documents.  Anything that he needs from me, I provide
13 to him to provide to counsel.
14      Q    Okay.  And who is your cofounder?
15      A    Alan Lewis.
16      Q    Okay.  Were there any other staff that you
17 asked or that assisted you in your search for
18 documents?
19      A    Directly, not me.  I'm going through Alan
20 and Sanjay.
21      Q    I will note for the record then that the --
22 the production is not complete.  The requests remain
23 outstanding.  We can follow up at a later time with
24 your counsel.
25           Mr. Cecilio, have you withheld any
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1 documents called for by the subpoena based on any
2 claim of privilege?
3           MR. BHANDARI:  Same objection.  I don't
4 know that he knows that.  That would be something
5 that would be best addressed with counsel providing a
6 privilege log to you.  So no log has been provided.
7      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, do you
8 know -- have you withheld any documents called for by
9 the subpoena based on any claim of privilege?

10      A    Again, I don't know what that means by
11 "privilege."  Can you clarify that?  Anything that
12 was requested that was -- by my attorney, I gave it
13 to him.  So I'm kind of not understanding exactly.
14      Q    So if there's any documents that were
15 responsive but you decided -- that you decided to
16 withhold because the documents were privileged, I'm
17 asking if you know of any documents that you have
18 that are responsive that you have withheld because
19 they -- you believe they're privileged?
20      A    Yeah, I haven't withheld anything that -- I
21 haven't withheld anything that's been requested by
22 counsel for me to provide.
23           MS. LEVIN:  And, Counsel, we do request a
24 privilege log if any documents have been withheld on
25 the basis of privilege, work product, et cetera.
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1           Thank you.
2      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  Were any
3 documents called for by the subpoena not produced for
4 any reason other than privilege?
5      A    I have provided every document that was
6 required through -- that counsel has asked of me.
7      Q    Okay.  Do you know of any documents
8 responsive to the subpoena but not provided that were
9 in your possession at a prior time or that were lost,

10 destroyed or otherwise disposed of?
11      A    Again, every document that Sanjay required
12 us to produce, we produced for him.  I believe that
13 we have delivered that information to Sanjay.
14      Q    Okay.  Have you spoken with anyone other
15 than counsel regarding your appearance for testimony
16 today?
17      A    Yes, I have.
18      Q    Who?
19      A    My wife, and I believe my -- I think my
20 leadership team knows.
21      Q    Who is on your leadership team?
22      A    That would be Alan Lewis, Fateh Kamal,
23 Issac Dixon, David Legacki.  And I'm not positive,
24 because one person was out of town, Navid Firoozi.
25      Q    Who are they?

Page 18

1      A    One is our -- Fateh Kamal is our COO.
2 David Legacki is our head of product.  Navid Firoozi
3 is our chief marketing officer, Issac Dixon is our
4 head of real estate.
5           MR. BHANDARI:  Would you like those names
6 spelled?
7           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes, please.  I think that
8 would make it easier for the reporter.
9           MR. BHANDARI:  Sure.  Craig.

10           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Fateh F-A-T-E-H.  I
11 believe K-A-M-A-L.  I'm not looking at anything
12 online, so if I get it wrong, excuse me.
13           David is David, D-A-V-I-D, Legacki
14 L-E-G-A-C-K-I.  Isaac Dixon, pretty easy I-S-A-A-C
15 (sic) D-I-X-O-N.  Alan Lewis, A-L-A-N, L-E-W-I-S.
16 Navid Firoozi, N-A-V-I-D.  Firoozi is F-R-O-O-Z-I
17 (sic).  That's everybody.  That's six of us.
18      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  And when did you
19 discuss your appearance for testimony with them?
20      A    Oh, we had a leadership meeting yesterday
21 at 11:00 a.m., Monday at 11:00 a.m.
22      Q    And what was discussed at that meeting?
23      A    As it pertains to this or it pertains
24 overall the whole meeting?
25      Q    As it pertains to your testimony.
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1      A    That I would be having a testimony today, a
2 deposition.
3      Q    Was the substance of your testimony
4 discussed?
5      A    No, it was not.
6      Q    Did you have any other conversations
7 with -- with them regarding your appearance for
8 testimony today?
9      A    Let me clarify the question.  I'm not

10 certain what you're asking.
11      Q    Sorry.  Yeah.
12           You mentioned you had one meeting
13 yesterday.  Were there other meetings you had or
14 conversations you had with the people you mentioned?
15      A    Yeah.  Well, Alan's my cofounder, so, yeah,
16 we've had a couple of conversations.
17           MR. BHANDARI:  But you're, Will, about
18 conversations about the testimony?
19           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Correct, yeah.
20           MR. BHANDARI:  Okay.  And you're excluding
21 his wife, obviously.
22           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes.  And excluding
23 counsel.
24           MR. BHANDARI:  And counsel.
25           Do you understand the question, Craig?
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1      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) With Mr. Lewis, when
2 else did you discuss your testimony with him?
3      A    Just now going into this meeting today.
4      Q    Have you discussed the substance of your
5 testimony with Mr. Lewis?
6      A    No.
7      Q    Okay.  Have you discussed the substance of
8 your testimony with anyone other than counsel or your
9 wife?

10      A    No, no.  Just that I'm going to be asked
11 questions by you guys.
12      Q    Okay.  Did you do anything to prepare for
13 testimony today?
14      A    Clarify the question.  Prepare, it's a very
15 broad question.
16      Q    Did you -- did you do anything to get
17 ready, to look at documents, to meet with anyone?
18           MR. BHANDARI:  Are you asking him also
19 about meetings with counsel, or are you excluding
20 those?
21           MR. ROSENTHAL:  So I'm not asking to reveal
22 the substance of any conversations with counsel.
23           MR. BHANDARI:  But if he did talk to me
24 about it, you want him to go ahead and mention that?
25      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Yeah.  Did you meet with
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1 counsel?
2      A    Yeah, we met.  Yes, of course.
3      Q    Was anyone besides counsel present at your
4 meeting with counsel?
5      A    Did we meet Alan?  Was Alan at our meeting
6 yesterday?
7           MR. BHANDARI:  It was a joint meeting, yes.
8 Alan and Craig both, both represented by counsel.
9      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  Was there anyone

10 else other than counsel?
11      A    Nope.
12      Q    Did you review any documents in preparation
13 for testimony today?
14      A    Be more specific, because I've seen a lot
15 of papers come across during this whole process, so
16 I've been, of course, reviewing those papers, of
17 course, the whole process.
18           But, specifically, the specific, I don't --
19 so, yes, I've been reviewing paperwork from inception
20 of the investigation on.
21      Q    Okay.  Did you review any documents to
22 prepare for testimony today?
23      A    I mean, if it was -- literally, the answer
24 to your question is, if I've been reviewing documents
25 since the investigation, I've been reviewing
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1 documents over the -- through the three-month time
2 period, three-, four-month time period.
3           MS. LEVIN:  What we're asking, Mr. Cecilio,
4 is when you met with your counsel and Mr. Lewis, did
5 you review documents?  And we're not asking you what
6 documents you reviewed.  We're just asking if you
7 reviewed documents when you had that meeting.
8           MR. BHANDARI:  I'm going to object to that
9 too as invading the privilege.

10           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.
11           MR. BHANDARI:  You can't ask about
12 substance of meetings with counsel.
13           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  Well, we note your
14 objection.  We don't agree with it, but that's fine.
15           MR. BHANDARI:  You're instructed not to
16 answer, Craig.
17           THE WITNESS:  Understood.  Yes.
18      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) So aside from your
19 meetings with counsel, what documents have you been
20 reviewing that you said?
21      A    The documents I reviewed were, I believe,
22 the documents that you sent us in the whole
23 investigation process.
24           MR. BHANDARI:  Let me -- well, if I might
25 just see if this might help.  Maybe just put a time
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1 limit, within the last week perhaps what has he
2 reviewed, because I don't think he would have
3 prepared for testimony earlier than that.
4      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Sure.  In the last week,
5 what documents have you reviewed?
6      A    I mean, it would be the package that I got
7 on -- I think it was four screenshots, I believe, of
8 the website and an Excel spreadsheet on how we
9 calculate returns.  I think that's it.

10           MR. BHANDARI:  To clarify, Will, the
11 screenshots are the ones that you shared with us and
12 the spreadsheets are the ones that are produced in
13 relation to the question about rates of return.
14           Is that right, Craig, that spreadsheet?
15           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, yes, yes.  A hundred
16 percent.
17      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, what is the
18 date and place of your birth?
19      A    6/18/1973.  I was born in Fairfield,
20 Connecticut, birth certificate will most likely say
21 Bridgeport, Connecticut because that's where the
22 hospital was.
23      Q    Okay.  And what's the country of your
24 citizenship?
25      A    U.S., United States.
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1      Q    Have you ever been known by any other name?
2      A    Yes.  I've been known as Charles Craig
3 Cecilio.  And I was raised as C. Craig Cecilio.  So
4 most of my documents had a C. Craig Cecilio.
5      Q    And you are married?
6      A    Yes, I am.
7      Q    What is your home address?
8      A    

10      Q    And that's your primary residence?
11      A    Yes, we rent.
12      Q    Have you had any other addresses in the
13 last three years?
14      A    I believe before this we lived in
15 apartments.  

.
17      Q    Okay.  And when did you live there?
18      A    I believe that was -- I think that was '15
19 until -- we moved in here December of '19, so it
20 would be 2015 to 2019.
21      Q    What is the highest educational degree you
22 have attained?
23      A    My bachelor's degree from University of
24 Colorado.
25      Q    And what -- what year was that?
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1      A    '96 I graduated.  1996.
2      Q    What was your major?
3      A    I graduated with a major in kinesiology.
4      Q    Is there any other education -- well,
5 institutions you have attended since high school?
6      A    Schooling, accredited schooling, I would
7 say no.
8      Q    Have you attended uncredited education --
9      A    Various courses and stuff that's -- it

10 would be uncredited education.  It's not a credit
11 school.  It's just courses of -- vast amounts of
12 courses to learn whatever I wanted to learn at those
13 points in time.
14      Q    Do you have any degrees from those places?
15      A    They're not accredited.  They wouldn't be
16 prevalent to this question.
17      Q    What is your telephone number?
18      A    My cell phone number is 619-301-2795.
19      Q    Do you have any other telephone numbers?
20      A    I do have an inactive Google number, which
21 I don't even know if -- it's a 949 number, but I
22 don't use it at all.  I believe it's on my signature,
23 just to have a work number.  It goes to my cellphone,
24 but I don't really use that number.
25      Q    When was the last time you used that

Page 26

1 number?
2      A    I don't use it.  Because the way it works
3 it your outgoing calls comes from your cellphone, so
4 it's more of an incoming call.
5           We don't have a phone system anymore
6 because we're a work-from-home environment at the
7 office.
8      Q    What is your email address?
9      A    The business one is

10 craig@diversityfund.com.
11      Q    Do you have a personal email address?
12      A    Yes, 
13      Q    Are there any other email addresses you've
14 used in the last three years?
15      A    I have one that's called
16 craigc@diversityfund.com.  That's for, I guess,
17 marketing purposes.
18      Q    What do you mean by marketing purposes?
19      A    Well, marketing sends out emails and so I
20 don't get inundated with those emails bouncing back
21 to my main email box.
22      Q    So it can send outgoing emails, but it
23 cannot receive ingoing?
24      A    I mean, technically speaking, it can do
25 both.  It's just a -- direct to answer the question,
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1 you asked me if I had an email address, so I'm saying
2 yes, I do, and they use it for marketing to send
3 stuff out.  And this firm, they filter the leads and
4 they send them over to me if there's someone
5 worthwhile for me to talk to, so business
6 development.
7      Q    And do you review that email address?
8      A    It just started within the last week.
9      Q    Have you reviewed it in the last week?

10      A    I haven't reviewed anything yet.  I haven't
11 received anything yet.
12      Q    Do you have access to that email address?
13      A    Yes, I have access -- Gmail accounts I
14 access to, yes.
15      Q    Have you used any social network accounts
16 in the last three years?
17      A    Excuse me, I didn't hear that.
18      Q    Have you used any social networking
19 accounts in the last three years?
20      A    Social media?  Yes.
21      Q    Social media, yes.
22           Which ones?
23      A    LinkedIn, Instagram, Twitter, Facebook, I
24 have YouTube.  I haven't been active on YouTube.
25           What else is there?
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1           LinkedIn, Twitter, Facebook.  I know I'm
2 probably missing one here.  Twitter, LinkedIn,
3 Facebook, Instagram -- I said Instagram, right?
4           So YouTube, I don't really use.  I don't
5 use TikTok.  I don't use the other ones.
6           Yeah, that's basically most of it.
7      Q    Okay.  Are the accounts in your name, or
8 are they in -- do you have like user names?
9      A    The accounts are in my name.  It will say

10 Craig Cecilio or it might have a CXC in there.  It's
11 my middle initial.
12      Q    Sorry, can you repeat the last part?
13      A    The accounts are in my name.  You might see
14 a CXC for my initials as well.  But there's no alias
15 name if that's -- if that's the question, there's no
16 aliases.
17      Q    Okay.  Are there any websites or blogs that
18 you established or have authority to control in the
19 last three years?
20      A    I have a craigcecilio.com website.  It's my
21 personal website for my personal brand.  It's been
22 dormant for probably about a year and a half.  And
23 it's starting to -- I have a firm now working on it
24 to get it activated.
25      Q    And what's on that a website?
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1      A    It'd be some old blog articles.
2      Q    What is your current occupation?
3      A    I am the CEO and founder of DiversyFund.
4      Q    What is your work address and phone number?
5      A    750B Street, Suite 1930, San Diego,
6 California 92101.
7           As I was saying, we don't have any phone
8 system anymore.  It's a work-from-home environment.
9 And occasionally I still go into the office.  I use

10 my cellphone and my outgoing emails that has that
11 Google number.
12      Q    How long have you been in your current
13 occupation?
14      A    I believe we incorporated August of '16.
15      Q    Did you have other employment before that?
16      A    I owned a company called CCFG Investments
17 since about 2004.
18      Q    CCFG?
19      A    Yes.
20      Q    And when was that?
21      A    2004 to about 2016.
22      Q    And what was your title or role with that?
23      A    It was basically the CEO and owner, sole
24 owner of the company.
25      Q    And what kind of business was it?

Page 30

1      A    Real estate lending, mortgage broker
2 services.
3      Q    Okay.  Is it still active?
4      A    No, it's not active.
5      Q    So it's shut down?
6      A    Yeah.  Officially, I think -- I believe the
7 paperwork was filed in early 2017.  What's that
8 called?  The -- what's the name when you have to
9 deactivate it.  I forget the name off the top of my

10 head.
11      Q    Did you have other employment before that?
12      A    Before that, I was a 1099.  I would say you
13 categorize yourself as a -- I mean, technically
14 speaking, it would be a real estate agent loan
15 officer.  That was before the loan officer
16 credentials, you had to certain certification to be a
17 loan officer.  Back then, you just needed a -- in my
18 case, it was a California real estate license.
19      Q    Okay.  So did you have -- sorry, did you
20 have a California real estate license?
21      A    Yes.
22      Q    And when did you obtain that?
23      A    I believe -- I'm not a hundred percent
24 certain, but I believe it was 1999 I got that.
25      Q    Okay.  Is it still active?
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1      A    Yeah.  I believe so, yes.  It's a broker's
2 license today.
3      Q    Have you held any other professional
4 licenses?
5      A    I think those would be the main ones.
6      Q    Okay.  Have you ever been an employee of a
7 broker-dealer investment advisor, investment company,
8 municipals securities dealer, municipal advisor,
9 transfer agent or nationally recognized statistical

10 rating organization?
11      A    No.  The only place I hung my license is
12 underneath the California real estate broker.
13      Q    Are you now or have you ever been an
14 officer or director of any publically held company?
15      A    No.
16      Q    Have you ever been the beneficial owner of
17 5 percent or more of any class of equity securities
18 of any publically held company?
19      A    No.
20      Q    Are you now or have you ever been an
21 officer or director of any privately held company?
22      A    What's the definition of privately held
23 company?
24      Q    Any type of company, an LLC, you know, a
25 corporation, any type of company?
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1      A    Yeah, over  -- over my lifespan, I have an
2 LLC on the side that I have, and it's a Delaware
3 corporation.  I've always -- I don't believe for
4 that.  I've had a couple in the past just -- but
5 they're just to own a property in or a case -- years
6 and years ago another company I had, but was just a
7 small, you know, couple of people doing business type
8 situation.  We're talking like way, way back.
9      Q    Okay.  Can you provide the names of those

10 companies?
11      A    Yeah, I have that's CCSB Katalyst, Inc.
12      Q    Can you spell that?
13      A    C-C-S-B, and Katalyst with -- I think it's
14 a K, K-A-T-A-L-Y-S-T.
15      Q    Okay.  And when were you an officer or
16 director of that company?
17      A    Currently, yes.  But there's no -- yeah,
18 business -- we don't do any business with that
19 company.  It was set up three or four years ago.
20      Q    Any other companies that you've been an
21 officer or director of?
22      A    It would be a company called -- well,
23 that -- DiversyFund owns that one, but before that
24 would be the Sardinia Group, which I just held
25 property in.
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1      Q    What was your title?
2      A    I guess the president of that one.
3      Q    And when did that start?
4      A    That was, I think, like 2003.  2003 --
5 yeah, it was 2003.
6      Q    And how long did you hold that position?
7      A    I guess for -- until we -- I think
8 DiversyFund took it over because we had a property
9 that was under that LLC or it was an S Corp.  I'm not

10 really sure.
11           I think it held just one property at the
12 end of the day.  There weren't employees.  There was
13 no doing business as.  It was for purposes of holding
14 property.
15      Q    Any other companies you've been an officer
16 or director?
17      A    I believe way back in like '97, '98 a
18 friend of mine and I developed a company -- this is
19 when we were working with professional athletes, and
20 that was called AAIS.  It didn't really work out for
21 us, so that got disbanded.
22      Q    And when was that?
23      A    It's got to be like -- somewhere between
24 '97 and '98 to like 2000.
25      Q    And what was your title or position?
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1      A    I don't recall what I was.  I know it was
2 me and my roommate were business partners to try to
3 do these preNFL draft camps and do seminars regarding
4 preparing people for the NFL draft.  And we had -- we
5 did speaking engagements around town of how to help
6 people out with health and fitness and all that
7 stuff.
8      Q    Okay.  Any other companies you've been an
9 officer or director of?

10      A    Let me think.  No, no, no.  I mean, that's
11 it.  And underneath the DiversyFund umbrella,
12 DiversyFund has a lot of entities that we do business
13 as, so all those entities -- I believe that Sanjay
14 disclosed all the affiliate partnerships.  I believe
15 that, on the paperwork, it would say that -- I'm not
16 sure how that works exactly, how I am on all that
17 paperwork.
18           But DiversyFund has various entities with
19 each property that's owned, it's owned under its own
20 entity at the end of the day.
21      Q    Okay.  Are you an officer or director at
22 DiversyFund, Inc.?
23      A    Yes.
24      Q    What is your title?
25      A    DiversyFund, CEO and Founder.
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1      Q    Do you know how many -- you said there's
2 other DiversyFund entities.  Do you know how many
3 there are?
4      A    Not off the top of my head, I can't give
5 you an accurate answer how many there are.  But each
6 property is owned in some LLC.
7      Q    Okay.  What are -- what are some of the --
8 those companies?
9      A    I mean, I'm sure it was all provided to you

10 guys.  I would just be -- I'm not going to get it
11 right if I say it.  So I don't know the specific
12 names off the top of my head.  I can't recall what
13 that is.  It's just -- it's all been provided though.
14           MR. BHANDARI:  Do you remember maybe one
15 example that you could give of such an entity?
16           THE WITNESS:  I'm not sure if the name is
17 going to be accurate, but I remember one property we
18 had full cycle, like DiversyFund Summerlin, LLC.  I
19 think that's one of the properties we had go full
20 cycle where we bought it, renovated it and sold the
21 property.  I think we sold it in summer of 2021.
22           So usually it has the name of the address
23 or the name of the property that we purchased, and
24 it's like DiversyFund -- you know, DiversyFund
25 Summerlin or DiversyFund, whatever that property is,
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1 LLC.
2           So it's standard operating procedure for
3 purchasing real estate in its own LLC.
4      Q    Okay.  And what was your title with that
5 company?
6      A    I am not a hundred percent certain of how
7 the documents are done.  I rely upon my cofounder,
8 who happens to be a former attorney, to do all the
9 structuring where he has all these entities on top of

10 each other.  But all that stuff I believe has been
11 disclosed by Sanjay and you guys should have that
12 information.  But I don't know the specific details
13 of all that stuff.
14      Q    Okay.  Are there any other privately held
15 companies that you've been a manager or member of?
16      A    No.
17      Q    Are you now or have you ever been the
18 beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of any
19 privately held company?
20      A    No.
21      Q    You're not the owner of any privately held
22 companies?
23      A    Just that one I have set up, that CCSB one
24 that is just myself on the paperwork.
25           So, technically speaking, that's a private
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1 company because I set up a Delaware Corp, so that
2 would be --
3      Q    Do you have an ownership interest in
4 DiversyFund, Inc.?
5      A    Yes, I do.
6      Q    And what is your ownership interest?
7      A    It's somewhere around 35 to 40 percent.
8      Q    How did you acquire that interest?
9      A    How did I acquire the interest in

10 DiversyFund?
11      Q    Right.
12      A    I founded the company with Alan Lewis, and
13 we negotiated our share.  And we took on
14 shareholders.  And as we took on shareholders, it
15 dilutes my percentage of ownership.
16      Q    Have you invested money in DiversyFund,
17 Inc.?
18      A    Clarify the question a little bit there.
19 Because that's --
20      Q    Have you invested your own money into
21 DiversyFund, Inc.?
22      A    I'm going to answer that to the best of my
23 ability here.  Since I previously owned a business
24 and that business is business credit and business
25 lease, I rolled that into DiversyFund, so we
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1 didn't -- there's a value to doing that, so that is
2 what I did.  And I don't -- I'm not -- I can't tell
3 you what that value is.
4           And then secondly, I did invest my money
5 personally in some investments -- into specific
6 investments into DiversyFund, but not into the parent
7 company itself, into specific investments.
8      Q    Okay.  Are there other
9 DiversyFund-Fund-related entities that you have an

10 ownership interest in?
11      A    Today, no.
12      Q    Did you in the past?
13      A    Yes, I did.  Yes.
14      Q    What are those?
15      A    It would be the Income Fund, I believe
16 Granito and Park Boulevard.
17      Q    And what happened to your ownership
18 interest?
19      A    My interest, I got -- what's the word.  I
20 got -- I got taken out.  My money got taken out and
21 delivered back to me.
22      Q    Okay.  Are those companies still active?
23      A    Yes, they are.
24      Q    Okay.  What securities or brokerage
25 accounts have you held in your name in the last three
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1 years?
2      A    I opened up a Robinhood account I believe
3 like three months ago.
4      Q    What type of account is it?
5      A    I'm really not certain.  I just hit the
6 button and I got -- I think I signed up for some
7 Crypto, some Bitcoins, Ethereum, some EFTs.  Just --
8      Q    Is it just a general brokerage account or
9 is it a retirement account or --

10      A    It's a general brokerage account, yeah.
11      Q    Okay.
12      A    Very tough to understand when you're doing
13 when you're hitting a button on Robinhood.
14      Q    Do you know the account number for that,
15 Robinhood account?
16      A    I could get it.  Not off the top of my
17 head.  Not memorized.
18      Q    Are there other brokerage accounts you've
19 held in your name in the last three years?
20      A    No.  I got a money market account with my
21 bank, but that's not a brokerage account.  But I
22 wanted to clarify that.  I'm not positive, so I'm
23 giving that information.  But no.
24      Q    Have you had any control or direct or
25 indirect beneficial interest in any other securities
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1 or brokerage accounts in the last three years?
2      A    No, no.
3      Q    Have you ever testified in any proceeding
4 conducted by the staff of the SEC, a U.S. or foreign,
5 federal or state agency, a U.S. or foreign federal or
6 state court, stock exchange, FINRA or any
7 self-regulatory organization or in any arbitration
8 proceeding related to securities transactions?
9      A    No, I have not.

10      Q    Have you ever been deposed in connection
11 with any court proceeding?
12      A    Yes, I have.
13      Q    What was the proceeding?
14      A    Oh, geez, years ago.  It might have been
15 somewhere between '08 and '09, I think -- I'm not
16 sure of the dates exactly.  With my previous
17 business, there was -- it was pretty bad.  There was
18 some kind of murder case going on, and the -- one of
19 the members of the group of people who did the murder
20 did a loan through our organization, through a
21 broker, and it was quite an ordeal.  So I was --
22 testified on the loan.  It was an illegal loan done
23 with a fake deeds of trust and transfers and stuff.
24 And the people used that money to finance their
25 lifestyle, and just -- a very ugly case.
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1      Q    When did -- when were you deposed?
2      A    It's somewhere between -- I remember it
3 happening in the downturn, so it was like 2008, 2009,
4 2010.  I'm not positive on that one.
5      Q    Have you ever been named as a defendant or
6 respondent in any action or proceeding brought by the
7 SEC, any U.S. or foreign federal agency, a state
8 securities agency, FINRA, a self-regulatory
9 organization or any exchange?

10      A    Well, this is our second audit with you
11 guys.  So I would say, since that is, so does the
12 first audit count?
13      Q    So the question is just if you've been
14 named as a defendant or respondent in any action?
15      A    If that first audit is considered that,
16 then I would say yes.  I don't know.  I'm not really
17 certain what the legal language that is.
18      Q    Aside from that?
19      A    No.
20      Q    Have you ever been a defendant in any
21 action alleging violations of the federal securities
22 laws?
23      A    No.
24      Q    Have you ever been a defendant in any
25 criminal proceeding other than one involving a minor
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1 traffic offense?
2      A    No.
3      Q    Did you provide a list of all your bank
4 accounts to us?
5      A    Yeah, I provided that document.
6           THE WITNESS:  Sanjay, I provided that
7 document to you guys.  Did we deliver that over?
8           MR. BHANDARI:  It's been provided to the
9 SEC.

10      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  And that included
11 all of your bank accounts?
12      A    Yes.
13           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Let's go off the record at
14 11:35.
15                     (Recess from 11:35 a.m. to
16                     11:47 a.m..)
17           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 11:47 a.m.
18      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) When was DiversyFund,
19 Inc. founded?
20      A    August of 2016.
21      Q    Okay.  Have you been the CEO the whole
22 time?
23      A    Correct, yes.
24      Q    And who are the other principals of
25 DiversyFund, Inc.?
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1      A    It would just be Alan Lewis, CIO, chief
2 investment officer, and cofounder.
3      Q    How did you come up with the idea for
4 DiversyFund, Inc.?
5      A    The idea?  Well, I heard something in the
6 industry due to the jobs in the past.  I've worked
7 with institutional high net worth individuals my
8 entire life.  And I saw an opportunity to take an
9 asset class that was for the privileged and give it

10 to everybody else.
11           I came from a working class family.  Both
12 my parents were -- both worked, worked really hard.
13 They never really went up the wealth ladder.  I found
14 out recently my dad never made more than 60,000 in
15 his life.  He told me this a few weeks ago and he's
16 85 years old.
17           And it really kind of built a fire
18 underneath myself to kind of deliver that to
19 everybody else.  And the rest was, okay, how do I do
20 it?
21      Q    Okay.  And what is the business of
22 DiversyFund, Inc.?
23      A    You asked me -- so I'm going to start and
24 then ask me some questions.
25           So I always believed DiversyFund was
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1 created to allow access to private markets to a
2 nonaccredited investor.
3           We do that today through multifamily real
4 estate.  So we aggregate the funds from a lot of
5 nonaccredited investors.  A lot of it's
6 microinvesting, small amounts, $500, to really
7 $3,000.  Our averages are about around 1500 to 2000.
8           And we aggregate together, go out, and we
9 buy value-add real estate.  And when that real estate

10 goes full cycle, it should produce a higher return
11 than other investment vehicles.  And we divide up
12 those profits and give it back to the nonaccredited
13 individuals who are our customers.
14      Q    Okay.  And what type of real estate?
15      A    We predominantly focus on multifamily
16 value-add.
17      Q    Okay.  Because -- what does that mean?
18      A    Multifamily, you're generally speaking
19 between 100 and 300 units.  You can always go lower
20 or always go higher.  It's kind of institutional
21 quality.  Mostly institutions, stick with that, and a
22 little bit higher unit count.
23           The value-add component means it's a
24 distressed asset.  And what do you mean by
25 distressed?  It could be that the rents are below
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1 market.  It could be a little bit older, needs a
2 little TLC.  And value-add is not ground-up
3 construction, it means minimal amount of renovation
4 done.
5           And what we do is we reposition the asset,
6 which is we clean it up, whether that is redoing the
7 leases, redoing parts of the property itself.  Do
8 that.  Bring the rents up to market rate.  Let that
9 season for a while.  And then you sell the property.

10           And how you sell the property depends on
11 those market conditions.  We all know in this meeting
12 today at this date, March 15, 2022, I like to say
13 that, is we live in an environment where the asset
14 has really appreciated through the roof, and so we
15 were fortunate enough that our customers are really
16 going to benefit from the appreciated -- from this
17 environment today.
18      Q    What are your responsibilities with
19 DiversyFund, Inc.?
20      A    My responsibilities?  Well, I would say my
21 number one responsibility is to try to put -- you
22 know, put the best team in place to run the business
23 at the end of the day, so we can execute our vision.
24           And as a company that's kind of still in
25 the start-up phase, you're doing whatever -- whatever
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1 else to support people and to kind of contribute to
2 the overall vision of the company.
3      Q    Okay.  Do you have any specific
4 responsibilities?
5      A    As a CEO, specifically everything is on my
6 plate across the board.  And as the -- so as -- my
7 role is to be the best CEO possible, and to be
8 that -- in my mind, what that is, everyone has their
9 own definition, is to really build the best team

10 possible and put the experts in place to make the
11 decisions and to do the day-to-day activities.
12           Now, granted, when you're building a
13 company from the ground up, you do your best to hire
14 the best as you can with the limited resources you
15 have.
16      Q    Okay.  How do you communicate about your
17 business?
18      A    Can you clarify the question?  Communicate
19 to?
20      Q    To -- anyone -- to others in your business,
21 either internally or externally, how do you
22 communicate?
23      A    It just depends on the audience, who the
24 audience is.  It's probably a different message upon
25 who you're talking to.
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1           There's a variety of different people in
2 this -- in tech world.  It's moving so fast with
3 technology, with artificial intelligence, with social
4 media.  There's a lot of components moving.  Every
5 single day you have to keep update with the latest
6 and greatest, which is out there, as you're
7 constantly learning new things all the time.
8 Constantly having to recruit new people.  It's a
9 landscape.  Again, this day and age, there's a lot of

10 influences there with what's going on.
11           So it just depends on who I'm talking to.
12 Each message is different.
13      Q    Okay.  How about your cofounder, Alan
14 Lewis, how do you communicate with him?
15      A    What do you mean how?  Through what
16 mediums?
17      Q    Yeah.
18      A    Like text or Slack or phone calls?
19      Q    In what form --
20      A    (inaudible) -- than normal.
21           (CLARIFICATION BY THE REPORTER.)
22      Q    Was that an answer or question, do you use
23 text messages --
24      A    Today's day and age, all modalities.  It's
25 Slack, it's text, it's email, it's phone, it's video
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1 meetings.  It's -- now, we're starting to do a little
2 bit more face to face.
3      Q    Okay.
4      A    So again -- I'll slow down.  Slack, text,
5 phone, video meetings, face-to-face.  Those five
6 major ways.
7           MS. LEVIN:  Well, what about email?  Do you
8 and Alan email each other?
9           THE WITNESS:  Email -- email is more for

10 delivery of documents than anything else.  It's not
11 really a form of communication to discuss things.
12 It's more just, hey, we need to deliver this document
13 or put this on record, so it's more -- that's what
14 email serves, that purpose, or to follow up a
15 conversation.  You want to say "per our conversation
16 blah-blah-blah," and deliver it through email.
17      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Do you meet in person
18 with Alan Lewis?
19      A    A lot less than we did prepandemic.
20 Again -- and now we're starting to tick up a little
21 bit more.  But, really, we're a work-from-home --
22 officially we're a work-from-home environment.
23      Q    Okay.  Are there any other sort of
24 messaging apps you use to communicate with Alan
25 Lewis?
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1      A    No, that's it.
2      Q    Okay.  And what about the other employees
3 at DiversyFund, do you use the same forms or methods
4 to communicate with them?
5      A    We -- to start, I would say Slack is the
6 first one, video meetings is the second one.  Like I
7 said, with email, email is more of a formal -- either
8 a formal request, document sharing, or to wrap up
9 something that we discussed.

10           Text occasionally.  It's a little intrusive
11 to do -- text too much, so we prefer slack.
12           Face-to-face, we try to get together at
13 least -- because we do have people out of state, at
14 least once a quarter, all of us of the leadership
15 team gets together.
16           Granted, we're starting to tick a little
17 bit more face-to-face due to the pandemic
18 transforming.
19      Q    Okay.  How many employees does DiversyFund,
20 Inc. have currently?
21      A    I consider like go-to contractors,
22 employees, ones that we would -- otherwise an
23 employee for, so I think there's 18 to 19 W-2s and
24 about seven or eight main contractors.  So somewhere
25 between 25 and 30, we're always floating around.

Page 50

1           My definition of a main contractor is
2 someone that, if we weren't using as a contractor,
3 we'd have to have them as an employee.
4      Q    Sorry.  So is that all the people that work
5 for DiversyFund, Inc., or is that what you consider
6 the main?
7      A    That's the core.  There's a lot of
8 auxiliary services we do part-time, people we use,
9 depending on what part of the business it is.

10      Q    Okay.  How many people in total work for
11 DiversyFund, Inc.?
12      A    I mean, I don't believe you can count some
13 of these external people that you do.  So let's just
14 say 30.
15           However, if you're like renovating a
16 property, you're going to employ a construction
17 manager and construction personnel and subcontractors
18 to work on that project.  If you're doing some, let's
19 say, graphic design, you might go out there and get a
20 couple graphic design consultants.  If you're writing
21 content articles, you might hire five freelancers to
22 do stuff.
23           We're in kind of that digital age where you
24 hire a lot of people four 10 hours a week of work.
25 So there's a lot of those subcontractors out there.
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1 With that number, it could build up to 50, 60, maybe
2 even 70 people working.
3      Q    Okay.  Has the number of people working for
4 DiversyFund changed since it started?
5      A    It's been -- I would say the first three
6 years, and then it kind of got steady after that.
7 About the same size.  Last three years.  More
8 external people than ever before.
9      Q    What was the change in the last three

10 years?
11      A    The inflexion point to get more employees
12 going.  It's the maturation of the business, the
13 business getting more mature to understand what
14 works.  The business bringing in revenues so it can
15 hire people.  The first few years you're just kind of
16 just striking out, not bringing in revenue.
17      Q    How many employees did you have when
18 DiversyFund, Inc. started?
19      A    It would be just myself and Alan the first
20 day.
21      Q    Okay.  So then you expanded after that
22 gradually or sort of at a specific time?
23      A    Yeah.  I mean, we started to recruit a
24 chief marketing officer.  I believe we got a local
25 kind of generalist associate level and started adding
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1 pieces here and there.
2      Q    Okay.  What are the employees'
3 responsibilities at DiversyFund, Inc?
4      A    What -- okay.  That's a very general
5 question.  How do you want me to --
6      Q    Just to the best you can.
7           MR. BHANDARI:  Any specific employee or
8 department?
9      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) What role do employees

10 have at DiversyFund, Inc. and what do they do?
11      A    I can go high level and say we are -- our
12 departments -- I'm a big org chart guy, so you have
13 CEO, right, myself, and then you have your CMO, chief
14 marketing officer in charge of your marketing.  You
15 have your head of product in charge of product.
16           We don't have a head of technology, which
17 we're missing.  So that would be another department
18 that we don't have that someone holds two jobs over.
19           We a COO, who's kind of the right hand to
20 the CEO.  We have a head of real estate, and we have
21 a finance department as well.
22           And so then underneath, is you got more of
23 the associate-level employees underneath that.
24      Q    Do all of those people you mentioned, they
25 all have associate level employees underneath them?
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1      A    Yeah.  Everyone, I believe so, has
2 associate levels below them.
3      Q    There are any other sort of departments?
4      A    I would say those are the majority of the
5 heads.  We don't have a head of finance, so kind of
6 our COO goes on top of that department.
7           We don't have a head of -- I would say our
8 chief investment officer, Alan, is the investment
9 officer, in-house legal and he does compliance.  So

10 he's kind of wearing three hats right now.
11           And then the technology start is my head of
12 product, my COO and myself try to help out with the
13 technology components a little bit.  Very minimal
14 amounts.
15      Q    Okay.  How are employees compensated?
16      A    Right now, they're compensated with a
17 salary.  Plus we give them a profit sharing plan we
18 have.
19      Q    Okay.  And can you describe the profit
20 sharing plan?
21      A    I can't accurately describe the profit
22 sharing plan because it's not fully documented yet.
23 That would be -- that's the responsibility of the
24 chief investment officer.  And so that wasn't come --
25 that hasn't been documented fully to its fullest.
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1           But I can say on a high level people get a
2 portion of equity in the company.
3      Q    Okay.  So, currently, how do they get that
4 equity?
5      A    It would be negotiated when they get their
6 job offer.
7      Q    Okay.  Is it in the agreement they sign?
8      A    Yeah, it would be in the offer, yes.
9      Q    Okay.  And do all the employees have that

10 profit sharing plan?
11      A    I believe a couple don't, but most do.
12 Most do.
13      Q    Okay.  And for the salaries, how are they
14 paid?  Are they paid through a payroll company, or
15 how do they get their salary?
16      A    It's all payroll through just works is our
17 provider.  So it's called PEO.  It's called PEO, I
18 believe.
19      Q    Sorry, could you repeat that?
20      A    I believe it's called a PEO.  It's called
21 Justworks.
22      Q    Okay.  Is that just J-U-S-T-W-O-R-K-S?
23      A    Yes.
24      Q    And that company handles the payroll?
25      A    They're -- yes, they handle it, and we have
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1 an HR director as well.  They work in concert with
2 each other.
3      Q    Do employees receive any other compensation
4 or benefits from DiversyFund, Inc.?
5      A    I mean, we do care packages here and there.
6 Gift certificates.  A few people have gotten bonuses
7 over the year, case-by-case, circumstances.
8      Q    What was your total compensation in all
9 forms last year?

10      A    I believe it's close to 305,000.
11      Q    And from what sources?
12      A    That would be through -- through payroll,
13 through what I get paid on a monthly basis.
14      Q    From DiversyFund, Inc.?
15      A    That's through DiversyFund, correct.
16      Q    Did you receive compensation from any other
17 sources or entities?
18      A    I think last year, I think it's the first
19 year where all my investments were liquidated.  So I
20 didn't get anything and my stocks didn't produce
21 anything that I bought last year.
22           MR. BHANDARI:  I don't think he's asking
23 about returns on your brokerage account.  I think
24 he's -- maybe you can clarify, Will.  I think you're
25 asking about compensation for services?
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1           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Correct.
2      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Yeah.  Did you get
3 compensation for any other services?
4      A    No.
5      Q    Okay.  Okay.  And DiversyFund, Inc., did
6 you get any other benefits or compensation from
7 DiversyFund or related entities?
8      A    I think that -- in 2021, I think that's the
9 first year that I just -- that's all I got, yeah.

10      Q    In the past years did you get other forms
11 of --
12      A    I had some money invested in the company.
13 I was getting interest on that money until it was due
14 back to me.
15      Q    Can you describe that in more detail?
16      A    Yeah.  I believe I had to loan the company
17 $200,000.  And with that loan, it allowed the company
18 to close a real estate transaction to pay for revenue
19 for the company so it could make payroll.  And so
20 that money was lent out, and it was -- and then I was
21 able to get it out when the company had enough funds
22 to pay me back.
23      Q    When was that loan made?
24      A    Exactly the start date, I believe it was --
25 I don't know the exact start date.  Maybe four years
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1 ago.  I'm not -- I don't have that on the top of my
2 head.
3      Q    It was a loan from you to DiversyFund,
4 Inc.?
5      A    Yeah.  No, no.  It was to one of the
6 entities.
7      Q    Which entity?
8      A    I believe I had -- a couple of time
9 periods, I had one to Granito and I had one to Park

10      Q    What are the full names of those entities?
11      A    I think one is DiversyFund Granito and the
12 other one is DiversyFund Park, LLC.
13      Q    Okay.  So there were two loans, one each to
14 those?
15      A    Yes.
16      Q    And they were both about four years ago?
17      A    I believe so.  I'm not certain the time
18 periods.  We can trace it down if we had to.
19      Q    And those have both been paid back now?
20      A    Yes.
21      Q    And when were they paid back?
22      A    I believe one a couple -- in 2020, and the
23 one before that, I'm not certain on the date.
24      Q    Okay.  Did they have an interest rate on
25 the loan -- loans?
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1      A    I don't think Granito did.  I'm not a
2 hundred percent sure.  The other one did.  It was
3 just an arrangement of -- I believe I was getting
4 like $3,300 a month on the Park one.  To know the
5 exact number, alls I have to do is -- I'd just kind
6 of have to check the bank statement to give you the
7 exact number.
8      Q    Okay.  When did you receive your ownership
9 interest in DiversyFund?

10      A    When we started the company, that's when
11 you develop the percentage of ownership, so it'd be
12 August of 2016.
13      Q    Okay.  Has that changed?
14      A    Yeah.  It's changed a few times.  Always
15 when you take on outside capital, it changes the
16 structures.
17      Q    Have you gotten additional ownership
18 interest?
19      A    I can't say I got additional ownership.
20 You're always subtracting when you're adding capital.
21      Q    Have you sold or transferred any of your
22 ownership interest?
23      A    No.
24      Q    Okay.  Have you ever received any loans
25 from the DiversyFund or related entities?
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1      A    Myself personally?
2      Q    Yes.
3      A    No.  All that's in the bank statements.
4      Q    So when did your -- what is your current
5 title with DF Growth REIT I?
6      A    My title with Growth REIT I.  I believe --
7 because I'm not the expert in the legal structures
8 here -- is the manager runs the growth funds, and
9 then DiversyFund owns the manager, I think it's kind

10 of structured like that.
11           Again, I'm not an attorney.  My cofounder
12 is an attorney.  He handles all that stuff.
13      Q    Okay.  When was DF Growth Rate I started?
14      A    I believe we got qualified -- the exact
15 date, I believe -- I think it was November of '18.
16 Not a hundred percent sure, but I believe.  To my --
17 best recollection was November 2018.
18      Q    If I refer to DF Growth Rate I as REIT I,
19 will you understand that?
20      A    Yes, I would.
21      Q    Who came up with the -- sort of the idea
22 for REIT I?
23      A    The structure?  The name?  Which -- what
24 part?
25      Q    Sort of the idea, the business plan.
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1      A    I would say it would be most likely myself
2 and Alan came up with the idea to do the apartments,
3 the value-add asset classes.  And then when you got
4 more of the granular level, that was more him with
5 his expertise as chief investment officer and his
6 background in private equity.  So he worked out all
7 the waterfalls and all the specific details of that.
8           But choosing that asset class that we
9 believed we could get a good return and have a

10 risk-averse asset, that was both of us.
11      Q    Who are the principals of REIT I?
12      A    I mean, technically speaking, it would be
13 kind of the manager, right, and then it'd me and Alan
14 as the core principals of both REITs, REIT I and
15 REIT II.
16      Q    Can you describe the business or the
17 business plan of REIT I in more detail?
18      A    I would say it's the same thing as we said
19 before, it's predominantly value-add.  A few
20 opportunistic, it's going out and finding these
21 distressed apartments throughout the U.S., is
22 reposition those assets.  And by repositioning it, it
23 could be due to the fact that you're just finding
24 something that maybe wasn't managed properly and the
25 tenants were under market value.  And for the fact
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1 that it's a distressed property, it's a little bit
2 older, it needs a little TLC, a little bit of light
3 renovation work to do it.
4           So you go in and you renovate it, you
5 reposition the asset, you lift up the rents to market
6 level, and then you usually hold it for a few years
7 until the market dictates, hey, this is the best time
8 possible to sell it so you can maximum your potential
9 for returns.

10      Q    Okay.  What are your responsibilities with
11 REIT I?
12      A    My responsibilities -- I need to clarify
13 that question a little bit more than --
14      Q    What role do you play with REIT I?
15      A    I mean, I sit as the CEO of the whole
16 organization.  So, I mean, with that, being the CEO
17 of the whole organization, there's all these moving
18 parts with that, is -- would be, I guess at the end
19 of the day, it's just making sure that it is being --
20 putting people in the position to make sure that
21 they're running the portfolio properly.
22      Q    Okay.  So, you know, on a daily or a weekly
23 basis with REIT I, what are your responsibilities or
24 what do you carry out with respect to REIT I?
25      A    Well, we have a biweekly investment
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1 committee meeting that's run by us to select the
2 assets for REIT I.  Occasionally there's always
3 occasional meetings on the side that you have to have
4 any kind of executive decisions with that stuff.
5           We have our finance departments making sure
6 everything is reconciled, which is making sure the
7 right data is so you're getting the right inputs.
8 You can look at things from a holistic level to make
9 sure the whole business plan and economic model is

10 working at the end of the day.
11           So there's a lot of parts on the associate
12 level that have to happen to connect it all together
13 so the information is delivered in a manner where
14 when it necessitates a decision by myself or a
15 co-decision by myself, I'm able to make those
16 decisions.
17      Q    Okay.  You mentioned an investment
18 committee.  You're on the investment committee,
19 correct?
20      A    Yes.
21      Q    Who else is on the investment committee?
22      A    Myself, Alan Lewis, Fateh Kamal,
23 occasionally Issac Dixon, head of real estate.
24      Q    Anyone else?
25      A    No, that's it.
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1      Q    And do you have a title on the investment
2 committee?
3      A    No.  No, we're not that large of an
4 organization to start doing titles on subcommittees
5 and stuff.
6      Q    How many employees does REIT I have?
7      A    The way I see it and -- is that the REIT
8 doesn't really employ people.  It's DiversyFund, Inc.
9 who employs employees.

10           So, technically speaking, I don't think
11 that REIT has an active employee in it.
12      Q    How many people work -- carry out work
13 for -- how many people that work for DiversyFund,
14 Inc. work on REIT I?
15      A    In some ways you can say the whole
16 organization, and some ways -- I mean, we'd have to
17 be specific on who's in charge of the specific
18 components, and we can talk about, hey, who's in
19 charge of finding the assets, who's in charge of
20 analyzing the assets, who's in charge of doing the
21 finances.  I mean, it's like 5 to 10 people.
22      Q    Okay.  Who are those people?
23      A    Issac Dixon.  I believe we are -- we have
24 Ginger -- I can't pronounce her last name.  It begins
25 with a V.
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1           We have Colin -- Colin's last -- I may have
2 to look it up.  I don't know his last name -- off the
3 top of my head, I don't know his last name.  But it
4 takes me a second to find -- we can find that out for
5 you.
6           We also have Jonathan, our finance team,
7 and Samantha doing the finances on it.  I mean, I
8 believe there's various third parties involved.
9 There's a lot of softwares we've been hooking up and

10 implementing lately with that stuff, just to make it
11 more efficient across the board.
12           You're also working with various property
13 managers.  Very external -- working with our auditor.
14 We work with our auditor on an annual basis,
15 individual property managers.  We work with legal
16 teams, of course, all the time with that stuff on the
17 fund level and the property level.
18      Q    Okay.  So you mentioned finding assets.
19 Who's in charge of finding assets for REIT I?
20      A    Technically speaking, it's the head of real
21 estate.  Issac Dixon is the one whose responsibility
22 is to source the assets for that.  It would be the
23 chief investment officer sets the criteria, and then
24 he's the one who goes and finds it, make sure he's
25 got sign-off by investment committee, et cetera.
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1      Q    And do you supervise Issac Dixon?
2      A    No, I don't.  Alan Lewis is his direct
3 supervisor.
4      Q    Is there anyone that you're the direct
5 supervisor of?
6      A    It would be chief marketing officer, Navid;
7 our COO, Fateh; head of product, David Legacki; and
8 then -- I don't say -- I don't supervise the
9 cofounder, but like that trio over there, I'd go for

10 him and conversations with him on the people he's
11 supervising.
12      Q    Okay.  Are you involved in all aspects of
13 REIT I?
14      A    I mean, the technical answer to the
15 question would be -- all aspects would be no.  But I
16 am -- if that's the question, every aspect, I -- the
17 answer would be no, not in every aspect.
18      Q    Which part -- what aspect of REIT I are you
19 involved with?
20      A    I mean, I'm not -- I'm really involved with
21 the business plan itself in making sure those --
22 the -- how do I say -- we're executing the business
23 model per the REIT, prefer to fund itself, and making
24 sure I get that information.  So if there's a
25 decision to be made, that I can make the best
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1 decision I can with the information I have at hand
2 from the employees and from -- so, I mean, I don't
3 want to -- I understand your question, but it's
4 really -- it's -- here -- when we have to make a
5 decision, it's a high-level decision of, okay, what
6 to do with like an asset or this, that's where I am
7 involved with.
8           So anything that really affects the
9 customer, I would say, at the end of the day, it's

10 the high-level decision, I would be pulled into that
11 conversation.
12      Q    Okay.  You mentioned the investment
13 committee.  Are there any other committees for
14 REIT I?
15      A    No.
16      Q    Okay.  So you said -- you know, if there
17 are no employees, does REIT I compensate anyone
18 directly, any employees or contractors?
19      A    I mean, to my knowledge, there's no
20 employees that get anything directly from the REITs.
21           As far as contractors, there may be a few.
22 There's accountants, attorneys, of course.  There's
23 admins, software providers, that there's -- those
24 normal -- yeah, I don't know how you call it, back
25 office kind of functions and compliance functions
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1 that are -- that REIT is billed.
2           So, yeah, in those cases.  But directly
3 from employees, not to the best of my knowledge.
4 There's no employees and, you know, the contractors I
5 think are limited, to the best of my knowledge, to
6 the back office functions that I discussed, legal,
7 admin, accounting, auditing.
8      Q    Do you have an ownership in REIT I?
9      A    I mean, if you look at the way it's

10 structured, I would say little.  The answer would be
11 yes, because if it's owned by this manager and then
12 this manager is owned by this next entity.  And if
13 the REIT shows a profit, it drills all the way up the
14 chain there, then you would say, okay, then I would
15 have some kind of interest from that level.
16           But it's not direct to me, but it would go
17 through that.  And then it'd be -- at the end of the
18 day, it's set up where after the customers make some
19 profit, DiversyFund gets some profit, and so up there
20 it's like if DiversyFund is cash flow positive and at
21 the end of the day, your company, then you decide
22 what you want to do, if you want to share those
23 profits across -- with employees or whoever.
24           But in our case, our organization, we're
25 not running profits in the organization right now.
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1      Q    What are the entities you have an interest
2 in that has an interest in REIT I?
3      A    The -- I think it would be more the DF,
4 Inc. and the manager have these interests in that.
5 So it's not -- not myself personally.  It would just
6 be kind of all these layers.
7           And it's really a diagram, a chart could
8 really show you that stuff.  And you could follow the
9 bank statements to see all that stuff.

10           So kind of just -- here's the parent at the
11 top, and it's got like octopus with all the entities
12 here, so -- and at the end, I have ownership in the
13 parent company, really, that owns everything else.
14      Q    Okay.  So you have an ownership interest in
15 DiversyFund, Inc., right?
16      A    Yeah.
17      Q    Does DiversyFund, Inc. have an ownership
18 interest in REIT I?
19      A    I am not a hundred percent certain how it's
20 set up.  I believe there's a relationship between the
21 two.  And then you have the DF manager runs the REIT.
22 And the specifics -- I mean, you're going to have --
23 we can provide the information to you.  I just don't
24 really know specifically.
25      Q    Okay.
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1      A    It's easy information to deliver.
2      Q    Have you invested your personal money in
3 REIT I?
4      A    No, I have not.
5      Q    When was DF Growth Rate II founded?
6      A    It was -- I think we submitted it sometime
7 in 2020.  I think it got -- I guess the word is
8 qualified in 2021.
9      Q    And sort of who came up with the idea or

10 how did you start REIT II?
11      A    Well, REIT I was getting full, and these
12 offerings don't have a cap on it.  And then you want
13 to get to a point where you're starting to have all
14 the money deployed so you can get the money back,
15 because usually it's a -- could be a five- to
16 seven-year cycle, depending on the market.
17           We're in a situation today where the market
18 is on fire, right?  And so you want to -- you want to
19 go, okay, here's my last dollar in.  And that -- from
20 the day of the last dollar in, it could be five to
21 seven years before that last dollar comes back
22 because that's where you want that appreciation to
23 happen.  And then you have to choose the correct time
24 in year four -- or year five, year six, or year
25 seven, what does the market look like?
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1           Does the market -- like today, the market
2 is really great, so today you'd be like, okay, this
3 is a good time to deploy or a good time to sell
4 property, because the market is on fire.
5           But if you're just putting the money into
6 an asset today, you don't really -- you can't guess
7 the future, what's five or seven years going to look
8 like.  One year is always better than the next.  It's
9 just par for the course in real estate.

10      Q    Who are the principals of REIT II?
11      A    It's the same type of structure with the
12 manager running REIT II, which me and Alan are those
13 two people on that.
14      Q    Okay.  And what is your role with REIT II?
15      A    It's the same exact thing we said before,
16 with the investment committee, same people running
17 everything, same type of process.
18      Q    Okay.  So the investment committee, the
19 same people that are on the investment committee for
20 REIT I are on the investment committee for REIT II?
21      A    Correct.
22           MR. BHANDARI:  Can I ask you just a
23 clarifying question?
24           Are these committees for the REITs or are
25 they for the entity DiversyFund?
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1           THE WITNESS:  These -- I mean, if you had
2 to be specific, it would be DiversyFund's investment
3 committee.  It doesn't say investment committee for a
4 specific REIT.  It just says overall investment
5 committee.
6      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  So the investment
7 committee for DiversyFund, Inc. handles -- makes the
8 decisions for REIT II investments?
9      A    Correct.

10      Q    Okay.  And it has meetings to discuss and
11 evaluate the investments?
12      A    * I mean, the easiest way to say it --
13 they're small funds at the end of the day, I think 50
14 to 75 million at the end of the day, I think REIT II
15 has just started.  And just if you had too much --
16 too many people running these individually, you're
17 just going to -- it's -- you're going to fee the fund
18 to death, so you just have to keep it at the parent
19 level.
20      Q    Can you describe sort of the business or
21 the business plan of REIT II in a little more detail?
22      A    REIT II is a value-add, multifamily
23 value-add REIT, just same thing as REIT I.
24 Predominantly value-add, multifamily value-add.
25 Assets throughout the U.S.  Same thing, looking at a
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1 distressed asset, why is it distressed?  Is it
2 because of the age of the property, does it need
3 renovation, or has it been mismanaged?
4           You go in there, try to purchase under
5 market and reposition that asset.  Repositioning that
6 asset is either upping the rents immediately or
7 renovating that asset to get it going well.  Getting
8 that income up.  Trying to get your interest rate as
9 low as possible.  That means you have more cash flow

10 coming in.
11           The more cash flow you have coming in, the
12 value of your property goes up.  And see how the
13 market appreciates those markets.
14           Looking at emerging markets today, a lot
15 has changed during the pandemic, so you're just
16 trying to stay abreast to those changes, what's going
17 on in the market conditions.  And new markets have
18 been opening up the last couple of years because of
19 the pandemic, so...
20      Q    Okay.  And, you know, on a daily or weekly
21 basis, what are you involved with with REIT II?
22      A    It's kind of -- it's the same thing as I
23 said before.  When there is a high-level decision
24 that impacts the customers, that I'm pulled into
25 those decisions.  So it's something outside the box
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1 than the normal par course of the day-to-day
2 activities of running the real estate activities.
3           And so just being able to have that
4 information on hand.  And also, at the investment
5 committee, when we make decisions, to be party to
6 those decisions and ask questions about the
7 particular assets.
8      Q    Okay.  Are you involved in the significant
9 decisions for REIT II?

10      A    Define "significant decisions."
11      Q    What decisions are you involved with for
12 REIT II?
13      A    REIT II is pretty new.  I believe it has
14 maybe one to two assets in it, so it really hasn't
15 had the opportunity to make many decisions for
16 REIT II right now.
17      Q    Does REIT II have any employees?
18      A    None of the REITs employ people directly.
19      Q    Okay.  Does REIT II compensate anyone --
20 any employees directly?
21      A    You mean does REIT II send a check that
22 says REIT II to an employee, no.  The employees get
23 compensated through the parent company, and then all
24 that compensation is going through the Justworks PEO
25 system.
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1      Q    Do you have a direct ownership interest in
2 REIT II?
3      A    I would say, again, the structure by the
4 manager or the parent.  And so, again, that's how my
5 ownership interest would look.  So there's nothing
6 external like Craig Cecilio owning the REIT.  It kind
7 of goes this manager, the parent on top of that,
8 going all the way up that way.
9      Q    Okay.  Have you invested any of your money

10 in REIT II?
11      A    No, I have not.  Is that -- am I supposed
12 to?
13      Q    I'm asking the questions, Mr. Cecilio.
14           Have you received any other compensation --
15 any compensations directly from REIT II?
16      A    Myself personally, no.  There's no checks
17 from REIT II to Craig Cecilio.
18      Q    Or any other sort of formal compensation
19 from REIT II?
20      A    You said any formal compensation.  I guess
21 I need some clarity on that question.
22      Q    Have you received any compensation, any
23 benefits directly from REIT II?
24      A    There's not a direct check from REIT II to
25 Craig Cecilio.  There is fees charge the fund that
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1 goes to the parent company, and the parent company
2 uses that to operate the business, and then the
3 business pays people salaries.
4           There's not a direct -- and, again, the
5 bank statements will show all that.  Bank statements
6 and diagrams that Sanjay has submitted to you guys
7 should show all that information.
8      Q    Have you received any loans from REIT II?
9      A    Myself personally, again, I have not

10 received anything from -- any.
11           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Off the record at 12:35.
12                     (Recess from 12:35 p.m. to
13                     1:30 p.m.)
14           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 1:30 p.m.
15      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, I'm going
16 to ask you a series of questions just about DF Growth
17 REIT II, which I'll refer to as REIT II.
18           When did you start soliciting investors for
19 REIT II?
20      A    Oh, geez.  We put it up on the website
21 in -- is it August or September?  It takes some time
22 to get it up there.  It was active -- I don't recall
23 the exact date it went live.  Alls I know -- I guess
24 the word is qualified, right, not approved, was
25 qualified.

Page 76

1           And so at that point in time when we had it
2 qualified, we just kind of made an announcement to
3 the staff when it was informed to me that we have
4 REIT II open and we'll put it on the site in due
5 time.
6      Q    Okay.  August -- you said you started
7 soliciting investors for REIT II in August or
8 September of what year?
9      A    That's 2021.  That's when we put it on the

10 website itself.
11      Q    Okay.  REIT II was qualified in
12 January 2021, correct?
13      A    I don't know the correct time period.  I
14 don't know when it was, so I don't recall the exact
15 date.  I mean, I believe maybe I -- I didn't know it
16 was qualified in January, I thought it was qualified
17 later.  But, I mean, if that's the case, that's the
18 case.
19      Q    Okay.  So you said you started soliciting
20 investors through the website.
21           What website is that?
22      A    That's the DiversyFund platform.  So you
23 can't technically solicit investors until you have a
24 live offering, and then there's going to be a time
25 period for when you get the documents that goes
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1 through the hands of people.  You meet with your
2 staff.  You meet with your tech team.  And then you
3 put out a whole business plan of how you want to
4 market with that offering.  It takes some planning to
5 do.
6           But just the guidelines are you really
7 can't do anything until it's qualified.
8      Q    So if it was qualified in January 2021, why
9 didn't you start soliciting investors until August or

10 September?
11      A    I'm not certain if I knew it was qualified
12 in January 2021 or later in the quarter, so I don't
13 recall the direct date.
14           And the communication with me at that time
15 period was probably a little bit poor with what was
16 going on, so I made the assumption that we were just
17 going to put it on the site as soon as it was
18 qualified.  So that's what that was -- that was my
19 thinking at the time.
20           But I do know there's a lag time between
21 getting the paperwork, sitting down with your staff,
22 putting together a business plan and kind of
23 executing all that stuff.  It takes a little bit of
24 planning to do.  It's not something you can just
25 do -- especially when it comes to the coding parts
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1 and getting the engineers and -- I don't want to use
2 an analogy of like a Thanksgiving dinner, but you
3 have all these pieces going at the same time you have
4 to coordinate.
5           So it takes -- doesn't take a day.  It
6 could take weeks in some cases to get things going,
7 just depending on who was involved.
8           MS. LEVIN:  Was there any other method used
9 to solicit investors in REIT II aside from the

10 website?
11           THE WITNESS:  Email and word of mouth,
12 social media.
13           MS. LEVIN:  And when did email solicitation
14 start?
15           THE WITNESS:  I don't have an exact date
16 for you, so I'd just be guessing, so I'd rather not.
17           MS. LEVIN:  Yeah, we don't want you to
18 guess.
19           THE WITNESS:  I don't know for sure.
20           MS. LEVIN:  Yeah. when did word of mouth
21 solicitation start?
22           THE WITNESS:  We've been telling everybody
23 that we were opening up a REIT II for -- once REIT I
24 kind of started, so towards -- I guess last year's
25 2021.  In 2020 we started talking about REIT II.  So
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1 we were just sharing it amongst staff and amongst
2 people we talk to and some of our customers as well.
3           MS. LEVIN:  And when did social media
4 solicitation of REIT II investors start?
5           THE WITNESS:  You would have to say the
6 direct date of someone posting something, which I
7 don't have, so I just -- I can't answer a question I
8 don't know the direct answer for.
9           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  Thanks.

10           Go ahead, Will.
11      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Sure.  And did you use
12 advertisements to solicit investors?
13      A    For?
14      Q    For REIT II, all these questions are for
15 REIT II.
16      A    Yeah.  I mean, what's a good way to explain
17 that to you?  I mean, you do -- it's a holistic
18 marketing plan.  It's a little bit of everything.  So
19 organic, paid ads, affiliate partners, social media,
20 content, community sharing, emails with your current
21 community.
22      Q    And when did those advertisements start?
23      A    They always run, so it's like we want to
24 keep them going.  And then as soon as you close down
25 one, the plan is to have the other one go, kind of --
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1 maybe to keep it very fluid, because what happens is,
2 if you abandon some of these advertisements, it makes
3 your costs go up, so you're kind of trying to keep it
4 kind of -- keep it kind of -- what's the word I'm
5 looking for -- the continuity of it, of the ads.
6 It's something to do with like -- it's a little
7 bit -- I don't know the details on this, but it's
8 something to do with the algorithms they built.  It
9 just -- it makes it more expensive if you stop and

10 restart.
11           Any time you stop something on Google or
12 like Facebook ads and restart it, there's a 30- to
13 60-day kind of period where you have to ramp it up.
14 And that means your costs go up in those time
15 periods.  So you want to kind of have that
16 continuity.  You want to kind of do it simult- -- you
17 know, one shuts down and one just kind of picks it
18 right up.
19      Q    Okay.  When was the first advertisement for
20 REIT II made?
21      A    I would say when it was posted online, that
22 would say the full engine of the -- you know, of the
23 company was soliciting REIT II.
24           I don't have that specific date.
25      Q    Did you use any marketing firms to solicit
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1 REIT II investors?
2      A    I really -- just internally, we have our
3 internal marketing firm -- marketing team, excuse me.
4      Q    So no outside marketing firms?
5      A    You do have partners, but really this
6 wasn't a firm like we hire you to do the marketing
7 for us.  We have our staff that does it, and they
8 have marketing partners and consultants they use for
9 various smaller stuff.  But, generally, the

10 architecture and the driver of it is our internal
11 staff.
12           MS. LEVIN:  Who are the staff members on
13 that internal marketing team?
14           THE WITNESS:  That's lead by our chief
15 marketing officer, Navid Firoozi.
16           MS. LEVIN:  And do you supervise Navid?
17           THE WITNESS:  Yes, I do.
18           MS. LEVIN:  Does anybody else supervise
19 Navid?
20           THE WITNESS:  Our COO, you could say our
21 COO supervises as many people as I do.  It's joint.
22           MS. LEVIN:  COO being?
23           THE WITNESS:  Fateh Kamal.
24           MS. LEVIN:  And then who does Navid
25 supervise for marketing purposes?
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1           THE WITNESS:  That would be Nima -- I
2 believe his last name is Rashidi, Laura Harper,
3 various third-party consultants we use on projects
4 from copywriters to -- we use an external email
5 marketing team.
6           MS. LEVIN:  So just to make sure I
7 understand, the internal marketing team consists of
8 you supervising Navid who supervises Nima and Laura;
9 is that accurate?

10           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, somewhat.  When you
11 hire a chief marketing officer, you're not really
12 telling him what to do.  They're just more -- you
13 know, they're a higher-level position.  They should
14 be just delivering deliverables for you at the end of
15 the day.
16           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  So Navid is the chief
17 marketing officer, correct?
18           THE WITNESS:  He's the main driver,
19 correct.
20           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  Thank you.
21      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Can you describe your
22 role in soliciting investors for REIT II?
23      A    Excuse me, I didn't -- you kind of --
24      Q    I'll repeat the question.
25           Can you describe your role in soliciting
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1 investors for REIT II?
2      A    How do I answer this?  You know, as --
3 again, as the CEO, you hire a chief marketing
4 officer.  You get that C level, you don't want to
5 micromanage a C level, so it's really getting --
6 recruiting them to do it.  And to just have the
7 conversations of our economic model, here's your
8 budget, this is what we expect out of that budget.
9 Here's the guidelines that you have to do that.

10 Here's the people you talked with your various
11 questions.
12           So it's really kind of -- more of a
13 high-level thing.  It's not in the day-to-day weeds
14 on stuff.  And if there's any major budget changes or
15 things that would affect the company, that's when I
16 get kind of pulled into some conversations about
17 that, whether it's a hiring question or something
18 that has an effect upon the overall business in the
19 manner that I need to be informed about.
20      Q    Okay.  Are you involved in talking to
21 investors directly to solicit them for REIT II?
22      A    No.
23      Q    Do you email investors directly for -- to
24 solicit them for REIT II?
25      A    Not me personally.
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1      Q    So do others send emails to investors?
2      A    I mean, are you talking about -- I mean,
3 clarify the question a little bit more.  Are people
4 individually emailing investors?  I mean, I'm a
5 little --
6      Q    Are you soliciting investors by email?
7      A    We do -- we -- people do sign up for email,
8 like a subscription, and we do have accounts that
9 sign up.  And then you have -- you aggregate all

10 these accounts and then you email them.  So, yes.
11           And we use a third-party company to handle
12 the emails that are going out, and they systemically
13 have a process put together in that they work with
14 our marketing team, our market manager, and our CMO
15 on a strategy and how to execute that on a tactical
16 basis.
17      Q    What's the third-party company?
18      A    Grafted Growth.
19      Q    Sorry, can you repeat that?
20      A    Grafted Growth.  Sorry, it's not a normal
21 name.  Grafted with a G.
22      Q    Okay.  Did you send emails to investors --
23 do you only send emails to investors who have signed
24 up for the email list?
25      A    Yes.  I mean, that's the only way we get
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1 their email when they sign up.  So yeah.  So those
2 would be the ones in our system today.
3           Well, to clarify a question, because it's
4 like we have to have an email.  And so for us to get
5 their email, they'd have to sign up in some form or
6 manner and hand us that email.  And that's -- and
7 then they are -- whole email thing, how it works is
8 it's got to be verified, it's got to be correct, and
9 then put them into an email campaign, into a

10 consistent kind of process to get them to sign up.
11      Q    And how do people sign up for your email
12 list?
13      A    A variety of ways.  I mean, it's a whole
14 overall marketing plan, is that's their
15 responsibility to get people to sign up an email
16 list, whether they're providing content or whether
17 they're trying to learn more about DiversyFunds,
18 people sign up.  So they do that either through paid
19 ads or they do that through content marketing,
20 through social media posts.
21      Q    Okay.  And where do the paid ads appear?
22      A    Do you mean like Google, Facebook?
23      Q    Sure.  Are those -- is that where -- are
24 those places that your ads appear for REIT II?
25      A    Yeah, it's more of a marketing thing, so

Page 86

1 it's like Google.  I know we do Google ads.  I know
2 we do -- we did Facebook.  I know we do -- we did
3 Bing ads.  I don't know if they started anymore.  I
4 know they're going to be YouTube ads.  I'm not sure
5 if that started.
6           And they just -- and that's a whole -- like
7 that's kind of a deep-level marketing on how they do
8 it.  I can't get those specifics going.  I'm not an
9 expert of those specific areas of how they target

10 certain segments of the population.  That's more of a
11 data thing.
12      Q    Who drafts those ads?
13      A    The marketing department.
14      Q    The people you mentioned?
15      A    Yeah, yeah.
16      Q    And who reviews the ads?
17      A    The marketing department is responsible for
18 the ads.
19      Q    Okay.  Do you review the ads?
20      A    No.  That's a granular level.
21      Q    Okay.  And who approves the ads?
22      A    Marketing does the ads.  And so, I mean, I
23 think -- what's the question exactly, so I can answer
24 specifically to what the question is.
25      Q    Who reviews the ads for REIT II?
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1      A    The chief marketing is responsible -- and

2 his team is responsible for doing their ads, pushing

3 those ads out.

4      Q    Okay.  So the chief marketing officer has

5 final approval over ads?

6      A    Correct.  He might give approval to his

7 team members, I'm not sure, to do it on their own.

8 I'm not sure if he reviews everything.  That would be

9 how he manages his people and what guidelines does he

10 put in place.

11      Q    Okay.  What is your role with the ads?

12      A    My role in the ads?  Are we cost efficient?

13 My main role there is looking at the economic model

14 and make sure it's efficient for the company and

15 optimized for the company.

16      Q    And how much money has been spent on ads

17 for REIT II?

18      A    The exact dollar amounts, I don't know.  So

19 I'd have to get -- the accounting department would

20 know that exactly.

21      Q    Okay.  Is there a -- sort of a budget or a

22 target for marketing?

23      A    I can give you this month of what their

24 budget is for it.

25      Q    Sure.  What it is?
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1      A    This month it's 200,000 to spend.
2      Q    Okay.  Do you know what last month's budget
3 was?
4      A    It was influx, so I would say it would be
5 close, but I'm not accurate what the numbers was.
6 And they were working on something that some of the
7 systems weren't ready to spend all the money, so
8 that's all I know.  I don't think they spent the
9 whole amount last month.

10      Q    Okay.  Do you preserve all the ads?
11      A    They should have it, they should have the
12 information.
13      Q    Have you reviewed any of the ads for
14 REIT II?
15      A    No, it's not my role to review the ads.
16 I'm not the compliance officer.  And again, when you
17 hire someone and you pay someone a couple hundred
18 thousand dollars, you don't micromanage them in that
19 position.  You hire them for their skill set.  They
20 should be an expert in that area.  And I just have to
21 make sure that they're doing the job properly and
22 that it's cost effective for the business.
23      Q    Okay.  And -- are REIT II -- are investors
24 for REIT II solicited through social media accounts?
25      A    I would say, yeah, we use social media.  In
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1 what form or manner specifically, I'm not a hundred
2 percent sure.  But I know they use social media, so
3 that's a good -- I could say with confidence that
4 we're most likely using social media to push -- push
5 solicitation, I guess, is the word.
6      Q    Okay.  And who drafts the contents for
7 social media?
8      A    That would be the chief marketing officer
9 and his team, so it would be whoever -- whether

10 that's him sometimes, the marketing manager, or the
11 content manager.  They're a team, so I believe they
12 all are helping each other out.
13      Q    Okay.  And who reviews the social media
14 accounts?
15      A    It would be that same team, so...
16      Q    Who had final approval for the social media
17 accounts?
18      A    The CMO is the top of the division, so he'd
19 have final approval.
20           Did he grant that to somebody else?  That
21 would be, you know, his decision at the end of the
22 day.
23      Q    Do you preserve all social media content?
24      A    I believe you could find it all.  So I
25 don't know if you could really delete it once it's

Page 90

1 out there.
2           So do we have a process set up?  I don't
3 know if we specifically have a process up.  But I'm
4 sure they're saving most ads to look at to see what
5 was more efficient than the other ad.  So I am -- but
6 I'm not a hundred percent certain that they have
7 everything saved.
8      Q    The emails to investors or the email list,
9 who drafts those emails?

10      A    On their purview, I would say again, sir,
11 the chief marketing officer, start with the marketing
12 manager, then you have your content person, and then
13 that content person has content writers, and then you
14 also have Grafted Growth email team.
15           So it's a collective effort and it's how
16 they want to do things.  It's more of a tactical
17 day-to-day operational thing, which it's up to them.
18 They probably have meetings and it probably switches
19 up week to week knowing how busy they are.  They're
20 always busy, doing a lot of different things.
21           So I'd say, collectively, they're all
22 working on it together.  Other times, people have
23 probably more input than others, just depending on
24 how busy they are.
25      Q    And who approves the emails to the email
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1 list?
2      A    That same group.
3      Q    Okay.  I think you mentioned word of mouth,
4 talking to investors.  Do you use scripts to talk to
5 investors?
6      A    We don't personally talk to any investors.
7 The communication is usually done through email and
8 Zendesk.
9      Q    How are communications done through

10 Zendesk?
11      A    I'm not a hundred percent a Zendesk expert
12 here.  So I believe there's chats and there's emails
13 going back and forth.  That's to the best of my
14 knowledge on how that works.  But it collects all
15 that information, all the correspondence going back
16 and forth.
17      Q    Who is in charge of the Zendesk?
18      A    The overall higher up would be our COO,
19 controls the -- whatever you call them, customer --
20 customer success manager.  And that's really a fancy
21 word for customer support and customer service.
22      Q    Do you use text messages to solicit
23 investors?
24      A    I don't believe we've ever -- I think we
25 tried it out.  I'm not positive we ever kind of got
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1 that involved, which I'd like to be involved, but I'm
2 not really sure if they've ever figured out how to
3 use text messages.
4      Q    How about mail, did you ever send like
5 mail?
6      A    No, we don't do mail.
7      Q    Are there any other methods you use to
8 solicit investors?
9      A    We started to doing push notifications

10 through the app.
11      Q    Okay.  Can you --
12      A    You have to download the app first to get
13 the push notification.
14      Q    Okay.  So there's an app?
15      A    Yeah, there's a DiversyFund app, it's IOS
16 and Android.
17      Q    And who drafts the content on the app?
18      A    I'm pretty sure it's the marketing team
19 that does the content and gets it to the product team
20 to push it out to -- to put it together so it gets
21 pushed out.  Content is always on the marketing team.
22 They're always giving content throughout the whole
23 organization.
24      Q    And so does the chief marketing officer
25 have final approval over the content on the app?
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1      A    Yeah.  He should be checking out all the
2 content, because it's all -- it's call connected to
3 each other.  It's all connected to branding.  You
4 want to make sure it's all consistent, it's all the
5 same messages, everything's done, right.  So that's
6 why you should have -- you should have some final say
7 or processes in place to make sure that it's
8 consistent with what he wants to be pushed out.
9      Q    Okay.  And you mentioned the website,

10 what's the website address?
11      A    Www.diversyfund.com.
12      Q    Is there any other website addresses?
13      A    Nothing to my knowledge, there's any kind
14 of other URLs that we use.
15      Q    What's on the website?
16      A    What's on the website itself?  I mean, I
17 can just give a brief overview.  I don't have it
18 memorized in my head what's on the site, and I don't
19 have any screens open.
20           It just talks about the offering that is
21 active on the site, and it also talks about -- it has
22 a blog, it has -- I think it has areas where it talks
23 about the team a little bit, educational material of
24 course, content of course, contact information of
25 course, your disclosures of course.
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1      Q    Okay.  And what is the offering that's
2 current?
3      A    The current -- the last offering, REIT II.
4      Q    Okay.  Who is the intended audience for the
5 website?
6      A    The customer, at the end of the day.
7      Q    Is it used for current customers -- current
8 investors and prospective investors?
9      A    Yeah, I would say between the age of 18 and

10 65, sound, body and mind is -- nonaccredited
11 investors fit that criteria.  And then we have also
12 kind of established a core group of those -- of that
13 part of -- that audience into four or five different
14 categories.
15      Q    Okay.  And who drafts what is on the
16 website?
17      A    That would be our marketing team.  They're
18 in charge of that.
19      Q    And who reviews what's on the website?
20      A    That would be our marketing team.
21      Q    Okay.  Do you review what's on the website?
22      A    I mean, I've looked on the website from --
23 here and there, but they're constantly changing it
24 and testing all the time.  And, again, to -- my thing
25 is, that's a micromanaging thing.  If I'm telling
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1 them to do their job all the time, I don't bring a
2 chief marketing officer to tell him what to do.  I
3 just need to see the results from them and to make
4 sure that -- I mean, from a high, high level, is that
5 person is consistently making sure the branding is
6 consistent, the messaging is consistent, everything
7 is consistent across the board.
8           And he should be talking to the various
9 parties across the company that he would need to talk

10 to about whatever he needs to talk about if anything
11 is outside his scope and knowledge.
12      Q    How often do you review the website?
13      A    Not too often.
14      Q    Can you be a little bit more precise?
15      A    Geez, I mean, exactly?  Not too often.  I
16 can say -- I don't know if it's once a month or once
17 every other month.  I'm more looking at the numbers
18 behind the scenes than the actual site itself.  So
19 I'm always constantly looking at the numbers.
20      Q    In the last two months, have you reviewed
21 the website?
22      A    Like two or three times maybe.
23      Q    Who has final approval of the content on
24 the website?
25      A    Again, that's the chief marketing officer.
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1      Q    And who provides information that is used
2 on the website?
3      A    The information comes from various parties,
4 and it's up to them whether I need to get it from the
5 real estate team, the chief investment officer, from
6 product, from operations.  I mean, they all have to
7 coordinate together to get that stuff on the site for
8 whatever reason they need to get stuff on the site.
9           So you have one person at the end of the

10 day who's a facilitator to make sure all that
11 happens, that's the CMO, the chief marketing officer,
12 should be -- facilitates the whole thing.  That's why
13 you pay a chief marketing officer that salary, to do
14 all that stuff.
15      Q    Okay.  Have you provided information
16 that's -- that's on the website?
17      A    I'd like to, very minimal amount of
18 information.  I do talk to them from time to time to
19 make sure our branding is consistent across the
20 board, but I don't really -- I think the only thing
21 I've said recently is I don't like my picture on the
22 site.  It didn't have my beard.
23      Q    I think you mentioned there's information
24 about the team.  Who provides that information about
25 the team?
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1      A    I'll answer your question, but I think you
2 mean something different.  It's like all you have to
3 go is -- is you just -- they should be going -- the
4 CMO should be going to HR.
5           MR. BHANDARI:  Craig, let me just stop you.
6 If you don't know what Will is asking, he doesn't --
7 let's let him ask it again.  There's no point in you
8 talking about something he's not interested in
9 hearing about.

10           THE WITNESS:  Okay.  Can you clarify --
11      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) You said --
12      A    -- the question?
13      Q    You said there's information about the team
14 on the website, correct?
15      A    Yes.
16      Q    Where did that information come from?  Who
17 provided that information?
18      A    The chief marketing officer should be
19 talking to HR to get the people in the organization
20 on the site.
21      Q    And is there information about you in that
22 portion that's about the team?
23      A    I believe I'm still up there, correct, yes.
24      Q    So where did that information about you
25 come from?
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1      A    I mean, originally, the information about
2 me was someone puts a bio together at one point in
3 time and, with that bio, I think the parties to be
4 have been just updating it from here to there, I
5 guess.
6      Q    Did you -- did you provide that bio?
7      A    No, I didn't write my own bio.  Someone
8 wrote that.  Either took it off one of my social
9 media pages or someone else wrote it.  I didn't write

10 it.
11      Q    Do you know who wrote it?
12      A    Over the last five or six years, you have
13 various employees, so various people edited it.
14      Q    Okay.  Have you reviewed your bio?
15      A    On the site recently?  No, I have not.
16 I've reviewed my bio on LinkedIn recently.
17      Q    Have you ever reviewed your bio on the
18 website?
19      A    Yeah, I have.
20      Q    Did you review your bio before it was put
21 on the website?
22      A    I believe it was a document that was
23 produced that I read at a point in time.
24      Q    And who can make changes to the website?
25      A    Again, it's the chief marketing officer's
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1 responsibility to make changes.  It all should go
2 through one point of contact and he'll assign the
3 people to make those changes on the -- you know, the
4 tactical level of actually making the changes.  He
5 might tell one person to do one thing and someone
6 else to -- maybe one person to write and one person
7 to put it up there.  But that's their decision.
8      Q    Okay.  Does the chief marketing officer
9 have final approval for changes to the website?

10      A    Yes.
11      Q    And how often does the website get changed?
12      A    Well, it -- I don't know exactly how many
13 times they're changing it, but it's a very -- it's a
14 dynamic thing in nature.
15           So in marketing, is -- they have the
16 ability to change it whenever they believe it should
17 be changed to be -- to optimize the campaigns and
18 make things more efficient.
19      Q    Okay.  Can you save each version of the
20 website?
21      A    Personally I don't know if it's being
22 saved, the versions of the website, or not.  Or when
23 we just edit it, it just goes away.  I do not know
24 that, if marketing has some kind of technology that
25 saves the previous version.
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1      Q    How are current REIT II investors
2 communicated with?
3      A    Current investors?
4      Q    Correct.
5      A    Updates through email or through the portal
6 itself.
7      Q    Okay.
8      A    And we just started some push
9 notifications, so I'm not sure if they're actively

10 getting that or not.  It was just within the last
11 30 days, so I'm not positive of what they received or
12 not received.
13      Q    Do you know, are those push notifications
14 preserved?
15      A    I don't know the software specifically and
16 how -- where it is.  I'm sure it's saved somewhere.
17      Q    What documents do REIT II investors
18 receive?
19      A    That's a broad question.  So what do you
20 mean -- what part of the process, before or after
21 they're an investor.
22      Q    Before -- let's start with before.  What
23 documents do investors receive?
24      A    They should be going through the whole
25 process and have the ability to read the whole
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1 offering before they sign up.  So when they go
2 through -- let's just say they go to the website,
3 they have the ability to read all the offering
4 documents and review them, sign off on them before
5 they hook up their bank information to send money
6 over.
7      Q    Are the offering documents on the website?
8      A    Yeah.
9      Q    And then so once the investors make an

10 investment, what documents do they receive?
11      A    Well, there's -- there should be -- the
12 whole system should follow up with copies of the
13 documents.  It also should just send them some -- a
14 welcome email.  And after that, they've built out
15 some more things.  There's communications they have
16 set up with the investors.  The specific details of
17 how much communication, I do not know the exact
18 wording of those details.  I don't have the direct
19 information exactly what is being said, but there is
20 various points where they're getting a lot of emails
21 and connections.
22      Q    Okay.  When someone makes an investment,
23 what documents do they receive?
24      A    I'll be guessing.  Just make an assumption.
25 So it's really hard for me to --
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1      Q    Don't guess.  If you know the answer.
2      A    Yeah.  I mean, off my head, I'm not -- to
3 get the specific document.  I don't know a hundred
4 percent.
5      Q    Do investors receive an investor agreement?
6      A    I would be guessing --
7           MR. BHANDARI:  Will, I think he just told
8 you he can't answer these questions.
9           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.

10           MS. LEVIN:  Again, Mr. Cecilio, I just want
11 to be clear.  We just want your best recollection.
12 If you don't know, we don't want you to guess.  It's
13 okay to say I don't know, if that's the honest
14 answer.
15           So, you know, Will may ask you some
16 questions that you don't know the answer to, and if
17 that's honestly the case, then you can say I don't
18 know.
19           But we don't want you to guess.
20           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, okay.  I mean, that's
21 fine.  I'm just going to tell you -- if I exactly
22 know, I'll tell you, and let's keep it like that.
23      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  Do investors
24 receive account statements?
25      A    No.  It's -- the portal should be showing
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1 them their -- I know we're building out a lot of
2 things right now, so I'm not certain what they're
3 receiving right now or what's going on.
4      Q    So they review information about their
5 investment on the portal?
6      A    Correct.
7      Q    And when you say the portal, what does that
8 mean?
9      A    You're going to go to the website and you

10 log in and you just look at your account.
11      Q    Okay.  What information about their account
12 can they view through the portal?
13      A    I haven't been in recently to actually see
14 the updates of what's in there today.
15      Q    Do you know what information they --
16      A    I don't know.  I don't know.
17      Q    Okay.  When did REIT II operations begin?
18      A    What do you mean by operations of REIT II?
19      Q    REIT II's operations.
20      A    Do you mean --
21           MR. BHANDARI:  Objection; vague.  He just
22 said he doesn't understand what you mean by
23 operations.
24      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.
25           MS. LEVIN:  When was the first time REIT II
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1 invested in a property?
2           THE WITNESS:  Within the -- where are we
3 today?  I don't know the exact date.  I believe it
4 was just two properties over the last six months.
5           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.
6      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) When did REIT II sales
7 start?
8      A    I don't have the exact date when it went
9 live on the site.  So when it went live on the site,

10 that exact date would be the exact date the sales
11 started to happen.
12      Q    Do you know when the first sale for REIT II
13 was?
14      A    Yeah, I don't have the -- I don't have the
15 exact date.
16      Q    I'm showing you a document to pull up on
17 the screen.  It's been marked as --
18           MS. LEVIN:  Will, I'm sorry to interrupt.
19 I just wanted to ask one more question before you
20 moved on.
21           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Uh-huh.  Sure.
22           MS. LEVIN:  Are REIT II sales ongoing?
23           THE WITNESS:  Are REIT II sales ongoing?
24 Today --
25           MS. LEVIN:  Yes.
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1           THE WITNESS:  -- there -- none of the
2 capital has been -- none of the capital has been
3 deployed in any assets with REIT II.
4           MS. LEVIN:  No, what I'm asking was, when
5 was the last time an investor invested in REIT II?
6           THE WITNESS:  That would be up to, I
7 believe, the 26th of January.
8      Q    Do you know that for sure -- or what are
9 you basing that on?  Let me reask that a different

10 way.
11           Why are you basing it on the 26th of
12 January?
13      A    It's around that date, I'm pretty sure.
14 It's plus or minus two days around that date.
15      Q    How do you know that?
16      A    Through communication with my chief
17 investment officer.
18      Q    Okay.  Were there any other periods when
19 REIT II sales stopped?
20      A    Excuse me?  It was choppy.
21      Q    Were there any other periods when REIT II
22 sales stopped?
23      A    During this process, there have been a
24 couple of pauses.  The exact dates was just -- it
25 was -- our chief investment officer and counsel
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1 decide those dates.  They have the specific dates.
2 Not me.
3      Q    Why were there those pauses?
4           MR. BHANDARI:  Can you answer without
5 invading privilege, Craig?
6           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I don't know.  That
7 was -- that was a decision that was outside my scope.
8      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  I'm going to be
9 showing you a document.  I'm going to pull it up on

10 the screen.  It's been marked as Exhibit Number 7.
11 It's a multiple-page document.  I'll describe for the
12 record.
13                     (SEC Exhibit No. 7 was introduced.)
14           Can you see the document?
15      A    Form 1-SA, yes.
16      Q    Yeah.  So Form 1-SA, semiannual report
17 pursuant to Regulation A for the semiannual period
18 ending June 30, 2021, DF Growth REIT II, LLC.
19           And I will scroll through the document.
20           If you want me to stop so you can take as
21 much time as you want to review it.  If you want me
22 to stop at any place, please let me know.
23           MR. BHANDARI:  Can we take a short break
24 right here?  Something is going on downstairs in my
25 house that I need to take care of here.
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1           Would you mind a five-minute break?
2           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sure.
3           Off the record at 2:14 p.m.
4                     (Recess from 2:14 p.m. to
5                     2:26 p.m.)
6           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 2:26 p.m.
7      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) I'm going to pull up
8 Exhibit Number 7.  Again, this is Form 1-SA,
9 semiannual report pursuant to Regulation A, DF Growth

10 REIT II, LLC.
11           I'm going to scroll through it.  Certainly
12 I'll give you time to review it if you'd like.  I'm
13 just going to ask you if you recognize this document
14 once you have time to review it?
15           I'll scroll back to the beginning.
16           Have you had a chance to review it?
17      A    Yeah.  I've seen that document.
18      Q    What is it?
19      A    The Growth REIT document?  Is this the
20 annual report?
21      Q    What is your understanding of this
22 document?
23      A    Well, like it says, it's a semi annual
24 report that we filed.
25      Q    I'm going to go back to the end.  Did you
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1 sign this document electronically?
2      A    I don't remember signing this document to
3 be honest.  I must have signed the document, but I
4 don't remember signing the document.
5      Q    Okay.  It says, "Pursuant to the
6 requirements of Regulation A, the issuer has duly
7 caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
8 undersigned thereby duly authorized."
9           And it has your name, Craig Cecilio,

10 correct.
11      A    Correct.
12      Q    And then, again, at the bottom, right below
13 that, "Pursuant to the requirements of Regulation A,
14 this report has been signed by the following person
15 in the capacities and on the dates indicated."  And
16 it has your name, correct?
17      A    Yeah, correct.
18      Q    So did you sign this document
19 electronically?
20      A    I don't recall signing the document.  I
21 mean, that's my honest answer.  It looks like I
22 signed, I just don't remember signing it.
23      Q    Do you have any reason to doubt that you
24 signed this?
25      A    Honest -- I mean, I'm going to tell the
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1 truth here.  My cofounder used to be a corporate
2 securities attorney, so he has me signing a bunch of
3 documents.  I sign a lot of documents.
4           Most likely signed it.  I don't remember a
5 hundred percent sure.  So a lot of -- I rely upon his
6 opinions for all the documents that are assigned, or
7 I give him the power to sign on my behalf.
8      Q    What was your role in this document?
9      A    My role in the document?

10      Q    In drafting the document.
11      A    I didn't really have a role in drafting the
12 document.  That was the chief investing officer and
13 counsel put together the document.  And that's not
14 Sanjay.  Mark Roderick.
15      Q    And the chief investment officer is Alan
16 Lewis?
17      A    Correct.
18      Q    So he drafted it with counsel?
19      A    With counsel, correct.
20      Q    Did you review this document before?
21      A    No, I did not review that document.  He --
22 I -- he gives me high levels of what things are and I
23 sign them based on his opinion.
24      Q    Okay.  Who reviewed the document then?
25      A    It -- to my understanding, it would be him
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1 and our attorney in this case, Mark Roderick, not
2 Sanjay.
3      Q    Did you approve this document?
4      A    Just to -- I don't exactly remember
5 approving this document.  My, I guess, chief
6 investment officer, my cofounder, he's got this area
7 of expertise.  And so what he tells me to sign, I
8 sign.  That's his area of expertise with his
9 background.  You guys are going to be talking to him.

10 And so I signed what I'm supposed to sign, what he
11 tells me to sign.
12      Q    Who had final approval for this document?
13      A    I would say -- I mean, the way we were set
14 up, we would both have to approve the document for it
15 to be valid.
16      Q    So you approved it?
17      A    Based on -- based on his recommendation, I
18 approved the document.
19      Q    And Alan approved it?
20      A    Based on Alan and Mark Roderick's approval,
21 I signed the document.
22      Q    Going back up to the -- it's page 1 of the
23 document.  And I think at the second says it says,
24 "As of June 30th, 2021, the company had not yet
25 commenced its operation, but plans to begin raising
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1 money and making investments starting the second half
2 of the year."
3           Is that statement accurate?
4      A    It wasn't on our site to Q3 or Q4.  So if
5 we're not having it on our site, we wouldn't be
6 actively putting money behind the solicitation.
7           MS. LEVIN:  What wasn't on your site?
8           THE WITNESS:  The REIT II.  We're talking
9 about REIT II, right?

10           MS. LEVIN:  Yes.  That's what I wanted to
11 clarify, okay.  That's what I thought you were going
12 to say.  Just wanted to make sure.
13           THE WITNESS:  Again, take a step back, and
14 I'm not an expert in corporate securities.  I rely
15 upon my -- our counsel and I rely upon my cofounder
16 who happens to be a corporate securities attorney to
17 tell me what to do, because they're considered
18 experts.  I'm not an expert in those areas.  So,
19 based on their opinion, I make the decisions, when --
20 if it is my decision to make.
21      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  So I'm going to
22 scroll to page 2.  The second sentence at the top, it
23 says, "As of June 30th, 2021, the company had raised
24 zero dollars."
25           Is that statement accurate?
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1      A    Yes, it's accurate.

2      Q    Okay.  So the first sale was sometime after

3 June 30, 2021?

4      A    Yes, that's accurate.  When money was

5 commenced, when money was received -- was cleared and

6 received.

7                     (SEC Exhibit No. 15 was introduced.)

8      Q    I'm showing you a document.  It's been

9 premarked as Exhibit 15.  This is an Excel

10 spreadsheet.  It appears to be a list of REIT II

11 investors.  And another tab there's a list of REIT I

12 investors.

13           This was produced by DiversyFund as Bates

14 stamp DF-000915.

15           It may be a little hard to see.  It's a

16 large Excel sheet, but I'll scroll through it.

17           Do you recognize this document?

18      A    I haven't seen the document before.

19      Q    Do you know what this document is?

20      A    It looks like an export of our investors in

21 REIT II.

22      Q    And I'm going to scroll down all the way.

23 Before I do, at the top, do you see it has an invest

24 date in column D?

25      A    Yeah.
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1      Q    I'm going to scroll down all the way to the
2 bottom.
3           Do you see the last row there.  It has an
4 invest date of 2/3/2022, February 3rd, 2022, and it
5 has an amount of $100 offering REIT II, first name
6 James.
7           Do you see that?
8      A    Yes.
9      Q    Does that show that there was a sale on

10 February 3rd, 2022, for REIT II?
11           MR. BHANDARI:  Objection, no foundation.
12           Witness has said he's not familiar with the
13 document, so he can't interpret what it means.
14      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, can you
15 answer the question?
16           MR. BHANDARI:  Are you able to answer the
17 question?
18      A    I don't know where this -- I haven't seen
19 this document before.  It's not something I look at.
20      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Did any sales take place
21 on February 3rd, 2022, of REIT II?
22      A    Not to my knowledge.  To my knowledge,
23 everything was stopped on 1/26.
24      Q    Okay.  Did --
25           (UNREPORTABLE CROSSTALK.)

Page 114

1      Q    I'm sorry, can you repeat that?
2      A    I said plus or minus, if that day I was
3 off.  I said that day was off by a couple days.  Was
4 it the 26th, 28th, the 24th?  It looks like the 26th
5 was the cutoff date.
6      Q    Did any sales take place on February 2nd,
7 2022?
8      A    To my knowledge, the directive was no sales
9 should be done after that date, that date in January.

10      Q    Okay.  Were any investors in DF Growth REIT
11 I, rolled over into DF Growth REIT II?
12      A    Can you clarify the question about roll
13 over?
14      Q    Sure.  So did any investors that were
15 making recurring contributions for REIT I have those
16 contributions go to REIT II?
17      A    Yes.  There was a percentage.
18      Q    Okay.  Do you know how many or how much?
19      A    No, I don't know exact numbers.
20      Q    Did those investors, did they agree
21 specifically to have their -- to be rolled over or to
22 have their contributions go to REIT II?
23      A    Yeah, to my knowledge, they signed --
24 anyone who is in REIT II has signed paperwork to be
25 in REIT II.
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1      Q    What paperwork did they sign to be in
2 REIT II?
3      A    That would be the -- it would be the
4 offering paperwork.
5      Q    Okay.  If someone signed up to be an
6 investor in REIT I and they set up contributions to
7 go into REIT I, did they then sign a separate
8 agreement to have their contributions go into
9 REIT II?

10      A    If they're in REIT II, they would have to
11 have signed paperwork.
12      Q    Okay.  Did they -- do you know what the
13 process was -- or how they were --
14      A    The mechanics behind that team -- that's in
15 the weeds.  The mechanics behind that, that's the
16 team.  What's communicated to me is that anyone who's
17 in REIT II that was in REIT I signed the paperwork to
18 be in there.
19           MS. LEVIN:  What would be -- sorry.
20           So who would be the best person to talk to
21 about how that operated?  Who is the person in
22 DiversyFund to talk to.
23           THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  You can start with the
24 chief investment officer, because he's also kind of
25 our compliance officer at the same time.  And

Page 116

1 that's -- that's -- he's the one that we run -- him
2 and counsel are the ones who decide on how the
3 mechanics are done.  Like, you know, mechanics
4 meaning what pieces of paper have to be signed to be
5 in compliance.
6           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  So we can talk to Alan
7 Lewis is what you're saying.
8           THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  I mean, he's pretty
9 much 50 percent.  I mean, him and I are the only two

10 on the board of directors, so he's got that
11 oversight, I guess, ability.
12      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  How much money
13 has REIT II raised?
14      A    If I can bring up a dashboard, I could tell
15 you the exact amount, but -- I could do a
16 guesstimate, but I don't know for sure unless I pull
17 something up.
18      Q    Well -- so don't guess, but I also don't --
19 if you know a rough -- if you know a rough estimate,
20 you can provide it.
21      A    Yeah.  I don't know for sure, because
22 there's -- I have to know the amount of money that
23 cleared, because it's really difficult, because a lot
24 of stuff doesn't clear at the end of the day.  So I
25 would have to dig into the data to look at that,
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1 because there's AML and KYC checks and some money
2 doesn't clear, and so I'd be doing a disservice to
3 guess.
4      Q    Who would know that?
5      A    We should be able to know that by clicking
6 into a dashboard, it should give us that number.  And
7 so it just -- I mean, you just -- knowing -- I don't
8 think most of us know on the top of our head.
9 They're going to click into the software programs and

10 give you a number.
11           So it would just be requesting that
12 information, and we'd be delivering that information.
13 Various parties would be able to provide that
14 information to you.
15           But, no, I don't think anyone knows at the
16 top of their head.  Everyone's looking at like these
17 dashboards that -- because the numbers are very
18 microinvesting.  They always -- they move all the
19 time.
20      Q    How do you track how much REIT II has
21 raised?
22      A    Through the dashboard.
23      Q    So you internally have a dashboard?  I
24 guess can you explain that?
25      A    Yeah, it's a -- it's a piece of software

Page 118

1 that sits on top of other pieces of software of data
2 that you drill up, and it gives you an overall --
3 tells you what's cleared in there.  And cleared means
4 is all the paperwork is signed, all the emails done,
5 all the KYC is done, and then it goes there.
6           And the backup, I would say, is that our
7 finance department has that number too.  Later on,
8 it's -- how do I say that.  It's trailing.  They get
9 that data like the last, but they have that accurate

10 data too.
11           So it's before you have the team, and then
12 it will just say, okay, then the finance department
13 will see that to reconcile that.
14      Q    Okay.  So who's in charge of managing that
15 tracking?
16      A    There's a few key members involved with
17 that.  I would say -- I would say it's crossed
18 departmental with our COO, with our product, head of
19 product.  Our head of product has a data person on
20 staff who does the actual work to do that.  And then
21 we also have our finance department, again, that's
22 trailing numbers because it comes in through the
23 software system.  And they would know as well.
24           So I would say that those four people are
25 arranged.  But, I would, you know, just for
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1 simplicity reasons, go with the COO because it's
2 cross-departmental.  That's where I rely on him to
3 give me the accurate information.
4      Q    And do you track investor equity?
5      A    How much money someone's invested?
6      Q    Yes.  I mean, but there's other ways to --
7 someone can have equity, correct?
8      A    We do -- we track it, yes.
9      Q    How is that tracked?

10      A    Clarify the question.  I want to make sure
11 I'm answering it correctly.
12      Q    Does each -- for REIT II, does each person
13 with an equity interest, do you track that?
14      A    Yes.
15      Q    How?
16      A    How do I explain this?  Connecting all our
17 systems together, this is the data and the coding and
18 putting that all together, and then it all drills up
19 to kind of a dashboard.
20           So it's multiple systems communicating with
21 each other, and you have to do coding and you have to
22 use your coding engineers, your tech team, you have
23 to use your data guy, your operations person.  And
24 the piece I'm talking about, the dashboard sits on
25 top.  You can see those numbers.  And then you kind
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1 of -- and you reconcile with finance.  So it's
2 multidepartmental, a lot of moving pieces here.  This
3 is where really the technology piece comes to play
4 together to connect everything together.
5           As you can see, there's a lot of
6 transactions there, and it's like you're really
7 dependent upon technology and the coding and the
8 engineering of all that stuff.  It's not a simple
9 thing to do.

10      Q    Where do REIT II and investor funds get
11 deposited?
12      A    Well -- so where it starts is the money
13 comes over, gets -- let's say it calls its
14 trans-acts, and then it goes to a third-party escrow,
15 we use now, it's considered Prime Trust, and Prime
16 Trust holds the money until it's cleared.  And for it
17 to be cleared, it has to go through an AML check and
18 a KYC check.  And when it's cleared, we have to
19 countersign the documents.
20           So countersigning the documents means we
21 accept that investment.  We don't have to accept
22 every investment.  We can not sign that.  And then
23 once we sign that, then we usually take lump sums
24 once a week, and then we transfer that over into the
25 REIT bank account that we have at, I think,
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1 California Bank & Trust now, in which we're moving
2 into another bank called Silicon Valley Bank, which
3 is going to be our future bank.
4           So if I confused you, I can take you
5 through that step again.
6      Q    Um --
7      A    So a third party still holds it until it
8 clears and then we let it build up to get to a
9 certain size, let a week go by.  Because a lot of

10 these small investors, when it builds up.  And we
11 know they're all cleared, we go in and click all
12 these buttons, and that goes off into our REIT
13 account, which is held by California Bank & Trust
14 today.
15      Q    Who's responsible for that process?
16      A    It's a whole process.  So our finance
17 department is really the ones that -- who work with
18 the -- let's call it the third-party custodian until
19 it goes to our bank, and that would be
20 administered -- supervised by our COO.  And then you
21 got our finance department with Jonathan Neff and
22 Samantha Li.
23      Q    Okay.  And so you said the third-party
24 escrow company is Prime Trust?
25      A    Yes.
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1      Q    So what is the relationship between Prime
2 Trust and REIT II?
3      A    It's a third party kind of custodial
4 account, escrow account.  So it clears the funds.  So
5 clearing the funds or making sure the funds are
6 received, because if you process too fastly,
7 sometimes there's that little gap with funds being
8 actually true funds, that you're doing the AML
9 checks, right?  You're clearing that.  And we use a

10 third party called Persona to do the AML and KYC,
11 newer customer.  So you're getting their driver's
12 license, et cetera, et cetera.
13           So they hold the information until
14 everything gets cleared, and then we countersign the
15 paperwork for it to pass through compliance before it
16 comes over.
17      Q    Okay.  Do the investor funds, do they go --
18 is it one escrow account or are there sort of
19 individual escrow accounts for each investor?
20      A    Oh, no, it's just one account, yeah.
21      Q    And then so how do you track sort of --
22 keep track of the individual investors and how much
23 they contribute as they go through escrow?
24      A    It's a technology -- they have the
25 technology they built out for it, so it's connecting
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1 all your technologies to do that.
2           They have technology, that company has
3 technology and just live in a tech world -- within
4 tech world, they're always getting better and easier
5 to do.  And we're building out some of our own
6 technology as well.
7      Q    Does all the -- do all -- all of investor
8 funds go through the DiversyFund website?
9      A    That, the website or the app.

10      Q    Okay.  And who has control over the escrow
11 account?
12      A    I guess clarify the question a little bit.
13 Because there's control versus access.  I'm just --
14 can you clarify the question so I can give you an
15 accurate answer.
16      Q    So I guess who has access to the escrow
17 account?
18      A    I mean, the primary user would be Jonathan
19 Neff, would be the primary.  And his direct
20 supervisor is Fateh Kamal, our COO.  So they're the
21 two main people that are in that.
22           Samantha Li is underneath Jonathan, so I'm
23 sure she's in the software system, because they're --
24 it's only two people in the finance department.  It's
25 not big.
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1           So I would say they're both probably in
2 that.
3      Q    What's Jonathan Neff's title?
4      A    Financial manager.
5      Q    And then -- so the money goes from the
6 escrow account into the REIT II bank account, right?
7      A    Yeah, yes.
8      Q    Who -- who is responsible for managing the
9 incoming money?

10      A    What do you mean, what part of that?
11      Q    Sorry.  Who's responsible for that transfer
12 into the incoming bank account?
13      A    Jonathan is, and the process that's in
14 place -- I'm not sure if Jonathan did it or not.  He
15 just does it on a weekly basis, because there's all
16 these microinvestors coming across.  So he usually
17 does it once a week.
18      Q    Who has access to the REIT II bank account?
19      A    Myself, Alan, Jonathan, Fateh.  I believe
20 Samantha has some access as well.
21      Q    Do those people have control of the
22 account?  Can they move money out of the account?
23      A    I don't know actually how much control
24 Fateh has of the account.  Of course, Alan and I,
25 being owners, we have full admin rights.
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1           Jonathan has a tremendous amount of admin
2 rights, and he sets the rights for Samantha.  So
3 there's a bunch of checks and balances there.  But
4 they vary, the rights.  I'm not sure how much she
5 has.  And we just -- we're going to move to another
6 bank here soon, Silicon Valley Bank.  And so, you
7 know, just to be the owners, Alan and I have admin
8 rights.  Fateh, he's a C Level, so we're giving him
9 admin rights.  And Jonathan will have pretty much

10 close -- a lot of rights, not full rights.
11           There's grades of permissions.  So -- I
12 just say there's full, you can do whatever you want,
13 and then there's kind of things that you set
14 limitations on what you can do.
15      Q    Okay.
16      A    Most of the time it requires dual approval
17 for funds to be sent over.  So Jonathan couldn't send
18 funds without me approving it, so there's usually two
19 people have to kind of approve something before funds
20 get moved.
21      Q    Okay.  Are you familiar with a company or
22 entity called AltoIRA?
23      A    Yes.
24      Q    What is it?
25      A    It's an IRA custodian.  It's a -- they're
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1 trying to be the top tech IRA custodial -- custodian,
2 sorry.  Custodial is a verb.
3      Q    What is the relationship between AltoIRA
4 and REIT II?
5      A    There's a third-party IRA custodian.  So
6 they have customers who have IRA accounts set up.
7 And they -- their, I guess, claim to fame is -- lack
8 of a better word, is that they're very tech oriented.
9 It makes that process easier to move your funds from

10 their IRA into an investment vehicle.  One is us.
11 They also have other customers out there, like you're
12 going to go into -- oh, here's another one, a
13 familiar one is Masterworks is art, that's being sold
14 to nonaccredited investors, so they allow you --
15 through their platform, they show their customers
16 here are some platforms that you can invest your
17 money in through your IRA and do it through our --
18 our technology is more advanced than everyone else's
19 to make your process easier to do, the transact.
20      Q    So it's a platform for investments and one
21 of the platforms is REIT II?
22      A    It's an IRA.  It's an IRA.  It's an IRA
23 custodian.
24      Q    IRA custodian, okay?
25      A    Just they claim to have better technology
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1 than anyone else.  They claim that it's easier for
2 you to move your -- it's more -- it's easier for you
3 to move your funds in and out of your IRA if you use
4 their IRA versus someone else's IRA.
5           MR. BHANDARI:  Will, you're familiar with
6 self-directed IRAs versus employer directed?
7           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yeah.
8           MR. BHANDARI:  So it sounds like this
9 AltoIRA is it allows people to do self-directed

10 investments?
11           THE WITNESS:  Correct.  Yes.
12      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Okay.  Does DiversyFund
13 advertise with AltoIRA?
14      A    I don't think we've done any joint
15 advertisements.  I think we might have done a couple
16 of emails in the past, but nothing recent.
17      Q    Did AltoIRA have an agreement with REIT II?
18      A    There's not an agreement in place, but I
19 believe we're on their platform.  So if you're IRA is
20 there, like if you had -- let's go with another
21 company, Millennium Trust, if you have a Millennium
22 Trust IRA, they said -- they'll have like, oh, this
23 is where you can invest your money in, and it will
24 have like 20 different companies where you can invest
25 your money in.
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1           So Alto has that too.  I think they call
2 it -- considered an alternative investment
3 marketplace.
4      Q    How did REIT II get on AltoIRA's platform?
5      A    Well, it was with the first REIT, how -- in
6 the fin tech world, everyone kind of gets to know
7 each other and do -- develops B2B relationships,
8 partnerships with each other.
9           That's the simplest way I can say it.  And

10 if we -- they reached out to us or we reached out to
11 them.  They're both looking for customers at the end
12 of the day, because they make their money if you have
13 an IRA account set up with them.
14      Q    Do the Alto -- if someone makes an
15 investment through AltoIRA, do they still go through
16 the DiversyFund website, or can they just do through
17 AltoIRA?
18      A    We -- so part of their business model is to
19 connect technology from their platform directly into
20 your platform to make it easier for you to move your
21 money.  They have us, but they have a lot of
22 different partners.  Their idea is to have -- be
23 hooked up to like -- I mean, if there's a great
24 business, they'd love to have a thousand different
25 DiversyFunds on there.  It's not -- it's not a unique
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1 relationship, a one-way street.  It's like they would
2 love to have a thousand different types of investment
3 opportunities for their community that gives their
4 company -- that's how they -- it gives their company
5 value.  The more choices they give their customers,
6 the more customers they believe they'll get.  We're
7 one of those people on their platform.
8      Q    So REIT II received investor funds in
9 January -- in the beginning of January 2022, correct?

10      A    REIT II received -- yes, it did receive
11 funds in January 2022.
12      Q    Okay.  Were those investor funds recorded
13 in QuickBooks for REIT II?
14      A    Recorded in QuickBooks?  I don't know for
15 sure if they were or were not.  They are recorded,
16 but I don't know -- a hundred percent sure if it's
17 recorded in QuickBooks.
18      Q    Do you know -- how are they recorded?
19      A    Well, you got the -- the Prime Trust
20 account and then that pushes over into our system,
21 and it's that whole technology thing we just talked
22 about in the past and how we connect that, we're
23 putting that all together.  And then it goes into our
24 department, and they could be still using Excel
25 sheets.  I'm not sure if it's in QuickBooks or not.
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1 But it's tracked along the whole process.
2      Q    Okay.  How often are the QuickBooks
3 updated?
4      A    I don't have an exact answer.
5      Q    Do you have an estimate?
6      A    I know they're on top of things.  I know
7 they're reconciling things, but I don't -- I know
8 they're doing their job properly, but I'm not sure
9 like what their cadence is exactly.

10           Right now it's tax time too.  I know
11 they're pretty busy.  So I'm not a hundred percent
12 positive of how often they're doing it.
13      Q    How has REIT II investor funds been used?
14      A    It's been deployed in a couple of
15 properties.
16      Q    What are those properties?
17      A    I know one for sure.  The other one I'm not
18 positive.  I know it's one of the Charleston
19 properties.
20      Q    And those are both real estate investments?
21      A    Yeah, the multifamily investments.
22      Q    And how much has been invested in those
23 projects?
24      A    I don't have the exact dollar amount.  If I
25 looked at a report, I probably could get that
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1 information.
2      Q    Okay.  And do you know when those
3 investments were made?
4      A    We closed the Charleston transaction in
5 December.
6      Q    December 2021?
7      A    Yes.
8      Q    Sorry, just one of the properties is
9 Charleston or they both are?

10      A    I know for sure one is.  The other one I'm
11 not positive, a hundred percent positive.
12      Q    Where does the money for investments go to
13 when you make a real estate investment for REIT II?
14      A    Can you clarify the question?  I understand
15 it, but just clarify.
16           So the money leaving our account?
17      Q    Where does it go?
18      A    It goes directly to the escrow account.
19 When close real estate, a title, a third-party title
20 in escrow opened, so another third-party escrow holds
21 those funds of that transaction.
22      Q    And who's the third-party escrow?
23      A    Each transaction is different.
24      Q    Okay.  And then so after -- if the
25 transaction is completed, the funds clear escrow,
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1 right?
2      A    Since we're purchasing the property, they
3 usually get delivered to the seller or to a bank to
4 pay down a loan or something, whatever that piece is.
5      Q    Okay.  So for like the Charleston property,
6 where did the funds go?
7      A    It would have went to a third-party escrow.
8      Q    And then after the escrow, where did they
9 go?

10      A    It depends what they're paying off, without
11 any escrow statement.
12      Q    Do the individual investment properties
13 have bank accounts associated with them?
14      A    We do.  We do create individual bank
15 accounts per properties that we own.  They're all
16 their own LLC.  And -- I mean, there's -- and so when
17 you're collecting the rents, you collect the rent in
18 the name -- we gave examples, Summerlin LLC.  You
19 would be, okay, the rents come in, it goes into
20 Summerlin, LLC.  Summerlin LLC has expenses, right,
21 it has a mortgage to pay, whatever expenses.  Pays
22 those off.  Anything left over go up to the parent
23 fund, which would be the REIT.
24      Q    Are those transactions involving investment
25 properties, are they recorded in REIT II's
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1 QuickBooks?
2      A    I mean, I'm not going to make an
3 assumption.  I'm sure everything is recorded in
4 QuickBooks.  We use QuickBooks, everything's in
5 QuickBooks.  We are moving on to a new software
6 system.  It hasn't been executed yet.  So everything
7 is in QuickBooks.  We have records of everything.
8      Q    Do you know how those -- those transactions
9 involving the real estate properties are recorded in

10 QuickBooks?
11      A    Not on a granular level.  I mean, that's --
12 the accounting department does that.
13      Q    And the -- who's the head of the accounting
14 department?
15      A    The COO sits on top of the financial,
16 Jonathan and Samantha.  We also have that third-party
17 auditor that audits us for filings every year.  They
18 dive into -- they dive into every entity too on an
19 annual basis.  We have to have those audited
20 financials.
21      Q    Are you familiar with an entity called MCP
22 Dove?
23      A    Yes.
24      Q    What is it?
25      A    I think it's -- I think it has to do with
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1 one of the properties.
2      Q    Do you know which property?
3      A    I'm not a hundred percent sure.  I believe
4 I know, but I'm not hundred percent certain.  So
5 that's -- I kind of -- if I'm not hundred percent
6 certain, I probably shouldn't answer, but I kind
7 of --
8      Q    Does MCP Dove have a bank account?
9      A    I do not know.

10      Q    Does MCP Dove, has it had any operating
11 income?
12      A    I don't know -- I don't know much about MCP
13 Dove.  Anything you need we can get for you, any of
14 that information.
15      Q    Has REIT II disclosed all of its
16 investments to investors?
17      A    I would --
18           THE WITNESS:  Sanjay, help me here.  I'm
19 not sure if we have to disclose anything quite
20 because it's just so new.
21           MR. BHANDARI:  I'm sorry.  I can't,
22 unfortunately.  So look --
23           MS. LEVIN:  We're not asking him.
24           MR. BHANDARI:  Yeah.  They can ask me later
25 and I can try to help out.
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1           So just answer to the best of your ability.
2 And if you don't know or you have to direct them to
3 counsel or to Alan, just tell them where to go.
4           THE WITNESS:  Yeah.  I would say our --
5 what year is it?  We're 2022.  It will be disclosed
6 in our audit, our annual audit, where all the money
7 is.  And we share that information with the
8 investors.  And we do our biannual financial
9 statement as well.

10      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Who's your auditor?
11      A    I believe it's Haynie.
12      Q    Has any REIT II investor funds gone to
13 REIT I?
14      A    Into REIT I, no.
15      Q    Have any REIT II investor funds gone into
16 any REIT I accounts?
17      A    A REIT I account, like a -- where it says
18 REIT I?  No, not REIT I.
19      Q    Have any REIT II investor funds gone into a
20 joint account with REIT I?
21      A    Not joint account.
22      Q    Has REIT two made any loans?
23      A    Not to my knowledge, no.
24      Q    Have there been any loans in -- in
25 DiversyFunds -- have there been any funds from REIT
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1 II or DiversyFund or related entities?
2      A    No.  No loans.
3      Q    Have REIT II made any investment in the
4 DiversyFund or related entities?
5      A    They made investments in properties that --
6 I believe the two properties that we talked about,
7 but I only know one for sure.  So that would be an
8 affiliate property owned by DiversyFund.
9      Q    Aside from those two real estate

10 investments?
11      A    No, the funds -- the funds are just in the
12 account.  Yeah, they're just hanging out in the
13 account.
14           MR. BHANDARI:  Craig, can I pause you for a
15 second.
16           You guys can't speak over one another or
17 the court reporter is going to have a difficult time.
18           THE WITNESS:  I apologize.
19           MR. BHANDARI:  No problem.  It's getting
20 late and everybody relaxes a little bit.  But let
21 Will finish and then answer.
22           Okay.  Go ahead, Will.
23           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Thank you.
24      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Aside from those two
25 real estate investments, has REIT II made any
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1 investments in DiversyFund or related entities?
2      A    No.
3      Q    Are REIT I and REIT II businesses dependent
4 on each other?
5      A    I would say everyone -- both REITs are
6 dependent upon the company being run to function
7 properly.
8      Q    By the company, you mean DiversyFund, Inc.?
9      A    Yeah, DiversyFund, Inc., because --

10 DiversyFund, Inc. employs the people to manage the
11 assets.  As long as we're -- we have our systems in
12 place, our business is in place, we're able to manage
13 the assets and manage those funds.  There's an
14 indirect relationship.
15      Q    So REIT II depends on DiversyFund, Inc.,
16 correct?
17      A    Well, DiversyFund, Inc. is the parent
18 company that pays the salaries of the managers and
19 the employees to run the real estate assets and to do
20 the fund accounting and do the customer service, yes.
21      Q    Okay.  Does REIT I depend -- does REIT II
22 depend on REIT I?
23      A    REIT II depending on REIT I?  I mean,
24 it's -- it's an indirect relationship, but there
25 could be a direct relationship.  I can give you an
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1 example.  I can say REIT I was our first fund, and
2 since we bought a lot of property, the brokers give
3 us first look at properties, which give the REIT II
4 customers really better options to invest in.
5           So I think the REIT II customers benefit
6 for REIT I being our first REIT.  So there is
7 relationships that exist between both entities.
8           So there is -- it's an indirect
9 relationship.  So I'm trying to answer your question,

10 but there is a relationship, and it has to do with
11 just building a general business.
12      Q    Does REIT I depend on REIT II raising
13 money?
14      A    I can't say absolutely a hundred percent
15 not, but I can't absolutely hundred percent yes.
16      Q    Why?
17      A    Because the indirect relationship of the
18 business.
19      Q    So why does the indirect relationship with
20 a business, does that mean -- why does that mean
21 REIT I depends on REIT II raising money?
22      A    We're going to get really granular into an
23 example.  So I would say it's -- real estate, not
24 everything goes according to plan.  There can be a
25 capital call and REIT I is closed, and what if
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1 there's a capital call for -- hey, we had a
2 property -- like I'll talk about Summerlin.  It's a
3 property we sold.  It had a fire, and, you know, a
4 whole unit burnt down.
5           So what if that happens and you had to
6 advance 200,000 to fix something?  Well, if REIT I is
7 closed and has no income coming in, where are you
8 going to get that income to cover that?
9           An option can be REIT II could loan the

10 property that money to finish that off and be a
11 coinvestor in that property.  That would be an
12 indirect example of that.
13           So, I mean, that's where I think the
14 codependency would be, interconnectedness of the
15 business.
16           But I can't say that's -- that doesn't --
17 not going to happen across all -- you're not going to
18 get -- you know, stuff happens.  There's acts of god
19 that happen.  We just lived through one for the last
20 two or three years.
21      Q    Would REIT II stopping sales irreparably
22 harm both REIT I and REIT II?
23      A    REIT II stopping sales hurts the parent
24 company in a lot of different ways.
25      Q    How?  What are those ways?

Page 140

1      A    The first way is -- I'm going to go
2 60 percent, maybe -- you know, this is a general
3 number -- of our monthly expenses are based on
4 building technologies to make things more efficient,
5 really doing the marketing, doing the customer
6 acquisition, building all those things out.
7           And your costs go down with time when
8 you're doing this stuff.  This is more the tech
9 industry, the marketing industry.  And there's a lot

10 of algorithms, Facebook, Google, all these guys
11 keeping changing things up.  So your teams are going,
12 and they have to -- they're constantly testing stuff
13 to make it more efficient to lower the acquisition
14 costs of the customer.
15           So you turn that off, you can't just start
16 that up again.  So it's going to put you -- you're
17 basically going to have to start from ground zero,
18 and then our costs are going to increase to get back
19 to where we were for raising the funds.
20           The income that we generate from some of
21 the fees we get help -- help pay the salaries to
22 manage the assets, to have the teams in place, to
23 bring in the best people in the industry.  You want
24 to hire the best people to run your assets, and to do
25 that, you need to have revenue streams come in.
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1           So there is a relationship with the REIT
2 being shut down on the overall business.
3      Q    So, I guess, can you explain how that would
4 affect REIT I?
5      A    The one example I gave about what if you
6 needed to -- what if something happened with one of
7 the properties, and it had a capital call and where
8 is that capital going to come from on that capital
9 call?  That's one example.

10           The other example is if the parent company
11 is not going to produce revenue and you're not going
12 to have a staff in place to manage the assets at the
13 end of the day, to run -- to optimize those assets.
14 You got to pay people -- you got to pay people well
15 if you want a good product being delivered.  So
16 there's a relationship there.
17           Where's the income coming from to run the
18 operations organization?  It comes from some of the
19 fee structures we created.
20           MS. LEVIN:  So if there was an unexpected
21 capital call, is your only -- is the only source of
22 financing other investor money?
23           THE WITNESS:  No.  You look at everything.
24 You want to look at every option available.  So
25 you're -- today -- we're in a great market today.  So
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1 today, there's lenders out there that can give you
2 some loans on some of these properties.  Sometimes
3 they look at liquidity standards, what do you have
4 liquid in the account.  So they see that we have --
5 REIT II has cash in the account.  They're like, okay,
6 we'll give you this loan.  There needs to be
7 sometimes liquidity standards for that.
8           So there's all these indirect relationships
9 across the business to do it.  But your first bet is

10 what can you do with what you have at hand.  And then
11 you're probably going to try to get a loan.  But you
12 want to have every opportunity possible.  You want to
13 put yourself in the best position to overcome an
14 obstacle.  So you want to have everything going, just
15 to give you everything that you can to possibly -- to
16 possibly -- to solve whatever issue that may be.
17           And there is a -- and there is a -- I hate
18 to use this word, but time is money at the end of the
19 day, and you want to be able to do things in a quick
20 manner.  And also, at the same time, the industry
21 itself, the real estate industry, is really -- as
22 lack of a better word, it's a very blue collar
23 industry, and people are just -- if you have money to
24 like pay people and they do it, they come back to you
25 again and again for business.
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1           So there's a business reputation, a
2 business harm that's produced with that.  You're
3 going to get -- your costs will go up.  Your chief
4 contractor who you pay for something will be more
5 expensive because they say these guys can't pay their
6 bills on time.  And that will have an adverse effect
7 on you.
8           So there's a general business harm due to
9 business reputation.  And then if you can't get -- if

10 that's harm too, you don't have to liquidity
11 standards, then the loans that you get -- today we're
12 getting -- you know, we get offered loans at 2, 3,
13 4 percent, very low.  If you don't have those
14 liquidity standards, your loans are 7 percent and
15 that difference there -- now who pays -- what's the
16 difference there?  Well, that difference in that
17 yield, 2 to 7, that money is benefited by the
18 customer.  That's part of their return they get.
19           So if you're paying more debt, that's more
20 expense the property, that would be -- when the rents
21 come in, it's more expense.  If it was less expense,
22 it's more profit.  More profit goes to the fund and
23 that goes directly to the consumers.
24           So it's all kind of connected to each
25 other.  It's -- yeah, it's -- it's not complicated.
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1      Q    You mentioned the operating income going to
2 the parent company.  The parent company receives
3 operating income from REIT I, correct?
4      A    (Shakes head.)
5      Q    No?
6           MR. BHANDARI:  Sorry, Craig, you have to
7 speak.  You can't --
8           THE WITNESS:  Oh, no.  Sorry.  I apologize.
9 I apologize.  It's late in the afternoon.

10           No, it doesn't.  At this point in time,
11 it's -- I like the octopus analogy.  Say let's go
12 eight properties here.  So if there are -- let's say
13 six of them are positive cash flow, two of them are a
14 little bit negative cash flow, it go off to the
15 octopus on the top, and then the octopus would say,
16 okay, I need to put some funds over here to make up
17 for that difference of being negative.
18           And then you look at your fund here, and
19 you go, okay, what are some of the expenses of the
20 fund?  And then whatever is left over, according to a
21 REIT structure, it has to be deployed out to the
22 customers.
23           Did I say that too fast?
24      Q    Yeah, I'm not sure I understand.
25           So the parent company is not receiving
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1 operating income from REIT I?
2      A    No, it's not.
3      Q    When did it -- was it previously receiving
4 income from REIT I?
5      A    No, it never received operating income, no.
6      Q    I thought I understood you as saying that
7 the parent company depends on income from REIT II?
8      A    From the fees.  From the fees, from the fee
9 structure.

10      Q    What about from REIT I, does REIT I have a
11 fee structure?
12      A    REIT I is closed.  No more fees coming in
13 from REIT I.
14      Q    So after the money comes in, how does the
15 parent company continue to operate?
16      A    We're on REIT II, on the fees on REIT II,
17 and then if we -- when you sell the property, if you
18 sell properties, we share in the profits when it hits
19 a certain hurdle.
20      Q    Okay.  So if the REIT I properties sell
21 past a certain hurdle, REIT I would have income
22 coming in -- or the parent company would have income
23 coming in from that; is that correct?
24      A    Yeah.  Which is anywhere from a three- to
25 five-year cycle.
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1           So if we did consecutive funds for four or
2 five years, you'd start seeing income coming in from
3 other sources with --
4      Q    Is there a minimum amount that REIT II
5 needs to raise?
6      A    Can you clarify that question?  What do you
7 mean by minimum amount?
8      Q    Does REIT II need to raise a certain amount
9 of money?

10      A    I would say it needs to raise the whole
11 75 million in 2022.  So we could deploy the capital
12 and give the customers the best return possible.
13           And I'll give you an example why.  It's
14 because if you get charged -- let's say you get
15 charged X amount by, let's say an auditor.  Let's say
16 it's 100 grand a year, 100 grand out of 10 million or
17 100 grand out of 75 million, you see the difference
18 in how that fee is appropriated across a larger lump
19 of sum coming in?  It's a less of a ding to the
20 customer.
21      Q    Okay.
22      A    So it's the economies of scale.  The more
23 money you bring into a fund, the less the expenses
24 affect the return to the customer.
25                     (SEC Exhibit No. 5 was introduced.)
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1      Q    I'm going to now show you a document that's
2 been marked as Exhibit Number 5.  You can review the
3 document while I describe it.
4           At the top it says Form 1-A.  Regulation A
5 offering statement.  Part 2 offering circular,
6 Amendment Number 1, DF Growth REIT II, LLC.  It's a
7 multipage document.  It's a long document.  It's 76
8 pages of a PDF.  I'll scroll through it quickly. I'm
9 going to ask you if you recognize this document.

10           If you want me to stop or review anything,
11 you can let me know.
12      A    Go to the top again, because I wasn't sure.
13 I saw the word amended, but I don't know if this is
14 an amendment.  It's an offering.  It's not really an
15 amendment, it's an offering circular, right?
16      Q    I'm asking you, do you recognize this
17 document?
18      A    Yeah, I recognize it.  I kind of defer to
19 my cofounder on all the legal documents because he's
20 a corporate securities attorney.
21      Q    What is this document?
22      A    It looks like the offering circular for the
23 REIT I plus offering.
24      Q    I'm going to scroll down to the end of the
25 last page, which is a signatures page.  It appears to
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1 have been signed by you.
2           Did you sign this document electronically?
3      A    I can't recollect signing this document.  I
4 just -- when my cofounder says, sign this, Craig, I
5 sign things on -- because he's -- you know, his
6 background being a corporate securities attorney, I
7 trusted him.
8           But I don't recall specifically signing
9 this document.

10      Q    Do you have any reason to believe that you
11 did not sign this document?
12      A    Despite how the name is signed, that's
13 not -- that looks like it's generically created.
14      Q    Okay.  It says this offering statement has
15 been signed by the following persons in their
16 capacities and on the dates indicated, and it has
17 your name --
18      A    It would have been --
19           (UNREPORTABLE CROSSTALK.)
20      Q    You've got to let me finish the question.
21      A    I'm sorry.
22      Q    This document says on the last page, "This
23 offering statement has been signed by the following
24 persons in the capacities and on the dates
25 indicated."  And it has your name and title.
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1      A    Okay.  Yeah.
2      Q    Is there any reason you would believe that
3 you did not sign that?
4      A    Yeah, like I don't -- I don't remember
5 exactly if I signed that or I allowed my cofounder to
6 sign them on my behalf.
7           MR. BHANDARI:  Will, maybe we take a
8 five-minute coffee break and be back for the last
9 stretch.

10           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Can we go another five
11 minutes and then take a break?
12           MR. BHANDARI:  I'm fine with that.
13           Is that all right with everyone?
14      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) What was your role with
15 this document, Mr. Cecilio?
16      A    Can you clarify the question, my role?  Is.
17      Q    Did you have a role with this document --
18 with this document?
19      A    Creating the document, no.
20      Q    Who drafted this document?
21      A    It would be our corporate counsel, Mark
22 Roderick, and our -- our cofounder, Alan Lewis.
23      Q    Did you review this document before it was
24 finalized?
25      A    No, I did not.
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1      Q    Who reviewed it?
2      A    Mark Roderick and Alan Lewis.
3      Q    Did you approve this document?
4      A    I guess clarify that question.  Did I
5 approve this document?
6      Q    This document -- this document has your
7 signature on it.  I'm asking did you approve the
8 document?
9      A    I know we submitted documents to the SEC

10 for qualification, and I verbally talked to Alan and
11 was like whatever you need me to sign, I sign, on
12 your behalf -- what you can sign on my behalf, sign
13 on my behalf.
14      Q    Okay.  Who approved this document?
15      A    It would be Alan Lewis and our -- he would
16 approve it and our counsel puts that document
17 together.
18      Q    On the cover page there, on the fourth
19 paragraph, it states, "The offering has no minimum
20 amount.  We will begin to deploy, spend the money we
21 raise right away no matter how much or how little we
22 raise."
23           Is that statement accurate?
24      A    The offering has no minimum amount, that's
25 accurate.  And we have, I guess, metrics in place
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1 that deploy the capital as quickly as possible.  So
2 that's accurate as well.
3      Q    How do you reconcile this statement with
4 stating that REIT II stopping sales might harm REIT I
5 and REIT II?
6      A    Clarify the question one more time.
7      Q    How do you reconcile this statement --
8 what's stating that REIT II stopping sales would harm
9 REIT I and REIT II?

10      A    Well, that just says deploying the capital,
11 and we will do our best ability to deploy the capital
12 within the metrics we put in place as quickly as
13 possible.  Whenever you change a business plan,
14 it's -- you -- when you change things up, you might
15 have to change employees around, as you're -- there's
16 just things involved with that.
17           It does affect things.  So you need to
18 collect revenue so you can pay for your staff to
19 deploy the capital.  Kind of self-explanatory.  I
20 don't really understand.
21           MS. LEVIN:  Revenue is different than
22 investment by investors, capital invested by
23 investors, correct?
24           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, it's different.
25           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  So this document says
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1 that there's no minimum required, and you just

2 testified that that was accurate, correct?

3           THE WITNESS:  The offering has no minimum

4 amount, correct.  Yeah.

5           MS. LEVIN:  Right.  So, hypothetically, if

6 the offering only raised $5, how is REIT I harmed?

7           THE WITNESS:  If it raises $5, you try to

8 deploy those $5 to the best of your ability.

9           REIT I --

10           MS. LEVIN:  I understand that.

11           THE WITNESS:  REIT I, if you have a

12 business that doesn't create revenue, you can't have

13 a staff to manage assets.

14           MS. LEVIN:  So are you telling us that if

15 REIT II does not get investors, you can't run the

16 parent company, DiversyFund?

17           THE WITNESS:  We would -- if we don't have

18 a mechanism to create revenue, how are we supposed to

19 run the business?

20           MS. LEVIN:  Do you consider investor money

21 capital raised from investors to be revenue?

22           THE WITNESS:  No, I do not.

23           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  What do you consider to

24 be revenue?

25           THE WITNESS:  The fee structure that's
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1 involved in the funds raised in large dollar amounts
2 is revenue for the company to run the assets.
3           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  So the offering document
4 says no minimum amount is required, which means that
5 it's possible that you would generate no fees from
6 REIT II, isn't that a possibility?
7           MR. BHANDARI:  Objection; argumentative.
8           Asked and answered.
9           MS. LEVIN:  You can answer.  You can

10 answer.  If there are no investors in REIT II, then
11 no fees would be generated from REIT II; is that
12 correct?
13           THE WITNESS:  If no fees are generated from
14 REIT II, then we wouldn't have -- we wouldn't have
15 any revenue to pay for staff, and then we'd have to
16 figure it out.
17           MS. LEVIN:  So you view the fees as
18 revenue?
19           THE WITNESS:  We do use the fees as
20 revenue.
21           MS. LEVIN:  Thank you.
22      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) On this same document,
23 the offering circular, I'm going to what's been
24 marked as -- what's listed on the page as page 58 of
25 the offering.
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1           MR. BHANDARI:  Will, we talked about a
2 five-minute -- letting you guys go on for five
3 minutes and then taking a pause.  How about we do
4 that now?
5           MR. ROSENTHAL:  This will just take another
6 minute or two.
7           MR. BHANDARI:  All right.
8      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, in the
9 second paragraph down, it says, "The company is

10 seeking to raise up to $50 million of capital in this
11 offering by selling Class A investor shares to
12 investors."
13      A    Uh-huh.
14      Q    Is that -- is that statement accurate?
15           MR. BHANDARI:  Do you mean was it accurate
16 as of that time?
17      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Yes.  Was it accurate at
18 the time?
19      A    Let me answer the question, if the
20 paperwork says $50 million, that's what we plan to
21 raise, $50 million at the point in time that was
22 filed.
23      Q    Okay.
24           And then the last sentence says, under plan
25 of operations, "Whether we raise 50 million in the
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1 offering or something less, we believe the proceeds
2 of the offering will satisfy our cash requirements.
3 If we raise less than 50 million, we will simply make
4 fewer investments, although we might decide to raise
5 more capital, we know of no reason why we would need
6 to."
7           Is that statement accurate?
8      A    "Whether we raise 50 million in the
9 offering or something less, we believe the proceeds

10 of the offering will satisfy our cash requirements.
11 If we raise less than 50 million, will simply make
12 investments, although we might decide to raise more
13 capital, we know of no reason we would need to."
14           Everything depends on your -- in your
15 business plan, what's your -- you'd adapt your
16 business plan based on what you perceive you could
17 raise.
18      Q    So is this statement accurate?
19      A    In some forms it can be accurate, in some
20 ways it cannot be accurate.  It just depends on
21 your -- what's your business plan.
22      Q    In what ways can it not be accurate?
23      A    Well, if your business plan is to purchase
24 assets that require $10 million of equity per asset
25 and you raise $5 million.
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1      Q    Is that what REIT II's business plan is?
2      A    Yeah.  I mean, REIT II's business plan is
3 contingent upon how much money we raised in REIT I,
4 and so you said REIT I we raised north of 60 million,
5 so you perceive yourself to raise that same amount or
6 more and put together a plan based on your prior
7 experience.
8      Q    Is REIT II's business plan to raise a
9 certain amount?

10      A    It's to max -- to maximize the offering,
11 the full amount, is the business plan.
12      Q    So how do reconcile the statement with
13 stating REIT II stopping sales would harm REIT I and
14 REIT II?
15           MR. BHANDARI:  This is now a minute or two,
16 Will.  We're now 10 minutes -- actually 13 minutes
17 beyond where I asked to take a break and you said
18 five minutes.  So I'd like to take a break now --
19           MR. ROSENTHAL:  I think he can answer the
20 question --
21           MR. BHANDARI:  -- really one question.
22           MS. LEVIN:  I think he can answer the
23 question --
24           MR. ROSENTHAL:  He can answer the question.
25           MS. LEVIN:  -- and then we can take a
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1 break.
2           MR. BHANDARI:  Yeah, I'm not objecting to
3 that, but I'm saying this one question, and then
4 we're going to take a break.
5           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Correct.  Yes.
6      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) All right.  You can
7 answer the question.
8      A    What's the question again, one more time?
9      Q    How do you reconcile this statement with

10 stating that REIT II stopping sales would harm REIT I
11 and REIT II?
12      A    I mean, I've talked about indirect
13 relationships between entities in running a business,
14 and so there is an indirect relationship there.
15           You would adjust your business plan
16 accordingly based on how much money you raise.  If
17 you're going after assets that require large down
18 payments or large equity investments, you would have
19 to reappropriate your business plan and make changes
20 accordingly.
21           And so the only way that this could be
22 construed of not about a business plan is, in this
23 case, if our REIT was shut down, which it is right
24 now, in a case where we can't fulfill our
25 obligations.
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1           So we have to readjust our business plan
2 accordingly, which would be laying the staff off.
3           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Off the record at 3:41 p.m.
4                     (Recess from 3:41 p.m. to
5                     3:53 p.m..)
6           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 3:53 p.m.
7           MS. LEVIN:  I just had a couple of
8 follow-up questions.
9           How are the employees of the parent company

10 Diversified (sic) paid.  Are they paid from the fees
11 or from another source of income?
12           THE WITNESS:  It was a combination of
13 shareholder dollars and fees and some -- a few sales
14 of some properties.
15           MS. LEVIN:  So when you say shareholder
16 dollars, what do you mean?
17           THE WITNESS:  We raised money for the
18 company, for the first few years of the company, to
19 build the company up.
20           MS. LEVIN:  So are you talking about
21 investor capital?  Is that what you mean?
22           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, we start -- that's a
23 startup.
24           MS. LEVIN:  So employee salaries are paid
25 using investor capital, fees, and also revenue
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1 generated from other properties?
2           THE WITNESS:  The disposition of some
3 properties.  I believe we sold two properties.
4           MS. LEVIN:  Which two properties were sold?
5           THE WITNESS:  Goshen and Summerlin.
6           MS. LEVIN:  And when were those sold?
7           THE WITNESS:  Summerlin over the summer.
8 Goshen I think that was like Decemberish.
9           MS. LEVIN:  December 2021?

10           THE WITNESS:  Yeah.
11           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  And how are other parent
12 company operations funded in addition -- you know,
13 beyond paying your employees?  For example, you pay
14 rents, you pay for software, technology license.  How
15 are operations funded?
16           THE WITNESS:  That's all -- that's where
17 the revenue comes from.  That's all the revenue.
18           MS. LEVIN:  So those same three sources?
19           THE WITNESS:  Yeah.
20           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  And how are dividends
21 paid to REIT II investors?
22           THE WITNESS:  The dividends to REIT II
23 investors?
24           MS. LEVIN:  Yes.
25           THE WITNESS:  I mean there's really -- REIT
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1 II just opened up, so -- and now it's shut down, so
2 I'm not really sure, wouldn't be able to do any
3 dividends.  But that would be a question for our
4 chief investment officer and how he does the dividend
5 equation based on the value-add asset class.
6           So there's a thing -- so he's the expert on
7 that.  It usually takes about three years before you
8 get the cash flow on all the properties, when true
9 cash dividends get applied to them.

10           But I believe there's a time period in the
11 first year where you can do some type of dividend.
12 But he's the expert at that, not myself.  So he could
13 fill you in on the specifics and how that works.
14           MS. LEVIN:  And when you said true cash
15 dividends, what did you mean?
16           THE WITNESS:  Is when you have cash flow
17 from the properties, giving cash directly to the
18 customers, which would take close to three years for
19 that to happen.  Because that's how long it takes you
20 to get the properties to be performing where it's
21 positive cash flow.
22           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  Thanks.  I think that
23 was all my follow-up for now.
24      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Has REIT II paid out any
25 dividends?
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1      A    I don't know.  I don't know if it has.
2      Q    Okay.
3           MS. LEVIN:  Actually, I have another
4 follow-up question.  I apologize, Mr. Cecilio.
5           It sounds like you're the one who really
6 handles finance; is that correct?
7           THE WITNESS:  No, that's the -- the COO
8 handles the finance department.  I like to be aware
9 of the number of what's going on to make decisions.

10           MS. LEVIN:  To make decisions about what?
11           THE WITNESS:  Everything, in general.  How
12 the assets are performing, how -- you know, should we
13 hire people, do we have revenue, all of those
14 high-level business decisions.
15           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  Thank you.
16      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) What fees does REIT II
17 charge?
18      A    The fee structure of REIT II?
19      Q    Yeah.
20      A    The specific details are an offering, and I
21 could just tell you -- well, technically speaking,
22 today REIT II is not authorized to sell anything, so
23 we're actually technically not charging any fees from
24 that point of view.
25           But the way it was accepted, it's writing
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1 the offering itself that clearly delineates what the
2 fees are inside the offering paperwork.
3           And I think there's a little latitude of
4 what we can charge in there as well.  Chief
5 investment officer is the one who put the fee
6 structure in.  I don't have it memorized off the top
7 of my head, and I don't want to answer a question
8 where I'm going to be inaccurate.
9      Q    How much in fees has REIT II charged so

10 far?
11      A    REIT II has charged.  My finance department
12 would have the exact numbers.  I don't have them on
13 the top of my head.  But it could be provided for you
14 guys upon request.
15      Q    Okay.  I'm going to be sharing a document
16 again.  This is Exhibit 5, which was previously
17 shown.  This is Part II offering circular DF Growth
18 REIT II.
19           So on page 28 of the offering circular, it
20 lists -- under compensation of management structure,
21 it list fees and it lists the type of fee and a
22 description and the amount.
23           Then there's several different types of
24 fees, reimbursement, asset management fee, sponsor
25 fee, properties disposition fee, financing fee,
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1 construction management fee, guaranty fees, other
2 fees.
3           Is this description of the fees for REIT II
4 accurate?
5      A    Yeah, those -- if it's in the document,
6 those are the fees.  I would just go on to say, just
7 because you charge those the fees in the document
8 doesn't mean those fees are charged.  You just have
9 to -- I'd have to get accounting to produce what fees

10 were charged.
11      Q    So the first fee is a reimbursement; is
12 that accurate?
13      A    For which one?
14      Q    The first one.  I just -- it has REIT II
15 charge, reimbursement?
16      A    And I think this says reimbursement, and it
17 says estimate on there.  So you'd have to go to --
18 I'd have to go to my accounting department, which I
19 think you guys got the financials, and we could
20 extrapolate that for you if you need that.  And we
21 could get the financing, the actual numbers that we
22 charged and compare it against this document.  It's
23 pretty easy.
24           But I don't have it off the top of my head.
25 I think that's pretty par for course.  I don't think
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1 any human being would have it on top of their head.
2      Q    Aside from the estimated amount, is the
3 description of the fees that are being charged to
4 REIT II, is that accurate?
5      A    Yeah.  I'm only looking at this one page
6 here, so I'd have to look at the rest.  I can't --
7 that's a reimbursement fee there.
8           Can you scroll down?
9      Q    Just the reimbursement, has that -- is that

10 an accurate description, aside from the amounts?
11      A    You get the accurate amount, you just get
12 the invoices from the attorney, Mark Roderick, and
13 just look at that amount and is that consistent with
14 that amount.  It says an estimate too.  So it just --
15 that's what I would do.  I would just kind of look --
16 I'd call my finance department and get that number
17 and ask him to look at a copy of his invoices.
18      Q    Has the company reimbursed the sponsor for
19 expenses?
20      A    I mean -- reimburse the sponsor, what do
21 you mean the sponsor?
22      Q    So it says in the document, the company
23 will reimburse the sponsor for expenses and it was
24 different types.  I'm just asking has the company
25 reimbursed the sponsor as described here?
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1      A    Who is the -- who is the sponsor in this
2 case?  I just need to be clear on who the sponsor is.
3      Q    Just asking a broader question.  Has
4 REIT II reimbursed any expenses?
5      A    Yes.  It has reimbursed expenses.  The
6 exact amounts, I do not, but our accounting
7 department does know and can produce those records.
8           And I believe we did send records to you
9 guys as well, so you could have accurate information

10 to see if it matches what the offering says versus
11 the fees charged.
12      Q    And what types of expenses has REIT II
13 reimbursed?
14      A    The specific details would be our
15 accounting department.  I don't have that memorized
16 in my head.
17      Q    And so for what people or entities has REIT
18 II reimbursed the expenses?
19      A    It would be -- you get a detailed list from
20 our accounting department and it would specifically
21 say does this specific dollar amount and specific
22 party that was reimbursed.
23      Q    Okay.  On the next page it lists an asset
24 management fee.  It states, "The sponsor will charge
25 each project entity an asset management fee equal to
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1 2 percent of the gross operating income, typically
2 gross rental revenue of the real estate contract
3 owned by the project entity."
4           Is that statement accurate?
5      A    Yes.
6      Q    Has REIT II charged asset management fees?
7      A    I don't think that means the REIT asset
8 management fee.  I think that is the asset management
9 fee on the property level.  That's what it means.

10           It's not an asset management fee for the
11 fund.  That's a -- it says responsible charge each
12 project entity and asset management fee.  That's on
13 the property level that an asset manager charges.
14      Q    Has REIT II charged any asset management
15 fees?
16      A    It would be on a pro rata basis based on
17 when we deploy the capital into those properties.
18 And if those properties are -- we started performing
19 work with the asset management functions.
20           So since it's so early in the inception of
21 this fund, I do not know for sure if anything's been
22 charged or not.
23      Q    Have the asset management fees changed?
24      A    This is on the property level.  They're
25 still the same.  It's just -- it's not out of the
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1 fund level.
2      Q    The way that REIT II charges asset
3 management fees, has that changed?
4      A    Every fund is different.  It has its own
5 unique fees, so I don't know -- I would say yes, to
6 answer the question, it would be -- every fund we
7 have is different than the last fund.
8           But nothing is -- we're not charging
9 anything that's not on this list.  We're not

10 different.  We're consistent with it, and we probably
11 charge less fees than what are on this offering,
12 which we could just kind of look at the QuickBooks
13 files and just do a cross reference of:  Here's the
14 fees you can charge, here's the fees you collected,
15 and you do a cross reference to see what was approved
16 by the SEC and what we're charging.
17      Q    What fees have been less?
18      A    This would be speculation, you would just
19 have to produce that through your accounting
20 department and overlap each other.  Here's the fees
21 charged, here's what you can, just look at the
22 difference.
23      Q    And this sponsor fee, it says, "The sponsor
24 will charge each project entity (or the company
25 itself if the company owns real estate directly) a
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1 sponsor fee between 6 percent and 8 percent of the
2 total project cost, including both hard costs (e.g.,
3 the cost of property) and soft costs, (e.g.,
4 professional fees)."
5           Has REIT II charged sponsor fees?
6      A    REIT II has charged fees.  Specifically how
7 that is sliced and diced, I'd have to go through the
8 accounting department to know those -- those specific
9 numbers.  There's just no way humanly possible I can

10 do that off the top of my head.
11      Q    But not the -- I'm not asking the specific
12 number.  I'm just asking has REIT II charged any
13 sponsor fees?
14      A    It has charged fees.  I don't know how it
15 was broken down and how those fees were charged.  I
16 don't have that information in front of me, so I
17 can't answer the question.
18      Q    Okay.
19           MR. BHANDARI:  I'm confused, Will.  I
20 thought you said earlier that the sponsor was one of
21 the managing entities.  I'd have to look at the
22 document to see which one is identified as a sponsor
23 and the company is REIT II?  Did I hear you say that
24 right?
25           MR. ROSENTHAL:  I was just reading the
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1 document.
2           MR. BHANDARI:  I understand, but there's
3 two different entities, the sponsor and the company.
4 Who's the sponsor and who's the company?
5      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Mr. Cecilio, what's your
6 understanding of who the sponsor and who the company
7 are?
8           MR. BHANDARI:  And if you need to read the
9 document to understand what the document says, then

10 ask to read the document.
11           MS. LEVIN:  Will, you can go to the cover
12 page if you want.
13           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
14      Q    On the cover page it says,
15 "DF Growth REIT II, LLC, a limited liability
16 company organized under the laws of Delaware, which
17 referred to as the company, we, us, or our was formed
18 to acquire interest in real estate assets in the
19 United States."
20           So DF Growth REIT II is the company.
21           MR. BHANDARI:  All right.  So the thing you
22 were asking about, Will, says a sponsor fee is going
23 to be charged by the sponsor, not by the company.
24           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.
25           MS. LEVIN:  I think he was just asking what
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1 was written in the document.
2           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Right.
3           MR. BHANDARI:  No, he asked whether REIT II
4 is going to charge any fees, and he referenced the
5 section says sponsor fees.
6           REIT II is not implicated by something that
7 says sponsor fees.
8           MS. LEVIN:  Why don't we just agree to
9 disagree on this and move on.

10      Q    (By Mr. Rosenthal) Has REIT II charged any
11 property disposition fees?
12      A    No, because we didn't sell a property in
13 REIT II yet.  It just started.
14           MR. BHANDARI:  Objection.  Again,
15 foundation.  It's contrary to the document.
16      A    This is very easy information to get you
17 guys if you guys need it, so...
18                     (SEC Exhibit No. 6 was introduced.)
19           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
20      Q    I'm going to show you
21 what has been marked as Exhibit 6.  This is a
22 document, multipage document.  At the top it says,
23 "Offering Circular Supplement Number 1."  The date is
24 August 26, 2021.  DF Growth REIT II, LLC.
25           I'll scroll through the document, and I'm
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1 going to ask if you recognize it.
2      A    Can you -- okay.  Slow down.  Asset
3 management fee.  See, that's -- acquisition fee.
4 Okay.  Keep going down.
5           Is -- go down a little bit more.  Go up.
6 Go to the top.  I'm missing something here.
7           Keep going up.  Okay.  Go down.  Stop right
8 there.  Okay.
9      Q    Do you recognize this document?

10      A    Yeah.  It's the document that was -- that
11 Mark filed, and Alan, to adjust the fee structure.
12      Q    Okay.  So who drafted this document?
13      A    Mark Roderick.
14      Q    Did anyone else draft it?
15      A    He's our counsel, so he's technically the
16 one who drafted it.
17      Q    And did -- who provided information to
18 Mark?
19      A    That'd be Alan Lewis, our chief investment
20 officer.
21      Q    Did you review this document?
22      A    No, I did not, but I know the reason for
23 the document.
24      Q    Okay.  Did you approve this document?
25      A    I supported -- I -- I mean approve?  I
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1 supported the document.  I said okay.  I didn't get a
2 chance to review the document.  I just told we were
3 updating the fee structure, and we're going to
4 increase -- that's what I was told, and I said okay.
5      Q    Who else approved this document?
6      A    You would look -- only Alan and I are the
7 only two on board of directors, so we'd only two have
8 the rights to approve that document.
9      Q    Okay.

10      A    No one else really has any -- I'm not sure
11 what word I'm trying to use here -- but any
12 authorization to approve or disprove.
13           MS. LEVIN:  So, I'm sorry, I just -- I want
14 the record to be clear.
15           Did Alan Lewis have final approval of this
16 document?
17           THE WITNESS:  Alan and I are the only two
18 on the board of directors, and so we'd have to
19 have -- both of us would have to -- as long as
20 neither one of us objected to this, so...
21           MS. LEVIN:  Well, I guess I'm asking,
22 Mr. Cecilio, who had final approval of this document?
23 Was it you or Mr. Lewis or both of you?
24           THE WITNESS:  Neither one of has more
25 authority over the other.  That's what I'm trying to
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1 get at, so it would have to be --
2           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.
3           THE WITNESS:  No one said --
4           MS. LEVIN:  That's not an answer.
5           THE WITNESS:  (Inaudible) the actual truth
6 in how it happened was, I'm filing this document,
7 okay, go ahead and file the document.  It was a
8 verbal okay from me.  He said he was going to file
9 this document, based on Mark, submitted to the SEC.

10           MS. LEVIN:  So you gave a verbal okay to
11 Alan?
12           THE WITNESS:  Verbal, when he told -- yes,
13 when he said I'm doing this, yes.
14           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  So you both have final
15 approval then?
16           THE WITNESS:  Yes.
17           MS. LEVIN:  Thank you.
18           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
19      Q    So you said you understood
20 that the fee structure was updated.  Who
21 decided to update the fee structure?
22      A    Alan updated the fee structure from --
23 after consulting with Mark Roderick, our securities
24 attorney.
25      Q    Okay.  And why was the fee structure
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1 updated?
2      A    The fee structure was updated for a variety
3 of reasons.  One, basically it's the same fee
4 structure that we had before.  It just flattens the
5 fees out across the board.  So if you really did put
6 it -- the fees in an Excel spreadsheet and looked at
7 how the fees were paid on REIT I, it's pretty much
8 the same costs to customers on REIT II.  They just
9 come at different points in time in the process.  So

10 that was the reason behind it, the flattening --
11 flatten the fees coming to the company.
12      Q    Okay.  Okay.
13      A    It wasn't an increase in fees, it just
14 flattens the fees when they come in at what point in
15 time.
16      Q    Okay.
17           Was that the only reason or purpose,
18 or were there any other reasons or purposes to update
19 the fee structure?
20      A    No.  That was the primary purpose, to
21 flatten the fees when they came in.
22      Q    Do you see on that first page, it says
23 "Change in fee structure, the section of the offering
24 circular captioned compensation of management fees is
25 revised in its entirety to provide as follows."
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1           And it goes on to list several fees.
2      A    Yes.
3      Q    I'm not going into the specifics, but was
4 that statement true, that the offering circular fees
5 section was revised entirely?
6      A    It was revised.  Entirety would mean --
7 yeah, it was changed.  So I -- was every single thing
8 changed?  I think you have to see them side by side.
9 I wouldn't -- but it was -- there's material change

10 here.
11      Q    Okay.  So was this intended to be a
12 complete replacement of the fee for REIT II from
13 what's in the offering circular?
14      A    The original ones in REIT II are just like
15 REIT I.
16           Again, the total fees were -- if you did a
17 spreadsheet, it's the same fee charged, it flattens
18 when we get the fee.  So it was a little bit later on
19 in the process, it just flattens it out across the
20 whole process --
21      Q    Okay.
22      A    -- or timeframe.
23      Q    Is the description of REIT II fees in this
24 document accurate?
25      A    Yes, it looks accurate.
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1      Q    And it mentions the expenses.  Are the
2 expenses being reimbursed by REIT II expenses that
3 were actually incurred?
4      A    Can you elaborate on the question or
5 clarify that?
6      Q    How were the REIT II expenses?  Are they --
7 when they're being reimbursed, are they expenses that
8 have actually been incurred?
9      A    I mean -- I'm not going to guess.  Just

10 going through the financial records, and you can see
11 that, you can see when an expense was created, and
12 then you can see when the fee came in to pay for that
13 expense.  It would be all in the financial
14 specifically.
15           There's just so many expenses coming in.  I
16 can't put myself in a position to guess here what the
17 facts would be, and the financials would show you
18 exactly that, how it was paid.
19           So I don't want to guess here, because I
20 think there's like -- there's just so much stuff
21 that -- there's a lot of costs and a lot of bills
22 being paid, I just can't guess.
23      Q    What is the process for charging expenses?
24 Do people submit invoices or --
25      A    The process?
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1      Q    Yeah.
2      A    I mean, overall -- the overall financial
3 department, how we operate that?
4      Q    Yeah.
5      A    We set a budget, and we allow our --
6 each -- certain people have authorization to manage
7 their budgets accordingly.  There's different
8 divisions, different departments, which are different
9 from each other, so there's not a consistent process

10 across each division.
11           And some are direct pays on credit cards,
12 account cards.
13           Some are -- are invoices that were
14 received.  Some are manual invoices.  Some are
15 automated stuff.  It's all the across the board.
16           Really, if you look at the financials, will
17 detail that at the level that you probably need to
18 see at the end of the day.  And I'm sure you guys
19 have all that information.
20           But, otherwise, I'd just be kind of
21 guessing, but it's just -- it's just a little bit --
22 there's not one certain way how it's done.
23           And you've got that variety of -- you got
24 more the tech-oriented businesses and systematic
25 billing to maybe a contractor of a specific property
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1 sends you an invoice, and it's all across the board.
2      Q    Who oversees expenses?
3      A    We have our COO overseeing the expenses
4 right now.  He's running the financial departments.
5 He sets the budgets.
6           And then on the property level, that would
7 be the head of real estate and -- in concert with our
8 chief investment officer, Alan Lewis.
9      Q    So who approves expenses?

10      A    Depending on which level.  So you have the
11 level on -- to the property level, it would be the
12 chief investment officer.  On the particular assets
13 that we're managing, on the parent level we just -- I
14 mean, we came to an agreement of the budget for --
15 and our COO divides that up proportionally.  So we
16 have a fixed number.
17      Q    Okay.
18           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Vicki, do you have
19 questions?
20           MS. LEVIN:  I don't have any more for
21 today.
22           I'm sure we'll need to speak with you again,
23 Mr. Cecilio.  So I'll let Will wrap up for today.
24           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Mr. Cecilio, at this time,
25 we are adjourning your testimony, but we may call you
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1 again to testify in this matter.  We'll contact your
2 counsel to arrange this.
3           Although your testimony is being adjourned,
4 you remain under subpoena.
5           Mr. Cecilio, do you wish to clarify
6 anything or add anything to the statements you have
7 made today?
8           MR. BHANDARI:  I can say that he doesn't.
9           THE WITNESS:  No.

10           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Counsel, do you have -- do
11 you wish to ask any clarifying questions?
12           MR. BHANDARI:  No, thank you.
13           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.  Off the record at
14 4:23 p.m.
15              (Whereupon, at 4:23 p.m., the examination
16 was concluded.)
17                    * * * * *
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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1                    P R O C E E D I N G S

2            MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 9:39 a.m. on

3 April 21, 2022.  Mr. Lewis, do you consent to taking an oath

4 to tell the truth remotely via Webex rather than in person?

5           THE WITNESS:  Yes, I consent.

6           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Please raise your right hand.

7 Whereupon,

8                          ALAN LEWIS

9 was called as a witness by counsel for the SEC, and having

10 been first duly sworn, was examined and testified

11 as follows:

12                         EXAMINATION

13           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

14      Q    Please state and spell your full name for the

15 record.

16      A    Alan Robertson Lewis, A-L-A-N, R-O-B-E-R-T-S-O-N,

17 L-E-W-I-S.

18      Q    My name is William Rosenthal.  I'm an attorney in

19 the Office of Enforcement, Los Angeles Regional Office, of the

20 United States Securities and Exchange Commission.  With me

21 today is Assistant Regional Director Victoria Levin and trial

22 counsel Jennifer Barry and Stephen Kam.  We are all officers

23 of the Commission for the purposes of this proceeding.

24           This is an investigation by the United States

25 Securities and Exchange Commission in the matter of

Page 13

1 DiversyFund, Inc., LA-5266, to determine whether there have

2 been violations of certain provisions of the federal

3 securities laws.  However, the facts developed in this

4 investigation might constitute violations of other federal or

5 state civil or criminal laws.

6                             (SEC Formal Orders of

7                              Investigation were identified for

8                              the record.)

9           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

10      Q    Mr. Lewis, prior to the opening of the record you

11 were provided with a copy of the Formal Order of Investigation

12 in this matter.  You were also provided a copy of two

13 Supplemental Formal Orders of investigation in this matter.

14 All three orders will be available for your examination during

15 the course of this proceeding.  Have you had an opportunity to

16 review both the Formal Order and the two supplemental Formal

17 Orders?

18      A    Yes.

19                             (SEC Exhibit No. 1 was

20                              identified for the record.)

21           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

22      Q    And prior to the opening of the record you were

23 provided with a copy of the Supplemental Information

24 Form 1662, which has been marked as Exhibit Number 1.

25 Have you had the opportunity to read Exhibit Number 1?

Page 14

1      A    Yes.

2      Q    Do you have any questions about this exhibit?

3      A    No.

4      Q    Okay.  Are you represented by counsel?

5      A    Yes, I am.

6           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Would counsel please identify

7 themselves for the record and confirm that they are

8 representing Mr. Lewis?

9           MR. BHANDARI:  Sanjay Bhadari.  I do represent

10 Mr. Lewis.

11           MR. ROSENTHAL:  I'm sorry, can you repeat that?

12           MR. BHANDARI:  Sure.  Can you hear me now?

13           MR. ROSENTHAL:  (Shaking head.)

14           MR. BHANDARI:  No.

15           MR. ROSENTHAL:  It's a little choppy.

16           MR. BHANDARI:  Okay.  How about now?

17           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes.

18           MS. LEVIN:  (Nodding head.)

19           MR. BHANDARI:  Okay.  I'm not sure what going on

20 with the computer.  I moved the setup because it was getting a

21 lot of sun in the back and I think it's overheating.  So

22 hopefully it'll get a little bit better as we go along.  But

23 yes, Sanjay Bhadari with the lawfirm of Buchalter.  I do

24 represent Mr. Lewis.

25           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.

Page 15

1           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

2      Q    And, Mr. Lewis, and counsel, could you please

3 confirm for the record that no one else in the room is with

4 you?

5      A    Correct.  No one else is in the room with me.

6      Q    Okay.

7      A    Confirmed.

8           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

9      Q    And, Mr. Lewis, Mr. Bhandari is representing you,

10 correct?

11      A    Yes.

12      Q    Okay.  So I'm going to go over some general ground

13 rules.  Everything we say today is recorded by the court

14 reporter and will return in the form of a transcript.  To help

15 make our reporter make an accurate transcript I'm just going

16 to go over these guidelines.

17           First, please provide complete verbal responses to

18 our questions.  The reporter is unable to record an answer if

19 you shake your head or make other movements.  Do you

20 understand?

21      A    Yes, I understand.

22      Q    Okay.  And the reporter also can't record all of us

23 speaking if we're -- there's more than one of us speaking at

24 the same time.  So if you can please let us finish our

25 questions before you answer, and we will try to let you finish
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1 your responses to our questions before we ask the next

2 question.  Do you understand that?

3      A    Yes.

4      Q    Okay.  And if you do not understand a question,

5 please tell us and we will try to rephrase it.

6           I will control the record and when the court

7 reporter is on the record or off the record.  If you with to

8 go off the record at any time to take a break or to consult

9 with your attorney, please indicate this to me and we will ask

10 the reporter to go off the record if it's an appropriate time

11 to do so.

12      A    Okay.

13      Q    So even though we are taking your testimony via

14 Webex today, you should consider yourself to be testifying in

15 a court.  The oath that you took to tell the truth is the same

16 one used in court, and the Commission may submit today's

17 testimony as evidence to a Court in a later proceeding.  For

18 this reason you should make every effort to give the best,

19 most complete and honest answers to our questions today.  Do

20 you understand?

21      A    Yeah, what do you mean by "best" testimony?

22      Q    Your best answers to the questions that I ask.

23      A    Yeah, I'm committed to giving truthful and honest

24 answers under the oath to the best of my recollection --

25      Q    Okay.

Page 17

1      A    -- at this time.

2      Q    And if you have trouble hearing me at all at any

3 point in time, please let me know.  If we have bandwidth or

4 technical issues, sometimes it helps if people switch their

5 cameras off.  So we may need to do that, but for now I think

6 we can leave them on and assess as it goes.

7           So the transcript of your testimony via Webex may be

8 used for all the routine uses set forth in SEC Form 1662,

9 which has been marked as Exhibit Number 1.  Since you are

10 testifying via Webex today, there are some additional

11 procedures that apply.

12                             (SEC Exh bit No. 2 was

13                              identified for the record.)

14           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

15      Q    Prior to the opening of the record you were provided

16 with a copy of the Securities and Exchange Commission's

17 procedures for testimony by audiovisual means, which has been

18 marked as Exh bit Number 2.  I'll put that on the screen

19 again.  Mr. Lewis, do you agree to abide and understand the

20 procedures set -- sorry.  Do you understand and agree to abide

21 by the procedures set forth in Exhibit Number 2?

22      A    Yes.

23           MR. ROSENTHAL:  And, Counsel, do you understand and

24 agree to abide by the procedures as set forth in Exhibit

25 Number 2?

Page 18

1           MR. BHANDARI:  (Inaudible.)

2           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sorry, we didn't --

3           MR. BHANDARI:  Yes.

4           MR. ROSENTHAL:  -- hear that, Counsel.

5           MR. BHANDARI:  Yes.

6           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Thank you.

7           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

8      Q    Mr. Lewis, have you taken any medication or anything

9 else during the last 24 hours that may impair your ability to

10 remember facts and events?

11      A    No medication.

12      Q    And nothing else that would impair your ability to

13 remember facts and events?

14      A    Correct.

15                             (SEC Exhibit No. 17 was

16                              identified for the record.)

17           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

18      Q    I'm just going to pull up on the screen a document

19 that's been marked as Exhibit Number 17.  It is a

20 multiple-page document consisting of a letter addressed to

21 Alan Lewis and it's dated January 26, 2022.  And there is an

22 accompanying subpoena and attachment to the subpoena.

23           To clarify for the record, when we show you exhibits

24 today during your testimony via Webex, we are showing you

25 electronic copies of the exhibits on the Webex screen.  Please

Page 19

1 take whatever time you need to review these exhibits.  I will

2 scroll through it.  It's a long document.  But if you'd like

3 me to stop at any point, you can let me know.

4      A    Okay.

5      Q    I'm just going to ask you after I scroll through it

6 if you recognize the document.

7           Mr. Lewis, do you recognize Exhibit Number 17.

8      A    Yes.

9      Q    Is the subpoena in Exhibit 17 a copy of the subpoena

10 you are appearing pursuant to here today?

11      A    I assume so.

12      Q    Okay.  Do you have any reason to believe it's not?

13      A    Well, I understood this to be a subpoena for the

14 document requests, so I didn't read it closely about

15 discovering the subpoena for the appearance today, but that

16 would make sense.

17      Q    Okay.  I will go to -- do you see on page 4 it says

18 you must testify before the officers of the Securities and

19 Exchange Commission at the place, date and time specified

20 below?

21      A    Yeah, I see that now.

22      Q    Okay.  So you understand that this is the subpoena

23 you are appearing here today pursuant to?

24      A    Correct.

25      Q    Okay.  And this -- this subpoena also calls for
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1 documents to be produced.  Have you tendered to the staff all

2 documents called for by the subpoena?

3      A    Yeah, to the best of my understanding of the list of

4 requests.

5           MR. BHANDARI:  And if I might just clarify --

6           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

7      Q    Okay.  Are there certain documents --

8           MR. BHANDARI:  If I might just clarify, as counsel

9 we're working to provide all these documents.  And they -- so

10 certainly Mr. Lewis has provided to us, I believe, at this

11 time everything that would be responsive.  I think there will

12 be a production coming up the end of this week that will take

13 care of the -- most of the remaining items.  We've made a

14 number of productions along the way, and then I think there

15 will need to be one more additional production with some text

16 messages.  But I believe as far as Mr. Lewis providing the

17 information to us, I think that process has been completed.

18           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.  Thank you, Counsel.  We can

19 certainly follow up with you.  I will note for the record that

20 these requests remain outstanding.

21           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

22      Q    Mr. Lewis, can you describe the search that you

23 conducted for the documents and provide who conducted that

24 search?

25      A    And do you -- are you referring just to the list on

Page 21

1 here or the other subpoenas for the REIT II and DiversyFund,

2 Inc.?

3      Q    Just for the subpoena.

4      A    Yeah.  Yeah, for this subpoena, depending on the

5 particular document request, search of company files on our

6 filing system, some of the requests would be passed on to

7 finance -- our financial team.  And then search for personal

8 stuff, you know, just going through personal items to produce

9 those items and lists.  And then as Sanjay mentioned, you

10 know, some of the responses will be coming through in the

11 productions of the Slack and text messages.

12      Q    Okay.  And who conducted those searches?  Did you or

13 did someone else?

14      A    Which searches in particular?

15      Q    It's -- all of them, if you can describe any

16 searches that were conducted.

17      A    There have been some searches I was able to do

18 myself.  Some searches I asked our finance team to conduct.

19      Q    Which searches did you conduct?

20      A    I mean, do you want to go through each one of --

21           MR. BHANDARI:  Probably, Will, it would make sense

22 for -- that's what I was going to suggest.  If you want, Will,

23 he can just go through each item and tell you how he did the

24 search for that item.  Would you like that?

25           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.  Sure.

Page 22

1           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

2      Q    So the first one, all documents concerning the

3 receipt of investor funds by DF Growth REIT II, who conducted

4 the search for that?

5      A    That I don't recall if it was finance or -- we have

6 a gentleman named Ryan Wagner who deals with our data.  So it

7 would have come from one of those two.

8      Q    And when you say "finance" who do you mean by that?

9      A    We have two individuals in our finance division.

10 Jonathan Neff heads the finance division, and then Samantha Li

11 works underneath him and she -- she just left on maternity

12 leave.

13      Q    Okay.  Can you spell both of those names?

14      A    Sure.  Yeah.  Jonathan, J-O-N-A-T-H-A-N, Neff,

15 N-E-F-F.  And then Samantha Li, S-A-M-A-N-T-H-A, then Li, L-I.

16      Q    Okay.  Thank you.  And how about number 3, all

17 documents and communications concerning complaints received

18 from any investor?  Who conducted that search?

19      A    That one it was an export from our third-party

20 customer service application.  And I don't know who actually

21 did the export, but someone likely in customer service would

22 have initiated that.

23      Q    Okay.  Is there someone in charge of the customer

24 service?

25      A    Yes, the gentleman in charge of customer service's

Page 23

1 name is Christopher Finlay.

2      Q    Can you spell the last name?

3      A    Yes.  F-I-N-L-A-Y.

4      Q    Okay.  And how about number 4, all documents and

5 communications concerning the use of investor funds by

6 DF Growth REIT II and the current location of investor funds?

7      A    That likely would have come from finance.

8      Q    Okay.  And the same people in finance?

9      A    Mm-hmm.

10      Q    Okay.  And did you ask them to conduct that search?

11           MS. LEVIN:  Sorry, was that a yes?  The court

12 reporter can't do an "mm-hmm."

13           THE WITNESS:  Well, can you repeat the question?

14           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

15      Q    Was the answer to the last question yes?

16      A    Well, can you repeat the last question?  Because I

17 don't -- I don't recall the way you phrased it.

18      Q    So --

19           MS. LEVIN:  I think it was was it the same people in

20 finance.

21           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

22      Q    The same people in finance conducted that search?

23      A    The people -- the only people in finance are

24 Jonathan Neff and Samantha Li.

25      Q    Okay.  Thank you.  And how about number 13, all
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1 documents including communications concerning REIT II?  Who

2 conducted that search?

3      A    That was a combination of -- well, we handed over

4 our e-mails to a third party, I believe it's called

5 "Intrepid," and they are currently conducting those searches

6 still.  And then we have submitted for a review of our text

7 messages for additional communications, potential responsive

8 communications.  And so that's e-mails.  And then Slack.  We

9 use an internal program called "Slack" for intercompany

10 communications, and so that also has been turned over to

11 Intrepid for a search.  And then we have a paralegal, Janice

12 Deng, that's helping with that.

13      Q    Okay.  Have you withheld any documents called for

14 the subpoena based on any claim of privilege?

15      A    I don't -- I don't believe so.

16      Q    Okay.  Were any documents called for by the subpoena

17 not produced for any reason other than privilege?

18      A    Could you -- could you clarify that question?

19      Q    Yeah, so were there any documents that were called

20 for by the subpoena that were responsive to the subpoena that

21 were not produced for any reason other than privilege --

22      A    No.

23      Q    -- that you held back?

24      A    Well, other than the ones that we're still working

25 to produce.  But those will be produced shortly.

Page 25

1      Q    Okay.  Do you know of any documents that are

2 responsive to the subpoena but not provided that were in your

3 possession at a prior time or that were lost, destroyed or

4 otherwise disposed of?

5      A    Not to my knowledge.

6      Q    Have you spoken with anyone other than counsel

7 regarding your appearance for testimony today?

8      A    Yes.

9      Q    Who?

10      A    My business partner Craig Cecilio knows that I'm

11 appearing today.  Our chief operating officer Fateh Kamal,

12 he's also aware.  And then our leadership team just has a

13 general knowledge of the investigation, but I have not

14 mentioned to any of the others, you know, about my specific

15 testimony today.

16      Q    Okay.  Can you spell that name Fateh Kamal?

17      A    Yes.  Fateh, F-A-T-E-H, and Kamal, K-A-M-A-L.

18      Q    Okay.  And can you spell Craig Cecilio as well?

19      A    Yeah, Craig, C-R-A-I-G, Cecilio, C-E-C-I-L-I-O.

20      Q    Okay.  And when did you speak with Craig Cecilio

21 about your testimony?

22      A    I mean, there's been a handful of occasions.  Just

23 he knew that it was scheduled, you know, about a month ago and

24 then mentioned to him that it was postponed and then mentioned

25 to him that it's been rescheduled for today.  And we spoke
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1 yesterday.  He just mentioned, "Good luck.  Get some rest."

2      Q    Was the substance of your testimony discussed?

3      A    No.

4      Q    Okay.  Did you speak with Craig Cecilio about his

5 testimony?

6      A    Yeah, we had a meeting with counsel after his

7 testimony.

8           MR. BHANDARI:  Hold on, Alan.  I'm sorry, Alan.  You

9 can't talk, and Will's not asking you to talk, about meetings

10 you might have had with counsel or anything discussed in

11 meetings with counsel.  So you should understand all of his

12 questions to exclude that.

13           Is that fair, Will?

14           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes, that's correct.

15           MR. BHANDARI:  So outside of any meetings with

16 counsel, have you --

17           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

18      Q    Aside from your meetings --

19           MR. BHANDARI:  Go ahead.  I'm sorry.

20           MR. ROSENTHAL:  That's fine.  Thank you, Sanjay.

21           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

22      Q    Aside from your meetings with counsel, what did you

23 discuss with Craig Cecilio about his testimony?

24      A    No discussions outside of the discussion with

25 counsel.

Page 27

1      Q    Okay.  Did you review a transcript of Craig

2 Cecilio's testimony?

3      A    No.

4      Q    And your discussion with Fateh Kamal, aside from any

5 meetings with counsel, what was discussed with him?

6      A    Just mentioning that I had testimony scheduled for

7 today.

8      Q    Was the substance of your testimony discussed?

9      A    No.

10      Q    Okay.  Did you do anything to prepare for testimony

11 today?

12      A    I got a full night's rest and -- and, yeah, just

13 made sure that, you know, had energy and ready to go.

14      Q    Okay.  So I'm not asking about the substance of your

15 meetings, but did you meet with counsel?

16      A    For -- regarding today's testimony?

17      Q    Yes.

18      A    Yes.

19      Q    Was anyone besides counsel at your meetings?

20      A    No.

21      Q    Did you review any documents in preparation for

22 testimony today?

23      A    Two documents.

24      Q    What documents?

25      A    The affidavits that I had submitted in connection
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1 with the Ninth Circuit filing, and the other one prior to the

2 Ninth Circuit filing I don't know how to exactly describe it,

3 but one of the administrative proceedings regarding the SEC.

4      Q    Okay.  Can you provide the date and place of your

5 birth?

6      A    Yes.  I was born on September 5, 1976 in Logan,

7 Utah.

8      Q    And what is the country of your citizenship?

9      A    United States of America.

10      Q    Have you ever been known by any other name?

11      A    No.

12      Q    And what is your current marital status?

13      A    Separated.

14      Q    Okay.  Were you previously married?

15      A    Well, still -- still am married.

16      Q    Oh, okay.  And for how long?

17      A    I was married in June of 2000.

18      Q    Okay.  And what is your spouse's name?

19      A    Her name is Mary Maline Lewis.

20      Q    Can you spell that, please?

21      A    Yeah.  Mary, M-A-R-Y, Maline, M-A-L-I-N-E, Lewis,

22 L-E-W-I-S.

23      Q    And what is your home address?

24      A    .  Do you want me to

25 spell -- Valle is V-A-L-L-E.
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1      Q    Thank you.  Have you had any other home addresses in

2 the last three years?

3      A    Sorry, two or three years?

4      Q    Three years.

5      A    Last three years.  The prior address, I would have

6 lived there -- I think at that point, yeah, I had moved here.

7 I've been here for about three years.

8      Q    Okay.  What is your telephone number?

9      A    

10      Q    Is that a cell phone?

11      A    Yes.

12      Q    Do you have any other phone numbers?

13      A    No.

14      Q    What e-mail addresses do you use?

15      A    I have my work e-mail, which is alan, A-L-A-N,

16 @diversyfund.com.  There are several e-mails that are group

17 e-mails we use in the office that I -- I guess you'd say I'm a

18 subscriber to, in addition to other employees.  One of those

19 is assetmanagement@diversyfund.com.  Trying to think of any

20 other work e-mails.  That's -- that's the only other one I

21 have in my Outlook.  And then a personal e-mail

22

23      Q    Have you used any other e-mail addresses in the last

24 three years?

25      A    No.
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1      Q    Have you used any social network accounts in the

2 last three years?

3      A    Yes.

4      Q    Which ones?

5      A    LinkedIn, linkedin.com.  Let's see, I have a

6 Facebook account, I have an Instagram, and those are the -- I

7 mean, I don't use Facebook much, but Instagram and LinkedIn

8 are the ones that are most active.

9      Q    Okay.  And are the accounts in your name or do you

10 have, like, a user name?

11      A    I mean, I think -- I think it might be a

12 combination.  I mean, the accounts -- I don't know if I

13 understand the question.

14      Q    So -- okay.  LinkedIn, is the name in your account

15 or -- is your account in your name or a different name?

16      A    Yes, it's in my name.

17      Q    Okay.  And Facebook, is your account in your name or

18 a different name?

19      A    In my name.

20      Q    And Instagram, is it your name or is it account name

21 or user name?

22      A    It has a user name, but it's in my name.

23      Q    Do you know what the user name is?

24      A    I believe it's Alan double underscore Lewis.

25      Q    Okay.  Are there any websites or blogs that you
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1 established or had authority to control within the last three

2 years?

3      A    No.

4      Q    Can you provide the name of any educational

5 institutions you have attended since high school?

6      A    I went to undergraduate -- started off at a junior

7 college called "College of DuPage."  I attended there for one

8 year.  Next I went to --

9      Q    What --

10      A    Sorry?

11      Q    What year did you attend there?

12      A    Let's see.  That would have been fall of 1994 to

13 spring of 1995.

14      Q    Okay.  Any others?

15      A    Yes.  Then I attended Brigham Young University in

16 Provo, Utah.  Don't quite remember the exact dates, but I

17 believe it was from fall of '98 to spring of 2002

18 approximately.

19      Q    Okay.  And did you receive a degree from there?

20      A    Yes.

21      Q    And what was your degree in?

22      A    It was a bachelor of arts in American studies with a

23 minor in business.

24      Q    Any other educational institutions?

25      A    Yes.  Then I attended Columbia Law School from fall
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1 of 2003 and graduated spring of 2006.

2      Q    And what degree did you receive?

3      A    A juris doctor.

4      Q    Okay.  And did you have any specialties or

5 specialized focus areas in law school?

6      A    No formal special designation, but took mostly

7 corporate and real estate finance-type classes and some tax.

8      Q    Have you attended any other educational institutions

9 since high school?

10      A    No.

11      Q    Have you taken any other securities, accounting, or

12 business-related courses since high school?

13      A    When I was at the -- I worked in a law firm there

14 was, you know, not only continuing education -- legal

15 education requirement, which I tend to focus that -- I still

16 maintain my Bar license in New York, and so I tend to focus

17 that continuing legal ed around corporate and finance and

18 securities and real estate-type courses at the law firm Davis,

19 Polk & Wardwell.  By virtue of working in the corporate

20 department, you know, we would have lots of training on real

21 estate and private equity and corporate legal work and

22 securities laws, those kinds of things.

23           Additionally, when I was at a broker-dealer as a

24 licensed representative, our continuing legal ed also focused

25 around securities laws and corporate finance.
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1      Q    Okay.  Have you ever held any professional licenses?

2      A    Yes.  I had several FINRA licenses when I was with

3 the broker-dealer; a Series 7, and another one which was a

4 multistate license, but I don't recall the number.

5      Q    Okay.  And when did you receive those licenses?

6      A    That would have been around 2010, 2011, I believe.

7 I think I had a third license as well, Series 79, which was

8 investment banking.

9      Q    Do you still hold those licenses?

10      A    No.  Those are all inactive.  Now I currently have a

11 FINRA license for the registered investment advisor.  I don't

12 recall the number of the series.

13      Q    Do you know when those licenses were terminated or

14 ended?

15      A    I believe -- I believe they terminate when I left

16 the broker-dealer, which would have been end of 2014.

17      Q    Were you ever --

18      A    Sorry.  I don't know if they become inactive

19 immediately upon departure or -- or if there's -- sometimes

20 there's a rule where there's, like, a two-year lag.  I don't

21 know if they remain active if you haven't hung them with a

22 broker-dealer, but not quite sure what the rule is there.

23      Q    Okay.  Were you the subject of any disciplinary

24 proceedings against you?

25      A    No.
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1      Q    And do you hold a Bar license?

2      A    Yes.

3      Q    Can you identify the state or location?

4      A    Yeah, New York Bar license.

5      Q    Do you know your Bar number?

6      A    I don't.

7      Q    And when was that Bar license awarded?

8      A    I graduated in 2006.  I think it would have been the

9 beginning of 2007.

10      Q    Okay.  And it's still current?

11      A    Yes.

12      Q    And do you have any, like, specialties or

13 specialized practice areas for your Bar license?

14      A    Like a special designation?

15      Q    Correct, yes.

16      A    No.

17      Q    Have you ever had any disciplinary proceedings

18 against you related to your Bar license, like a state Bar

19 Association?

20      A    No.

21      Q    Any other professional licenses you've ever held?

22      A    No.

23      Q    Have you ever been a member of any professional or

24 business club or organization?

25      A    I think I may have belonged to something related to
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1 the New York Bar, like the state Bar Association.  I don't

2 recall.  I believe our firm signed us up automatically.

3      Q    Okay.  Do you remember what it was?

4      A    No, I don't recall whether it was New York City

5 or -- Bar Association or New York -- something with New York

6 State.

7      Q    Okay.  Any other professional or business

8 organizations?

9      A    Not that I can recall.

10      Q    Okay.  What is your current occupation?

11      A    Currently I am a member of the Board of Directors of

12 DiversyFund, Inc. and an officer of that company as well as

13 the chief investment officer.

14      Q    And how long have you held those positions?

15      A    Since we started the company in August 2016.

16      Q    Do you have a work address and phone number?

17      A    Yes.  We have a business office, which is 750 B

18 Street, Suite 1930, in San Diego, California.  And I do not

19 have a work phone.

20      Q    Have you ever been an employee of a broker-dealer,

21 investment advisor, investment company, municipal securities

22 dealer, municipal advisor, transfer agent, or a nationally

23 recognized statistical rating organization?

24      A    I worked for a broker-dealer.  I don't know that I

25 was classified as an employee, though.  I think we were
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1 independent contractors.

2      Q    And what was the broker-dealer?

3      A    At the time it was called Brill, B-R-I-L-L, Brill

4 Securities, Inc.  They were since acquired by a company, I

5 believe, called "Western" something.

6      Q    And when did you work there?

7      A    I worked with Brill from maybe 2010 to approximately

8 the end of 2014.

9      Q    And where was that located?

10      A    That was in New York City.

11      Q    What was your title.

12      A    Managing director in the investment banking

13 division.

14      Q    Was that a legal role?

15      A    No, it was strictly business.

16      Q    Okay.  And what were your employment

17 responsibilities?

18      A    Well, I don't know if I was employed.  I don't

19 believe I was a W-2 employee.

20      Q    Okay.  What was your job responsibilities?

21      A    We were conducting private placements.  So I would

22 try to source new investment banking clients that were looking

23 to raise capital from private equity or venture capital or

24 high net worth investors.

25           And then once we engaged a client, then my
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1 responsibilities were to help prepare a pitch deck for

2 potential investors, and then to research investors that would

3 be a good fit for the client, and then to start making

4 introductions and meetings and helping with the process of

5 answering the investors' questions about the client, sometimes

6 conducting onsite tours of the client's business with the

7 potential investors, and then helping to structure the

8 investment once an investor was ready to invest in the

9 client's company.

10      Q    Okay.  And where were you employed after that?

11      A    After that I then worked at a group of companies in

12 Utah called "JF Capital."  There's a bunch of different

13 affiliates.

14      Q    And what was your title?

15      A    My title was head of real estate private equity.

16      Q    And what were your responsibilities?

17      A    I was helping with the multifamily ground-up

18 development.  And so I would work with the gentlemen that

19 would source the property sites and help to obtain investor

20 capital on the equity side, help obtain financing on the debt

21 side from banks or other lenders, help get those transactions

22 closed, and then help with some of the zoning issues with the

23 city or county, depending.

24           I would help with dealing with the general --

25 general contractors trying to -- in terms of getting budgets
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1 prepared for construction and negotiating those contracts.

2 And then I would help with investor relations just

3 communicating updates on some of those projects as they

4 proceeded after closing.

5      Q    And what were the dates that you worked there?

6      A    Approximately the end of 2014 to July of 2016.

7      Q    Did you have any employment after that before

8 DiversyFund?

9      A    No.  After that I went straight into forming

10 DiversyFund with Craig.

11      Q    Okay.  And what about before the broker-dealer?  Did

12 you have employment before that?

13      A    Yes, after law school I worked for a law firm,

14 Davis, Polk & Wardwell, in New York City.

15      Q    And what dates were you there?

16      A    Yeah, I believe I started in September of 2006 and

17 then ended March 2010, I believe.

18      Q    And what was your title?

19      A    Associate attorney.

20      Q    And what were your responsibilities?

21      A    I -- I was in the corporate division and rotated

22 among several groups within the corporate division.  Started

23 off in corporate tax for approximately six months and then

24 went into capital markets dealing with IPOs and other

25 securities offerings, and then went into M&A doing mergers and

Page 39

1 acquisitions, and then ultimately ended in real estate doing a

2 lot of real estate private equity and real estate development

3 work.

4      Q    Okay.  Did any of those roles involve working with

5 securities laws?

6      A    Yes.

7      Q    Can you describe which ones?

8      A    Capital markets.  I can't remember, I think

9 securities laws may have also come up to a minor degree in

10 M&A, and then I guess we would work with the capital markets

11 folks in real estate if the client was conducting an offering.

12      Q    Okay.  And what were your responsibilities related

13 to the securities laws?

14      A    In capital markets, you know, we would do draft

15 disclosures for clients and review those, sometimes there was

16 research done.  And then a lot of due diligence.

17      Q    Okay.  And did you have employment before the law

18 firm?

19      A    Before the law firm I was in law school from '03

20 to '06.  During those summers I had employment as a legal

21 intern for both summers after the first and second year.

22      Q    And where were you an intern?

23      A    After the first year I was an intern at the U.S.

24 Attorneys Southern District of New York office, and then after

25 second year I split between Covington & Burling in Washington
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1 DC, and Debevoice & Plimpton in New York.

2      Q    Okay.  Are you now or have you ever been an officer

3 or director of any publicly held company?

4      A    No.

5      Q    Have you ever been the beneficial owner of 5 percent

6 or more of any class of equities securities of any publicly

7 held company?

8      A    No.

9      Q    Are you now or have you ever been a manager or

10 member of any privately held company?

11      A    Manager or member?  I am a stockholder of

12 DiversyFund, Inc.  I guess when you say "member" I assume

13 you're referring to LLCs rather than a shareholder of a C

14 Corp.

15      Q    Any -- any privately held company.  Can you describe

16 what you're -- what you mentioned?

17      A    I'm a shareholder in DiversyFund, Inc. --

18      Q    Okay.

19      A    -- and then -- if you're asking about -- and then in

20 if you're asking about membership interest in LLC, I have two

21 minority ownerships as a passive investor and some ownership

22 in some -- I guess you'd call it an LLC.  It's a fund for some

23 of our competitors, Fundrise and RealtyMogul.

24      Q    Okay.  Do you have any, like, management role with

25 those?
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1      A    No.

2      Q    Okay.  Have you ever been a beneficial owner of any

3 privately held company?

4      A    I'm currently a beneficial owner of DiversyFund,

5 Inc. and those other two:  Hingeworx, and the other one's

6 called Promotus LLC, and Fundrise and RealtyMogul Funds.

7      Q    Sorry, can you just repeat those, make sure I get

8 them?

9      A    Yes.  Currently DiversyFund, Inc. I'm a beneficial

10 owner.  I have a very small passive minority interest in two

11 companies from my investment banking days:  Hingeworx LLC and

12 Promotus LLC.  And then additionally ownership in -- it looks

13 like, according to the records, a host of Fundrise funds.  I

14 made one investment and since have invested the money to --

15 it's like a $20 position at this point, but -- and then

16 RealtyMogul, I have ownership in one of their funds.

17      Q    Can you spell all of those for the record?

18      A    Sure.  DiversyFund, Inc. D-I-V-E-R-S-Y-F-U-N-D,

19 Inc.; and then Hingeworx, all one word, H-I-N-G-E-W-O-R-X,

20 LLC; and then Promotus, I believe P-R-O-M-O-T-U-S LLC; and

21 then Fundrise, all one word, F-U-N-D-R-I-S-E.  I'm not aware

22 of the full name of the fund, but it has Fundrise in the

23 title.  And then RealtyMogul, two words R-E-A-L-T-Y,

24 M-O-G-U-L.  And I'm not sure of the name of the exact fund.

25      Q    Okay.  What securities or brokerage accounts have
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1 you held in your name in the last three years?

2      A    I have not held any securities in my name.

3      Q    Okay.  So no --

4      A    Let me -- no public securities other than those

5 private ones we just went over --

6      Q    Okay.  So no brokerage accounts --

7      A    I'd opened an account at E*Trade, but never had

8 purchased anything.  It was more just to see what their back

9 end looked like, you know, from a business comparison

10 standpoint.

11      Q    Okay.  Have you had any control or direct or

12 indirect beneficial interest in any other securities or

13 brokerage accounts in the last three years?

14      A    No.

15      Q    Have you ever testified in any proceeding conducted

16 by the staff of the SEC, a U.S. or foreign federal or state

17 Agency, a U.S. or foreign federal or state court, a stock

18 exchange, FINRA or any other self-regulatory organization, or

19 any arbitration proceeding related to securities transactions?

20      A    No.

21      Q    Have you ever been deposed in connection with any

22 court proceedings?

23      A    Yes.

24      Q    What was that?

25      A    I was subpoenaed as a third-party witness for -- I
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1 believe it was a lawsuit against some shareholders against a

2 CFO of a client that -- or of -- CFO of a company that was an

3 investment banking client.  And so I was deposed as a

4 third-party witness.

5      Q    What was the title of the case?

6      A    I don't recall the exact title, but the name of the

7 defendant, his name was Shu Kaneko, and I believe it was

8 spelled S-H-U, K-A-N-E-K-O.

9      Q    And when was that?

10      A    I believe it was sometime around 2014, 2015.

11      Q    Okay.  And what was your deposition regarding?

12      A    They were just asking me about my interactions with

13 Shu, you know, any conversations we had had, and then my

14 understanding of the company, company's financials, and

15 whether they thought in my opinion there had been any

16 misappropriation of funds by the defendant.

17      Q    What was your opinion on that?

18      A    My opinion was no.  I told them I wasn't a financial

19 expert, but from what I could see in the financials, the bulk

20 of the investor funds, you know, had been sent to the intended

21 Chinese company in PRC.

22      Q    What were the allegations in the lawsuit?

23      A    I don't remember the exact allegations, but the --

24 they were trying to sue for recovery.  I believe -- I think it

25 would have been about a $7 million investment from a group of
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1 clients of an investment bank and they were trying to recover

2 their funds.  And so I think they were going after the CFO

3 because he was a U.S. citizen, whereas it was -- I think they

4 were having difficulty trying to recover funds from the PRC

5 company because they were located in China.

6      Q    Have you ever been named as a defendant or

7 respondent in any action or proceeding brought by the SEC or

8 any U.S. or foreign federal Agency, a state securities agency,

9 FINRA, an SRO or any exchange?

10      A    No, other than this proceeding, I've not any --

11 well, we would the other -- we had another investigation by

12 the SEC about 18 months ago where I was named.

13      Q    Have you ever been a defendant in any action

14 alleging violations of federal securities laws?

15      A    Other than this investigation and the prior

16 investigation that involved DiversyFund, no.

17      Q    Have you ever been a defendant in any criminal

18 proceedings other than the one involving -- other than one

19 involving a minor traffic offense?

20      A    No.  I mean, other than -- other than these

21 current -- this current investigation.

22      Q    Okay.  This is a civil investigation, just to be

23 clear.

24           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Does anyone -- Vickie or Stephen or

25 Jen, do you have any questions right now?
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1           MS. LEVIN:  (Shaking head.)

2           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Why don't we take a ten-minute

3 break.  Off the record at 10:37.

4           (Recess.)

5           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 10:47 a.m.

6           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

7      Q    Mr. Lewis, when was DiversyFund, Inc. founded?

8      A    We formed a C-Corp. in Delaware, I believe, on

9 August 18, 2016.

10      Q    And who were the founders?

11      A    The founders were myself and Craig Cecilio.

12      Q    Okay.  And who came up with the idea for

13 DiversyFund?

14      A    We often had independent notions of starting a

15 company like this, which is why when we first connected via

16 LinkedIn I believe in 2015 that we started ta king about

17 potentially starting the business together.  Craig had already

18 obtained the DiversyFund name and domain name, looking to

19 start a business.

20           And for myself, while working at JF Capital in Utah

21 doing real estate development -- this would probably be

22 in 2015 -- one of my clients -- one of my potential investors

23 into one of our multifamily ground-up projects in downtown

24 Salt Lake showed me on his phone how he was able to invest --

25 I can't remember the amount, but it's something substantial
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1 like $50,000 into a project into Washington, DC with a group,

2 you know, called "Fundrise," which is now one of our

3 competitors, that he had never met.  And he showed me how he

4 could do that within two minutes.  And for me, I was just

5 fascinated with how technology and the online interaction was

6 completely changing the way that capital could be -- could be

7 accessed.

8           And so at that point I went to my then business

9 partners and asked them if they would be interested in

10 starting a business, and they said they weren't.  So at that

11 point I started looking for a potential business partner to

12 start that business.  And so when Craig and I connected via

13 LinkedIn shortly thereafter, you know, that's when we really

14 started ta king through our potential business plan for

15 starting DiversyFund, Inc.

16      Q    Okay.  So how did you meet Craig Cecilio?

17      A    We met via LinkedIn.  He had an intern that was

18 looking for a potential partner to start the business with,

19 and so I think he was reaching out to multiple people, myself

20 included.  And so we connected -- I believe it was some point

21 in 2015.  It would have been shortly after my client had

22 showed me that Fundrise on his cell phone.

23           And, let's see, I flew out -- after a number of

24 initial phone calls, phone call conversations that seemed to

25 go well, I flew out at least a couple times to San Diego
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1 talking through a potential business plan, you know, in terms

2 of how we would do it different and ways that we could improve

3 on the business model and approach compared to some of the

4 groups that already started in the online real estate space.

5      Q    Okay.  What is the business of DiversyFund, Inc.

6      A    Well, both Craig and I grew up in middle class

7 families.  And, you know, for myself, you know, my parents --

8 my mom was a stay-at-home mom.  My father was as ice cream

9 taste tester working for companies like Dovebar and

10 Häagen-Dazs and Ben & Jerry's.  And so with six kids we never

11 really had a lot of money to go around.  And so I saw my

12 parents, the way they invested, and it was solely in the stock

13 market in public equities, and then watched them just go

14 through anxiety as their portfolio would go up and down over

15 the years with different cycles.

16           And for me as part of my education, you know, I read

17 Rich Dad Poor Dad, which is a very common -- by Robert

18 Kiyosaki, very common book about investing and creating wealth

19 through passive income -- a big component of that being

20 passive income and appreciation growth through real estate as

21 a hedge against inflation and as a diversification away from

22 the stock market.

23           And then in working on Wall Street after law school

24 I was exposed to a number of clients who were generating a lot

25 of wealth, you know, through real estate investments.
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1 Especially I had one client in particular that was a

2 multibillion dollar fund that did a lot of multifamily

3 apartment investing in particular.

4           And so from my -- from my perspective, you know,

5 from coming from a middle class family, I wanted to find a way

6 to take these investments that really seemed limited to, you

7 know, the top 1 percent, you know, these high net worth

8 accredited folks, and bring them -- make them available to the

9 everyday investor who may not fit an accreditation

10 qualification, and do that in an amount -- an investment

11 amount that is access ble to someone starting out like my

12 parents, you know, for an amount that would be reasonable.

13           So with DiversyFund we were able to use -- the Jobs

14 Act, had a -- the Regulation A framework, which was brand-new

15 that allowed for you, at the time, to raise up to 15 million

16 per issuer per year in order to aggregate capital.  And a lot

17 of it was to aggregate capital from -- whether it was

18 noncredited or credited didn't matter.  And so we were able to

19 lower -- we always wanted to create a fund that would have a

20 very low minimum, so very access ble to an everyday American

21 investor who is nonaccredited and allow them to participate in

22 these types of real estate offerings, you know, create a

23 portfolio of real estate assets that would allow them to start

24 diversifying away from the stock market and away from

25 concentration risk of having all your holdings in just one
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1 public equities asset class.

2           And so that's -- that was always the goal from the

3 beginning, to get to that point where we could start a fund,

4 have a portfolio offering that passed along all those benefits

5 to a group of customers that are mainly not accredited.

6      Q    Okay.  And what is your current title with

7 DiversyFund, Inc.?

8      A    Yeah, my title has always been, and currently is,

9 chief investment officer.

10      Q    Okay.  And you're a director on the Board as well?

11      A    Yes.

12      Q    And who else is on the Board of Directors?

13      A    On the Board of Directors it's myself and Craig

14 Cecilio.

15      Q    Has that always been the Board?

16      A    Yes.

17      Q    Okay.  And what role do you play at DiversyFund,

18 Inc.?

19      A    Yeah, so as the chief investment officer, I am in

20 charge of all the investing to help create the structure for

21 the fund that best aligns interests with the customer and the

22 sponsor, the parent co., overseeing the acquisition --

23 identification and acquisition of assets that the fund will

24 invest in, and then overseeing the due diligence that goes

25 into closing acquisition in terms of, you know, various
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1 third-party reports, either due diligence, helping to line up

2 a lender.  All of our properties are financed with, you know,

3 some leverage, some debt, and then the remainder of the

4 purchase price is funded by equity, be it from, you know, the

5 REITs or sometimes third parties also participate as equity

6 investors.

7           And then once an asset is acquired in part of the

8 portfolio, then it goes into the asset management bucket,

9 which is executing on the business plan for that particular

10 asset.  Almost all of which in the REITs are multifamily

11 value-add business plans, which means we are purchasing

12 apartment buildings that have existing tenants in them, are

13 already collecting rents, and then we'll go in and try to add

14 additional value to that asset through a couple of different

15 mechanisms.  One is performing renovations both on the

16 exterior of the assets, paint and curb appeal and maybe

17 putting in some new amenities for the tenants, and then also

18 going in and doing interior renovations.

19           You know, sometimes -- the properties vary in terms

20 of their state when we first acquire them.  Sometimes they can

21 be in really rough shape.  For example, we just acquired last

22 year a property in San Antonio where when we acquired it

23 several of the buildings had not had hot water for over a

24 month.  And so we have to go in and quickly fix those to take

25 care of the tenants and do right by them.
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1           And so the renovations allow you to then bump up the

2 rents and -- which in turn not only creates additional cash

3 flow from the asset, but also the way that commercial real

4 estate such as apartment buildings are valued is you apply a

5 cap rate -- a capitalization rate to the NOI, the net

6 operating income.  So to the extent you can either increase

7 rents or decrease expenses, that will lead to higher net

8 operating income, which leads to a higher asset value, in

9 addition to just experiencing general market appreciation that

10 will tend to make real estate assets value go up as well based

11 on the cap rate compression as cap rates come down, which

12 we're seeing right now in the current environment environment,

13 for example.

14           The other way we do value-add that I oversee as a

15 chief investment officer is by looking at the property manager

16 and how we could better manage the asset and the expenses

17 associated with operating the asset.  And so, you know, I help

18 to oversee at a very high level the execution of the business

19 plan, which constitutes both the renovation of the property

20 keeping the construction on schedule and on budget, trying to

21 limit the amount of change orders we get from the particular

22 general contractor conducting those renovations, and then

23 making judgment calls regarding the third-party property

24 manager as to whether we need to push them to do a better job,

25 or sometimes we even have to, after trying unsuccessfully
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1 several times to get them to perform the way we think they

2 should be performing on a particular asset, then we'll

3 actually terminate our contract with them and hire a new

4 property manager in order to keep the assets trending the way

5 they need to.

6           And then at the -- once an asset, we've held it and

7 we've executed on the business plan and feel that given the

8 market timing it makes sense, then we'll look at potential

9 disposition and run the analysis on that, whether that makes

10 sense and what kind of return that will generate net to the

11 customers in the REIT and look at that.  So that's on the real

12 estate asset level.

13           And then I also deal with the REITs at a fund level

14 in terms of, you know, looking at the overall portfolio,

15 trying to create -- maintain, rather, diversification across

16 various geographies.  So there is a tension between when you

17 have several assets in one location, there are some economies

18 of scale that create a cost savings, which ultimately leads to

19 better returns for the customer, but then you also are

20 creating some concentration risk in that one particular

21 market.  And so we're always dealing with that tension of

22 trying to have a few investments in one location for economies

23 of scale, but not too many where the portfolio isn't

24 diversified across multiple markets.

25           The other thing I try to do as chief investment
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1 officer with respect to the REIT portfolios is make sure that

2 we also have a diversification in terms of the classes of

3 assets.  Although we're primarily in both REITs focused on

4 multifamily value-add projects, there's quite a range within

5 that of value-adds that require a very -- what we call heavy

6 lift, which means there's a lot of renovation work needs to

7 be done.

8           And as an asset gets older and goes into what we

9 call class C territory and older and vintage, then the lift

10 becomes heavier.  The amount of dollars that we need to put

11 into the asset to make it perform the way it needs to

12 increases, but it also increases the potential upside for the

13 customer.  So as your risk increases, you're looking for a

14 requisite amount of investment upside potential, you know, for

15 the customers in the REIT.

16           And so we're always trying to balance that out with

17 having some heavier lifts with some what we call core-plus

18 assets which don't require much renovation at all because

19 they're nicer, they're newer, they're more steady in their

20 cash flow, but they're not going to have as big of an upside

21 potential because you're paying more for them.  The cap rates

22 tend to be lower, which means you're paying a higher price per

23 unit when you're comparing apples to apples.

24      Q    And who do you supervise at DiversyFund?

25      A    Currently I supervise Isaac Dixon, who's the head of
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1 our real estate division, and then I also supervise an

2 investor relations/real estate paralegal Janice Deng.

3      Q    And what points of communication do you use to

4 communicate with the people you supervise?

5      A    Yeah, we use Slack, which is an internal

6 communication software application.  I would say that's -- for

7 written communications that's probably our biggest medium

8 internally.  Obviously we use our work e-mails, but those tend

9 to be more for when there's an outside-of-the-company party

10 involved in the communication chain.

11           We also confer quite a bit on Google Meets video

12 chat.  Slack also has a video application, a videoconferencing

13 application, but most of our set meetings internally are

14 through Google Meets.  Isaac Dixon is here locally in

15 San Diego, and so on rare occasion -- we don't really have

16 anyone going to the office very frequently, but on a rare

17 occasion we'll meet in person at the office.  Janice is

18 located in Brooklyn, New York, so all of our meetings are

19 through Google Meets.

20      Q    Okay.  And how about Craig Cecilio?  What forms of

21 communication do you use to communicate with him?

22      A    Yeah, a lot of Slack, a lot of Google Meets, some

23 e-mail.  We don't really text about substantive business, but

24 sometimes we'll text about, you know, "Hey, are you available

25 for a catchup call over the weekend?"
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1      Q    Okay.  What about other DiversyFund employees?  What

2 methods do you use to communicate with them?

3      A    It would be the same ones; Slack, Google Meets,

4 e-mail, in-person.  There's a handful of the leadership team

5 that I will text not for anything substantive regarding

6 business, but just, "Hey, thanks for your hard work," stuff

7 like that, or "Happy birthday," more informal stuff.

8      Q    Okay.  How many employees does DiversyFund have

9 currently?

10      A    I'm not sure about the exact count, but I think

11 we're somewhere around 19 or 20.

12      Q    And has that changed over time?

13      A    Certainly, yeah.  When we started out it was just me

14 and Craig and one employee.

15      Q    Who was the other -- who was the one employee?

16      A    First one was an employee from Craig's prior lending

17 business who I actually don't even know if she was technically

18 a W-2 of DiversyFund.  So she may not have been an employee,

19 number one.  She was helping to wind down his old business.

20 And then because we really didn't have a spot for her in the

21 new business, I think she -- I think that's why she got a new

22 job.

23           So I don't know technically if she was the first W-2

24 employee or if it was -- we had a CMO named Affif Siddique.

25 He would either have been the first, or -- I can't remember if
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1 we hired him first or -- there was a real estate analyst named

2 Yuri.  And I don't recall -- he was a young guy.  I don't

3 recall his last name.

4      Q    Can you spell the CMO's name?

5      A    Yeah.  Affif, A-F-F-I-F, Siddique.  I believe it's

6 spelled S-I-D-D-I-Q-U-E.

7      Q    Is he still an employee?

8      A    No.

9      Q    And, you know, the 19 to 20 employees, did they get

10 hired sort of in one batch or sort of at various points in

11 time?

12      A    All various points in time.

13      Q    And does DiversyFund have departments?

14      A    You mean by, like, divisions?  We have divisions.

15      Q    Divisions, yes.  Okay.  And what are the divisions?

16      A    We have real estate, we have marketing, we have

17 product, and we have tech, and we have customer service.

18      Q    And do you interact with all those divisions?

19      A    Very -- I interact on a very limited basis with

20 marketing, with tech limited, customer service very limited.

21 Since as a chief investment officer my side of the company is

22 the real estate and the investments, I tend to spend most of

23 my time focused on that side.  But we have, for example, a

24 weekly town hall meeting via Google Meets where everyone's on

25 there, and so that certainly constitutes an interaction.
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1      Q    Okay.  Does DiversyFund have committees?

2      A    Yeah, we have the investment committee.  I don't

3 know if you -- if they're named committees, but there's

4 probably other similar, you know, meeting groups.  Like, for

5 example, I know tech and marketing -- or product rather and

6 marketing meet frequently and work closely together.

7      Q    Okay.  And who's on the investment committee?

8      A    Investment committee is myself, Craig, our COO Fateh

9 Kamal, and Isaac Dixon, our head of real estate.  And then as

10 needed we'll, you know, less frequently invite other folks

11 from the real estate team if they need to make a presentation,

12 you know, on any particular asset, whether it's a potential

13 acquisition or an existing asset in the portfolio where we're

14 trying to dig into its performance.

15      Q    And how many people are on the real estate team?

16      A    Currently we have Isaac Dixon.  Colin -- I'm

17 blanking on his last name.  He's a new hire, analyst.  Ginger

18 Vyterna is our asset manager, and then we have a number of

19 third-party vendors that support what we do such as a

20 third-party construction manager, various property managers

21 depending on the particular asset.  Janice Deng will support

22 the real estate team as needed.  For example, when they're

23 trying to acquire a property or close a loan in connection

24 with a property, there's a lot of just getting, you know, like

25 Delaware Good Standing Certificates or creating org charts for
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1 the particular borrower entity structure, and so she'll help

2 the real estate team, I guess, on a part-time basis in that

3 regard.

4      Q    Can you spell those names, Ginger's and Janice's?

5      A    Yeah, Janice is J-A-N-I-C-E, Deng, D-E-N-G.  Ginger

6 is G-I-N-G-E-R, V-Y-T-E-R-N-A.

7      Q    And how often does the investment committee meet?

8      A    In general it's about every other week.

9      Q    And how do you meet; in person or do you have

10 meetings?

11      A    Yeah, mostly because Fateh is up in the Bay Area,

12 mostly it'll be via Google Meet.

13      Q    How are DiversyFund employees compensated?

14      A    All DiversyFund employees have a salary.  They are

15 also given a stock award with a -- they're given a grant of X

16 number of shares depending on their position that vests over a

17 four-year period.  Sometimes we'll make exception to that and

18 go a little bit shorter if it's part of a higher level --

19 hire's negotiation of their compensation package.

20           We, just by virtue of just being constrained over

21 the years, have rarely paid bonuses, but have done so, cash

22 bonuses on a limited basis just for really outstanding

23 performers that we're trying to retain.

24      Q    Okay.  And are -- the salaries, are those paid

25 through a payroll company?
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1      A    Yes.  Currently it's a company called Justworks.

2 They're -- I believe they're -- I can't remember the name of

3 it, but it's employ -- like an EPO, I think.  Something

4 employment, something organization.  So they do the payroll.

5 And so actually on our employees -- what you would refer to as

6 the W-2, it will actually say "Justworks" instead of

7 "DiversyFund, Inc."  It seems to be a fairly common practice.

8 But then they help share some of the liability in terms of the

9 employment insurance as an EPO.

10      Q    And the employees, they receive shares in

11 DiversyFund, Inc.; is that correct?

12      A    That's correct.

13      Q    Do they receive an interest in any other entity?

14      A    No.

15      Q    Do you have an ownership interest in DiversyFund,

16 Inc.?

17      A    I do.  And actually on the last question, at one

18 point -- I just recalled at one point maybe a year or so ago

19 the DiversyFund, Inc. on behalf of all the employees purchased

20 for them a $500 position in the REIT, the first REIT, just so

21 they could, all of them, experience the REIT as a customer,

22 especially for the marketing of the end product and tech

23 folks, we wanted them to -- without having to ask them to

24 invest their own money out of pocket, DiversyFund, Inc.

25 purchased that for them so they could be shareholders of the
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1 REIT.

2      Q    Okay.  And when was that?

3      A    I believe about a year, maybe two years ago.

4      Q    And do you know how many employees received an

5 interest in the REIT?

6      A    I think at that point we were maybe 15 people is my

7 guess.

8      Q    Okay.  And they all received a -- they each received

9 a $500 position?

10      A    I believe so.

11      Q    And that was the DF Growth REIT?

12      A    The first one, yeah, DF Growth REIT LLC.

13      Q    Right, REIT I.

14           And what is your ownership level in DiversyFund?

15      A    I don't know I don't -- I haven't looked at the

16 exact percentage for a while, but something in, like, the 25

17 percent or so is my guess.

18      Q    Has it changed over time?

19      A    Yes.  Every time we raise additional equity at the

20 parent level, then all existing positions, mine included, are

21 diluted in terms of your percentage interest.  So for that

22 reason it goes down over time.

23      Q    So when you started what was your ownership level?

24      A    When we started it was Craig and I 50/50.

25      Q    Okay.  And how many fund-raising rounds have you
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1 done?

2      A    We've -- for the parent co. we've raised capital --

3 I don't know if I'd characterize it as rounds.  Because unlike

4 a traditional venture capital raise where you are raising from

5 institutional venture capital investors and they're writing

6 you a check at one moment in time, and so that's a round, we

7 have actually gone out and raised capital through high net

8 worth investors.  And so it's been, you know, raising on an

9 as-needed basis over -- spread out over the course of four

10 years.  I think we started that in 2017 and have continuously

11 raised capital as needed.

12      Q    And how many investors does DiversyFund, Inc. have?

13      A    I believe setting aside our employees, you know,

14 their -- I guess their shares technically are profit sharings.

15 They're non-voting shares, a different class.  But for holders

16 of common shares, the same class that Craig and I hold, I

17 believe we have about 250, 260 shareholders.

18      Q    And how much capital has been raised?

19      A    Approximately 18 million for the parent company.

20      Q    Have you invested your own money in DiversyFund,

21 Inc.?

22      A    No.  I mean, no -- well, I put in some capital at

23 the beginning.  I don't recall how much.

24      Q    And what was your total compensation in all forms

25 for last year?

Page 62

1      A    Let's see, I had a salary increase last year around

2 I'd say August.  It was a 285K salary.  That was the only

3 compensation I received from DiversyFund.

4      Q    So you didn't receive any other forms of

5 compensation besides a salary?

6      A    Yeah, not from my DiversyFund affiliate.

7      Q    Okay.  Did you have compensation from other sources

8 last year besides from DiversyFund?

9      A    Yes, I had some third-party legal clients just doing

10 legal work, like, moonlighting on the side.

11      Q    And what type of legal work?

12      A    For one client I helped them set up a business and

13 advised them on how to -- it was a PR company -- how to get

14 negative business reviews removed.  So helped them set up so

15 they could do that for multiple clients.  It was a colleague

16 of mine.  And then for the other client there's various

17 clients doing, like, PPN work, joint venture agreements,

18 business contracts, stuff like that.

19      Q    Okay.  Are you self-employed for your legal work or

20 do you work for a legal company?

21      A    Yeah, self-employed in terms of, like, as a 1099.

22      Q    Okay.  And what was your total legal compensation

23 last year?

24      A    I think it was around 40K for 2021.

25      Q    And how many hours, like, in a given month would you
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1 say you spend on legal -- on that -- on private legal work?

2      A    It comes and goes in spurts.  Usually -- you know,

3 one of the reasons I do the work is because I can get it done

4 really quickly, just stay up late getting it turned quickly.

5 So -- I mean, there's many months where it would be zero and

6 then some months where, you know, could be, I don't know,

7 anywhere from 10 to 40 depending on the project and how long

8 it takes to get done.

9      Q    Okay.  Have you received any loans from DiversyFund

10 or related entities?

11      A    No.  Well, other than, like, a car loan?  No

12 business loans, but I do have a car loan, two car loans.

13      Q    Can you describe the car loans?

14      A    Yeah.  One is for Chevy Suburban 2015 --

15           MR. BHANDARI:  Let me just -- I think there may be a

16 misunderstanding.  Alan, are you -- are these loans from

17 DiversyFund or DiversyFund-related entities?  Because I think

18 that's all Will's asking about.

19           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, no.

20           MR. BHANDARI:  Not GM or somebody else is giving you

21 a car loan.

22           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, one is from Allied Bank.  The

23 other one is from some credit union in Utah.

24           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

25      Q    Okay.  Thank you.
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1           MR. BHANDARI:  Are you looking for that, Will?

2           THE WITNESS:  I never received any loans from

3 DiversyFund or any DiversyFund-related entity.

4           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

5      Q    Okay.  And any -- you haven't received a car or

6 anything l ke that from DiversyFund?

7      A    No.

8      Q    Okay.  Have you ever loaned money to DiversyFund or

9 any related entity?

10      A    No.

11      Q    And when was DF Growth REIT or REIT I, started?

12      A    DF Growth REIT I, I don't recall the exact date that

13 we formed the LLC.  It should have been somewhere around 2018.

14      Q    Okay.  And who came up with the idea for REIT I?

15      A    The idea for REIT I was collectively between Craig

16 and myself.  You know, from inception of DiversyFund, Inc. we

17 wanted to ultimately migrate into a fund under the Reg A

18 framework that would allow us to make available real estate

19 investments to nonaccredited investors to give them access to

20 them and help them build wealth away from the stock market.

21 So, yeah, then just over time we then hired counsel and were

22 able to start to put together the structure for REIT I.

23      Q    Okay.  And what is the business of REIT I?

24      A    Sorry, what was the question?

25      Q    What is the business of REIT I?
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1      A    The business of REIT I is to -- was to initially

2 acquire multifamily value-add properties and related

3 commercial real estate assets in order to create a curated

4 portfolio of real estate assets for the purpose of giving the

5 REIT customers exposure to institutional grade real estate

6 assets that they otherwise would not have access to.

7           And it's a growth REIT, which means in real estate

8 you have in terms of broad categories of what type of

9 investment it is, we either have growth investments, which are

10 focused more on long-term appreciation and less on cash flow

11 from the assets.  And then on the other side of the spectrum

12 you have income-based funds or asset plays where you're

13 focused more on building a portfolio or acquiring assets that

14 create -- generate income for the customer.  And then you have

15 a hybrid category that's in between, it's a combination.  So

16 the Growth REITs I business plan was always focused on being

17 on the growth side of the investment spectrum.

18      Q    Okay.  Do you have a title with REIT I?

19      A    No.

20      Q    What is your role with REIT I?

21      A    So REIT I has a sponsor, which is, I guess, another

22 word for real estate or, you know, investment manager.  And

23 that's an entity called DF Manager -- well, the manager of

24 REIT I, to be clear, is DF Manager LLC.  And then the sponsor,

25 which is more of the investment manager, is DiversyFund, Inc.
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1 And so by virtue of being the chief investment officer at

2 DiversyFund, Inc., the REIT looks to DiversyFund, Inc. to head

3 the acquisitions of assets and the asset management of those

4 assets and effectively run the portfolio and make the

5 investment decisions regarding that portfolio.  And so by

6 virtue of being an officer of DiversyFund, Inc., I'm involved

7 with managing that portfolio that REIT I owns.

8      Q    Okay.  Do you oversee the investments for REIT I?

9      A    Yes.

10      Q    Okay.

11      A    Yeah, the investments ultimately -- ultimately are

12 determined by the investment committee.  And so by virtue of

13 having a seat at the investment committee table, I help with

14 the other investment committee members to manage the decision

15 making regarding acquiring business plans, those kinds of

16 things.

17      Q    Does REIT I have any employees?

18      A    No.

19      Q    Okay.  Do all the -- do all DiversyFund employees

20 work on REIT I?

21      A    What do you mean by "work on"?

22      Q    Do any work related to REIT I.

23      A    I guess it depends on, you know, what you mean by

24 "work related."  So, for example, certainly our real estate

25 team, their work is related to both REITs, including REIT I.
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1 I guess the question is, like, as a marketing person, you

2 know, do they -- they're not doing real estate or

3 investment-related work towards REIT I.  Or the tech folks,

4 you know, so there's a little -- some of their activities are

5 related to marketing, you know, for DiversyFund in general and

6 the REIT in particular.  They're not doing any real

7 estate-related work.

8      Q    Okay.  Do you have an ownership interest in REIT I?

9      A    No.

10      Q    Does DiversyFund, Inc. have a direct ownership

11 interest in REIT I?

12      A    I wouldn't classify it as a direct ownership.  It

13 hasn't purchased any of the class A shares.  What DiversyFund,

14 Inc. does have with respect to REIT I is a contingent profit

15 interest by virtue of what we call a promoted interest, which

16 is in the offering statement that to the extent the REIT, you

17 know, clears certain investment hurdles, then DiversyFund,

18 Inc. as the sponsor will participate in some of those profits

19 generated by each asset disposition.

20      Q    Okay.  And what role does DF Manager LLC play?

21      A    DF Manager really doesn't play much role other than

22 in forming the REIT we had been advised by counsel to set up

23 DF Manager as an entity between the REIT and DiversyFund, Inc.

24           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Did you have a question, Vickie?

25 You don't?
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1           MR. BHANDARI:  Well, I think she's saying she can't

2 hear.

3           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.

4           MR. BHANDARI:  Would you like -- just want to dial

5 back in?

6           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Let's -- off the record at 11:31.

7           (Discussion off the record.)

8           MS. LEVIN:  If we could just go back on briefly, and

9 I apologize.  Let's go back on the record at 11:32 a.m.

10 Sorry, I was disconnected.  What I was trying to prevent was

11 from Mr. Lewis disclosing any possibly privileged information

12 relating to advice received from counsel.  So that's what I

13 was trying to do.  So I don't know if you guys still need a

14 break or if you want to keep going.

15           MR. BHANDARI:  It probably doesn't make sense to

16 break just yet, but maybe we should talk a little bit about

17 the lunch break.  So I think we've been going -- 10 -- 10:47

18 we came back on, Will.  So may be a little early to break now

19 for lunch.  What do you think?

20           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yeah, I think we can continue, if

21 that's all right with you.

22           MR. BHANDARI:  Yeah, that's fine.  Maybe another 45

23 minutes or so, l ke 12:15, around then, 12:20.

24           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sure.  Around then.

25           MR. BHANDARI:  Okay.  That sounds good.  Okay.  Does
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1 that work with everyone?

2           THE WITNESS:  Yeah.

3           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yeah.

4           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

5      Q    Okay.  And, you know, thanks for the reminder.  Just

6 we are not asking you to reveal any privileged information.

7      A    Got it.

8      Q    Does DF Manager have a bank account?

9      A    No.

10      Q    Does it receive any fees?

11      A    No.

12      Q    And how much money has REIT I raised from investors?

13      A    I think approximately somewhere around 70 million.

14      Q    And how many investors does REIT I have?

15      A    I don't know the exact count breakdown between the

16 two REITs, but REIT I has at least -- at least 26,000.

17      Q    And those are, like, 26,000 unique or different

18 investors?

19      A    Mm-hmm.  Correct.

20      Q    And for DF Growth REIT II LLC, which I'll refer to

21 as "REIT II," when did REIT II start?

22      A    I don't recall the exact date we formed the entity,

23 but it would have been around the end of 2020 or early 2021.

24      Q    And who came up with the idea for REIT II?

25      A    It was also just a collective decision that as
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1 REIT I was nearing the end of its time raising capital and the

2 portfolio was to the level that we wanted it to be, it made

3 sense to start looking at the next entity.

4      Q    Okay.  And what is the business of REIT II?

5      A    The business of REIT II is very similar to REIT I.

6 It primarily focuses on acquiring multifamily value-add assets

7 with the ability to invest in other commercial-related assets.

8 And similar to REIT I, the value-add entails finding assets

9 that have some upside potential with respect to either

10 conducting renovations on the property or improving the

11 management of that property in terms of saving on expenses.

12           Or sometimes there's a component called "lost

13 lease," which means without even conducting any renovations,

14 the current owner and property manager of the property are not

15 renting out units at the current market rate.  And so in those

16 cases upon acquisition you can go in and immediately start

17 increasing rents to market rate without even having to perform

18 any renovations on those units.  And so there is some upside

19 for the customer that way.

20      Q    Okay.  Does REIT II have any employees?

21      A    No.

22      Q    And do you have an ownership interest in REIT II?

23      A    No.

24      Q    And how much money has REIT II raised?

25      A    Approximately $10 million, I believe.
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1      Q    And how many investors does REIT II have?

2      A    Not quite sure.  My guess would be maybe

3 around 4,000.

4      Q    Okay.  So these questions will continue to focus on

5 DF Growth REIT II, which I'll refer to REIT II.  So I'm just

6 asking about REIT II.  Do you understand that?

7      A    Yes.

8      Q    Okay.  When did you start soliciting investors for

9 REIT II?

10      A    What do you mean by "solicit"?

11      Q    When did you solicit investors to invest in REIT II?

12      A    In terms of -- you mean -- by "solicit" do you mean

13 when did we start offering the sale of securities for REIT II?

14      Q    Yes.

15      A    Okay.  So from my perspective, when we filed the

16 offering statement and when the SEC qualified it, it

17 immediately was broadcast to the public that we are now

18 offering securities in REIT II.  And so that would be when the

19 offering started was the moment it was qualified.  And that

20 was, I guess, the moment that the qualification filing was

21 published by the SEC on the sec.gov website.

22           You know, we've had in the past vendors reach us

23 from just something as simple as a public filing coming on the

24 SEC website.  So there's certainly always the possibility that

25 an institutional investor could come and see that and start
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1 the conversation that leads to an investment in REIT II.

2      Q    Okay.  And how are investors solicited for REIT II?

3      A    Multiple ways.  We're always looking for

4 institutional investors who can write bigger checks.  You

5 know, for example, could write, say, a 5 to $10 million check,

6 which, you know, will allow us to deploy that and increase the

7 portfolio size much quicker and accelerate that process.

8           We also solicit investors through the website.

9 Those tend to be less -- you know, not institutional

10 investors, but more of the nonaccredited or accredited

11 individual retail investors who will come through that

12 channel.

13      Q    Does REIT II have any institutional investors?

14      A    We have not been successful to date getting any

15 institutional investors yet for REIT II, but we'll

16 certainly -- certainly we'll always be interested in taking on

17 institutional dollars when the offering's -- when an offering

18 is opened.

19      Q    Okay.  And how about REIT I?  Does REIT I have any

20 institutional investors?

21      A    No, REIT I doesn't have any institutional investors

22 either.

23      Q    Okay.  So back to REIT II, you mentioned investors

24 are solicited through the website.  Are there any other

25 methods used to solicit investors?
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1      A    Yes, for institutional investors it's more of an

2 outreach where you're trying to reach out to them, you know,

3 through e-mail, through LinkedIn, you know, through phone

4 calls, through networking in order to get to a decision-maker

5 who you can then get to look at the potential of investing in

6 the REIT.

7      Q    And who has conducted that outreach to institutional

8 investors?

9      A    It's been myself, Craig has done some of that.  I

10 probably have put in a lot more time into that as the

11 investment -- chief investment manager -- or officer.  I had

12 at one point an associate named Kevin Mawby, who would

13 help me also do research and to try to identify potential

14 institutional investors for outreach.  He would go through a

15 lot of different databases and various investor lists out

16 there.

17           Also, to a lesser extent sometimes Isaac Dixon, our

18 head of real estate, will also be looking out for potential

19 institutional investors just by virtue of having contacts in

20 the real estate investment industry from his career.

21      Q    Okay.  And what about noninstitutional investors?

22 How have they been solicited aside from the website?

23      A    In terms of retail investors, is that what you're

24 referring to by "noninstitutional."

25      Q    Yes, any others?
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1      A    Yeah, the main way -- this is really marketing,

2 which I don't spend much time with, but my understanding is

3 that the main way that they try to solicit investor -- retail

4 investors for either of the REITs has been by driving traffic

5 to the website and then when someone comes to the website,

6 they create an account, and then some choose to invest at that

7 time.  Others will just create an account to kind of see what

8 the back-end portal experience looks like and learn more about

9 DiversyFund and the REIT.

10           And so I do know that the marketing team will then

11 send out e-mails to folks who have created an account but

12 haven't invested for the purpose of trying to incentivize them

13 to come back to the website and make an investment at a later

14 date.

15      Q    And who drafts those e-mails?

16      A    I don't know.  I don't know who on -- in marketing

17 does that.

18      Q    Okay.  Do you review those e-mails?

19      A    No.

20           BY MS. LEVIN:

21      Q    And just to go back briefly, how does marketing

22 drive people to the website, like you said?

23      A    I don't know.  I mean, I -- I think they've done

24 various things over the years.  What I do know is they use

25 pay-per-click advertising, some --
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1           Sorry, Will, do you have something?

2           MS. LEVIN:  I think he's --

3           THE WITNESS:  Will, did you need to talk?  You put

4 your hand up.

5           MR. ROSENTHAL:  (No response.)

6           THE WITNESS:  Will, can you hear us?

7           MS. LEVIN:  Will, we can't hear you.

8           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sorry, I got disconnected briefly.

9           THE WITNESS:  Okay.

10           MR. ROSENTHAL:  I apologize.

11           THE WITNESS:  No problem.

12           Yeah, sorry, Vickie, could you reask the question?

13           BY MS. LEVIN:

14      Q    Oh, I think you answered it and we'll just continue.

15 You said that you weren't sure, but that there -- you think

16 there might be some pay-per-click advertising --

17      A    Yeah.

18      Q    -- is that correct?

19      A    Yep.

20      Q    Thank you.

21           MS. LEVIN:  Go ahead, Will.

22           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

23      Q    And does -- do you use social media for REIT II?

24      A    I don't know.  I know that DiversyFund, Inc. has a

25 social media account.  I've not checked it in years, so I
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1 don't know to what extent it is being used, whether for

2 REIT II or just for general DiversyFund matters.

3      Q    Okay.  How about calls to investors?  Do you solicit

4 investors for REIT II that way?

5      A    No, at least for REIT II.  Making calls for

6 institutional investors.  But the marketing team, as far as

7 retail goes, they are not making any calls.

8      Q    Okay.  And what about text messages to potential

9 investors?

10      A    I don't know.

11      Q    What's been your role in soliciting investors for

12 REIT II?

13      A    My role has been limited to just trying to solicit

14 institutional investors for REIT II.

15      Q    Okay.  And have you made calls to institutional

16 investors for REIT II?

17      A    Yes.

18      Q    About how many?

19      A    I'd say for REIT II, you know, maybe about five to

20 ten calls.

21      Q    Okay.  And when did those calls occur?

22      A    I don't recall exactly when they occurred, but it

23 would have been fairly early on after the qualification, which

24 would have been early February 2021.  That's when it was

25 started.  And just as time permits, you know, I would try to
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1 carve out time in my schedule for what I would term "capital

2 outreach."

3      Q    And what type of institutional investors have you

4 been talking to?

5      A    I would always look for any combination of, like, a

6 family office.  Those are always good investors, although they

7 tend to take a longer investment horizon approach than the

8 REIT.  Some of them prefer ten years or longer whereas the

9 REIT's a shorter investment horizon.

10           And then the other institutional category would be

11 real estate private equity funds that could potentially

12 invest.  Sometimes -- we'd always be looking with Kevin

13 Mawby's help for ultra-high net worth investors who would be

14 more in the family office category who are just able to write

15 a bigger check, you know, of at least 1 million, but in

16 general I was targeting a 5 to $10 million check from an

17 institutional investor.

18      Q    Okay.  And do you use any, like, marketing materials

19 or other materials to communicate with institutional

20 investors?

21      A    For REIT II?

22      Q    For REIT II, yes.

23      A    Yeah, we'd start with the initial conversation and

24 usually it's just more talking through what our investment

25 strategy is and sometimes talking through more of what REIT I
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1 had done because REIT II didn't have any assets when we first

2 started that outreach, hadn't acquired any assets yet.  So you

3 defer more to what your previous funds have done.  In our case

4 that would be REIT I.

5      Q    Okay.  Do you use, like, PowerPoint presentations or

6 other materials like that?

7      A    I don't think -- I don't recall creating any

8 PowerPoint for REIT II.  I think it's more just walking

9 through, you know, REIT I's portfolio just in terms of

10 location of the assets, in terms of size of the assets, in

11 terms of how we see them tracking from an insurance

12 standpoint, and then just talking through the fact that

13 REIT II has a similar business plan and won't be -- won't

14 represent much of a departure from what REIT I -- REIT I's

15 portfolio has already accomplished.

16      Q    And current REIT II investors, how are they

17 communicated with?

18      A    I mean, they're -- I don't know if they're getting

19 e-mails from marketing.  Sometimes they'll call into customer

20 service if they have a question about their -- about the

21 website, about logging in and about the investment, how long

22 is it going to take to get their money back.  So there is some

23 communication.

24           And I think customer service does the majority of

25 their communication through e-mail and not through phone
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1 calls.  I think from a scaling standpoint since we have so

2 many investors, they try to handle almost all of their

3 communications through e-mail with customers.  I assume on

4 rare occasion they'll probably pick up the phone if someone

5 really is frustrated or needs -- is having a hard time

6 communicating through e-mail.

7           There's communication done through the back-end

8 portal where, you know, a customer will get updates on, for

9 example, when either REIT acquires additional property,

10 sometimes there will be information on the respective

11 properties or the markets they're located in just in terms of,

12 you know, third-party data that we can put up there about

13 market appreciation.

14           And then just recently I think -- oh, we have an

15 app.  We've had an app for a while, but we did an update

16 recently and that allows some communication with the REIT

17 customers as well.  I believe we have some push notifications

18 in connection with the app for customer communications, too.

19      Q    And when you talk about the communications portal,

20 can you describe what that is?

21      A    Yes.  So the -- if you go to diversyfund.com, what

22 you're initially seeing is, you know, like any typical

23 front-end website.  I believe ours is run on WordPress.  And

24 then once you log in to your account, then although you're

25 still on the diversyfund.com domain, my understanding from the
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1 tech folks is that you're now -- once you log in you're now on

2 the back-end portal, which is a different tech framework than

3 WordPress.

4           And that's where the investors' investment documents

5 are stored, tax documents are stored.  That's where they'll

6 see, for example, a statement about their investment, the date

7 and amount of any investments they've made, updates on the

8 portfolio and underlying properties.  That tends -- my

9 understanding is that that happens on the back-end portal for

10 the most part.

11      Q    That information about the properties that REIT II

12 has acquired, who drafts that information that investors see?

13      A    I'm not sure exactly who would draft that.  It's

14 most likely someone on the marketing side.

15      Q    Okay.  Do you communicate with the marketing team

16 about what information regarding properties to communicate to

17 investors?

18      A    Very rarely.  They usually -- you know, marketing is

19 under Craig's side.  And so my assumption -- I do know that at

20 times the real estate division, you know, might give them --

21 if they're looking, for example -- and I don't even know that

22 this is what we're publishing on the portal, but if they

23 wanted to know what was the occupancy rate at a certain

24 property, then they would have to reach out to someone in

25 real estate just to get that number.
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1      Q    And what documents do REIT II investors receive?

2      A    They receive the offering statement and the

3 supplements and amendments.  They receive a -- I call it a

4 subscription agreement, but the title is an investment

5 agreement.  But it's the contract by which they are agreeing

6 to purchase shares in the REIT and the REIT is agreeing to

7 sell shares to them.  They receive the REIT LLC agreement that

8 governs the distributions and shared profits and voting and

9 those kinds of matters.

10           And then REIT II I know that we have the RA up.

11 They receive the RA client agreement and the related privacy

12 policy and the client relationship agreement.  I'm trying to

13 think.  I think there's one other -- one other thing they

14 receive, but I don't recall.

15      Q    Okay.

16      A    The ADV brochure part 2.

17      Q    Okay.  Do they receive account statements?

18      A    What do you mean by "account statements"?

19      Q    Like a monthly account statement l ke you would get

20 from a brokerage firm.  Do they receive statements like that?

21      A    I believe they -- on the portal there it displays --

22 I'm not sure if it's like a pdf statement that you could

23 download, but it displays a record of their investments.  Some

24 folks invest more than once.  And so any investments, the

25 amount, the date -- to the extent a dividend is given, you
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1 know, the amount and the date.  That should be all displayed

2 on the portal.

3      Q    I think you mentioned that the RIA, client agreement

4 and that being up and running.  Can you describe that a little

5 more?

6      A    Yeah, it's just a -- a client agreement for the RIA

7 whereby someone would, you know, be investing their dollars

8 with the registered investment advisor.  And there's a related

9 ADV brochure that discloses potential fees from related

10 parties.  The RIA does not charge any fees by itself, but then

11 by virtue of the affiliation has to disclose all potential

12 fees related to REIT II, for example.

13      Q    Okay.  And does the -- the RIA is registered

14 investment advisor, correct?

15      A    Correct.

16      Q    Does the RIA have any current clients?

17      A    Yes.

18      Q    How many?

19      A    I don't know the exact number, but, you know,

20 several thousand.

21      Q    When did those start?

22      A    That started in October when the RIA was approved.

23      Q    October 2021?

24      A    Yes.

25      Q    Okay.  And how do -- how do individuals decide to
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1 become an RIA client?

2      A    Just all the -- all the folks going forward who come

3 to the website and want to make an investment will become RIA

4 clients going forward.

5      Q    Okay.  So are the REIT II investors, are they also

6 RIA clients?

7      A    Most of them, yes.

8      Q    Can they choose to be sort of one or both, to be --

9 to invest in REIT II or be an RIA client, one or the other?

10      A    No.  Once the RIA was approved, then anyone who

11 comes in, you know, has to go through being an RIA client in

12 order to invest in REIT II.

13      Q    Okay.  And the RIA --

14           BY MS. LEVIN:

15      Q    And why is that?  What --

16           MS. LEVIN:  Oh, sorry, Will.

17           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Go ahead.

18           BY MS. LEVIN:

19      Q    I'm just wondering why is that.  Why was the RIA

20 started and why are REIT II clients asked to be RIA clients as

21 they invest in REIT II?

22           MR. BHANDARI:  If you can -- if you can address that

23 without disclosing any communications with counsel.

24           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, a big reason for that is that as

25 we have an auto-invest feature where a good portion of our
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1 clients will say, you know, "On a monthly basis I want you to

2 take," say, "$500 from my bank account and invest it in the

3 REIT."  And the -- one of the issues we were trying to solve

4 for is that, for example, when REIT I fills up, then you would

5 have to go -- without an RIA discretionary authority, you

6 would have to go back to the client and sign a new paperwork

7 in order to get them to move that auto-invest feature to the

8 next offering, whatever that is.  In our case it was REIT II.

9           And so as the company was anticipating scaling over

10 the years, we wanted the ability to help build a more

11 diversified portfolio for the customer so that in the future

12 when we anticipated having, say, five REITs and maybe even

13 some funds outside of real estate dealing with other

14 alternative investments, to really create a very balanced

15 alternative investment portfolio for customers, the goal was

16 to, by virtue of the RIA's discretionary authority, be able to

17 take customer's auto-invest and based on the customer's input

18 in their initial KYC questions be able to craft a very

19 diversified portfolio with their auto-invested dollars without

20 having to go back to them and bother them every time with

21 paperwork.  Because our customers have always complained

22 anytime they have to sign stuff after the initial signing.

23 So --

24           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

25      Q    Okay.  And do the RIA clients, do they invest in

Page 85

1 anything else aside from the REIT II?

2      A    No.  Right now it was just while the REIT II

3 offering was open, someone would come in, they become an RIA

4 client and the single offering that we had available to them

5 was the REIT II.

6      Q    Okay.  And the RIA does not charge any fees; is that

7 accurate?

8      A    Correct.

9      Q    And what type of RIA is it?

10      A    What do you mean by "what type"?

11      Q    I guess can you describe how the RIA operates in a

12 little more detail?

13      A    I -- I don't know if this is what you're referring

14 to, but the RIA is an internet advisor I think is what the

15 term of art is.  So -- we don't have any registered reps

16 working the phones.  It's just customers come to the website

17 and make a decision to invest without any human help.

18      Q    Okay.  So they don't meet with, like, an advisor

19 representative?

20      A    Correct.

21      Q    And what role do you play with the RIA?

22      A    With the RIA I am the licensed compliance officer.

23      Q    And what are your responsibilities with the RIA?

24      A    Just to oversee the compliance, you know, making

25 sure that all the different categories in terms of the
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1 compliance manual, you know, make sure files are ready so that

2 when we have our first examination, that we're ready to

3 respond and have the appropriate customer documentation in

4 place for those purposes.

5      Q    Are there others that work on compliance for the

6 RIA?

7      A    We have a -- our third-party firm called "Foreside,"

8 and it's a service provider in the RIA space for compliance.

9 And so because I'm not a -- I don't have a big compliance

10 background, we try to outsource as many of the compliance work

11 to them, between them and just -- we have just specific RIA

12 counsel that also helps advise as regards to compliance.

13      Q    Okay.  Who are the principals of the RIA?

14      A    Principals, I mean -- do you mean, like, owners?

15      Q    Yes, who are the owners?

16      A    So the owner is -- of the RIA is DiversyFund, Inc.

17 DiversyFund, Inc. owns 100 percent of the RIA.

18      Q    Okay.  Does the RIA have employees?

19      A    No -- well, I wouldn't classify myself as an

20 employee, but -- because I'm not receiving any wage from the

21 RIA, but it's just myself.

22      Q    And who else does work for the RIA?

23      A    No one at DiversyFund.  Just myself with the support

24 of Foreside.

25      Q    And does DiversyFund -- you mentioned it has a
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1 website.  And what is the website address?

2      A    It is diversyfund.com.

3      Q    And what's on the website generally?

4      A    Information about DiversyFund.  There's blog posts,

5 there's information about -- well, I don't know if we still

6 have information about REIT I on the front-facing website.

7 Certainly for REIT I customers on the back-end portal they

8 would have access to REIT I information.  And then there's

9 information on the front-facing portal about REIT II,

10 multifamily investments in general.  There's one page that has

11 information on the team.  I don't know how updated it is as

12 far as our current employees.

13      Q    And who is the intended audience for the website?

14      A    I don't know that we have -- I would call it an

15 intended audience, it's just whoever comes to the website, we

16 try to make available information about the company and about

17 what we're doing investment wise, what our strategy is.

18      Q    Is it targeted at prospective investors or current

19 investors or both?

20      A    I don't know that I would classify it as targeted.

21 I mean, we have both prospective investors and current

22 investors that come to the website.

23      Q    Okay.  And what role do you play with the website?

24      A    Really no role with the website.  That's handled by

25 the tech folks certainly.  Code, anything that needs to be
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1 coded.  Product, you know, will use data to determine what

2 customers like to see on the website.  I think marketing plays

3 a role with some of the materials on the website such as blog

4 posts.  I think some of the content that's on the website is

5 created by the marketing department.

6      Q    Okay.  And who reviews the content on the website?

7      A    I don't know how the process works.  So as far as

8 all the folks that would be part of reviewing that, I'm not

9 familiar with that.

10      Q    Do you review what's on the website?

11      A    Very rarely.  On a rare occasion I'll poke around,

12 but I'm not part of the formal review process.

13      Q    Okay.  How often would you say you review the

14 website?

15      A    Oh, I mean, not even -- less frequently than

16 monthly.  It's very -- very rare.  I'm pretty busy with the

17 investment side, so --

18      Q    Okay.  And who has final approval of the website

19 content?

20      A    That I don't know.  The probably differs depending

21 on whether it's front end, blog post, portal.  Depends on what

22 division is dealing with that.

23      Q    Okay.  And who can make changes to the website?

24      A    I think there is some -- I mean, the tech folks

25 certainly can.  I think marketing -- I think there is some
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1 functionality where -- like, I think marketing can make a blog

2 post without having to ask tech to do it.  I think the website

3 allows for that.  So I think those -- and then product, the

4 product team in connection with the tech team probably are

5 making -- are making changes to the website as well.

6      Q    And how often does the website get changed?

7      A    I don't know the frequency.  I mean, technically

8 anytime you post a new update on the portal, that would

9 constitute a change.  If you do any blog post, that would

10 constitute a change.  But I'm not familiar with how frequently

11 those changes are happening.

12      Q    Do you save each version of the website?

13      A    I'm sorry, what was the question, Will?

14      Q    Does each version of the website get saved?

15      A    No.  We actually, in connection with the discovery,

16 inquired about that and there's not a mechanism by which the

17 prior versions of the website are being captured or archived.

18      Q    Are they -- are they currently being saved?

19      A    No, I don't -- they don't have a -- based on the

20 protocols they're using, they say they don't have that

21 ability.

22           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Vickie or Jen or Stephen, do you

23 have any questions?

24           MS. LEVIN:  I don't have any right now.

25           MR. KAM:  None from me.
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1           MS. BARRY:  I have a few if you don't mind.

2           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sure.  Go ahead.

3           BY MS. BARRY:

4      Q    Mr. Lewis, you talked about when you're going --

5 when you're requesting or soliciting institutional investors

6 you talked about family offices and real estate private equity

7 funds, things of that nature.  So in terms of REIT II, you

8 discussed -- or you said you may have reached out to 10 to 15

9 institutional investors.  Do you recall who they were?

10      A    I think -- I think it was more five to ten --

11      Q    Oh, sorry.

12      A    -- but I don't recall the exact number either.  I

13 don't recall any at this time.  I'd have to go look at

14 records.

15      Q    Okay.  And in terms of -- is it correct that there

16 are no institutional investors for REIT II?  And also there

17 are no institutional investors in REIT I; is that right?

18      A    To my knowledge, yeah.  We -- there are some

19 entities that have invested in both, so it's hard to say

20 whether or not that's -- would be classified as an

21 institutional investor, but I'm not aware of any, at least

22 from my own outreach.

23      Q    And just to clarify, in terms of marketing, that is

24 not a division that you are overseeing?

25      A    Correct.
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1      Q    And is that something that Mr. Cecillio oversees?

2      A    Well, the head of marketing is a gentleman named

3 Navid Firoozi, and then Craig supervisors him.

4      Q    And when -- in terms of retail investors, then, I

5 thought -- and correct me if I'm wrong.  I thought I

6 understood that the website was the primary way that investors

7 learned about REIT I and -- or REIT II and REIT I.

8      A    For retail investors?

9      Q    Yes.

10      A    Yeah, my understanding is that marketing is trying

11 to drive traffic to the website, and then once they're at the

12 website the website tries to explain what the REIT -- REIT I

13 or REIT II is focusing on.

14      Q    Okay.  Those are the questions I had.  Thank you so

15 much.

16           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

17      Q    Okay.  Did all the investments in REIT II go through

18 the website?

19      A    I don't know.  I mean, I assume the majority.  I

20 believe in the past with REIT I there were some manual

21 transactions.  In the past every once in a while you'd have

22 someone who wanted to send in a wire, you know, rather than go

23 through the automated ACH process.  I have no idea whether

24 that's -- any of those exceptions have been made for REIT II

25 or if they were all ACH transactions through our third-party
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1 escrow.

2           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.  Stephen, did you have

3 anything?

4           MR. KAM:  No, nothing.

5           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.  Off the record at 12:15 p.m.

6           (Whereupon, at 12:15 p.m., a luncheon recess was

7 taken.)

8
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1               A F T E R N O O N   S E S S I O N

2                                               (1:17 p.m.)

3          EXAMINATION           BY COUNSEL FOR THE SEC (RESUMED)

4           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 1:17 p.m.

5           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

6      Q    Mr. Lewis, can you describe, how is the RIA --

7 the investor disclosed to clients?

8      A    How is it disclosed to clients?

9      Q    Yes.

10      A    What do you mean by that?  L ke how does it

11 disclose its fees or --

12      Q    How do clients learn about the RIA?

13      A    Through the checkout process when they're determined

14 to invest, you know, with DiversyFund, then they're presented

15 with the RIA client agreement and the related documentation as

16 part of that checkout process.

17      Q    And what is the related documentation?

18      A    The ADV brochure part 2, the form -- I can't

19 remember the exact name -- the client relationship agreement,

20 the client agreement itself for the RIA.  And at the same time

21 they're also presented with the offering statement for the

22 REIT II, the LLC agreement and subscription agreement for

23 REIT II as well.

24      Q    Okay.  So they don't learn about the RIA until the

25 checkout process; is that accurate?
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1      A    I don't know if that's accurate.  There -- it might

2 be described elsewhere in the website.  So I couldn't speak on

3 behalf of when a customer first learned about it.

4      Q    Okay.

5      A    But certainly at least have to learn about it at

6 that point before completing an investment.

7      Q    Are there any places on the website that describe

8 the RIA?

9      A    I'm not sure.

10      Q    Okay.

11           BY MS. LEVIN:

12      Q    Are there any places in the offering circular or in

13 an offering circular supplemental for REIT II that describe

14 the RIA?

15      A    For REIT II?  The REIT II --

16      Q    For REIT II.

17      A    -- circular and supplements just describe the

18 REIT II securities offering.

19      Q    Okay.  Thank you.

20           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

21      Q    Okay.  Aside from counsel, so not asking about

22 counsel, did you receive advice on setting up the RIA from

23 anyone?

24      A    Not -- not aside from counsel.

25      Q    Okay.  Did you talk with any compliance consultants
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1 prior to starting the RIA?

2      A    We had spoken to Foreside.  I don't know at what

3 point in that process.  I don't recall speaking to them about

4 setting it up, though.  It was more just what services they

5 could offer, and I don't recall if it was before or after the

6 RIA was officially up and running.

7      Q    Okay.  Do you know when you started -- around when

8 you started talking with Foreside?

9      A    I don't.  I have to check records.

10      Q    Okay.  What's -- is there a full title for Foreside?

11      A    A title?

12      Q    The full name.

13      A    I don't know the full name.  It's just Foreside all

14 one word, F-O-R-E-S-I-D-E.

15      Q    And who do you -- who have you communicated with at

16 Foreside?

17      A    There's -- the lead liaison there is a woman by the

18 name of Lisa Evans.

19      Q    And what role does Foreside play?

20      A    We -- we're trying to outsource as much of the

21 compliance as possible, so they maintain a compliance

22 calendar, they have, you know, reminders about recordkeeping

23 they -- I think they submit the ADV forms.  You know, we had

24 to do an update.  They're the ones who submit -- press the

25 button to file those.
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1      Q    Okay.  And so when you say "outsource compliance,"

2 you're referring to the RIA compliance; is that correct?

3      A    Yep.

4      Q    Okay.  And so the Foreside, they provide -- do they

5 provide general compliance advice to the RIA?

6      A    I don't know what you mean by "advice."  I would say

7 they provide compliance services.

8      Q    Okay.  So what are their services?

9      A    I would have to reference their menu of items that

10 we have in our agreement with them.

11      Q    Okay.  So you mentioned the compliance calendar.

12 What's on the compliance calendar?

13      A    I'd have to refer to it.  I wouldn't want to speak

14 without referring to it.

15      Q    Okay.  Did Foreside provide advice on the client --

16 the RIA client agreement?

17      A    What do you mean by "advice"?

18      Q    Did they review the client agreement and, you know,

19 recommend any changes or anything to the client agreement?

20      A    I don't believe so.  I think that was all done with

21 RIA counsel.

22      Q    Okay.  And does the Foreside, do they draft the form

23 ADV or who drafted the ADV?

24      A    That was drafted by counsel.

25      Q    Did -- has Foreside reviewed the form ADV?
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1      A    I don't know if they reviewed it.  It goes -- once

2 counsel drafts it, the information goes into their system so

3 they can press the button to file it.

4           BY MS. LEVIN:

5      Q    Mr. Lewis, do you review the form ADV after counsel

6 drafts it but before it gets submitted?

7      A    Yeah, I read the -- you know, everything they

8 drafted.

9      Q    So if you had any changes to it, you would have made

10 those at that point before it gets submitted?  You review and

11 approve the form ADV; is that fair?

12      A    I reviewed and -- yeah, prior to submitting it said

13 that, you know, most of the changes -- all the changes that I

14 could see we needed to make, to make it as accurate as

15 possible based on my knowledge at the time, seemed to be in

16 there.

17      Q    And who's the counsel that drafts it?

18      A    A firm named McCarter English.

19      Q    McCarter English.  Where are they located?

20      A    They have offices everywhere, so I'm not sure --

21      Q    Okay.

22      A    -- where the counsel is located.

23      Q    Okay.  And do you work with a specific attorney

24 there?

25      A    Yes.  Yeah.
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1      Q    And that person's name is?

2      A    Escapes me right now.  I'd have to go back.

3      Q    Okay.  Thank you.

4           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

5      Q    And the RIA client agreement, did you review and

6 approve that document?

7      A    I reviewed it and made sure that to the best of my

8 understanding, you know, it had the items that we needed in

9 there.

10      Q    And who drafted the compliance manual?

11      A    The compliance manual, I don't know to the extent

12 that Foreside worked with Carter and English, but I think

13 Foreside played a big role in preparing that.

14      Q    Do you conduct compliance reviews for the RIA?

15      A    Yeah.  Yeah, we're starting to do compliance

16 reviews.

17      Q    And who conducts those reviews?

18      A    I'm scheduled to do those with the help of -- the

19 help of Foreside and McCarter.

20      Q    When did REIT II begin operating?

21      A    What do you mean by "operating"?

22      Q    When did it been its operations?

23      A    Yeah, I just -- the issue is what do you mean by

24 "operations"?  Do you mean purchasing securities?  Do you mean

25 purchasing properties?  Do you mean -- I just want to be clear
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1 on --

2      Q    When did you start operating anywhere for REIT II?

3      A    Well, by "operations" if you mean acquiring

4 properties, our first property was acquired for REIT II

5 December of 2021.

6      Q    And when was REIT II qualified?

7      A    I believe the date was January 29, 2021.

8      Q    Okay.  And what happened in the two days after

9 January 29, 2021?

10      A    What do you mean by "what happened"?

11      Q    What did REIT II do in those two days?

12      A    Other than just commencing the offering, it had not

13 raised any dollars through the offering during those two days,

14 so it could not buy any property until a later date once it

15 had raised equity.  So really just it was conducting the

16 offering.

17      Q    And how did it conduct the offering?

18      A    By virtue of the offering statement being qualified

19 and published on the SEC website, it broadcast to the

20 entire -- entire world via the internet, made it so the

21 offering was now available so we could potentially get an

22 investor through that channel.

23           BY MS. LEVIN:

24      Q    Was it -- when was the first time REIT II was

25 described on diversyfund.com?
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1      A    That I don't know, what date it first went up.

2      Q    Okay.  Do you have a rough idea?

3      A    No, I don't, because there's so many different

4 avenues that REIT II could be mentioned, whether it's a blog

5 post or a website page or the back-end portal.  I would have

6 to defer to marketing and tech.

7      Q    Okay.  So marketing and tech to have records of

8 that?

9      A    They might.  I can't speak for them.

10      Q    Okay.  Thank you.

11           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

12      Q    And when did REIT II sales start?

13      A    The first sale of security, I believe, was around

14 the end of August or beginning of 20 -- or September 2021

15 would have been the first sale.

16      Q    And if this offering was qualified in January 2021,

17 why didn't sales start until August or September?

18      A    We had our first sale, you know, at the end of

19 August or beginning of September.  As far as why, you'd have

20 to ask the institutional investors or other investors why they

21 didn't invest prior to that.

22      Q    Okay.  So what was -- before August what was being

23 done to solicit investors?

24      A    I don't know what was being done as far as the

25 website.  What I do know is that through my efforts with the
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1 support of Kevin Mawby and -- I don't recall -- I can't speak

2 for Craig, but I was certainly reaching out to potential

3 institutional investors for a 5 to $10 million check.

4      Q    And when did you first reach out to institutional

5 investors about REIT II?

6      A    Yeah, we mentioned this earlier.  I don't know the

7 exact date.  I'd have to check my records.

8      Q    Okay.  Are sales of REIT II ongoing?

9      A    Right now the offering is currently stopped.

10      Q    When did REIT II sales stop?

11      A    I don't know the exact date, but around January 27.

12 There may have been a couple of --

13      Q    Okay.  Did --

14      A    -- that lagged behind that.

15      Q    And that's 2022?

16      A    Correct.

17      Q    Did any investors reach out to REIT II prior to

18 August 2021?

19      A    What do you mean by "reached out to REIT II"?

20      Q    To inquire about investing in REIT II.

21      A    I don't know.  You're talking about inbound

22 unsolicited?

23      Q    Or in response to outbound.

24      A    Yeah, I don't know.

25      Q    And were there any other periods when sales in
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1 REIT II stopped?

2      A    I'm not sure.  I know about the current stop.

3                             (SEC Exhibit No. 7 was

4                              identified for the record.)

5           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

6      Q    I'm going to show you a document that's been marked

7 as Exhibit 7.  Can you see that on the screen?

8      A    Yeah, is it possible to make it a little bit larger?

9 Or maybe I can do it on my end.  One sec.  Okay.  Yes, I can

10 see --

11      Q    Okay.  So I'm going to describe the document.  On

12 the top of the document it states, "Form 1-SA semiannual

13 report pursuant to Regulation A for the semiannual period

14 ended June 30, 2021, DF Growth REIT II, LLC," and it's

15 a 12-page document.  I'm going to scroll through it.  If you

16 want me to stop, you can let me know.  You can take as much

17 time as you want to review it.  I'm going to ask you if --

18           MR. BHANDARI:  So in the interest of time -- because

19 it's very difficult to read the document, it's quite small,

20 maybe you can ask him a question.  If he needs to look at

21 something to get context, he'll let you know.

22           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sure.  Okay.

23           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

24      Q    Did I describe this document accurately?

25      A    Yeah, looks like Form 1-SA for the semiannual report
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1 ending June 30, 2021 for Growth REIT II.

2      Q    Do you recognize this document?

3      A    Yes.

4      Q    And what is it?

5      A    It's the semiannual report for the period ending

6 June 30, 2021 for DF Growth REIT II.

7      Q    Okay.  I'm going to scroll to the end.  The last

8 page, the signatures, did you sign this document

9 electronically?

10      A    Yeah, what do you mean by signing electronically?

11      Q    Did you sign this document?

12      A    So we -- the process with our counsel is they would

13 prepare the document, draft it, and then I would look it over

14 and they would ask if it's ready to file.  And so there's not

15 a formal signing process within that process.

16      Q    Okay.  Did you agree to have your name signed to

17 this document?

18      A    I didn't make that explicit agreement.  What I would

19 do is I would tell counsel it looks ready to file.

20      Q    Okay.  So the document says, "Pursuant to the

21 requirements of Regulation A, this report has been signed by

22 the following persons in the capacity and on the dates

23 indicated."  And it lists Alan Lewis, September 28, 2021.  So

24 did you sign this document?

25      A    Like I said before, there wasn't a formal signing
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1 process.  I agreed for it to be filed by counsel.

2      Q    Okay.  What was your role in this document --

3           MS. BARRY:  Can I just ask one question to clarify?

4           BY MS. BARRY:

5      Q    Mr. Lewis, you said that you agreed to have this

6 document filed.  Would it be safe to say that you agreed to

7 have an electronic signature in your name when you understood

8 that that was what was required when you said that this is

9 ready to be filed?

10      A    That was not what I was contemplating at the time.

11 I just was focused on getting it filed.  I'm not trying to be

12 difficult, I'm just trying to be accurate that that's what

13 took place was just approving it to be filed.

14           MR. BHANDARI:  If what you're looking for is whether

15 he would accept that he -- it's his adopted statement, I think

16 we can work that out, and the answer is yes.  He's just

17 telling you the context for how these things get done.

18           MS. BARRY:  Okay.

19           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

20      Q    And what was your role in this document?

21      A    Do you mean my role in preparing in document?

22      Q    Yes.

23      A    So counsel would draft it and then they would send

24 it to me to review.

25      Q    Did you review it?
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1      A    Yes, I did review it.

2      Q    Did you approve it?

3      A    Yes, I informed counsel that it was ready to be

4 filed.

5      Q    And who had final approval?

6      A    Final approval in what sense?

7      Q    Who had the -- who had the final approval to file

8 the document?

9      A    As far as filing it?

10      Q    The final approval that the document was final and

11 was ready.

12      A    I don't know that I would characterize it as a final

13 approvement.  It's just I would look at it and tell counsel as

14 far as I was concerned it looked good to file.  And then it

15 Craig had any input, you know, he could always make input as

16 well.

17      Q    And who else approved this document?

18      A    I don't know that I would use the word "approve."

19 It's just I would look at it, Craig would look at it, our

20 finance people would look at it, counsel would look at it.

21      Q    And I scrolled to page 1 of this document and it

22 says, "The company was formed on August 6, 2020 and qualified

23 by the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 29, 2021.

24 As of June 30, 2021, the company has not yet commenced its

25 operations, but plans to begin raising money and making
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1 investments starting in the second half of the year."  Is that

2 second sentence -- is that accurate?

3      A    Well, it depends on what you mean by "the sentence."

4      Q    Is it accurate that the company had not yet

5 commenced its operations as of June 30, 2021?

6      A    If you mean by "operations" hadn't purchased any

7 properties or completed a sale of securities, then yes, that

8 type of operation had not been commenced.  No sales had been

9 commenced at that point and no properties had been purchased

10 because no equity had been raised yet.

11           BY MS. LEVIN:

12      Q    So this is REIT II's document, right, that was

13 filed.  So why don't you tell us what was meant by that

14 sentence.

15      A    By the sentence?

16      Q    Yes.

17      A    Yeah, it meant that as of the date June 30, 2021,

18 the company had not yet completed a sale of any securities and

19 it had -- because it had not completed any sale of securities,

20 it was not able to purchase or invest in any properties at

21 that point.

22      Q    Anything else that was meant by that sentence?

23      A    No.  I mean, that's my understanding of that

24 statement.

25      Q    Okay.  Thank you.
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1           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

2      Q    Okay.  I'm pulling up another document.  It's been

3 marked as Exhibit 15.  I will put it on the screen in a minute

4 and describe it for the record.

5                             (SEC Exhibit No. 15 was

6                              identified for the record.)

7           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

8      Q    This is Exhibit 15.  It is a document produced by

9 DiversyFund.  It was Bates stamped DF-000915.  Again, that's

10 three zeros and then 915.  It appears to be a list of

11 investors in REIT I on one tab and a list of investors in

12 REIT II on a second tab.  Can you see the document?

13      A    Let me enlarge it.

14      Q    Yeah.

15      A    Can you scroll down, Will, so the header on the

16 first row shows?

17      Q    Yeah.  Let me see.  Can you see that now?

18      A    No, I'm zoomed in, so -- oh, now I can see it.

19      Q    Do you recognize this document?

20      A    I believe so.  It appears to be a document prepared

21 by Ryan Wagner.

22      Q    Who is Ryan Wagner?

23      A    He's our data guy that works with tech product and

24 marketing.

25      Q    Okay.  And is this document an accurate
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1 representation of the number of REIT II investors?

2      A    I have no idea.

3      Q    Is this document maintained in the normal course of

4 business?

5      A    I don't know much at all about how this is

6 maintained, so I -- it's just not my side of the business.

7      Q    Okay.  And for REIT II I'm going to scroll all the

8 way to the bottom.  Do you see the last row with X in it, in

9 the fourth column, column D, it says "Invest date" and the

10 invest date is 2/3/2022, so February 3, 2022?

11      A    Yes.

12      Q    Were there investments made in REIT II on

13 February 3, 2022?

14      A    What do you mean by "investments"?

15      Q    Did an investor invest money in REIT II on

16 February 3?

17      A    Referring to this James individual?

18      Q    Yes, or any investors.

19      A    I'm not sure.  My understanding in looking at some

20 of these amounts that came in after January 27, you'll notice

21 that this one in particular is for $100, and our site does not

22 permit any sale of securities below the $500 minimum.  And so

23 my understanding in talking with our head of product was that

24 any amounts on here that are less than 500 such as the ones

25 you see for 50 and 100, which encompass all the items listed
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1 on here after the 27th, are from a referral program that is

2 communicated with the website through an API.

3      Q    What is an API?

4      A    I don't know what it stands for, but it's a tech

5 application whereby, you know, one website can communicate

6 with another, communicate information.  In this case it would

7 be the third-party referral company program.

8      Q    Okay.  Do you know what company referred investors

9 to REIT II?

10      A    Well, I don't know if it would characterize them as

11 referring investors to REIT II.  My understanding is that it's

12 if a customer refers a fellow customer to REIT II.  And the

13 name of the company that reports that referral information is

14 called SaaSquatch.

15      Q    And so you believe these investments under 500 came

16 from referrals through SaaSquatch; is that accurate?

17      A    I wouldn't call it a referral through SaaSquatch.

18 It would be -- my understanding is that it's a referral from

19 one customer to a friend or acquaintance that then funds

20 escrow.  They're not required to actually become a customer

21 just to fund an escrow account, and then SaaSquatch reports

22 the information to create the record through their API.

23      Q    Okay.

24      A    As far as the mechanics of how they get that

25 information, I wouldn't know.  It would have to be someone
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1 that works with SaaSquatch.

2      Q    And so this investment of $100, was it made on

3 February 3?

4      A    It wouldn't be characterized as an investment

5 because it was really a -- my understanding is that it's a

6 referral bonus given by the parent co., DiversyFund, Inc., to

7 the people involved with the referral.  I don't know if it's

8 the referee and the referrer, one or the other.  I'm not sure.

9 But they are not putting in that $100 or $50.

10      Q    Okay.  I'm not sure I understand.  Can you describe

11 that again or a little more?

12      A    Well, to be quite frank, I'm not sure I understand

13 it either because I'm just going off of what limited

14 information I have.  But my understanding is that when someone

15 comes in through the referral program, they -- that $100, for

16 example, by James, James did not put in that $100.

17      Q    Did he -- did he receive $100?  Did James

18 receive $100?

19      A    Hundred dollars of cash?

20      Q    Or any other form.

21      A    No, James is receiving $100 worth of REIT II shares.

22      Q    I see.  Okay.  For his referral?

23      A    Yeah.  That's my understanding.  But we would need

24 to clarify with someone from tech or marketing who set this

25 up.
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1      Q    So then the amounts listed, are those amounts of --

2 what are those amounts?

3      A    I believe there's amounts of 100 and amounts of 50

4 that have come through the referral program.  The website does

5 not allow for any transaction as far as an individual

6 purchasing securities for themselves, does not allow for any

7 amount under 500.

8      Q    Okay.  So when it says "amount," that's amount of

9 what?

10      A    Well, it depends.  It may be different for these

11 referral programs and how you describe it for -- my assumption

12 for anything that's 500 or over is showing you the dollars of

13 cash, if you will, dollars of money that someone paid for in

14 exchange for that amount of securities.  I don't know if that

15 same characterization applies for the 100 and $50 amounts that

16 came through the referral program.

17      Q    Did investors in REIT I who were making recurring

18 contributions for investing in REIT I have those contr butions

19 start going to REIT II?

20      A    Some of them did, not all.

21      Q    Do you know how many?

22      A    I don't.  Just the ones that were -- signed REIT II

23 documentation in order to move over to REIT -- their

24 auto-invest to REIT II.

25      Q    And how did they sign agreements to be rolled over
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1 into REIT II?

2      A    I don't know.  I don't know how the tech and product

3 folks rolled that out exactly.

4      Q    Did those investors have a choice to have their

5 investment go into REIT II?

6      A    Yeah, they had a choice of either once REIT I was

7 full in our conducting an offering, it was either your

8 auto-invest will be turned off, right, so you'll know longer

9 be having amounts auto-debited out of your checking account on

10 a monthly basis, or you can choose to have your auto-invest

11 amount applied to REIT II going forward.

12      Q    And was there, like, a document that they received

13 that informed them that?

14      A    I don't know if I'd call it a document, but there

15 was certainly communication regarding it.

16      Q    In what form?

17      A    I don't know.

18           BY MS. LEVIN:

19      Q    So how do you know there was communication regarding

20 it?

21      A    Just because I heard marketing talk about it in

22 leadership.

23      Q    Who in marketing?

24      A    Navid Firoozi.

25      Q    Thank you.
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1           BY MS. BARRY:

2      Q    Can I just jump in here?  Sorry.  When you say

3 "leadership" -- I've heard you say it a couple times.  Can you

4 just tell us who you're referring to when you say

5 "leadership"?

6      A    Certainly, yeah.  When I say "leadership" I'm

7 referring to our weekly leadership meetings which involves

8 myself; Craig Cecilio; our COO Fateh Kamal; Navid Firoozi,

9 who's the head of marketing; David Legacki, who's the head of

10 product; and the interim head of tech, because we don't have a

11 specific tech head at the current time; and then also Isaac

12 Dixon, who heads real estate.

13      Q    Thank you.

14           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

15      Q    And how do you track how much money REIT II has

16 raised?

17      A    I don't know exactly how they track it on the

18 product and tech side, but I do know that the dollars

19 initially come into our third-party escrow agent, which is a

20 bank called "PrimeTrust."  And so there's a record there, and

21 then we have a record of every dollar that comes over from

22 PrimeTrust to REIT II.  Finance would keep that record.  It

23 would be reflected in the QuickBook files that you have access

24 to.  And then there may be additional record keeping on the

25 product and tech side, but I'm not familiar with that.
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1      Q    Okay.  And how do you track investor equity?

2      A    What do you mean by "track"?  Like track purchases?

3      Q    How do you know -- how do you know who -- what --

4 who has equity in REIT II?

5      A    That same -- those same records would encompass

6 that.  So when the record shows that Joe Smith, for example,

7 purchased $500 worth of securities on a certain date, then

8 that goes into PrimeTrust's record keeping.  And then we

9 also -- when we move the money over and release it from escrow

10 to REIT II, then REIT II's bank account will reflect the

11 dollar amounts, and REIT II has financials prepared by our

12 finance division that also reflect each customer's ownership

13 amount.

14           BY MS. LEVIN:

15      Q    And as a quick question -- sorry to interrupt again,

16 but is the finance division included in these leadership

17 meetings that you described?

18      A    To an -- not the individuals who are in the finance

19 division.  Fateh Kamal, our COO, supervises the finance

20 division.  So by virtue of his participation, that's how

21 finance is represented in leadership meetings.

22      Q    Understood.  Thank you.

23           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

24      Q    And when you said the finance department, they

25 maintain financials that track equity, what documents do you
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1 mean?

2      A    I have no idea.  We'd have to ask finance.

3      Q    Okay.  And so the escrow process you were describing

4 when investors invest in REIT II, their money first goes

5 through the escrow, correct?

6      A    Correct.

7      Q    Does it go into one escrow account or are there

8 multiple escrow accounts?

9      A    I'm not sure how PrimeTrust is dealing with that.

10      Q    Okay.  And who's responsible for managing the

11 escrow?

12      A    PrimeTrust.

13      Q    Who oversees the -- on DiversyFund's side the rescue

14 escrow process?

15      A    I don't know that anyone could be deemed to oversee

16 it because they're a third party.  So they're independent of

17 us.

18      Q    Okay.  Who tracks the funds coming from escrow?

19      A    Being released from escrow to the REIT?

20      Q    Yes.

21      A    I don't know.  Finance might.  Product and tech

22 might.  I'm not sure what the process is for tracking.

23      Q    Okay.  Do the funds -- does someone have to agree to

24 have the funds released from escrow or do they get released

25 automatically?
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1      A    The process as I understand it is that they come

2 into escrow, they have to go through an AML check, and the

3 funds also have to be released from the in-coming bank's ACH.

4 There's a time lag before the funds, I guess, appear, so to

5 speak, in the escrow account.  And then at some point I

6 believe someone in finance will on a somewhat regular basis,

7 maybe weekly or every other week, would release in batches

8 those dollars that had been in escrow that had cleared the AML

9 and KYC processes.

10      Q    And then the money that's cleared when it comes to

11 REIT II, where does it get deposited or where does it go?

12      A    My understanding is it goes into REIT II's bank

13 account.

14      Q    And who has control of REIT II's bank account?

15      A    What do you mean by "control"?

16      Q    Who can move money in or out of REIT II's bank

17 account?

18      A    We have controls on the REIT bank accounts so that

19 it requires different people to set up -- and there are

20 certain amounts that this applies to.  My last understanding

21 was that anything, say, over $25,000 requires one person to

22 set up a wire and then one person to -- or then two people to

23 approve it in addition to the wire setup so that we have

24 controls on any outgoing funds.

25      Q    Can that be any two people at DiversyFund?
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1      A    No, it's limited to the two folks in finance,

2 Jonathan Neff, Samantha Li, which Samantha Li is now on

3 maternity leave, Craig Cecilio, myself and Fateh Kamal, our

4 COO.

5      Q    Did REIT II receive investor funds in January '22?

6      A    In January 2022?

7      Q    Yes.

8      A    Yeah.

9      Q    Were those funds recorded in QuickBooks?

10      A    I'm not sure, but I would assume so.

11      Q    And how often are the QuickBooks updated?

12      A    That I couldn't speak to, what the process that

13 finance goes through as far as frequency.

14      Q    And how have REIT II investor funds been used?

15      A    Our REIT II invested -- co-invested with REIT I in a

16 property that actually is comprised of two underlying assets

17 in North Charleston, South Carolina.  We refer to those as

18 "NCP Dove."  I believe REIT II invested somewhere around 5

19 million in that -- those two properties.

20           REIT II has also invested I think around a

21 million, 1.5, 1.6, into a property in San Antonio that we

22 refer to as "Swaying Oaks."  I believe REIT II also invested

23 about 675K into -- as a co-investment into a property that

24 REIT I is invested in called "Mission Villas" in San Antonio,

25 and then REIT II would also have spent money on third-party
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1 vendors such as we currently are going through our annual

2 audit, you know, for the annual REIT II filing.  Legal counsel

3 would be bills paid there, you know, and any other related

4 REIT II vendors.

5      Q    The last property, could you repeat the name of that

6 one?

7      A    Yes.  Are you referring to Swaying Oaks or Mission

8 Villas?

9      Q    Mission Villas.

10      A    Yeah.

11      Q    And when did those invest -- all three of those

12 investments, when were those made?

13      A    NCP Dove was made in December 2021.  Swaying Oaks, I

14 believe, just closed this past Friday.  I don't know the date

15 exact date of the Mission Villas investment.

16      Q    And how do you decide what assets to target for

17 REIT II?

18      A    We start with our business plan, which is to create

19 a diversified portfolio of multi -- primarily multifamily

20 value-add assets.  We try to balance out economies of scale by

21 having more than one purchase in a potential market while also

22 trying to spread out assets, you know, across various markets

23 in the U.S.

24           And we also -- in looking at a particular asset, we

25 will go in and the investment committee has formulated some
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1 investment targets and underwriting assumptions.  And so our

2 acquisitions team will look for assets that meet those

3 criteria based on those underwriting assumptions being

4 applied, which makes it so that we're able to compare apples

5 to apples from property to property.

6           Now, these are things like assumptions such as your

7 exit cap rate, your escalation of rents year over year, your

8 percentage escalation of price year over year, your rent

9 concessions, your vacancy rate, you know, the expected rent

10 bumps post renovation on a per-unit basis.  These are all

11 things that go into a pretty extensive underwriting process

12 that entails spreadsheets that have multiple tabs.  And at

13 that point that's part of our underwriting process to get to

14 an asset return that makes -- is attractive to the REIT

15 customer.

16           And then, of course, we'll put out an offer out on a

17 property.  And as you may be aware, the market's fairly

18 competitive right now.  So, you know, you're not guaranteed to

19 get every offer accepted by a potential seller.  So we'll put

20 out multiple offers that meet our underwriting criteria hoping

21 to get a couple of those accepted.

22      Q    Okay.  And the properties that REIT II has invested

23 in, are they all apartment buildings?

24      A    Yes.

25      Q    Okay.  Is that generally what REIT II is targeting
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1 is apartment buildings?

2      A    Yeah.  When we -- when the offering statement talks

3 about "multifamily value-add," "multifamily" is the industry

4 term for apartment buildings.

5      Q    Okay.  And are -- can you describe a little more

6 what type -- I mean, you mentioned some of the criteria, but

7 are there other sort of factors or types of multifamily you're

8 looking at?

9      A    Certainly.  Because the REIT is targeting what we

10 refer to as "multifamily value-add," it means that REIT II is

11 looking at properties that have some upside potential, what we

12 call "forced appreciation."  So as we're all familiar with,

13 when you buy, for example, your own home, a single-family

14 residence, if the market goes up like it's been going up,

15 you're experiencing an increase in value of the asset that's

16 due to market appreciation just by virtue of pricing in that

17 local market being bid up, which is the case in most markets

18 in the U.S. right now.

19           Forced appreciation also creates value at the asset

20 level, but it means that it's something that you as a sponsor

21 have control over.  You can force that appreciation through

22 execution of a business plan, whereas market appreciation you

23 have nothing to do with it, right?  You're just subject to how

24 the market pricing trends, and you can't really affect that on

25 an individual sponsor basis.
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1           So forced appreciation comes down to conducting

2 renovations both on the exterior of a property and on the

3 interior of units.  That allows you to then bump the rent.

4 So, for example, on the NCP Dove properties in North

5 Charleston, when we came in some of the rents we were able to

6 after unit -- renovating a unit, we're able to bump the rent

7 by 200 to $250 per month from its prior rental amount.  And by

8 virtue of increasing the rent, you're increasing the net

9 operating income of the asset, which means that when you apply

10 it to the existing cap rate in that market, that asset becomes

11 more valuable by virtue of the NOI increasing.  And so that's

12 an example of forced appreciation.

13           Another example would be coming in and managing the

14 asset better.  That's something that a sponsor could control

15 by virtue of supervising the property manager.  All of our

16 REIT I and REIT II properties have a third-party property

17 manager whose job it is to try to get the highest rents

18 possible for those units in that market, to keep the residents

19 happy, to oversee the maintenance calls that when someone

20 moves out they're trying to turn the unit, as we say in the

21 industry, as quickly as poss ble to minimize the downtime of

22 that unit between residents.  And so by managing those things

23 well, it'll lead to better overall financial performance of

24 the asset and increase that forced appreciation.

25           So from a value-add standpoint, that's primarily
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1 what the REIT -- REIT II is looking for is assets that have

2 that potential.  So at the other extreme, the REIT II is not,

3 for example, interested in buying a brand-new asset that has

4 no need for renovation or really any upside from mismanagement

5 at the property management level.  That would not have a

6 value-add return to it.  That return profile is much lower and

7 not in line with the investment growth category that REIT II

8 is focused on in terms of creating wealth for the REIT

9 customers.

10           So when we're looking for value-add it means

11 typically these are assets that tend to be a little older.

12 Our oldest asset in REIT II would be Mission Villas.  It's a,

13 I believe, 1965 vintage or somewhere close to that.  So, you

14 know, there's certainly a need for heavy renovations.  But

15 with the housing shortage in a market like San Antonio, as we

16 fix up the units, there certainly is a need with the local

17 tenant population to have a nicer unit.  They want a nicer

18 space.  That way you can actually start to clean up a tenant

19 population and get rid of folks who might be drug users or

20 criminal activities on the property.

21           And so your core tenants, you know, who are working

22 class families with kids benefit from the fact that we're

23 coming in, putting money into these properties that have been

24 neglected and dilapidated in some instances and really fixing

25 up with lighting, with amenities, with playgrounds, cleaning
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1 up a lot of the -- if there is crime on the property, cleaning

2 up the crime on the property so that the core tenants that we

3 want to keep there really feel it's a much safer and better-

4 kept environment for them.

5           So that's been a big part of REIT II's mission is

6 not only to deliver this benefit to the REIT II customers

7 financially, but in the meantime we're also trying to do a lot

8 of good through just helping the tenant population's need for

9 mature assets have a much better living environment.

10      Q    And you mentioned the age of the property.  Is there

11 certain sort of age of the properties that you're targeting?

12      A    There's a wide range.  Like I said, we're not -- the

13 REIT II is not targeting any brand-new properties because that

14 would not fit into a growth or value-add investment profile as

15 far as upside goes.  So we really don't want to go much older

16 than the '60s.  You start to have issues with plumbing needing

17 to be replaced.  And although that's not a deal breaker, and

18 we certainly have looked at properties that have those issues,

19 you want to look for a risk-adjusted play where you're trying

20 to minimize your downside while increasing and maximizing your

21 upside potential for your REIT customers.

22           So in general we've been focused on '80s and '90s

23 product, some newer in the 2000s, which are still almost 20

24 years old and in need of renovations.  But yeah, as we get

25 into older vintages, we're very wary of some of the unforeseen

[4/21/2022 9:39 AM] Lewis, Alan - Vol. II.20220421.385163-LA Pages 120 - 123

OS Received 06/03/2022



Page 124

1 renovation risk that goes into there.  And so we're ordering

2 third-party due diligence reports such as a PCR, which is a

3 property condition report, and those vendors will go in and do

4 a very thorough check of the asset, such as actually scoping

5 out sewer and plumbing pipes.  They'll send a scope inside the

6 pipe to see if there's any degree of rot or structural damage

7 about to lead to extensive leakage.  They'll check the roofs,

8 the integrity of the roofs.  They'll look at -- check for

9 pests like termites and stuff like that.

10           They'll look at the zoning compliance to make sure

11 it's compliant with the current density and zoning with the

12 city or county.  They'll basically just try to look at

13 everything from top to bottom.  They'll do a mold check,

14 looking for all these things so we can quantify what is the

15 potential cost of rehabbing those units.  Because we never

16 want to be surprised by a renovation cost that we didn't

17 foresee, because that's always -- affects the business plan.

18           That said, we always, as most prudent real estate

19 investors do, try to bake in a contingency reserve into the

20 overall capital expenditure budget so that we do have some

21 cushion for unforeseen renovation expenses.  Or sometimes

22 there are instances where we'll have a general contractor

23 provide a soft bid, and then once you finally have acquired

24 the asset and get down to hard bidding it through their

25 subcontractors, pricing escalates, which we're certainly
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1 seeing right now in some instances with pricing of materials

2 and labor.

3      Q    Okay.  Has REIT II disclosed its investments that

4 it's made to investors?

5      A    We -- REIT II has disclosed the NCP Dove.  We're

6 just in the process of preparing the disclosure for the

7 Swaying Oaks transaction that just closed on Friday and the

8 Mission Villas investment.

9      Q    Okay.  And how has it disclosed those investments?

10      A    It's a combination of filing a supplement with the

11 SEC, you know, to the offering statement.  And then also on

12 the web portal, that's where we also make announcements about

13 investments and acquisitions.  Sometimes marketing -- and I'm

14 not familiar with the details and timing, but sometimes

15 they'll post on the front-facing website as well.  I know many

16 of our assets are mentioned there as well in addition to the

17 back portal.

18      Q    Okay.  And when you make an investment, can you walk

19 me through sort of the process and where the money goes?

20      A    Yeah, so you're just ta king about the process from

21 a customer standpoint or process from the dollars standpoint?

22      Q    The dollars standpoint.

23      A    Okay.  So my understanding is that a customer when

24 they're going through the checkout process on the website and

25 finally at the end of that process and they've read the
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1 offering statement, they've checked the box --

2           MR. BHANDARI:  Actually can I pause you for a

3 second, Alan?  I think that may not be Will's question.

4           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

5      Q    Yeah, sorry, the property investments that REIT II

6 has made, l ke, for example, NCP Dove, can you walk me through

7 how that investment worked and where the money goes for that?

8      A    Sure.  Yeah.  I apologize.  I thought you were

9 talking about the process of a REIT II customer.

10           MR. BHANDARI:  So you're basically running forward

11 from the closing statement forward, Will?

12           MR. ROSENTHAL:  I'm asking him just to describe the

13 process --

14           MR. BHANDARI:  Okay.

15           MR. ROSENTHAL:  -- of making an investment.

16           MR. BHANDARI:  Wherever you want to start.

17           THE WITNESS:  Sure.  Yeah.  So -- well, I'll just

18 sort of walk you through an example, because that might be

19 more helpful.  You know, with NCP Dove we identified the

20 property.  And sometimes there are deposits that are required

21 to be made to -- in order to enter into escrow with the seller

22 of the property.  And so the investment committee will meet

23 about the up-and-coming property that we're looking to

24 acquire.  And initially first deposit is what we call a

25 refundable deposit.  Typically right now in the market you
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1 get -- you receive -- and this is always subject to

2 negotiation on an asset-by-asset basis.  But usually you have

3 a 30-day due diligence window -- well, let me back up even

4 further.

5           Initially what happens is a property is listed for

6 sale or -- by a broker, or in some cases it'll be what we call

7 an off-market listing, which means a broker is still involved,

8 but rather than blasting it to 100,000 people in their network

9 to solicit bids, they would approach a curated handful of

10 small buyers -- or a small handful of buyers that they know

11 have closed on similar properties and are capable of writing

12 the size of equity check in order to purchase the property.

13 Sometimes they'll do that because the seller doesn't want a

14 lot of attention or doesn't want to have to go through 20

15 different site visits and freak out the residents and the

16 current property management.

17           And so we are thankfully to the point, because of

18 economies of scale in all of REIT I purchases, where we're

19 actually getting some invitations to these off-market

20 listings, which ultimately in general -- not always, but leads

21 to better pricing on the acquisition, so that the --

22 ultimately the REIT II investors would benefit from having

23 that lower pricing by virtue of us finally getting invited to

24 some of these off market listings, and something the fund is

25 always working towards of the fund is getting to that level.
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1           So at that point you, along with all the bidders,

2 would -- you conduct your underwriting, you would run it

3 through.  And then for us, you know, once we've done our

4 underwriting and it looks good, we give the thumbs up to write

5 an LOI, letter of intent.  And within that piece -- document,

6 you're saying here's the price we're willing to pay, here's

7 the terms on which we're willing to close.  We want, for

8 example, a 30-day due diligence window.  Our initial suggested

9 deposit, say, it's 100 grand, and then we want 30 days before

10 that 100 grand becomes what's called a hard deposit where it

11 becomes nonrefundable if you fail to close for any reason.

12           And then you'll usually have a closing period after

13 that initial 30 days of due diligence, another 30 days that

14 you can extend for another month or two.  Because usually it's

15 the lender that's holding up the transaction.  Sometimes it's

16 the equity raise from the REIT itself.  But at that point you

17 are required -- so you put in your LOI.  The seller will then

18 usually go to best and final where they whittle it down to,

19 say, they're top three bids and they'll say, "Okay.  We like

20 your terms, but can you sharpen your pencils and do a little

21 bit better on price?  We just want to let you know that this

22 other bidder is a little bit higher than you."  Sometimes

23 they'll tell you the price, sometimes they won't.  Basically

24 it's the broker trying to get everyone to bid up their pricing

25 a little bit playing the potential buyers off of each other.
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1           And so in that case we usually lead with a very

2 conservative number because we're -- if we can get an asset

3 for lower, then that's certainly beneficial to the REIT

4 customers.  So we usually have some room to increase our price

5 a little bit to give the seller some concession there.

6           And so then we'll revise our LOI, resubmit that, and

7 then at that point the seller, with the broker's help, will

8 select their winning bid.  Part of that is not only the price,

9 but also surety of closing, which is they'll ask, you know,

10 "Where is your equity coming from?"  The fact that we have a

11 REIT that has captive equity ready to deploy is certainly an

12 advantage for us when it comes to surety of closing because

13 there are a number of competing sponsors who are syndicating

14 through Reg D offerings where they kind of have to -- we'll

15 call it "passing the hat."

16           They'll go put a deal under contract and then while

17 they're so busy trying to close that deal and do all their due

18 diligence and get the lender lined up, they are still having

19 to also go out to their high net worth community and raise

20 under a Reg D offering that, say, $3 million of equity that

21 they need to bring to the table within 60 to 90 days.  And so

22 there's some risk that that party may not be able to raise

23 enough in time and then no seller wants to fall out of

24 contract because the buyer can't raise the money.

25           So the fact that we have a REIT gives us an
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1 advantage in that regard because we have the dollars ready and

2 waiting to go.  So at that point if we are picked as a winner

3 bidder and our LOI -- revised LOI is accepted, then you're

4 going into -- the attorneys will then draft a PSA, a purchase

5 and sale agreement.  Once the PSA is -- language is agreed

6 upon by both sides, then you are now entering into escrow.

7           What that means is that a third-party escrow agent,

8 usually associated with the title company that will be doing

9 title insurance for us as the new owner/buyer and title

10 insurance for the lender, usually then they open escrow.  The

11 REIT II will be required to deposit -- make its initial

12 deposit into escrow, and that's that first deposit I referred

13 to earlier that is refundable during the first 30-day due

14 diligence period.

15           So if we go and start conducting due diligence --

16 and at that point after signing the PSA and opening escrow, we

17 can always back out and retain -- and receive back the full

18 deposit that we put into escrow.  After we get through the --

19 well, during that 30-day due diligence we're of course

20 conducting due diligence.  We'll visit the site, we'll talk

21 with the potential property managers that we want to hire as

22 we rarely keep the existing property manager.

23           And then we'll talk with general contractors to get

24 soft bids on what it'll take to renovate, and then work with

25 brokers in the area to find comps, comparable assets that are
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1 comparable in vintage and just the state of the asset to have

2 an idea what we'll be able to bump the rents up post

3 renovation to then more accurately update our pro forma.

4           So during the course of the due diligence we're

5 always updating our underwriting pro forma based on

6 information we're getting in the due diligence period, so that

7 by the time we're closing our underwriting is even more

8 accurate in terms of predicting what kind of return this asset

9 will create net for the REIT investors.

10           And so at the end of the due diligence period, call

11 it 30 days -- it could be longer, we rarely do shorter -- then

12 we'll be required usually to put in a second deposit from

13 REIT II where that money along with the initial deposit now

14 have become nonrefundable, meaning if we fail to close for

15 whatever reason within the PSA's contractual time limit, then

16 we would forfeit that deposit.  Luckily that hasn't happened

17 at all with REIT II.

18           So then at that point we would work -- be working

19 with a lender as well concurrently during this period to line

20 up the loan, and then the lender has their own due diligence

21 requirement, which the real estate team has to scramble to

22 quickly get all those items to the lender.  Some come from the

23 seller, but a lot driven by us on the buy side.  And then when

24 we finally have a lender ready to close the loan -- that's

25 usually what we're waiting on.  Sometimes we'll need to extend
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1 with the seller because the lender -- you know, the lenders

2 are so slammed right now with multiple transactions because

3 there's so much acquisition activity that they're often

4 running behind their initial forecasted schedules.

5           Once the lender is ready to close and we're ready to

6 close as a buyer because we feel good about the asset and

7 pulling the trigger, then at that point we will need -- the

8 REIT II will need to wire in its equity amount.  So just as an

9 example, it's pretty common that we'll deploy 65 percent

10 leverage from a lender.  Which means that if you're buying

11 a $10 million asset, 65 percent of that means you're getting

12 a $6.5 million loan, and then the other additional 3 and a

13 half million would come from the REIT, from REIT II equity.

14           Some lenders will require that -- let's say on that

15 particular asset, of all the equity a million dollars is going

16 to go towards renovations.  Some lenders, but not all, will

17 require a construction holdback whereby they'll park that

18 million dollars out of their loan proceeds and on a monthly

19 basis or however often, once our GC construction team has

20 completed that month's worth of renovations, then they'll take

21 their receipts and submit them to the lender's construction

22 holdback for reimbursement of those amounts, and then those

23 amounts will be released from the holdback.

24           So as we get to closing, the REIT II will wire in

25 its portion equity amount, the lender will wire in to escrow
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1 their loan amount.  And then escrow, once they have all the

2 documentation signed and notarized, will say, "We are ready to

3 record" -- they're ready to record the new deed, changing the

4 deed to the SPV that holds title to the asset, and also ready

5 to record the lender's first position lien, you know, their

6 mortgage or deed of trust, depending on the state, in the

7 property records so that they have that security against the

8 property in place and, you know, for their collateral.

9           And so at that point the REIT II has wired in two

10 deposits and it has wired a very large equity amount, like in

11 that example 3 and a half million minus the two deposits that

12 are already in escrow.  And then usually we either draw on the

13 construction loan holdback for renovation expenses, or if the

14 lender has not required a construction loan holdback, then

15 some of our properties will come back to the REIT saying,

16 "Hey, we need an additional" -- and this is already

17 budgeted into our business plan, but we're ready to have

18 another 200,000, say, this month to pay for the planned

19 repair of the roofs on these units or the new 15 units

20 that got turned from an interior renovation perspective.

21           And so that flow of funds is going from REIT II's

22 bank account directly to escrow to close on the asset, and

23 then escrow releases those funds to the seller.  And in each

24 one of those transactions the third-party escrow is able to

25 provide a closing statement, an escrow statement to show the
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1 amounts that they received from the buyer and released to

2 seller and the amounts they received from lender, you know, so

3 all those amounts are accounted for.

4           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

5      Q    Okay.  So for, like, the NCP Dove example I think

6 you said REIT II invested 5 million.  Where did the 5 million

7 go for that investment?

8      A    So the 5 million -- and the REIT I also invested 5

9 million.  They both invested approximately the same amount for

10 a total of 10.  We had a joint venture partner on that one, a

11 group called "Yankee Capital" that also put in an additional 5

12 million.  So -- and then the group that brought the deal in, I

13 think they put in under a million of equity.  They just

14 couldn't -- initially they were trying to get the deal done

15 all by themselves and just didn't have the wherewithal to

16 raise that kind of capital.  They were -- kind of bit off more

17 than they could chew, and that's why we came in and help

18 rescue the deal and get it done.  It was a really attractive

19 deal, so we were glad to be in a position to invest.

20           And so REIT II's 5 million got wired from REIT II's

21 bank account directly to that third-party escrow to be held in

22 escrow and then released upon closing.  It would be -- all the

23 equity and the loan amounts would be released to the seller so

24 they could take their purchase price and run off into the

25 sunset.
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1      Q    And who was the escrow company for that?

2      A    I don't recall.

3           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Let's go off the record at 2:30.

4           (Recess.)

5           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 2:41 p.m.

6           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

7      Q    Mr. Lewis, I want to go back to a couple things.

8 First, regarding REIT II, can you tell me what actions you or

9 anyone at DiversyFund took regarding REIT II on January 30,

10 through January 31 after it was qualified?

11           MR. BHANDARI:  Well, I'm going to -- I'm just going

12 to quickly for the record -- in my view this is not to be --

13 this -- the rules of practice don't provide for deposition

14 testimony of witnesses to prepare for a Rule 258 proceeding.

15 A lot of these questions have really been focused on grounds

16 that are solely at issue in Rule 258.  So I'm just -- I'm

17 going to allow the question to go, but I hope you'll allow me

18 to just state my continuing objection and not otherwise

19 interfere with the record.  Does that sound fine?

20           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes.

21           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

22      Q    You can answer the question, Mr. Lewis.

23      A    Yeah, could you repeat the question, please?

24      Q    What action, if any, did you or anyone at

25 DiversyFund take regarding REIT II on January 30 or January 31
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1 after it was qualified?

2      A    I don't recall --

3           MR. BHANDARI:  You know that's a Saturday and a

4 Sunday, right?

5           THE WITNESS:  Yeah.

6           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes.

7           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

8      Q    Can you answer, question?

9      A    Yeah, I don't recall.  I'd have to check records.

10      Q    Okay.  What about the two business days after?  What

11 action did you or anyone at DiversyFund take regarding

12 REIT II?

13      A    Again, I would have to check records like calendar

14 and e-mails.  And I could only speak for myself.

15      Q    Okay.  And I think we will make a request regarding

16 the institutional investors you contacted, that you provide us

17 information related to those investors and when you contacted

18 them.  I appreciate your answer that --

19           MR. BHANDARI:  Under what authority is your request,

20 Will?

21           MS. LEVIN:  We can send a subpoena.

22           MR. BHANDARI:  Okay.

23           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

24      Q    Okay.  The referral bonuses you mentioned, I just --

25 I want to make sure I'm not misunderstanding something, but

Page 137

1 when -- and so please correct me if I'm wrong.  When someone

2 refers an investor to REIT II, as a -- sort of as a bonus for

3 that referral they receive equity in REIT II; is that correct?

4      A    I don't know that it's helpful for me to guess.

5 It's something I'm really unfamiliar with, so it would be more

6 accurate to ask the folks in marketing or tech that deal with

7 SaaSquatch.

8      Q    Okay.  And then going back to Exhibit 15, which

9 shows the investments and the investors in REIT I and REIT II,

10 I can pull it up if you want to, but just I think you

11 mentioned you -- the document was created by Ryan.  Do you

12 know, what was Ryan's last name?

13      A    Ryan Wagner.

14      Q    Ryan Wagner.  Okay.  And he's an employee of

15 DiversyFund, right?

16      A    Correct.

17      Q    Okay.  And he created that spreadsheet using

18 information from DiversyFund, correct?

19      A    I don't know where he pulled the information from.

20 I mean, it just wouldn't be helpful for me to make an

21 assumption about how he got it.

22      Q    Okay.  So the investments that REIT II has made,

23 aside from the NCP Dove, which we talked about the other two,

24 the Swinging Oaks and the Mission Villas, did REIT I also

25 invest in those?

Page 138

1      A    Yes.  Yeah, REIT I invested in both Mission Villas

2 and Swaying Oaks.

3      Q    Did they invest the same amount as REIT II?

4      A    For Swaying Oaks my understanding is that the dollar

5 amounts are very similar, you know, about 1.5 to 1.6 from each

6 REIT for a total of 3 million and change.  For Mission Villas

7 REIT I put in, like, 3 or 4 million when it was acquired.

8 REIT II's contribution to Mission Villas has been after the

9 fact, after the acquisition.  The acquisition happened last

10 year.  So REIT II -- REIT II's investment into Mission Villas

11 has been to fund ongoing capital improvements on the

12 renovation budget.

13      Q    Okay.  And do each of those investment properties

14 have a bank account associated with them?

15      A    Yes.  Yeah, at least one.  It's common that the

16 property manager will want to have several bank accounts to

17 keep certain funds distinct from each other.  For example,

18 every property in almost every state that I'm aware of,

19 whether it's required by the state or just good business

20 practices, we will have a separate account for the rent

21 deposits.

22           So, for example, someone signs a lease for 12

23 months, they're going to put in unusually one month's worth of

24 rent as a security deposit and those need to be held

25 separately in trust, you know, so that when they move out
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1 they're given whatever deposit they maintain after deductions

2 made for property damage.  And then there's the operating

3 account which collects the rents and out of which also

4 expenses are paid by the property manager in terms of paying

5 their payroll for their people, maintenance, property

6 insurance, property taxes, all those good things.

7           And then sometimes there's a third account that's

8 used to hold the construction renovation dollars.  If they're

9 not held in a holdback with the lender, then often the

10 property manager will have a separate bank account with

11 those -- we call them "capex," the capex dollars, capital

12 expenditures.  Because what you don't want to do is have those

13 comingled with the operating budget and then it makes it very

14 difficult to keep tabs on.

15           We generally try to maintain a three-month reserve

16 operating expenses, opex, for the operating account and you

17 don't want it to -- if you have the capex dollars mix with the

18 opex dollars, then it's very difficult to see how the

19 property's operating -- on the expenditure side is operating

20 under the correct expense ratios.  For example, we try to keep

21 our expense ratios on a property level under 40 percent.  So

22 you don't want to be spending more than 40 percent of your

23 collected rents on expenses so you can keep a healthy margin

24 there.  Of course it's different when you have a heavier

25 value-add versus stabilized and you're trying to get occupancy
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1 up and rents up.

2      Q    Does NCP Dove have multiple bank accounts?

3      A    The two that I'm aware of is there are sometimes

4 lenders -- this is the exception to the rule, but times they

5 will require a lockbox account.  The technical term is a DACA,

6 D-A-C-A, account.  And what they'll do is they'll -- all the

7 rents -- they'll require you under the terms of the loan

8 agreement to place all collected rents -- the tenants will

9 have to wire -- or rather ACH their dollars into that lockbox

10 account such that if there's ever a default on the loan, then

11 the lender is able to press a button, so to speak, with the

12 bank and it locks up the account so that the owner, the

13 borrower, can no longer disburse funds.  They're actually

14 locked up.  And then the lender will use those to cover loan

15 amounts and interest.

16           If there's no default of the loan, then of course

17 those funds continue to go into the lockbox account and the

18 borrower, via the property manager, is able to release those

19 from the DACA account into an operating account that the

20 property manager can then pay the property's expenses from.

21           So NCP Dove in particular does have a lockbox

22 account and a separate operating account that those lockbox

23 rents are swept into.  I don't know how frequently, monthly,

24 weekly, but there's an operating account.  I don't know, but I

25 would assume based on just general practices that there is
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1 also, at the property manager's level, another account for the

2 rents and potentially the -- so the capex account as well.

3      Q    Okay.  Has NCP Dove had any income?

4      A    What do you mean by "income"?  Do you mean rents?

5      Q    Yes, in any form.

6      A    Sometimes in the real estate business income can

7 mean different things.  It can be applied to revenue or rents,

8 or sometimes people refer to it as net income, which is your

9 NOI, your rents minus your operating expenditures, which is

10 your net operating income.  So are you referring to rents?

11      Q    Yes, rents.

12      A    Yeah.  Yeah, it does.

13      Q    Okay.  And have there been expenses for NCP Dove?

14      A    Yes.

15      Q    And how are those -- the rents and the expenses for

16 NCP Dove, how are those recorded?

17      A    You're talking about in terms of financially

18 recorded?

19      Q    Yes.

20      A    So with most of our properties, if not all, the

21 process is that the property manager is the first line of

22 defense in terms of keeping financial records.  So they are

23 the ones that are signing the leases and know who should be

24 paying what amount each month on a per-unit basis.  We call it

25 the rent roll.  And so they're tracking the rent roll to see

Page 142

1 what's been collected versus what is being accumulated on the

2 balance sheet as a bad debt if someone is not paying their

3 rent.  Certainly have some degree of that across the industry

4 during COVID, for example.

5           And so then the property manager is maintaining

6 books where they're tracking the rents, the revenue from

7 rents.  They are tracking all the expenditures because they

8 handle directly the payment of invoices for the various

9 property expenditures and the hiring of vendors, and signing

10 those contracts.  Sometimes our in-house asset manager who

11 supervises the property manager, Ginger Vyterna, sometimes

12 she's having regular meetings with each property manager with

13 each property.  So she's involved there with making sure the

14 property manager is performing as expected.

15           And then the property manager will take those

16 financials at the end of a month -- at the end of a month and

17 they will close them out for that month basically making sure

18 everything's recorded properly and accounted for, and that it

19 ticks and ties to the actual cash balances in the opex

20 account.  And then they will send those closed-out financials

21 to our finance division, Jonathan Neff and Samantha Li, they

22 will take a look at them.

23           And then currently this is -- currently I believe

24 our finance division then is having the property managers then

25 add onto this -- their financials the -- any depreciation and
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1 amortization that needs to be accounted for, which is kind of

2 the final step to completing the financials.  And at that

3 point, once the property manager has added that and made any

4 adjustments that need to be that were missed in the closeout,

5 then our finance team, Jonathan -- which is just Jonathan Neff

6 at this point since Samantha is on maternity leave -- then

7 Jonathan will review those and then be able to record them on

8 our side for the SPV and effectively finalize them is my

9 understanding for purposes of that property's monthly

10 financials so they can eventually be reviewed by the

11 third-party auditors that come in and review the REITs.  And

12 they're -- they go into every single one of the underlying

13 properties to audit the SPVs underneath those.

14      Q    Okay.  So are those -- the income and expenses from

15 NCP, is that reflected in REIT II's QuickBooks?

16      A    I don't know how the SPV level financials interact

17 with the REIT's financials; if they're all one and the same,

18 if they're consolidated, you know, from a QuickBooks

19 standpoint.  That's too technical for my knowledge.

20      Q    Okay.  Have any REIT II investor funds gone to

21 REIT I?

22      A    No.  Like, REIT II making a transaction directly to

23 REIT I?  No.

24      Q    Correct.  Okay.  Have any REIT II properties been

25 sold?
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1      A    No.

2      Q    Have you invested personally in any REIT I or

3 REIT II properties?

4      A    No.

5      Q    Are REIT I and REIT II dependent on each other?

6      A    What do you mean by "dependent"?

7      Q    Do they depend on each other.

8      A    I don't know what that means.

9      Q    Does the success of REIT I depend on REIT II?

10      A    I'm not trying to be difficult, what do you mean by

11 "success"?

12      Q    Does whether -- however you define it.  Does whether

13 REIT I succeeds depend on REIT II?

14      A    I don't -- I don't know that you would apply that

15 term to REIT I, "success."  REIT I's goal is to maximize

16 returns for its customers on a risk-adjusted basis, which

17 means REIT I wants to make investments and operate in such a

18 way where it's increasing the return to the customers without

19 taking an inordinate amount of risk on, based on the amount of

20 upside potential that it's taking on.

21           There are a number of factors that affect that

22 return, one of which is -- and this is in the offering

23 statement -- is for both REITs is their ability to access

24 capital from any source if they're needed for capital

25 improvements or for other commitments that the existing
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1 portfolios -- or existing properties in the REIT I portfolio

2 may have.

3           So to the extent that REIT II's offering has been

4 shut down and there is -- or was some expectation prior to

5 that occurring that REIT II would be able to raise dollars

6 that would be co-invested into some of the REIT I properties

7 that had capital needs, and so there certainly is an effect

8 that REIT I experiences by virtue of REIT II not having

9 capital to co-invest in some of the REIT I properties that

10 have capital needs.

11           REIT I, as you know, the offering is closed, so we

12 cannot raise more capital.  And DiversyFund's only other

13 vehicle available at the time for raising capital was REIT II.

14 And so when we first launched REIT II we operated under

15 certain assumptions that we had at that time based on our

16 assumption that REIT II would continue to raise capital same

17 as REIT I had, and you look at the trends and data and are

18 able to make capital budget planning based on those

19 expectations.  We certainly did not expect that the SEC could

20 come in and shut down the REIT II offering without warning,

21 which obviously has some effects on both REITs.

22      Q    Does stopping REIT II sales harm both REIT I and

23 REIT II?

24      A    Well, stopping REIT II's offering hurts REIT II with

25 regard -- and I remember there was a disclosure in REIT II's
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1 offering statement that spoke to this -- that if REIT II is

2 not able to raise, you know, the anticipated amount, 50

3 million, and raised a much small amount, which is the current

4 case at 10 million raised approximately so far in REIT II,

5 then it limit's REIT II's ability to build a diversified

6 portfolio.  What happens is you start to create a

7 concentration risk to the customers, whereas you can see we're

8 currently invested in three assets instead of 10 to 15, which

9 we would be able to do if REIT II's offering was open and we

10 could continue to raise capital and deploy that to build a

11 portfolio on behalf of the REIT II customers.

12           So by limit -- by not having the ability to raise

13 capital for REIT II, its business plan, it will not be able to

14 be completed as expected where we can build a very diversified

15 portfolio of assets in the range of 10 to 15 total across a

16 more diversified geography and additional markets.  And so the

17 REIT II customers won't have the benefit of that -- of that

18 investment strategy.

19      Q    Is there a minimum amount that REIT II needs to

20 raise?

21      A    A minimal amount in terms of what?

22      Q    In terms of anything.  Is there a certain -- a

23 certain minimal amount that REIT II needs to raise?

24           MR. BHANDARI:  Objection, vague.

25           THE WITNESS:  Sanjay, what was the objection?
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1           MR. BHANDARI:  Just vague.  But you can answer,

2 Alan, if you understand.

3           THE WITNESS:  Yeah, I don't think that word "need"

4 would be an accurate way to apply it.

5                             (SEC Exhibit No. 10 was

6                              identified for the record.)

7           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

8      Q    Okay.  I'm going to pull up on the screen a document

9 that's been marked as Exhibit 10.  I will represent to you

10 that this document is part of a web capture of diversyfund.com

11 that we completed in November 2021.  At the top of the page it

12 says, "REIT I versus REIT II investments."  I'll scroll down

13 to the bottom.  It's just one page.  It was completed

14 November 22, 2021.  And do you recognize this document?

15      A    I do.

16      Q    What is it?

17      A    It's a capture of a web page that you -- that the

18 SEC had sent to us via counsel.

19      Q    Okay.  And who drafted this portion of DiversyFund's

20 website?

21      A    I'm not sure.  I mean, it says "Christopher Finlay,"

22 so I'm going to assume Christopher from customer service did

23 it.

24      Q    Okay.  So he worked in customer service for

25 DiversyFund?
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1      A    Yep.

2      Q    Did you review this web page?

3      A    Prior to seeing it from the SEC's submission to

4 counsel?

5      Q    Yes.

6      A    Yeah, I did not view it before seeing it from SEC to

7 our counsel.

8      Q    Do you know who reviewed this web page before it was

9 put up to the public?

10      A    I do not.

11      Q    Do you know who approved it?

12      A    I do not.

13      Q    Do you see the second-to-last question on the page?

14 It says, "Will launching REIT II impact my original REIT

15 investment this any way?"  And the answer is, "No, REIT I will

16 not be impacted by REIT II in any way.  The assets in REIT I

17 will continue to be owned and operated by REIT I."  Is that

18 statement accurate?

19      A    Which statement?

20      Q    The statement I just read.

21      A    The question or the sentence --

22      Q    The answer.

23      A    So I think it's important to look at the question.

24 When I look at the question it's very qualified and narrow in

25 what's it's asking, and therefore the answer needs to be
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1 understood within that very narrow qualification.

2           Specifically the question says, "Will launching

3 REIT II impact my original REIT I investment in any way?"  And

4 so it's narrowly tailored to this qualifier of "launching."

5 And so when the answer says, "No, REIT I will not be impacted

6 by REIT II in any way," I read that to say, "No, REIT I will

7 not be impacted by the launching of REIT II in any way," to

8 refer back to the actual question that prompted that.

9      Q    Okay.  So even though it says, "REIT I will not be

10 impacted by REIT II in any way," you believe that REIT I is

11 being impacted by REIT II?

12      A    I don't know that that's an accurate way of phrasing

13 it.

14      Q    How would you phrase it?

15      A    When REIT II launched, I think a lot of our REIT I

16 customers were confused and concerned about would REIT II be

17 buying them out, would REIT II be taking over REIT I assets.

18 And so my understanding as I'm reading this question is trying

19 to explain to the customer that by REIT II being launched, it

20 will not affect the REIT I's existing portfolio in the extent

21 that REIT II was not buying any of REIT I's assets.  That's

22 why it said the assets in REIT I will continue to be owned and

23 operated by REIT I to reassure a potential REIT I customer

24 that REIT II was not going to interfere or change or alter

25 their existing REIT I portfolio.
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1      Q    And the second question says, "Will all my

2 investments, REIT I and REIT II, be under the same five-year

3 term?"  And the answer is, "No, REIT I and REIT II operate as

4 separate investment vehicles.  While they have similar

5 investment strategies, they operate on their own five-year

6 investment term."  So that answer that REIT I and REIT II

7 operate as separate investment vehicles, is that accurate?

8      A    Well, it depends on what you mean by "separate

9 investment vehicles."

10      Q    I'm -- what do you -- when -- what do you take it to

11 mean, the statement on DiversyFund's website?

12      A    Yeah, I understand that REIT I and REIT II are two

13 separate funds individual from each other.  They were set up

14 on individual dates.  They conduct separate -- that have

15 conducted separate security offerings on different dates.

16 They have their own bank accounts, they have their own

17 QuickBook files, they have their own portfolios.  Although

18 they are co-invested in three similar properties, they still

19 are their own funds.  Each REIT will pay out different returns

20 to their customers.  They have a different customer list.  So

21 there are many characteristics that would make them clearly

22 separate funds.

23                             (SEC Exhibit No. 5 was

24                              identified for the record.)

25           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:
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1      Q    I'm now pulling up on the screen what has been

2 marked as Exh bit Number 5.  This is a multiple page document.

3 You can review it while I describe it for the record.  On the

4 top it states, "Form 1-A Regulation A offering statement, Part

5 II - offering circular amendment number 1 DF Growth REIT II,

6 LLC."  Is that an accurate description of this document?

7      A    It appears to be so, yeah.

8      Q    And do you recognize this document?

9      A    I do.

10      Q    What is it?

11      A    It looks like Form 1-A Regulation A offering

12 statement, Part II - offering circular amendment number 1 for

13 DF Growth REIT II LLC dated January 19, 2021.

14      Q    I'm going to go to the end.  Did you sign this

15 document?

16      A    Again, the -- same as -- similar to before, the

17 process by which we go through this with our counsel was he

18 would prepare and draft it, I would review it, and then I

19 would let him know when from my perspective it looked good.

20      Q    So what was your role with this document?

21      A    After counsel prepared it, then I read it as best I

22 could, sometimes you're scanning through certain areas quicker

23 than others just in the rush to get all your workload done and

24 get this filed as quickly as possible.  So I would review it

25 and then let counsel know if I had any suggested changes or
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1 questions.

2      Q    Who else reviewed this document?

3      A    I don't know.

4      Q    Did you approve this document?

5      A    What I communicated to counsel was that it looked

6 good and I thought it was ready to file.

7      Q    I'll go back up, back to the cover page.  There's a

8 sentence I'm highlighting that says, "The offering has no

9 minimum amount.  Thus, we will begin to deploy (spend) the

10 money we raise right away, no matter how much or how little we

11 raise."  Is that statement accurate?

12      A    The statement refers to a couple of different items

13 that sometimes are used in these offering statements.  One is

14 sometimes offering statements have a minimum raise amount in

15 order for it to be effective, meaning they'll say, for

16 example, "If we don't raise at least a million dollars by a

17 certain date," which amount will be kept in a third-party

18 escrow typically, "then we're going to return all these

19 dollars to the customer and the offering will be rescinded," I

20 guess, for lack of a better term.

21           In the case of REIT II, we did not want to have any

22 sort of minimum amount without regard to an escrow that if we

23 failed to raise that amount, the offering would be unwound.

24           The second part from the statement is, "We will

25 begin to deploy (spend) the money we raise right away, no
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1 matter how much or little we raise," that was to allow us to

2 be able to spend dollars the minute we had a first sale on

3 vendors and expenditures because you have to allow dollars to

4 accumulate in order to deploy or spend them on buying a

5 property because we're buying much larger properties that

6 require typically multimillion checks.

7           But we did want to have the ability to deploy and

8 spend REIT II dollars immediately to pay our vendors because

9 they've performed work -- such as the legal counsel, for

10 example, had performed work and were waiting.  Fortunately we

11 had a relationship with our counsel where they were willing to

12 wait until the offering got qualified and until dollars came

13 into the REIT in order to be paid on their -- for their legal

14 services.

15      Q    Okay.  So how do you reconcile that statement with

16 stating that REIT II stopping sales would impact and limit

17 both REIT I and REIT II?

18      A    Well, I never said that it would limit.  Did not use

19 that word.  So there's nothing to reconcile in that sense.

20      Q    Okay.  How do you reconcile with stating that they

21 would impact REIT I and REIT II?

22      A    I don't know that I said they would impact either.

23 If we want to go back to that, I can revisit it.  REIT I has a

24 need to -- both REITs have a capital improvement need ongoing

25 for existing properties.  Some of those capital improvement
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1 needs we try and anticipate as best we can when we create a

2 pro forma capital expenditure budget.  Sometimes, as mentioned

3 earlier, there are issues with labor or materials pricing

4 escalating prior to getting a hard bid on locking pricing

5 down, which will create an overrun on the renovation budget

6 that will create an additional capital need.  If the -- if

7 either REIT doesn't have an existing offering available, then

8 it has to look to other sources for providing that capital.

9      Q    Okay.  Has REIT II disclosed that some of the funds

10 raised would go to the capital needs of REIT I?

11      A    The REIT II discloses that it's going to be

12 investing in properties, regardless of whether it's a

13 co-investment with REIT I, whether it's a co-investment with a

14 third party or whether it's an investment into a property that

15 it's investing in all by itself without any other parties

16 involved.

17      Q    I'm going to share that again.  I didn't mean to --

18 this is the same document.  This is on page 58 under "Plan of

19 operation."  The last sentence reads, "Whether we raise 50

20 million in the offering or something less, we believe the

21 proceeds of this offering will satisfy our cash requirements.

22 If we raise less than 50 million, we will simply make fewer

23 investments.  Although we might decide to raise more capital,

24 we know of no reason why we would need to."  Is that statement

25 accurate?
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1      A    I have to look at this.  So we take one sentence at

2 a time.  "Whether we raise 50 million in the offering or

3 something else, we believe the proceeds of the offering will

4 satisfy our cash requirements."  This is just simply saying

5 that raising a lower amount, be it 50 million or 10 million,

6 will satisfy the cash requirements for that point.  It doesn't

7 say that -- whether or not there could be any unexpected cash

8 requirements.  It's just those cash requirements that were

9 known at the time of making this disclosure, which at that

10 point you could actually quantify.  If we expect to invest in

11 this property, based on what cash we have on hand, we can

12 tailor it -- tailor the amount raised in the REIT II level to

13 the investments we targeted and try to predict as best as

14 possible what the cash requirements would be for that

15 particular asset.

16           As mentioned, often it's the case in real estate

17 there are some unexpected cash requirements that can come up

18 after you've invested into a project and after you've done

19 your initial capex budget that you can't anticipate.  And so

20 when those arise, sometimes there can be surprises.

21      Q    Okay.  So the proceeds that the REIT II offering has

22 raised so far, does that satisfy REIT II's cash requirements?

23      A    I don't -- I don't really know that I would

24 understand it that way.  What I would look at is in our

25 attempt to do right by our customer, our goal is always to try
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1 to deliver as healthy of a return to our REIT customers

2 without taking on an undue amount of risk making risk-adjusted

3 investments.

4           And so the more diversified that the REIT II's

5 portfolio is -- and we had every reason to expect based on our

6 experience and data with REIT I and REIT II initially, that we

7 would be able to eventually raise the full amount based on

8 those assumptions at the time of making this disclosure.  And

9 that would allow us to build a much larger portfolio by

10 deploying 50 million of equity compared to the 10 million

11 we've raised to date, and diversify the REIT customers'

12 dollars over a much larger group of assets that ultimately is

13 for one purpose, to the REIT customers' benefit.

14           So when we are able to -- when we are constrained

15 from raising additional capital and have to invest in a lower

16 amount of assets, we still expect to make a great return for

17 our investors, but it won't be as healthy of a portfolio from

18 a diversification standpoint as a more diversified portfolio

19 would be if we were able to raise the full 50.

20      Q    What fees does REIT II charge?

21      A    The fees for REIT II are in the -- there's a

22 supplement filed.  So if you have that, we could walk through.

23 It would be more helpful to read them off than try to recite

24 them from memory.

25      Q    Okay.  And have the REIT II fees changed?
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1      A    The REIT II fees did change from the original filing

2 that you were showing there on the amended number 1 to that

3 supplement.

4      Q    And why did they change?

5      A    There were -- there were two main drivers for the

6 change.  One was in our attempt to -- from day one with

7 REIT -- going back to REIT I, we have always been very

8 interested in bringing on institutional capital into the

9 REITs, those 5 to $10 million checks.  The reason for that is

10 we're spending at the parent co. level a lot of time and

11 effort to market to the retail investor.  There is certainly a

12 cost of time and money from a resource standpoint.

13           When you're able to obtain a 5 to $10 million check

14 from an institutional investor, what that allows you to do is

15 accelerate the process of raising the REIT's anticipated

16 maximum offering amount and accelerates the process of being

17 able to build out a more diversified portfolio.  And so it's a

18 benefit to the customer.  It's a benefit to the parent company

19 because then we're able to capture fees from those

20 acquisitions and without spending the high marketing cost that

21 we have that's involved with marketing to retail investors.

22 And so it's a win-win there.

23           So from the first -- from the first inception of

24 REIT I we've always looked for ways to court potential

25 institutional investors.  The feedback we got with REIT I was
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1 that because we had set up the fee structure catering more to

2 the cost of marketing to the retail investor, a lot of

3 institutional investors that we talked to said that the

4 REIT I's acquisition fee at an asset level, the property

5 level, was much higher than they were comfortable with

6 compared to their other investments they would make where they

7 typically saw them closer to 2 percent.

8           Sometimes you'd go as high as 4 percent depending on

9 whether you were purchasing a particular asset at a

10 significantly-below-market price where the institutional

11 investor would be comfortable with taking -- allowing the

12 sponsor take a higher acquisition fee because of the pricing

13 going in and the going-in cap rate was so attractive to them.

14           So in taking that feedback from our conversations

15 with institutional investors through the course of trying to

16 raise institutional capital to REIT I, we realized that we're

17 still committed to raising institutional capital for REIT II,

18 and so we thought there was -- we thought there was some

19 ability to find maybe a family office that wouldn't be as

20 sensitive to the acquisition fee being higher than they would

21 usually see.  But we just found that through feedback that

22 that wasn't the case, that everyone seemed to be presenting

23 that as a potential hurdle for investing in REIT II.

24           And so that prompted the decision to finally lower

25 that acquisition fee.  It used to be, I believe, 6 to 8
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1 percent of the total cost of acquiring an asset including the

2 capex budget, and lowering it to 1 to 4 percent, you know, a

3 much smaller range, in order to be more attractive to

4 institutional capital as we were going through that courting

5 process.

6           And then in connection with that, in order to create

7 the same amount of revenue for the parent co. to make sure

8 that we were covering our costs of marketing to the retail

9 investor, which in the process of aggregating microdollars --

10 if we're raising $500 minimums and I think our averages have

11 been anywhere from 1,500 to 2,500, the average raise per

12 customer, those are very small amounts in the investment

13 world.  And so we have to make sure that we're covering our

14 costs in order to do that and remain a viable option as a

15 company.

16           And so that's where in reducing the acquisition fee

17 from 6 to 8 percent of the cost of acquiring an asset to 1

18 to 4 percent, we also introduced the O&O fee, the organization

19 and offering expense reimbursement fee, and looked at what

20 rate do we need to peg that at in order to not create any

21 additional fee burden to the customer, but not also lowering

22 the revenue to DiversyFund.  So basically trying to give back

23 into the same amount of fee load from the customer's

24 perspective and the parent co.'s perspective.

25           The other driver behind changing the fees was that
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1 it also allowed from the parent co.'s perspective, us to --

2 when we were just operating under the acquisition fee, which

3 was the bulk of the fee revenue coming from the REIT activity

4 to parent co., what would happen is we'd have to wait for a

5 real estate closing to occur in order to capture that

6 acquisition fee at the closing.

7           And it created some -- because, as we discussed

8 earlier, many real estate deals get delayed because the lender

9 isn't ready to close on time or something else may occur that

10 pushes the closing date back.  And that unpredictability of

11 when you'll experience a revenue event to the parent co. level

12 made it very challenging to manage some our parent co.

13 expenditures such as marketing spend and marketing budgets.

14           And so by changing the fee structure for REIT II and

15 lowering the acquisition fee and introducing the O&O

16 reimbursement fee for marketing and tech expenses, it allowed

17 us -- it allowed the parent company to more quickly recoup the

18 dollars that it was spending marketing to the retail crowd

19 instead of having to wait until a real estate closing

20 occurred, which was more difficult to predict from timing-wise

21 and created what's called "lumpy revenue" rather than a

22 smoother, more predictable revenue.

23           By creating smoother revenue for the parent co.

24 through the marketing and expense reimbursement, it really put

25 the parent co. in a better position financially in terms of
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1 just managing our operations.  DiversyFund, Inc., you know,

2 it's important for it to remain in good financial health

3 because, you know, it's the one that employs the real estate

4 professionals who are ultimately working on the REIT

5 portfolios' assets for the benefit of the REIT customers.

6           And so to the extent that REIT -- the parent co.,

7 DiversyFund, Inc., is impacted financially by having

8 difficulty predicting when it can get a reimbursement from

9 marketing or fee revenue from an acquisition of a property, it

10 really can impact just the overall business.  And so we want

11 to make sure that we're always in a strong position to be able

12 to continue to manage the portfolios in a professional manner,

13 in a well -- in a well-thought-through manner without having

14 to have distractions from cash flow issues at the parent

15 co. issue -- at the parent co. level.

16      Q    So who made the decisions on fees, on what fees to

17 charge for REIT II?

18      A    On the change or the original ones?

19      Q    Both.

20      A    The original one I don't know that I would

21 characterize it as a decision.  It was more just inheriting

22 the existing structure from REIT I and just -- and just

23 effectively copying it fee for fee.  From the lawyer's

24 perspective, it made their job a lot easier from a drafting

25 perspective just to import from a template basis the existing
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1 structure from REIT I.

2           In making the decision to change the fee structure,

3 it was really a combination of input at the leadership level

4 of looking at some of the challenges we've had to -- obviously

5 at that point we had not been successful in -- dispute

6 multiple conversations, in convincing the institutional

7 investor to invest in the REITs, and we were looking at the

8 feedback that we got from them.  They loved our portfolios,

9 they seemed to like the value-add strategy, which is extremely

10 popular, but the most common point of feedback was the

11 acquisition fees being higher than they preferred to see.

12           And so I think in looking at that we tried to see

13 are there any changes we could make without increasing a fee

14 burden to the customer, so it's net neutral to the customer's

15 experience, but allows us to be more attractive of an

16 investment at the REIT level to an institutional investor by

17 simply changing fee buckets around.  That discussion is

18 largely what prompted the change by leadership to switch the

19 fee structure.

20      Q    And when you say "the change by leadership," who was

21 that?

22      A    At that time I don't -- excuse me.  At the time it

23 was certainly me and Craig.  I think Isaac Dixon was on board

24 at that time.  I can't remember the exact date who else was

25 part of the leadership.
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1                             (SEC Exhibit No. 6 was

2                              identified for the record.)

3           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

4      Q    Okay.  I'm going to pull up on the screen a document

5 that's been marked as Exhibit 6.  It is a multipage document.

6 I'm going to describe it.  At the top it says, "Offering

7 circular supplement number 1.  Date of original offering

8 circular January 19, 2021, August 26, 2021, DF Growth REIT II

9 So this appears to be supplemental number 1 to DF Growth

10 REIT II.  Is that accurate?

11      A    Yep.

12      Q    Do you recognize this document?

13      A    I do.

14      Q    What is it?

15      A    It's the offering circle supplement number 1 for

16 DF Growth REIT II LLC dated August 26, 2021.

17      Q    Okay.  And who drafted this document?

18      A    Our legal counsel.

19      Q    Did you review this document?

20      A    Yes, I reviewed this document.

21      Q    Do you know who else reviewed it?

22      A    I don't want to speak on anyone else's behalf.

23      Q    Did you approve this document?

24      A    Similar to the prior discussions, the process by

25 which we went to file this was our counsel would draft it, I
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1 would review it, anyone else who reviewed it would review it.

2 We would ask questions, make comments as needed, and then from

3 my perspective I would tell counsel when I thought it looked

4 good.

5      Q    Okay.  And so on the first page there it says,

6 "Change in fee structure.  The section of the offering

7 circular captioned 'Compensation of management - fees' is

8 revised in its entirety to provide as follows."  So this

9 document revised entirely REIT II's fees; is that accurate?

10      A    It revised the limited section from the offering

11 circular, "Compensation of management - fees."

12      Q    Was it intended to be a complete replacement of the

13 fees for REIT II?

14      A    It was intended to revise the section labeled,

15 "Compensation of management - fees."

16      Q    Okay.  So this first fee, the organization and

17 operating expense reimbursement -- I'll scroll down -- is that

18 accurate?

19      A    Accurate in what sense?  Accurate in that's what the

20 REIT II is charging for reimbursement --

21      Q    Yes.

22      A    So yeah, the offering -- the organization offering

23 expense reimbursement, I don't really consider that a fee in

24 that, you know, it's a source of revenue.  It's a

25 reimbursement of actual expenditures and it's limited in the
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1 expenditure.  It's not dollar for dollar.  It's limited and

2 capped at, to my understanding, 10 percent of the equity

3 amount.

4           So that if the parent co. -- let's say you

5 raise $1 million and it's capped at 10 percent, which would

6 be $100,000.  If the parent co. on all the items listed in

7 potential reimbursements spent $200,000, the parent co. would

8 not be reimbursed for that full 200, but would be capped at

9 only being reimbursed for that $100,000, which is that

10 maximum 10 percent of equity dollars raised.

11      Q    So has REIT II charged these expense reimbursement?

12      A    I suppose the accurate way has been has DiversyFund,

13 Inc., the parent co., charged REIT II for those reimbursement

14 expenses, and my understanding is it has.

15      Q    Okay.  Do you know what the amount has been?

16      A    I don't.

17      Q    Do you know if it exceeded 10 percent of the capital

18 raise?

19      A    I don't.  I would assume not.

20      Q    So then the next fee is an asset management fee

21 there.  Is this description of the asset management fee

22 accurate?

23      A    "The sponsor will charge the company an annual asset

24 management fee equal to 2 percent of the" -- there's a typo --

25 "of the of the capital raised from the sale of class A
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1 investor shares.  The sponsor may, in its sole discretion,

2 require the payment of the asset management fee up to five

3 years in advance, which shall be nonrefundable."

4           "Estimate:  The amount of the organization and

5 offering fee depends on the amount of capital raised.  We

6 cannot make a reasonable estimate at this time."

7           So my understanding is that we have charged a 2

8 percent asset management fee for year one.  But similar to

9 REIT I, we actually waived the asset management fee entirely.

10 For REIT II our expectation is to waive the asset management

11 fee for subsequent years, at least now as of the current time,

12 so that it would be only charging for the first year's 2

13 percent fee.

14      Q    Okay.  So has REIT II charged an asset management

15 fee?

16      A    I can't confirm that, but I would assume so.

17 Finance would be able to confirm what's actually been charged

18      Q    Okay.  Do you know when that was charged?

19      A    I just said I don't know when it was -- if it was

20 charged, so I don't know when it was charged.

21      Q    Okay.  And then the next fee is the acquisition fee.

22 Is the description of the acquisition fee accurate?

23      A    "The sponsor will charge each project entity (or the

24 company itself, if the company owns real estate directly) an

25 acquisition fee of between 1 and 4 percent of the total
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1 project costs, including both hard costs (for example, the

2 cost of property) and soft costs (for example, professional

3 fees).  Where property is owned by an entity in which there is

4 another financial partner - a joint venture - the sponsor

5 might be entitled to a similar acquisition fee to the extent

6 negotiated with the financial partners in such joint venture

7 (which could be higher than the 1 to 4 percent acquisition fee

8 for direct investment).  However, the company's share of the

9 fee will not exceed 1 to 4 percent of the company's share of

10 the total sale price."

11           "Estimate:  If the company raises the full 75

12 million and maintains an average leverage ratio (borrowing)

13 of 55 percent, the sponsor fee would range between 1.6 million

14 and 6.6 million approximately."

15           Is there anything else below that?

16      Q    No.

17      A    Okay.  So that was it.

18      Q    Is that description accurate?

19      A    Yes, that description looks accurate to me.

20      Q    Okay.  And has REIT II charged acquisition fees?

21      A    I know that I believe we have on NCP Dove and

22 Swaying Oaks.  I don't know if we charged acquisition fee

23 related to the Mission Villas funding.

24      Q    And what were those fees that were charged?

25      A    I don't -- I don't know the exact amounts.  We'd
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1 have to check with finance.

2      Q    Okay.  When were they charged?

3      A    The NCP Dove was in December, and then Swaying Oaks

4 was much more recently.  Just -- it closed last Friday.

5      Q    Okay.  And for that were the acquisition fees

6 charged when the transaction closed?

7      A    Typically it would be charged when the closing

8 occurred.  I would have to check on a case-by-case basis.

9      Q    Then the next fee is the property disposition fee.

10 Is this description of the property disposition fee accurate?

11      A    "Where the company owns property directly or is the

12 sole owner of a project entity, the sponsor will receive a

13 property disposition fee equal to 1 percent of the total sale

14 price of each property.  Where property is owned by an entity

15 in which there is another financial partner - a joint

16 venture - the sponsor might be entitled to a similar

17 disposition fee to the extent negotiated with the financial

18 partners in such joint venture (which could be higher than

19 the 1 percent disposition fee for direct investment).

20 However, the company's share of the fee will not exceed 1

21 percent of the company's share of the total sale price."

22           "Estimate:  The amount of the disposition fee will

23 depend on the selling price of assets by the company and any

24 joint ventures and, in the case of joint ventures, the terms

25 our sponsor negotiates with joint venture partners.  We can
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1 cannot make a reasonable estimate at this time."

2      Q    Is that description accurate?

3      A    That description is accurate.

4      Q    And has REIT II charged property disposition fees?

5      A    No, REIT II has not had any properties that have

6 gone through the disposition phase, so no disposition fees

7 have been charged.

8      Q    Okay.  And the next fee, the financing fee, is that

9 description accurate?

10           MR. BHANDARI:  Before we go on, if we could just

11 take a quick break.  We've been going about an hour and a

12 half.  Could we just take a quick five-minute comfort break

13 here?

14           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Sure.  Yeah.  Off the record

15 at 3:40.

16           (Recess.)

17           MR. ROSENTHAL:  On the record at 3:46 p.m.

18           THE WITNESS:  Will, do we need to wait for Stephen?

19           MR. ROSENTHAL:  I think we can continue without him.

20           THE WITNESS:  Okay.

21           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

22      Q    Okay.  I'm re-sharing the same document, which is

23 Exhibit 6.  So the financing fee, is this description of the

24 financing fee accurate?

25      A    Let's see.  "Where the company owns property
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1 directly, or is the sole owner of a project entity, the

2 sponsor will receive a financing fee equal to 1 percent of the

3 amount of each loan placed on a property, whether at the time

4 of acquisition or pursuant to a refinancing.  The financing

5 fee will be in addition to any fees paid to third parties,

6 such as mortgage brokers.  Where property is owned by an

7 entity in which there is another financial partner - a joint

8 venture - the sponsor might be entitled to a similar financing

9 fee to the extent negotiated with the financial partners in

10 such joint venture (which could be higher than the 1 percent

11 financing fee for direct investment).  However, the sponsor's

12 share of the fee will not exceed 1 percent of the company's

13 shares of the loan."

14           "Estimate:  The amount of the financing fee will

15 depend on the selling price of assets by the company and any

16 joint ventures and, in the case of joint ventures, the terms

17 our sponsor negotiates with joint venture partners.  We cannot

18 make a reasonable estimate at this time."

19      Q    Is that description accurate?

20      A    Yes, it looks accurate to me.

21      Q    And has REIT II charged financing fees?

22      A    That I don't know.  I don't know whether we charged

23 a financing fee for NCP Dove or Swaying Oaks on those

24 closings.  And then I suspect we haven't charged -- I think we

25 may not have even charged any fee on the Mission Villas
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1 investment, though I'm not sure.  I'd have to check with

2 finance.

3      Q    Okay.  And the next fee, the construction management

4 fee, is this description accurate?

5      A    Let's see.  "The sponsor might provide construction

6 management services.  If so, the sponsor" -- there's a typo,

7 "would be entitled to a construction management fee equal to 7

8 and a half percent of actual construction costs."

9           "Estimate:  The amount of the construction

10 management fee will depend on the nature and cost of the

11 construction services the manager provides.  We cannot make a

12 reasonable estimate at this time."

13      Q    Is that description accurate?

14      A    Yes.

15      Q    And has REIT II charged any construction management

16 fees?

17      A    I don't -- I don't believe so.  Although we

18 certainly reserve the right to bring construction management

19 in-house, we have not done so to date for either REIT.

20      Q    Okay.  And the next fee is a guaranty fee.  Is the

21 description of the guaranty fee accurate?

22      A    Let's see.  "If the sponsor or an affiliate

23 guaranties indebtedness of the company or a project entity,

24 including guaranties of any so-called 'badboy' carveouts, the

25 guarantor will be entitled to a guaranty fee equal to a half
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1 percent of the loan."

2           "Estimate:  The amount of the guaranty fee will

3 depend on the amount of loans requiring a guaranty.  We cannot

4 make a reasonable estimate at this time."

5      Q    Is that description accurate?

6      A    Yes, looks accurate.

7      Q    Okay.  Has REIT II charged any guaranty fees?

8      A    No, even though we've had guarantors required for

9 all the loans, my understanding is that we have not paid any

10 guaranty fees.

11      Q    Okay.  And then the next section is typed "Other

12 fees."  Is that description accurate?

13      A    "The company or project entities might engage the

14 sponsor or its facilities to perform other services.  The

15 compensation paid to the sponsor or its affiliates in each

16 case must be fair to the company and the project entities,

17 comparable to the compensation that would be paid to an

18 unrelated party and disclosed to investors."

19           "Estimate:  We cannot make a reasonable estimate of

20 other fees at this time."

21      Q    Is that description accurate?

22      A    Yes, it looks accurate to me.

23      Q    Has REIT II charged any other fees?

24      A    I'm not aware of any that REIT II has charged, but

25 we certainly -- we do this to reserve the right, but as we
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1 take things that we're paying a third party for and bringing

2 that -- if we were ever to bring them inhouse for the goal of

3 having better control over -- better quality control over

4 those services, then it allows us to charge effectively a

5 market rate fee.

6                             (SEC Exhibit No. 11 was

7                              identified for the record.)

8           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

9      Q    Okay.  I'm now pulling up on the screen a document

10 that's been marked as Exhibit 11.  I will represent to you

11 that this document is part of a web capture of diversyfund.com

12 we completed in September 2021.  At the top of the document it

13 states, "The path to financial freedom."  Do you recognize

14 this document?

15      A    Yes, I do.

16      Q    What is it?

17      A    It is a screen capture that the SEC forwarded to our

18 counsel from, I believe, our website.

19      Q    Okay.  And who drafted this portion of DiversyFund's

20 website?

21      A    I do not know who drafted it.

22      Q    Did you review this portion of DiversyFund's

23 website?

24      A    No, I don't recall reviewing this.

25      Q    In the middle paragraph there I'm going to read the
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1 second sentence.

2      A    Hold on.  Sorry, Will, let me zoom in.

3      Q    Sure.

4      A    Okay.  The second sentence or second paragraph?

5      Q    The second paragraph, and the second sentence in the

6 second paragraph.  Do you see that, "Starting with"?

7      A    Yes.

8      Q    Okay.  So I'm going to read it.  "Starting with a

9 minimum investment of only $500 and no management fees, we

10 make it possible for you to diversify your portfolio with one

11 of the most attractive - and historically profitable - forms

12 of alternate asset investment:  Multifamily commercial real

13 estate."  So that statement that there are no management fees,

14 is that accurate?

15      A    It was accurate with respect to REIT I.  REIT I we

16 had a 2 percent management fee and purposely from day one

17 waived it in order to attract -- attract customers from a

18 marketing standpoint.  And so with respect to REIT I it was

19 accurate.

20      Q    Is it accurate with respect to REIT II?

21      A    REIT II does have a 2 percent management fee that's

22 charged.

23      Q    So does that mean it's not accurate?

24      A    REIT II does not have -- REIT II does charge

25 management fees.  And so this was referring to REIT I, not
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1 REIT II.

2           BY MS. LEVIN:

3      Q    Well, how would an investor looking at your website

4 determine that this statement was referring to REIT I and not

5 REIT II?

6      A    Well, I can't speak for customers' experience.  You

7 know, all the mentions of no management fees have always been

8 with respect to REIT I.  So to the extent that REIT II does

9 charge management fees, my understanding was that any mentions

10 of that while referring to REIT II were supposed to be taken

11 off the site.  So I can't speak for marketing, but I don't

12 know why they would have that here.

13      Q    How did you gain that understanding?

14      A    Which understanding?  That it's --

15      Q    Your understanding -- your under -- you just

16 testified that your understanding was that any mention was

17 going to be removed from the website.  Where did you gain that

18 understanding?

19      A    Oh, when we launched REIT II there were discussions

20 about some of the fee changes in leadership regarding --

21 between REIT I or REIT II.  And so those discussions should

22 have facilitated that any mention of no management fees in

23 connection with REIT II would not be made to the website.

24      Q    And who were those discussions with?

25      A    It would have started with the leadership team, and
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1 then marketing or product or tech would have gone to their

2 respective teams to try to make those changes.

3      Q    I'm not asking you to speculate, of course.  Did you

4 personally have discussions in a leader -- in a leadership

5 team context regarding this specific disclosure regarding

6 management fees?

7      A    We never discussed this -- we -- in leadership we

8 don't discuss particular web pages.  We don't pull up the

9 website and go through it.  In leadership what we do is just

10 say, "Hey, marketing, hey, product, hey, tech, we're rolling

11 out REIT II and we want to make sure that you're informed of

12 any unique things that you need to be aware of for purposes of

13 making sure all of our discussions of the differences of

14 REIT II are properly and accurately taken care of."

15      Q    So I understand what you're saying, but I'm --

16 that's not what I'm asking.  I'm not asking what would you do,

17 I'm asking what in fact happened.

18      A    In the leadership discussion?  I don't recall the

19 exact discussion.  I just -- I do --

20      Q    Okay.

21      A    -- recall that we informed leadership that unlike

22 REIT I, REIT II did not have -- or unlike REIT I, REIT II

23 would have management fees.

24      Q    And who is the "we" you're referring to?

25      A    Everyone in the leadership group.  At the time of
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1 REIT II's launch, let's see -- yeah, I don't know that Fateh

2 and Navid had started yet, but Isaac would have been there,

3 Isaac Dixon, and David Legacki would have been there at that

4 point.

5      Q    And again, you're referring to leadership.  So at

6 that point who are you referring to?

7      A    Everyone in the leadership meeting, which would be

8 myself, Craig Cecilio, and then depending on when the

9 discussion happened, I can't recall whether Navid and Fateh

10 had been on board at that point, but certainly Isaac Dixon and

11 David Legacki.

12      Q    And who was responsible for making sure the website

13 was accurate in terms of its disclosures?

14      A    Yeah, I don't know who at the end of the day on the

15 marketing, product or tech side has that responsibility.

16      Q    Who is ultimately responsible for it?

17      A    I wouldn't know who would be ultimately responsible

18 for that.

19      Q    You don't?

20      A    Correct.

21      Q    Okay.  Aren't you a principal of the company?

22      A    I'm the chief investment officer, and so my focus is

23 on the REITs and the portfolios and the real estate division

24 and making sure that the portfolio is performing as best as

25 possible without taking on undue amount of risk.
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1      Q    I understand.  But don't you know who was ultimately

2 responsible for the website disclosures?

3      A    I don't.

4           MR. BHANDARI:  Objection, asked and answered,

5 argumentative.

6           MS. LEVIN:  Okay.  Objection noted.

7           BY MS. LEVIN:

8      Q    And I understand your answer is you don't know.

9           So if you were an investor, would it be important to

10 you to know whether or not management fees were being charged

11 by an offering that you were considering investing in?

12      A    From my perspective as an investor, your primary

13 goal is to build wealth.  And so fees become less important

14 when you're confident that you're going to be able to track a

15 healthy return without taking on an undue amount of risk.

16           And so I would be more inclined to look at how

17 diversified is the portfolio going to be, what kind of team is

18 behind sourcing the transactions and executing on the business

19 plan under the asset management umbrella.  And so those would

20 be the things I would be focused on.

21           It's interesting when you look at various investment

22 types -- and I've dealt with a lot of them over my career --

23 you are less worried about expenses and fees, more worried

24 about what's your net return.  Because it's a factor of

25 looking at what gross return the asset generates and then
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1 looking at once you deduct the fees and expenses -- whether

2 it's a fee or it's an expense it doesn't matter.  You're only

3 looking at what the net return is.

4           And so in my conversations prior to DiversyFund when

5 I would work directly with extremely sophisticated and very

6 experienced real estate investors, high net worth individuals

7 and some institutional funds, the fees were really not the

8 primary concern.  It was can this team execute on delivering a

9 net return that I would be happy with.

10      Q    And what -- do you have any experience working with

11 investors who are not high net worth individuals, who are your

12 average retail investor, and what would be important to them?

13      A    Certainly.

14      Q    And what's that experience?

15      A    I think they're even more focused on what their net

16 return is because they're just looking at, "What does this

17 investment do for me at the end of the day?"  They don't

18 really tend to, in general, focus on fees and expenditures.

19 They're just looking at, "If I give you $100, what are you

20 going to be able to deliver back to me in what time frame?"

21      Q    The fee would detract from the return, correct?

22      A    The fee certainly would reduce the amount of returns

23 because you're starting on the gross level of.  But the

24 question is from our -- from our typical customers who are

25 non-accredited, outside of offerings such as DiversyFund's
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1 REIT offerings, they do not have access to these kinds of

2 portfolios.  They can go try to do their own investment,

3 taking on their own risk with their own time.

4           And often we have folks who have said they tried to

5 do, you know, fix-and-flip residential or vacation rentals and

6 have just been very frustrated with how much work it takes and

7 how it's not just easy to make money in real estate like

8 sometimes it's portrayed in social media with all these

9 so-called "guru" accounts that folks see.

10           And so my limited -- it's anecdotal obviously, but

11 as you look at my experience with unsophisticated retail

12 investors, they really at the end of the day don't have this

13 ability to invest in institutional grade multifamily value-add

14 portfolios -- which multifamily happens -- value-add in

15 particular, happens to be historically one of the best

16 performing asset classes in the real estate umbrella.  It's

17 beat office, it's beat retail, it's beat hospitality, it's

18 beat senior housing, it's beat single-family residential.  And

19 so our customers are getting access to this for the first

20 time.

21           And so the cost of expenditure and fees in order for

22 us to deliver that certainly is higher than if we were going

23 and just working with already wealthy institutions who can

24 write a single check.  You know, we have a cost involved with

25 aggregating microdollars, which is the cost of delivering this
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1 investment service to our everyday unsophisticated investors.

2           And have so they are -- although the fees and

3 expenses are higher compared to institutional investment, they

4 don't have access to institutional investments.  They can't

5 invest.  There's just no avenue for them to do it.  And I look

6 at my parents, for example, they never had the chance to build

7 up the real estate.  They were stuck with the stock market.

8 And so that's been my mission here is to change that.

9           When I worked on Wall Street I hated the fact that

10 there's an old boys club that seriously limits people's access

11 to these type of investments, and they -- all they cared about

12 is, "Can you give me $1 million check?  And if you can't give

13 me $1 million, I don't even want to talk to you."  And so

14 people like my parents got dismissed out of hand from having

15 any access to that.

16           So over time, yes, we do hope that we can bring down

17 our fees as we get better at marketing and have economies of

18 scale that come from raising additional funds and building

19 bigger portfolios.  But for now I feel, and my experience has

20 been, that our everyday unsophisticated retail customers are

21 just looking to us to help them build wealth and to give them

22 a net return that they're happy with.  And we, quite

23 confidently, are tracking that.  In fact, I'm really happy

24 with the portfolio that both REITs have been able to

25 accumulate to date.  We've done a great job sourcing assets
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1 that I'm very proud of.

2      Q    Okay.

3           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

4      Q    Okay.  And when this statement was on DiversyFund's

5 website in September 2021, investors were investing through

6 DiversyFund's website in REIT II at the time, correct?

7      A    Yeah, the exact date of the first sale of REIT II

8 securities through the website would have been sometime in

9 either late August or early September.  I don't have the exact

10 date in front of me so I couldn't confirm that.

11      Q    Okay.  But there were sales in September 2021 that

12 took place, correct?

13      A    At some point in September, I believe so.

14      Q    And is this statement about the no management fees,

15 is it still on DiversyFund's website?

16      A    No.  As soon as you brought it to our attention we

17 took it down.

18      Q    Okay.  So it was taken down once the SEC brought it

19 to your attention?

20      A    Yes.

21                             (SEC Exhibit No. 12 was

22                              identified for the record.)

23           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

24      Q    I'm now going to be sharing -- showing auto-

25 document --
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1      A    Apologies, did we lose -- what is her name,

2 Jennifer?

3      Q    Yeah, that's okay.  We can continue without her.

4      A    Okay.

5      Q    This is Exh bit Number 12.  That's on the screen.  I

6 will represent to you that document is part of a web capture

7 of diversyfund.com we completed in November 2021.  At the top

8 it states REIT II fee structure.  Do you recognize this

9 document?

10      A    Yes, I do.

11      Q    And what is it?

12      A    It's a screen capture from our website that the SEC

13 sent to our counsel.

14      Q    And who drafted this portion of DiversyFund's

15 website?

16      A    I can't be sure, but it has Christopher Finlay from

17 customer service name on it, so I assume he did.

18      Q    Okay.  Did you review this portion of DiversyFund's

19 website?

20      A    I did not.

21      Q    So there's a question, "How does the new fee

22 structure work?"  And it describes the fee structure.  Is this

23 description of REIT II's fee structure accurate?

24      A    Let's see.  Let me blow it up.  Can you go back to

25 the top, please?
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1      Q    Sure.

2      A    "How does the new fee structure impact my returns?"

3 "The new fee structure was designed to have no negative impact

4 on overall fees charged to the REIT.  It simply breaks up fees

5 into different buckets to allow for greater flexibility for

6 our management team and enhance the real estate team's

7 effectiveness."

8           "How does the new fee structure work?"  "We are

9 always looking for ways to improve how we create wealth for

10 our customers.  The new fee structure has several components

11 that help us be more competitive in acquiring multifamily

12 properties so that we can build better portfolios."

13           "Platform costs:  Offering and organization expense

14 reimbursement.  Expenses charged to investors for the actual

15 costs of marketing and Fintech platform operations - expenses

16 are capped at 10 percent of equity dollars.  Asset management

17 fee.  Platform fee equal to 2 percent of equity dollars per

18 year."

19           "Real estate fees" -- and, Will, can you scroll down

20 a little bit, please?

21           "Real estate fees:  Acquisition fees.  1 percent" --

22 "1 to 4 percent of total cost of asset.  Finance fee.  1

23 percent at any loan amount."

24           "How does DiversyFund make money?"  "DiversyFund

25 makes money through the platform and asset fees, and when we
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1 sell REIT assets that have increased in value, we will be paid

2 a portion of any profits over the preferred rate of return

3 of 7 percent to our investors."

4           "Why was the fee structure changed?"  "The new fee

5 structure, provides greater flexible for our real estate team

6 in selecting assets and provides a better opportunity to

7 partner with other investment firms to maximize potential

8 returns for our customers."

9           Is there anything else, Will?

10      Q    That's it.

11      A    Okay.

12      Q    Is this description of REIT II's fees accurate?

13      A    The fees that it does talk about are accurate

14 descriptions.  As the SEC has pointed out, it doesn't cover

15 every single fee that REIT II could potentially charge.

16      Q    And why doesn't it?

17      A    I don't know.  I don't know how Christopher Finlay

18 went about preparing this, what his purpose was in doing it.

19 All that I do recall with respect to his purpose was that his

20 main -- his main goal was trying to -- remember, we had a

21 bunch of REIT I customers who had auto-invest on and we were

22 asking them to determine whether they wanted to roll that over

23 into REIT II to continue their auto-invest or simply stop

24 their auto-invest and no longer participate in that program.

25           And so from what I recall, he had questions about,
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1 well, what's the change in the fee structure?  And so while I

2 can't speak for him, I assume that in hearing that feedback

3 from customer service in leadership meeting that one of his

4 purposes was to really focus on what's the difference, which

5 the difference in the two fee structures is the acquisition

6 fee going down from 6 to 8 percent down to 1 to 4 and creating

7 an O&O fee for the first time to replace the lower acquisition

8 fee.

9      Q    Okay.  So this web page, it doesn't mention a

10 property disposition fee, a construction management fee, or a

11 guaranty fee, correct?

12      A    This page does not mention the guaranty fee, doesn't

13 mention the construction management fee, neither of which

14 we've ever charged on either REIT.  And then what was the

15 other one you mentioned?

16      Q    I property disposition fee.

17      A    Yeah, we haven't charged any of those for REIT II.

18 But yeah, it's not mentioned on here, on this page.

19      Q    Why does the offering circular supplement mention

20 those fees and not this web page?

21      A    I can't speak for why Christopher did not include

22 those, what his purpose was in creating this.  I mean, our

23 offering circular lists all the fees accurately and our

24 checkout process ensures that no investor is investing without

25 having access to the offering statement and its description of
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1 all fees before they finally purchase a security.

2      Q    Okay.  And this web page also doesn't mention the

3 other fees that the offering circular supplement may charge

4 the other fees, correct?

5      A    Which fees are you referring to?

6      Q    The last section of the offering circular supplement

7 had a section titled "Other fees."  And that's not

8 described --

9      A    I don't see the "Other fee" category mentioned here.

10 Again, I don't believe we charged any other fees either for

11 REIT II.

12      Q    Okay.  Why were those other fees described in the

13 offering circular supplement and not on this web page?

14      A    The other fees are described in the offering

15 circular supplement because it's -- the offering circular's

16 job, from my understanding, is to disclose all fees that could

17 potentially be charged to the investor, and then we make sure

18 that the investor receives that offering statement so they can

19 read it prior to completing a purchase of securities in

20 REIT II.  As to why that mention of other fees is not in this

21 particular web page, I can't speak to that.

22      Q    Has REIT II issued dividends to investors?

23      A    I don't know.  I'd have to confirm with finance.

24 The intention certainly was during the -- for both REITs

25 during the capital raising period, the initial period, to do a
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1 reinvested dividend, and then at a later date all REITs are

2 required that when they have income generated at the REIT

3 level, that you're required to distribute -- I can't remember

4 if it's 90 or 95 percent of it, but any profits after you're

5 deducting your operating expenses and depreciation expense,

6 then those would have to be paid through as -- at least

7 annually as a dividend as well from REIT portfolio operations.

8      Q    Okay.  So how are dividends for REIT II generated?

9      A    Well, it depends on which -- one, I'd have to

10 confirm with finance if we've even paid a dividend before I

11 could speak to that.  I can speak to the REIT I dividends if

12 you want to talk about those.  I'm more familiar with those.

13      Q    For REIT II, regardless of whether they've actually

14 been issued, what are the REIT II dividends based on?

15      A    Well, during -- what's typical for REITs, probably

16 about a third of REITs, from my understanding, when you're --

17 or at least value-add REITs, what happens is when you're in

18 the phase of raising capital and initially deploying that

19 capital, whatever period of time that takes, you are burdened

20 with renovation expense.  And so the properties typically

21 won't cast off actual operating income.  And so to incentivize

22 investors who tend to prefer dividends, there is often a

23 dividend that sometimes can be paid, a fixed dividend for a

24 period of time before you get to a period where the portfolio

25 is actually generating operating income that can pay a
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1 variable dividend depending on what dollars come in.

2      Q    So I'm not sure I understand that.  So what is that

3 fixed dividend based on?

4      A    It would just be based on an expectation of what

5 your investors typically want to see.  It depends on the asset

6 class.  You know, if it's a core or core plus, then there --

7 you know, a fixed dividend during initial period probably

8 wouldn't be as relevant because those are cash flowing out of

9 operations of their own typically from day one because there's

10 no renovation component.

11           If you're in a value-add space like we are where

12 you're spending the first 18 to 36 months doing renovations,

13 so there is not income coming from the properties because

14 that's being poured back into renovations, to the extent there

15 is NOI at the property level, then that's -- would be when you

16 would typically see a REIT pay a fixed dividend, during that

17 period.

18      Q    Okay.

19           BY MS. LEVIN:

20      Q    And by "NOI," you mean net operating income?

21      A    Correct.  Well, I guess it would be -- take it even

22 a step further.  So with -- if you take a individual property,

23 you have your EGI, your effective gross income, from rents

24 collected and then you're deducting out your expenses for

25 operating the property, and that's your NOI, your net
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1 operating income.

2           And then at that point then you have to turn around

3 and pay your debt service, which is the payments that you owe

4 the lender for their loan, to the extent you have one.  And on

5 all of our properties we always deploy leverage because it

6 helps to -- when used properly and conservatively, helps to

7 magnify the investor's return.

8           And so when you take the NOI less the debt service,

9 that's what's determined as your free cash flow.  And the free

10 cash flow would be the dollars -- well, first then with free

11 cash flow the first priority is to maintain a three-month

12 operating reserve on the opex account for that property to

13 make sure that you have enough to weather any storm such as

14 COVID or unexpected issues that may come up in the macro or

15 micro market.  And then once the reserve is established, then

16 excess free cash flow could -- would go -- be repatriated back

17 to the REIT.

18           And then to the extent that that free cash flow

19 accumulates in the REIT's expenses, because the REIT has its

20 own vendors, auditors, legal counsel, what have you.  To the

21 extent that that free cash flow finally gets to the point that

22 it is exceeding the REIT's expenses -- and you also have to

23 add in the depreciation expense that flows through from the

24 individual SPVs up to the REIT level, because they're all LLCs

25 and so it's a pass-through ownership.  Then once that exceeds
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1 that, that would be free cash flow that the REIT would be

2 obligated to disburse in order to maintain REIT status under

3 the REIT rules.

4      Q    Okay.  So I think you said in the initial period the

5 dividends would be based on the investor expectations.  Is

6 that right?

7      A    Yeah, well, the way to look at it is it's based on

8 the type of asset class, what's typical expectation for that

9 asset class.  In our case, it's value-add.

10      Q    Okay.  So for the initial period for REIT II there's

11 a fixed dividend based on the expectations based on the asset

12 class?

13      A    Well, for REIT I we had that pegged at 5 percent.  I

14 don't know -- on the reinvestment side I'd have to confirm

15 with finance if we're paying that for REIT II.

16      Q    Okay.  And who determines that?

17      A    It's a function of, you know, investment committee

18 and finance and looking at our expectation of how fast can

19 this portfolio start to turn over its own operating cash flow,

20 like what -- how -- it's a function of how quickly are we

21 going to raise capital at the REIT level, how quickly can we

22 deploy it.

23           The particular property we invest in, how long are

24 they going to take to get through their renovation business

25 plans and be in a point where the free cash flow gets
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1 significant.

2      Q    Okay.

3           So since you're on the investment committee,

4 have you been involved in determining the dividends?

5      A    Certainly for REIT I.  For REIT II, you know, it

6 just hasn't come up.  We've been so busy.  So I don't know --

7 I'd have to confirm with finance if we're even doing the same

8 thing we did with REIT I.

9                             (SEC Exhibit No. 14 was

10                              identified for the record.)

11           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

12      Q    So I'm going to show you a document marked as

13 Exhibit 14.

14           And at the top -- I'll represent to you that this

15 is a page of a web capture of diversyfund.com we completed in

16 November 2021, and at the top it says, "Why was my first

17 dividend lower than I expected?"  Do you recognize this

18 document?

19      A    Yes.

20      Q    What is it?

21      A    It's a screen capture that you sent to my counsel

22 from the website.

23      Q    Who drafted this portion of DiversyFund's website?

24      A    My assumption is Christopher Finlay based on the

25 fact that his name is at the top.
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1      Q    Did you review it?

2      A    I did not.

3      Q    Okay.

4           Do you see where under where it says

5 "Dividends" in bold, the first sentence says, "Dividends are

6 the profit generated from in-coming rents"?  Do you see that?

7      A    Yes.

8      Q    Is that accurate?

9      A    Dividends can be profits generated from in-coming

10 rents.  Dividends can also be fixed dividends.  Like I

11 described earlier, a dividend can be from the disposition of a

12 property.  Dividends can be from a cashout refinance.  And so

13 this covers one means of a dividend being paid.

14      Q    Okay.

15           In those cases like the fixed dividends, it's

16 not accurate, is it?

17      A    This is describing a dividend from profit from

18 in-coming rents.

19      Q    Okay.

20           So then the next sentence says, "REIT

21 investors receive a dividend every month from the rents that

22 are collected."

23           Is that statement accurate?

24      A    That statement would pertain to when either REIT

25 gets to the point where it's distributing dividends that are
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1 tied to the actual rents.

2      Q    Okay.  But that wouldn't be every month, right?

3      A    Well, it would depend on what the portfolio is

4 doing.

5           It certainly could be.  If the portfolio is at the

6 level where it's post renovation and healthy and the market's

7 doing well, then it certainly and easily could be a monthly

8 dividend from rental -- rents collected.

9      Q    Okay.

10           But then that -- when the fixed dividends in

11 the initial period, those are not based on the rents that are

12 collected, correct?

13      A    When it's a fixed dividend during the initial

14 period, those would not be coming from rents collected.

15      Q    Okay.  Next I'm going to show you Exhibit 18.

16                             (SEC Exhibit No. 18 was

17                              identified for the record.)

18           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

19      Q    This is a document that was produced by DiversyFund,

20 and it is Bates stamped DF-001314.  Do you recognize this

21 document?

22      A    I do not.

23      Q    Okay.

24           So is this a list of dividends paid out?

25      A    I don't know.
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1           I've not seen this document before.

2 I don't know who prepared it, where it came from, what it

3 reflects, so I couldn't -- I wouldn't be comfortable speaking

4 accurately about anything regarding this document.

5      Q    Okay.

6           And for REIT I, what form did the dividends

7 that were issued -- did they take?

8      A    What do you mean by "form"?

9      Q    How did -- did investors receive cash dividends?

10      A    Like a cash distribution to their bank accounts?

11      Q    Correct.

12      A    No, they did not.

13      Q    So what did they receive?

14      A    They received a dividend reinvestment.  So

15 effectively they were given -- rather than cash in their bank

16 account, they were given an additional amount of shares, which

17 increased their portion -- basically their percentage

18 ownership of the REIT.

19           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Vickie, do you have any questions?

20           MS. LEVIN:  No, nothing further at this time.  As

21 you'll go into, we may call Mr. Lewis back.

22           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay, yes.

23           BY MR. ROSENTHAL:

24      Q    So at this time we don't have any further questions.

25 So we are adjourning your testimony, but we may call you again
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1 to testify in this matter.  We will contact your counsel to

2 arrange this.

3           Although your testimony is adjourned, you

4 remain under subpoena.

5           Mr. Lewis, do you wish to clarify anything or add

6 anything to the statements you have made today?

7      A    I can't -- yeah, I don't have anything that I wish

8 to add or clarify.

9           MR. ROSENTHAL:  And, Counsel, do you wish to ask any

10 clarifying questions?

11           MR. BHANDARI:  No.

12           MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay.  Off the record at 4:29 p.m.

13           (Whereupon, at 4:29 p.m., the examination was

14 concluded.)

15                           * * * * *

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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